
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COUNCIL 
AGENDA 

 

ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Wednesday 28 January 2026 
 



 
 

The Mayor – Councillor Sharon Holder 
Deputy Mayor – Councillor Daryl Brown 

 
ADDISON 
 
Jacolyn Daly (L) 
Ross Melton (L) 

AVONMORE 
 
Laura Janes (L) 
David Morton (I) 

BROOK GREEN 
 
Stala Antoniades (L) 
Adam Peter Lang (L) 

COLLEGE PARK & OLD 
OAK 
 
Wesley Harcourt (L) 
Bora Kwon (L) 
Alexandra Sanderson (L) 
 

CONINGHAM 
 
Lisa Homan (L) 
Rowan Ree (L) 
Rory Vaughan (L) 

FULHAM REACH 
 
Lucy Richardson (L) 
Omid Miri (L) 
Nikos Souslous (L) 
 

FULHAM TOWN 
 
Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler 
(C) 
Liam Downer-Sanderson (C) 
 

GROVE 
 
Stephen Cowan (L) 
Helen Rowbottom (L) 

HAMMERSMITH 
BROADWAY 
 
Callum Nimmo (L) 
Vacancy 
 

LILLIE 
 
Sharon Holder (L) 
Lydia Paynter (L) 
 

MUNSTER 
 
Adronie Alford (C) 
Alex Karmel (C) 
Dominic Stanton (C) 
 

PALACE & HURLINGHAM 
 
Aliya Afzal-Khan (C) 
Jackie Borland (C) 
Amanda Lloyd-Harris (C) 
 

PARSONS GREEN & 
SANDFORD 
 
Jose Afonso (C) 
Adrian Pascu-Tulbure (C) 
 

RAVENSCOURT 
 
Liz Collins (G) 
Patrick Walsh (L) 

SANDS END 
 
Paul Alexander (L) 
Ashok Patel (L) 
Ann Rosenberg (L) 

SHEPHERDS BUSH 
GREEN 
 
Zarar Qayyum (L) 
Mercy Umeh (L) 
 

WALHAM GREEN 
 
Trey Campbell-Simon (G) 
Genevieve Nwaogbe (L) 
 

WENDELL PARK 
 
Rebecca Harvey (L) 
Asif Siddique (L) 
 

WEST KENSINGTON 
 
Daryl Brown (L) 
Florian Chevoppe-Verdier (L) 
Sally Taylor (L) 
 

WHITE CITY 
 
Andrew Jones (L) 
Natalia Perez (L) 
Frances Umeh (L) 
 

WORMHOLT 
 
Max Schmid (L) 
Nicole Trehy (L) 
 

 



 
 
 

SUMMONS 
 

Councillors of the London Borough of Hammersmith 

& Fulham are requested to attend the Council 

meeting at 7.00pm on Wednesday 28 January 2026 at 

the Irish Cultural Centre, 5 Black’s Road, 

Hammersmith, W6 9DT 

 

 

Watch the meeting live 

Watch live on YouTube: youtube.com/hammersmithandfulham 

 

Public attendance 

This meeting is open to the public, but spaces are limited. If you would 

like to attend please contact: David.Abbott@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Accessibility 

For wheelchair users there is level access from the street to the meeting 

room. There are accessible toilets on the ground floor of the venue. The 

livestream will have live captions. If you have any additional accessibility 

requirements please contact: David.Abbott@lbhf.gov.uk  

 

 

Published: 20 January 2026 Sharon Lea, Chief Executive 

https://www.youtube.com/hammersmithandfulham
mailto:David.Abbott@lbhf.gov.uk
mailto:David.Abbott@lbhf.gov.uk


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Full Council Agenda 
28 January 2026 

 
Item  Pages 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS   

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or 
any other significant interest which they consider should be declared in 
the public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the 
nature of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that 
item or as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, 
give evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor 
must then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Standards 
Committee. 
 

 

3.   MINUTES  7 - 23 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 22 October 2025 as an 
accurate record. 
 

 

4.   MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

 

5.   PUBLIC QUESTIONS (20 MINUTES) 
 

24 - 30 

6.   ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION/COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 

 

6.1   COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 2026/27 31 - 187 



 

6.2   COUNCIL TAX BASE AND COLLECTION RATE 2026/27 AND 
DELEGATION OF THE BUSINESS RATE ESTIMATE 
 

188 - 196 

6.3   COUNCIL CALENDAR OF MEETINGS 
 

197 - 199 

6.4   REVIEW OF THE CONSTITUTION 
 

200 - 202 

6.5   ANNUAL REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 2024/25 (TO 
NOTE) 
 

203 - 209 

7.   SPECIAL MOTIONS   

   

7.1   SPECIAL MOTION 1 - CELEBRATING BLACK HISTORY MONTH 
2025 IN HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 
 

210 

7.2   SPECIAL MOTION 2 - OPPOSING ONLINE HATE SPEECH 
 

211 

7.3   SPECIAL MOTION 3 - AUTUMN BUDGET 
 

212 

7.4   SPECIAL MOTION 4 - CIVIC CAMPUS 
 

213 

7.5   SPECIAL MOTION 5 - H&F UPSTREAM PATHWAY BOND 
 

214 

7.6   SPECIAL MOTION 6 - ANNIVERSARY OF FAMILY HUBS 
 

215 

7.7   SPECIAL MOTION 7 - H&F GREEN INVESTMENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

216 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Blank page 
 
 
 
 
 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COUNCIL 
MINUTES 

 
 
 
 

ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING 
 
 
 
 
 

WEDNESDAY 22 OCTOBER 2025 
 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
 
 

PRESENT 
 

The Mayor – Councillor Sharon Holder 
Deputy Mayor – Councillor Daryl Brown 

 
Councillors: 
 
Jose Afonso 
Aliya Afzal-Khan 
Adronie Alford 
Florian Chevoppe-Verdier 
Stephen Cowan 
Jacolyn Daly 
Downer-Sanderson 
Wesley Harcourt 
Rebecca Harvey 
Lisa Homan 
Laura Janes 
Andrew Jones 
 

Adam Peter Lang 
Amanda Lloyd-Harris 
Ross Melton 
Omid Miri 
Nimmo 
Genevieve Nwaogbe 
Adrian Pascu-Tulbure 
Ashok Patel 
Paynter 
Natalia Perez 
Zarar Qayyum 
Rowan Ree 
 

Lucy Richardson 
Helen Rowbottom 
Alex Sanderson 
Max Schmid 
Asif Siddique 
Nikos Souslous 
Dominic Stanton 
Sally Taylor 
Nicole Trehy 
Frances Umeh 
Rory Vaughan 
Patrick Walsh 
 

 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Mercy Umeh, Stala 
Antoniades, Ann Rosenberg, Paul Alexander, Patricia Quigley, Bora Kwon, Alex 
Karmel, Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler, Jackie Borland, Trey Campbell-Simon, Liz 
Collins, and David Morton. 
 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

3. MINUTES  
 
7.13pm – RESOLVED 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 9 July 2025 were agreed as an accurate record. 
 
 

4. MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 

Death of former Councillor Frances Stainton 

Page 8



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
The Mayor informed the Council that Frances Stainton passed away on 22 August 
2025. Speeches of remembrance were made by Councillors Stephen Cowan, Jose 
Afonso, Adrian Pascu-Tulbure, Dominic Stanton, Amanda Lloyd-Harris, Aliya Afzal-
Khan and Liam Downer-Sanderson. 
 

Death of Her Royal Highness, The Duchess of Kent 
 
The Mayor informed the Council that Her Royal Highness, The Duchess of Kent 
passed away on 4 September 2025. Speeches of remembrance were made by 
Councillors Stephen Cowan and Jose Afonso. 
 

Death of former Councillor Iain Coleman 
 
The Mayor informed the Council that Iain Coleman passed away on 20 September 
2025. Speeches of remembrance were made by Councillors Stephen Cowan, Jose 
Afonso, Wesley Harcourt, Adronie Alford, and Amanda Lloyd-Harris. 
 
The Mayor then led the Council in a minute of silence in memory of Frances 
Stainton, Her Royal Highness, The Duchess of Kent, and Iain Coleman. 
 
 

5. PUBLIC QUESTIONS (20 MINUTES)  
 
The Mayor thanked the residents who submitted questions. Questions 1, 2, 4, and 5 
were taken in the meeting. The responses to all questions can be found in Appendix 
1. 
 
 

6. ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION/COMMITTEE REPORTS  
 

6.1 Youth Justice Plan 2025-26  
 
8.14pm – The report and recommendations were formally moved for adoption by 
Councillor Alex Sanderson. 
 
Speeches on the report were made by Councillors Alex Sanderson and Rebecca 
Harvey (for the Administration) – and Councillor Aliya Afzal-Khan (for the Opposition). 
 
The report and recommendations were put to the vote: 
 

FOR   UNANIMOUS 
AGAINST  0 
NOT VOTING 0 

 
The recommendations were CARRIED. 
 
8.29pm – RESOLVED 
 

Page 9



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

1. That Full Council approved the H&F Youth Justice Plan 2025-26 attached as 
Appendix 1 of the report. 

 
6.2 Disability Confident Leader  

 
8.30pm – The report and recommendations were moved for noting by the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Reform, Councillor Rowan Ree. 
 
Speeches on the report were made by Councillors Rowan Ree, Natalia Perez, and 
Rory Vaughan (for the Administration) – and Councillor Amanda Lloyd-Harris (for the 
Opposition). 
 
8.46pm – RESOLVED 
 

1. That Full Council noted that H&F had officially been recognised as a Disability 
Confident Leader – the highest level of accreditation within the UK 
Government’s Disability Confident scheme. 

 
6.3 Transformation of Playgrounds and Other Play Facilities  

 
8.46pm – The report and recommendations were moved for noting by the Cabinet 
Member for Public Realm, Councillor Florian Chevoppe-Verdier. 
 
Speeches on the report were made by Councillors Florian Chevoppe-Verdier, Frances 
Umeh, and Ross Melton (for the Administration) – and Councillor Amanda Lloyd-Harris 
(for the Opposition). 
 
9.01pm – RESOLVED 
 

1. That Full Council noted the investment of £8.3 million into a three-year 
programme of improvement works to deliver an enhanced high-quality 
playground offer across LBHF, including developing exemplar playgrounds in 
our major parks of Ravenscourt Park and Bishops Park. Working with the 
Housing Department to make sure the play offers in both Housing and Parks is 
coordinated. 

 
2. That Full Council noted the establishment of a Play Forum to advise on the 

proposed changes and priorities, ensuring the programme is co-produced with 
local communities and there is a coordinated approach with schools, housing, 
and other providers of play in LBHF. 

 
6.4 Digital Inclusion Strategy Launch Event Update  

 
9.01pm – The report and recommendations were moved for noting by the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Reform, Councillor Rowan Ree. 
 
Speeches on the report were made by Councillors Rowan Ree, Florian Chevoppe-
Verdier, and Lydia Paynter (for the Administration) – and Councillor Adrian Pascu-
Tulbure (for the Opposition) 
 

Page 10



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

9.18pm – RESOLVED 
 

1. That Full Council noted the event launch and the ongoing initiatives that arose 
as part of the Digital Inclusion Strategy. 

 
6.5 Allocation of Seats and Proportionality on Committees  

 
9.18pm – The report and recommendations were moved for noting and were 
unanimously agreed. 
 
9.18pm – RESOLVED 
 

1. That the allocation of seats set out in Appendix 1 of the report was noted. 
 

6.6 Review of the Constitution  
 
9.19pm – The report and recommendations were formally moved for adoption by the 
Leader of the Council, Councillor Stephen Cowan. 
 
The report and recommendations were put to the vote: 
 

FOR   UNANIMOUS 
AGAINST  0 
NOT VOTING 0 

 
The recommendations were declared CARRIED. 
 
9.19pm – RESOLVED 
 

1. That Full Council noted the changes to party appointments detailed in 
paragraphs 5 and 6 of the report. 

 
2. That Full Council noted and approved the committee membership changes 

detailed in paragraphs 7 and 8 of the report. 
 

3. That Full Council noted the creation of a new Lead Member for Libraries role, 
as detailed in Appendix 1 of the report, and the appointment of Councillor 
Patricia Quigley to it. 

 
4. That Full Council approved the updates to the Departmental Registers of 

Authorities, as detailed in Appendix 2 of the report. 
 

5. That Full Council approved the revised Functions and Procedure Rules for the 
West London Economic Prosperity Board, as detailed in Appendix 3 of the 
report. 

 
6.7 Members' Allowances Scheme Review 2025/26  

 
9.19pm – The report and recommendations were formally moved for adoption by the 
Leader of the Council, Councillor Stephen Cowan. 

Page 11



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
The report and recommendations were put to the vote: 
 

FOR   29 
AGAINST  0 
NOT VOTING 7 

 
The recommendations were declared CARRIED. 
 
9.20pm – RESOLVED 
 

1. That the Members’ Allowances Scheme 2025/26 as set out in the report and 
attached as Appendix 1 of the report, was approved. 

 
2. To note from 1st April the Members’ basic allowance rate was increased in 

line with the average basic allowance paid across London for the previous 
year and the special responsibility allowance uplifted in line with the national 
local government pay settlement for employees. 

 
3. To note the review and implementation of some of the recommendations of 

the 2023 Report of the Independent Panel on “The Renumeration of 
Councillors in London. 

 
4. To note the Government’s announcement that Councillors will be able to join 

the LGPS soon. 
 
 

7. SPECIAL MOTIONS  
 

7.1 Special Motion 1 - Supporting H&F's Primary Schools  
 
9.20pm – Councillor Alex Sanderson moved, seconded by Councillor Callum Nimmo, 
the special motion in their names. 
 
“This Council notes recent data from the Department for Education showing that 
Hammersmith & Fulham’s primary schools achieved the best Key Stage 2 results in 
the country across maths, reading, and writing. This represents another example of 
the exemplary performance of the borough’s primary schools, all of which are rated 
either Outstanding or Good by Ofsted. 
 
This Council congratulates the borough’s teachers, support staff, officers, parents, 
governors, and students for their collective efforts in achieving these outstanding 
results. 
 
This Council resolves to continue supporting better primary school facilities across the 
borough, such as the fantastic new Ark White City facility, to provide students and 
teachers with the modern, high-quality learning environments they deserve.” 
 

Page 12



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

Speeches on the motion were made by Councillors Alex Sanderson, Callum Nimmo, 
and Adam Peter Lang (for the Administration) – and Councillor Aliya Afzal-Khan (for 
the Opposition). 
 
Councillor Sanderson made a speech winding up the debate before the motion was 
put to the vote: 
 

FOR   UNANIMOUS 
AGAINST  0 
NOT VOTING 0 

 
The motion was declared CARRIED. 
 
9.38pm – RESOLVED 
 
This Council notes recent data from the Department for Education showing that 
Hammersmith & Fulham’s primary schools achieved the best Key Stage 2 results in 
the country across maths, reading, and writing. This represents another example of 
the exemplary performance of the borough’s primary schools, all of which are rated 
either Outstanding or Good by Ofsted. 
 
This Council congratulates the borough’s teachers, support staff, officers, parents, 
governors, and students for their collective efforts in achieving these outstanding 
results. 
 
This Council resolves to continue supporting better primary school facilities across the 
borough, such as the fantastic new Ark White City facility, to provide students and 
teachers with the modern, high-quality learning environments they deserve. 
 

7.2 Special Motion 2 - Strengthening Public Safety through Investment in CCTV  
 
9.38pm – Councillor Rebecca Harvey moved, seconded by Councillor Nikos Souslous, 
the special motion in their names. 
 
“This Council notes: 

1. That H&F has one of the densest CCTV systems in the country, with over 2,000 
cameras in operation. 

2. That Hammersmith & Fulham Council is investing £3.2 million in upgraded 
CCTV and surveillance technology to support the Met Police in fighting crime 
and protecting residents. 

3. That this investment builds on a prior £5.4 million CCTV programme and is part 
of a multi-year plan running through to 2027/28. 

4. That the new enhancements include artificial intelligence – enabling features 
such as more efficient video playback, automatic vehicle tracking, and 
retrospective facial recognition across the CCTV network. 

5. That “live recognition” cameras will be placed at 10 high-traffic sites, matching 
faces against a defined police database in real time, contingent on police 
support. 

Page 13



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

6. That 500 existing cameras will be upgraded to allow better retrospective 
searching of footage to solve crimes. 

7. That 50 cameras will get speakers so officers can step in as and when anti-
social behaviour is taking place. 

8. That the CCTV network complements the work of both the Metropolitan Police 
and the Council’s Law Enforcement Team, established in the face of opposition 
from the Conservative opposition. 

 
This Council believes that all residents have the right to feel safe in public spaces and 
that technology, when used responsibly, can enhance community safety. 
 
The Council affirms that the adoption of advanced tools will go hand in hand with 
robust policies, transparency and oversight.” 
 
Speeches on the motion were made by Councillors Rebecca Harvey, Nikos Souslous, 
Lisa Homan, Stephen Cowan, Max Schmid, Rowan Ree, and Andrew Jones (for the 
Administration) – and Councillors Jose Afonso, Liam Downer-Sanderson, and Adrian 
Pascu-Tulbure (for the Opposition). 
 
Councillor Harvey then made a speech winding up the debate before it was put to the 
vote: 
 

FOR   UNANIMOUS 
AGAINST  0 
NOT VOTING 0 

 
The motion was declared CARRIED. 
 
10.14pm – RESOLVED 
 
This Council notes: 

1. That H&F has one of the densest CCTV systems in the country, with over 2,000 
cameras in operation. 

2. That Hammersmith & Fulham Council is investing £3.2 million in upgraded 
CCTV and surveillance technology to support the Met Police in fighting crime 
and protecting residents. 

3. That this investment builds on a prior £5.4 million CCTV programme and is part 
of a multi-year plan running through to 2027/28. 

4. That the new enhancements include artificial intelligence – enabling features 
such as more efficient video playback, automatic vehicle tracking, and 
retrospective facial recognition across the CCTV network. 

5. That “live recognition” cameras will be placed at 10 high-traffic sites, matching 
faces against a defined police database in real time, contingent on police 
support. 

6. That 500 existing cameras will be upgraded to allow better retrospective 
searching of footage to solve crimes. 

Page 14



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

7. That 50 cameras will get speakers so officers can step in as and when anti-
social behaviour is taking place. 

8. That the CCTV network complements the work of both the Metropolitan Police 
and the Council’s Law Enforcement Team, established in the face of opposition 
from the Conservative opposition. 

 
This Council believes that all residents have the right to feel safe in public spaces and 
that technology, when used responsibly, can enhance community safety. 
 
The Council affirms that the adoption of advanced tools will go hand in hand with 
robust policies, transparency and oversight. 
 

7.3 Special Motion 3 - Celebrating H&F's Award-Winning Parks and Commitment 
to Green Spaces  
 
10.14pm – Councillor Florian Chevoppe-Verdier moved, seconded by Councillor 
Nicole Trehy, the special motion in their names. 
 
“This Council notes that the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham has been 
awarded four new Green Flag Awards by Keep Britain Tidy, recognising excellence in 
the management, safety, and community value of local parks and open spaces. The 
newly awarded sites are: 

 Eel Brook Common 

 Marcus Garvey Park 

 St Paul’s Church and Open Space 

 Vicarage Gardens 
 
The Green Flag Award is an independently assessed, nationally recognised standard 
that celebrates parks which are safe, welcoming, well-maintained, environmentally 
responsible, and inclusive. 
 
The Council believes this achievement is a testament to the hard work of our parks 
staff, gardeners, volunteers, the Law Enforcement Team and Friends groups, who 
deserve public recognition for their contributions. Recognising this, the Council has 
launched a new H&F Parks Forum to further strengthen community involvement, 
offering residents and local groups the opportunity to help shape the future of our 
borough’s open spaces. 
 
The Council notes that new investment has also played an important role in park 
improvements, with over £3.5 million spent in recent years and a further £1.1 million 
planned between 2025 and 2027, supporting new planting, improved lighting, 
pathways, signage, and community facilities. 
 
The Council notes that the new awards bring the total number of Green Flag-
accredited parks in H&F to 25. In 2014, under the last Conservative administration, the 
borough had only 11 Green Flag-accredited parks. At that time, parks were threatened 
with privatisation, such as through plans for a longer-term 35 lease of much of 
Hammersmith Park to a private company.” 
 

Page 15



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

Councillor Chevoppe-Verdier made a speech on the motion (for the Administration). 
The guillotine fell at 10.17pm and the motion was put to the vote: 
 

FOR   UNANIMOUS 
AGAINST  0 
NOT VOTING 0 

 
The motion was declared CARRIED. 
 
10.18pm – RESOLVED 
 
This Council notes that the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham has been 
awarded four new Green Flag Awards by Keep Britain Tidy, recognising excellence in 
the management, safety, and community value of local parks and open spaces. The 
newly awarded sites are: 

 Eel Brook Common 

 Marcus Garvey Park 

 St Paul’s Church and Open Space 

 Vicarage Gardens 
 
The Green Flag Award is an independently assessed, nationally recognised standard 
that celebrates parks which are safe, welcoming, well-maintained, environmentally 
responsible, and inclusive. 
 
The Council believes this achievement is a testament to the hard work of our parks 
staff, gardeners, volunteers, the Law Enforcement Team and Friends groups, who 
deserve public recognition for their contributions. Recognising this, the Council has 
launched a new H&F Parks Forum to further strengthen community involvement, 
offering residents and local groups the opportunity to help shape the future of our 
borough’s open spaces. 
 
The Council notes that new investment has also played an important role in park 
improvements, with over £3.5 million spent in recent years and a further £1.1 million 
planned between 2025 and 2027, supporting new planting, improved lighting, 
pathways, signage, and community facilities. 
 
The Council notes that the new awards bring the total number of Green Flag-
accredited parks in H&F to 25. In 2014, under the last Conservative administration, the 
borough had only 11 Green Flag-accredited parks. At that time, parks were threatened 
with privatisation, such as through plans for a longer-term 35 lease of much of 
Hammersmith Park to a private company. 
 

7.4 Special Motion 4 - Celebrating Black History Month 2025 in Hammersmith & 
Fulham  
 
The special motion was withdrawn. 
 

7.5 Special Motion 5 - Opposing online hate speech  
 
The special motion was withdrawn. 

Page 16



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
7.6 Special Motion 6 - Drugs in Public Spaces  

 
The special motion was withdrawn. 
 

7.7 Special Motion 7 - Taking Care of Our High Streets  
 
The special motion was withdrawn. 
 
 
 
 

Meeting started: 7.11 pm 
Meeting ended: 10.19 pm 

 
 
 

Mayor   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

Appendix 1 – Public Questions and Responses 
 
Question 1 
 
From: Peter Golden, Resident 
To: Cabinet Member for Climate Change and Ecology 
 
Question: 
"In Hammersmith & Fulham’s 2030 Climate and Ecology Strategy, the council has 
recognised that the largest source of carbon emissions of things the average person 
uses relate to food, recognising in particular, the high climate impact of meat and 
dairy. A 2023 analysis found that plant-based diets resulted in 75% less greenhouse 
gas emissions, water pollution and land use. Plant-based diets also cut the 
destruction of wildlife by 66% and water use by 54%. Helping the community access 
plant-based food through council events, school menu changes and public education 
would help lower Hammersmith & Fulham’s carbon footprint but have positive 
impacts on the health of our community. Therefore, will Hammersmith & Fulham join 
46 councils worldwide, including Lambeth, Edinburgh, Belfast, Norwich, Exmouth 
and Haywards Heath in the UK, and endorse the Plant Based Treaty initiative and 
take meaningful steps to expand access to healthy plant-based food?" 
 
Response from the Cabinet Member for Climate Change and Ecology: 
Food is a significant contributor to our borough’s consumption-based emissions, and 
our Climate and Ecology Strategy recognises this. Alongside that, we’ve launched 
the H&F Food Plan 2025–2030, which puts sustainability at the heart of a 
whole-systems approach to food. The plan aims for a borough where everyone can 
eat well, sustainably and with dignity, and was co-produced with our Food for All 
Partnership, including the Foodbank, Nourish Hub and other local organisations. 
 
We’re focusing on practical measures within our local powers. For example, we’ve 
completed the roll-out of wheeled recycling bins and food-waste caddies to over 
50,000 households, helping residents recycle more and keep streets cleaner. We 
support community growing and food skills through partners such as the 
Hammersmith Community Gardens Association, and we work with Nourish Hub and 
the H&F Foodbank to improve access to nutritious food and reduce waste. 
 
We also back ReLondon’s “Eat Like a Londoner” campaign, which helps residents 
save money, cut waste and eat well, and we engage local employers and community 
groups through the H&F Climate Alliance. To amplify our impact, we participate in 
London Councils’ One World Living programme, which is developing policies on 
sustainable food purchasing and delivering London-wide campaigns to promote 
healthier, lower-impact diets. 
 
Question 2 
 
From: Brian Mooney, Resident 
To: Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion and Community Safety 
 
Question: 

Page 18



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

"H&F is spending millions on AI-CCTV and facial recognition cameras, officially to 
address crime. It has already tracked resident and visitor journeys using SmartLenz 
in a Brackenbury study. What guarantee is there that these systems will not be used 
for charging drivers in the potential road pricing initiative buried deep in the Air 
Quality Action Plan (p75)?” 
 
Response from the Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion and Community 
Safety: 
The cabinet report regarding CCTV and the use of AI technology is clear that these 
cameras will be used for the purpose of fighting crime and anti-social behaviour, 
working alongside our partners and the police. 
 
This council has invested millions to keep residents safe in H&F with a further £3.2 
million to be invested. There is no intention to use the cameras for road charging, 
and they do not contain the necessary technology required for road user charging 
schemes. To reiterate, we are committed to keeping our residents safe and this 
technology will help in our fight against crime and anti-social behaviour. 
 
Question 3 
 
From: Chloe Barlass, Resident 
To: The Leader of the Council 
 
Question: 
“Why is the Uxbridge Road and surrounding streets lacking in care from the council? 
Parking restrictions ignored, filthy streets, litter, unused phone boxes, addiction, drug 
dealing, messy shop fronts, too many fried food shops and a huge amount of betting 
shops. We pay our council tax and parking permits we deserve better. Our children 
have to walk through this every day to get to school. Do better!” 
 
Response from the Leader of the Council: 
We are actively working to improve the condition and experience of Uxbridge Road. 
Over the past five years, the council has invested millions into the area — including 
arts, culture, public realm improvements, and tackling crime and anti-social 
behaviour. 
 
Recent actions include: 
 

 Doubling Law Enforcement Team patrols along Uxbridge Road. 

 Over 600 monthly enforcement visits to nearby streets like Devonport Road 
and St Stephen’s Avenue. 

 Deep cleaning pavements, removing fly-posters and graffiti. 

 Investigating 157 planning enforcement cases and to date have served 
enforcement notices (Section 215) to the owners of 10 properties. These 
require improvement works including repairs, cleaning, and signage 
improvements. This work is ongoing with more notices to be issued following 
engagement and negotiation with businesses and owners,  

 Working with businesses to improve shop fronts (e.g. repainting Nando’s, 
repairing signage, concealing wiring). 

 Preparing a new waste and recycling service with timed collections. 

Page 19



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 Pressing BT and New World to remove defunct phone boxes – with planning 
conditions already imposed for the removal of eight New World units. 

 
We are also exploring a Business Improvement District (BID) to ensure long-term 
investment and accountability from local businesses. 
 
Question 4 
 
From: Alessio Tomasino, Resident 
To: Cabinet Member for Public Realm 
 
Question: 
“Our FOIs show there are no licences for A boards or stalls on Uxbridge Road yet 
the road is full of them. At the Cabinet meeting the Council promised to look at 
decluttering the private forecourt and the public highway but we have seen no 
progress. When is this happening?” 
 
Response from the Cabinet Member for Public Realm: 
Thank you for your question. First and foremost, our absolute priority is to ensure 
that all roads and pavements are accessible to all users, especially disabled and 
vulnerable residents. Everyone should be able to move freely and safely and enjoy 
the full diversity of what Uxbridge Road has to offer, from vibrant Syrian restaurants 
to Shepherds Bush Market, the Bush Theatre, and award-winning pubs like The 
Hawthorn. Ensuring clear, unobstructed footways is essential for safety, dignity, and 
independence. 
 
At the same time, we recognise the importance of supporting our cherished local 
businesses, many of which rely on A-Boards to attract customers and contribute to 
the vibrancy of the high street. A thriving high street benefits everyone, socially and 
economically. Dead or declining high streets have profound economic and social 
consequences. Research from the Centre for Retail Research and academic 
institutions like LSE shows that high street closures lead to reduced community 
cohesion, increased crime, and economic stagnation. Vacant shops and neglected 
public spaces diminish civic pride and safety, while the loss of local businesses 
erodes social interaction and cultural identity. Economically, high street decline 
depresses property values, reduces local tax revenues, and discourages investment, 
creating a cycle of deprivation. In 2024 alone, the UK saw an average of 37 shop 
closures per day, with London’s vacancy rate reaching a 10-year high. 
 
To clarify, A-Boards situated on the public highway do require a highway licence, but 
those placed on private forecourts are exempt. While FOI data may show no current 
licences issued, this reflects the fact that many A-Boards are placed on private 
forecourts, which do not require licensing. Our recent survey of Uxbridge Road 
identified that some A-Boards are located on private forecourts, and others on the 
public highway. The distinction is often clear where there is a change in paving 
material, however, in several locations, private forecourts have been repaved to 
match the public footway, which, while visually enhancing the street, can make it 
challenging for the public to distinguish between public and private areas. 
 

Page 20



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

For those A-Boards found on the public highway, our enforcement officers are 
actively engaging with businesses, encouraging them to apply for a highway licence 
where necessary. The primary objective is to ensure pedestrian safety and maintain 
sufficient width along the footway so that people can pass without obstruction. 
 
Where A-Boards cause obstruction, compromise pedestrian safety, or do not comply 
with Council guidelines, such as being in poor condition or displaying inappropriate 
advertising, enforcement action is taken. Conversely, for boards placed responsibly 
and in good condition, the Council continues to work collaboratively with businesses 
to promote compliance and responsible use of space. 
 
Our Law Enforcement Team and Highways Licensing officers patrol Uxbridge Road 
daily and regularly engage with businesses, requesting the removal of items from the 
footway where insufficient space is left for pedestrians. While we have not received 
formal complaints in the past three months about obstructive A-Boards, that is, 
boards which block pedestrian access, reduce footway width below safe standards, 
or pose a hazard to disabled or vulnerable users, we recognise that concerns persist 
and continue to monitor the situation closely. These efforts also address related 
concerns, such as shop items encroaching onto the footway, stock being stored 
during replenishment, and the prompt removal of trolleys used to move stock. 
 
The Council is committed to a balanced approach, enforcing necessary regulations 
to protect public safety and accessibility, while also respecting private ownership and 
supporting local businesses to remain open, attractive, and thriving. 
 
I hope this response provides reassurance that the Council is taking appropriate and 
compassionate action to address concerns about A-Boards on Uxbridge Road, 
ensuring both compliance and the continued prosperity of our local businesses. 
 
Question 5 
 
From: Victoria Eccles, Resident 
To:  The Leader of the Council 
 
Question: 
“Since the petition to Fix Uxbridge Rd, there has been very little engagement with 
residents to discuss how the Council will address the issues. The petition group has 
had no further contact from the Cabinet since the meeting on 15 September, when 
commitments were made to work together, despite emails being sent. How and 
when does the Council intend to work with petitioners on an overall plan, who will 
lead this and how will we be kept informed of progress?” 
 
Response from the Leader of the Council: 
Thank you very much and I reiterate that we are genuinely grateful that residents 
have raised their concerns. 
 
We recognise that, as the lead positioner said at the Cabinet meeting, she raised a 
series of legal questions and asserted that we have a series of legal powers. And if 
you recall it was a two and a half hour meeting. So we went through an awful lot of 
information. If you look up the transcript to that, there were many, many issues 

Page 21



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

raised. So following that meeting, we organised for a complete review of all the 
petitioner’s points, particularly the legal points. And the reason that was important is 
she very much explained that there had not been legal advice, but did assert a 
number of laws that we weren't using. And if you were there, it was very clear-cut, 
but she thought we had those laws. Now, you will remember we had previously 
taken advice on this and were told we simply do not have those powers. 
 
Anyone who's ever dealt with a lawyer or any lawyers will know that you can get 
slightly conflicting legal advice at times. And what you want to do is to look at stuff in 
the round. So although it was over a month ago, I've had the officials look at every 
single one of those legal questions because in my job, you quite often get advice and 
if someone tells you it's wrong, as the petitioner did, then I will go and check it out.  
 
That's what we've been doing. We've done that extensively and I understand a letter 
is in draft to go back and answer those very specific points. But as we agreed, we 
would work in good faith with each other. And I can appreciate you might wonder 
what's going what's happened. Well, since that point, we've also looked at all the 
different issues that were raised. Some of those were already in play. So, parts of 
Uxbridge Road will be raised. Parts of it we’re looking to see if we can extend it. But 
you heard one of the officers at that Cabinet meeting say that some of those costs 
could be up to £30 million pounds. So, it is not easy to quickly come back with such 
sums of public money or indeed with such solutions. But we are a solution orientated 
administration and that's what we've been working on. So I've seen a draft letter 
earlier this week and I've looked at that and you will be getting several things 
happen. 
 
Number one, you will get a full and clear response of all the concerns that were 
raised. I was grateful so many people came and I do hope you felt listened to. You 
were very much actively listened to and we are looking into those concerns. The 
second thing we will do is appoint a lead Councillor. So whilst you have many very 
effective ward Councillors in that area who raise these concerns all the time, we're 
going to appoint one coordinating Councillor to cut across all the different 
departments.  
 
Following that, we will look to work with you and other residents in the area to see 
what else we can do to further improve it. I appreciate that the lead petitioner said 
she'd lived there for three years and I was really sorry to hear she said it was the 
worst place she'd ever lived. There has been hundreds of millions of pounds of 
investment into Uxbridge Road over the last 10 years. Now, you might say, where 
did we get that money from, because we're a cash-strapped austerity council, we put 
some money into the Bush Theatre, into public realm improvements, into crime 
fighting measures, the Law Enforcement Team, Gangs Unit, etc. But our job is also 
to win private sector investment. Anyone who knows about private sector investment 
means you have to win the confidence of the private sector for them to take the risk 
and put a business, whether it's a new pub that is in the Evening Standard 
and recommended as a place to go, or whether it's a new hotel that's being built at 
vast amounts of money or whether it's a complete refurb of Shepherd's Bush Market.  
 
Now there's over a hundred million pounds worth of investment have come in here 
and we know the best way to improve Uxbridge Road is to keep winning that private 

Page 22



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

investment and that will be part of what we set out in the response and we hope we 
can continue to work with you in good faith – to not just have Council actions but to 
work to deal with some of the other things which aren't the Council's control like BT 
and the police, but also within the wider section of the market of attracting new 
investment that is driving what is a great road but could be much better. 
 
Question 6 
 
From: Kat Kostuniak, Resident 
To: Cabinet Member for The Economy 
 
Question: 
“When will the Council share full information regarding the 154 enforcement cases 
on Uxbridge Road, as well as the Jan Kattein Architects report? Additionally, given 
the Head of Enforcement’s acknowledgment that the majority-if not all-of these cases 
may relate to satellite dishes and wiring, when will the Council conduct a fresh, 
comprehensive audit of the road to ensure enforcement actions are taken?” 
 
Response from the Cabinet Member for The Economy: 
The Council has investigated 157 properties as part of its comprehensive review of 
properties along this section Uxbridge Road. This has included details of 
landownership, and an assessment of those properties which could be improved via 
planning enforcement/licencing. This identified 157 properties which could be subject 
to future planning enforcement notices, Section 215 notices or Advertisement 
prosecutions. However, its normal practice to instigate informal negotiations with 
individual property owners prior to any formal action being undertaken. Experience 
has shown this to have the most successful outcomes overall.   
  
Some properties (both ground floor and upper levels) have multiple issues and 
therefore need a bespoke approach involving a combination of the above measures 
to achieve visual improvements. 
 
Approximately 250 final warning letters have now been issued, and formal 
enforcement notices (Section 215) have been served on 10 properties. These 
include 350-356, 360, and 416 Uxbridge Road. 
 
A further 14 properties have been improved through the implementation of 
negotiated works. 9 more properties have had improvements negotiated and agreed 
in writing and works are awaited. 41 cases (of the 157) have been closed to date 
mainly relating to shop shutters that are immune from prosecution having been there 
4 years, and properties where improvements have successfully been undertaken.    
 
Actions to date include painting, cleaning, signage repairs, and concealing wiring 
with visible improvements at several locations. This enforcement programme is 
ongoing and updates will be reported regularly. 
 
We are preparing to share the Jan Kattein Architects report at the upcoming meeting 
with residents. This will include a discussion of the proposals and how they align with 
enforcement and public realm goals. 
 

Page 23



Full Council Public Questions – 28 January 2026 
 
Question 1 
 
From: Una-Jane Winfield, Resident 
To: Councillor Rebecca Harvey, Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion and 
Community Safety 
 
Question:       
When and how will the Council start to enforce the judgement of the Supreme 
Court handed down on 16th April 2025 that "sex in the Equality Act 2010 means 
biological sex"? What changes will it make immediately and in the years to come to 
Council services, employment conditions, schools, and many other areas of direct 
and indirect influence? 
 
Question 2 
 
From: Roxanne Roche, Resident 
To: Councillor Alex Sanderson, The Deputy Leader 
 
Question:       
How are you ensuring that those with the authority to do so (e.g. education staff, 
safeguarding officers in education and in the council, and others with key 
responsibilities for safeguarding children in education) are actually keeping children 
safe whilst in attendance at school and following the legal requirements and the 
policies as set out in government legislations? Particularly when any severe and 
ongoing safeguarding concerns are bought to your attention. 
 
Question 3 
 
From: Brian Mooney, Resident 
To: Councillor Florian Chevoppe-Verdier, Cabinet Member for Public Realm 
 
Question: 
H&F Council has committed to a feasibility study on ‘eco’ road user charging (aka 
road pricing, https://bit.ly/4svcy3Y, p76). This has long been considered feasible 
technically, so has clear implications for over-taxed drivers. What criteria do you see 
as making its introduction desirable? 
 
Question 4 
 
From: Caroline Shuffrey, Resident 
To: Councillor Florian Chevoppe-Verdier, Cabinet Member for Public Realm 
 
Question: 
Despite the best efforts by the Council to ensure that Uber and other private hire 
drivers are not fined when picking up or dropping off residents and their visitors 
inside our LTNs, the arrangements have failed and many drivers are refusing to 
cross the cameras even when residents offer to specifically put their registration 
numbers into RingGo. Would the Council now recommend that residents, particularly 

Page 24

Agenda Item 5

https://bit.ly/4svcy3Y


women on their own, only hire black taxis, who are automatically exempt from the 
camera fines, in order to ensure that they are not left stranded and forced to walk to 
and from home in the dark? 
 
Question 5 
 
From: Vivienne Goldstein, Resident 
To: Councillor Florian Chevoppe-Verdier, Cabinet Member for Public Realm 
 
Question: 
The parklets were placed on Wandsworth Bridge Road nearly 18 months ago. 
Residents are very concerned about their safety especially as they have been 
involved in many well documented accidents and incidents. When will they be 
removed? 
 
Question 6 
 
From: Donald Grant, Resident 
To: Councillor Florian Chevoppe-Verdier, Cabinet Member for Public Realm 
 
Question: 
I am a resident of Wandsworth Bridge Road, and you told me and a neighbour in 
2024, after the imposition of Fulham’s LTNs, that we would be involved in any future 
changes to our road. One meeting was arranged by a neighbour in 2025, but the 
opposite to everything that we put forward was then pushed forward by our Officers.  
Fortunately these plans have been paused by TfL due to further impacting bus 
journey times. Now in 2026 we are left in limbo with bikes using pavements as the 
cycle space has been obstructed for nearly 18 months, and we have to live day and 
night with the congestion and danger caused by a wavy road experiment. Will you 
now acknowledge our views and arrange a public meeting to do things with residents 
not to them by allowing us to co-produce the plans for Wandsworth Bridge Road? 
 
Question 7 
 
From: Caroline Brooman-White, Resident 
To: Councillor Florian Chevoppe-Verdier, Cabinet Member for Public Realm 
 
Question: 
Businesses were promised a new app to register customers to go through the 
cameras. We have now been waiting over two years. We were promised that it 
would definitely be working last August. Please could you give me a firm date as the 
existing app is very time consuming and businesses are having problems with it? 
 
Question 8 
 
From: Nigel Singh, Resident 
To: Councillor Florian Chevoppe-Verdier, Cabinet Member for Public Realm 
 
Question: 

Page 25



Shepherds Bush Market Station is the gateway to Shepherds Bush it’s the first 
impression visitors get of our area. The station is dilapidated and well past its best 
before date. How is the Council planning to work with TFL to modernise and improve 
Shepherd’s Bush Market station? 
 
Question 9 
 
From: Natalie Turner, Resident 
To: Councillor Florian Chevoppe-Verdier, Cabinet Member for Public Realm 
 
Question: 
What actions will the Council commit to improving Uxbridge Road from a visual, 
accessibility and accessibility perspective within the next month? What about 3 
months? 
 
Question 10 
 
From: Saul Udoma-Herman, Resident 
To: Councillor Alex Sanderson, Deputy Leader 
 
Question: 
The Fulham Bilingual school is a partnership with the Lycee Charles de Gaulle. As 
the Council will know, the future of that partnership appears to be at risk due to the 
desire of the Lycee to conclude the partnership. Will the Council say what steps have 
been taken to ensure that there is funding for the continuation of bilingual education 
on the Clancarty Road site should that partnership come to an end? 
 
Question 11 
 
From: Sara Allan, Resident 
To: Councillor Rebecca Harvey, Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion and 
Community Safety 
 
Question: 
Given the Law Enforcement Team’s remit is limited not including core policing 
powers, can the Cabinet Member explain why the Council has chosen to invest 
further in recruiting LET officers rather than directing that funding—through 
partnership or lobbying—towards additional police officers with full statutory powers 
to address serious crime, anti-social behaviour and public safety concerns raised 
repeatedly by residents? 
 
Question 12 
 
From: Julien Cornebise, Resident 
To: Councillor Alex Sanderson, Deputy Leader 
 
Question: 
With the looming collapse of the Fulham Bilingual partnership between the Lycée 
Français and Holy Cross school, many Fulham families risk being left without the 
educationally, culturally, and diplomatically rich bilingual education. While we are 

Page 26



reassured to hear of the Council's support for Holy Cross's attempts by salvaging the 
partnership if possible, and most importantly by setting up a bilingual stream on its 
own if not, what concrete financial measures is the Council taking to give it the 
means to thus preserve the children's stability of bilingual studies and learning 
environment? 
 
Question 13 
 
From: Jonathan Couard, Resident  
To: Councillor Alex Sanderson, Deputy Leader 
 
Question: 
In light of the serious educational and community impact that would result from the 
withdrawal of the Lycée Charles de Gaulle from the Fulham Bilingual partnership, 
what concrete steps is the Council taking to actively engage with, influence, and 
apply pressure where appropriate to the Lycée and relevant French authorities, in 
order to do everything possible to secure the continuation of this partnership and 
preserve the stability of bilingual education for pupils at the Clancarty Road site? 
 
Question 14 
 
From: Malek Ben Hamida, Resident 
To: Councillor Alex Sanderson, Deputy Leader 
 
Question: 
We are a family living in the borough for 10 years now. Our 2 daughters go to the 
Fulham bilingual (year 5 and year 3) from holy cross side. We received lately the 
information that the lycée side would like to finish the partnership for financial 
reasons. How the borough could help to keep and maintain this amazing partnership, 
or is the borough preparing for a new public bilingual stream? 
 
Question 15 
 
From: Tania Grorud, Resident  
To: Councillor Alex Sanderson, Deputy Leader 
 
Question: 
I understand the council is trying to salvage the partnership with the Lycée to 
continue the wonderful program at Fulham Bilingual. But if that is not possible, what 
plans are being made to continue the wonderful Fulham Bilingual school for Holy 
Cross students? 
 
Question 16 
 
From: Manuk Asatryan, Resident 
To: Councillor Alex Sanderson, Deputy Leader 
 
Question: 
The Fulham Bilingual School currently operates in partnership with the Lycée 
Charles de Gaulle. However, it appears that this partnership may be at risk as the 

Page 27



Lycée has indicated a desire to end it. Could the Council outline what measures are 
being taken to secure funding to ensure the continuation of bilingual education at the 
Clancarty Road site if the partnership does come to an end? 
 
Question 17 
 
From: Charles Malissard, Resident 
To: Councillor Alex Sanderson, Deputy Leader 
 
Question: 
The Fulham Bilingual school is a partnership with the Lycée Charles de Gaulle. As 
the council will know, the future of that partnership appears to be at risk due to the 
desire of the Lycée to conclude the partnership. Will the Council say what steps have 
been taken to ensure that there is funding for the continuation of bilingual education 
on the Clancarty Road site should that partnership come to an end? 
 
Question 18 
 
From: Kate Cranfield, Resident  
To: Councillor Alex Sanderson, Deputy Leader 
 
Question: 
What is the council doing to fight to preserve the Holy Cross/Lycée Partnership at 
the Fulham Bilingual School which would mean many Fulham families risk being left 
without the educationally, culturally and diplomatically rich bilingual education 
provided by this fantastic school and what concrete financial measures is the Council 
taking to preserve the children's stability of bilingual studies and learning 
environment? 
 
Question 19 
 
From: Johanna Penttilae, Resident  
To: Councillor Alex Sanderson, Deputy Leader 
 
Question: 
Fulham Bilingual is a popular school providing bilingual education through a long-
standing partnership between the UK and France, with the UK side being state 
funded. It has been reported that the Lycée Français de Londres is considering 
withdrawing from this partnership. In the event that this partnership with France 
comes to an end, what steps will the Council take to ensure the continuation of a 
high-quality, state-funded bilingual education offer in the local area for current and 
future pupils? 
 
Question 20 
 
From: Alexandra Desvignes, Resident  
To: Councillor Alex Sanderson, Deputy Leader 
 
Question: 

Page 28



The Fulham Bilingual school (a partnership between Holy Cross and the French 
Lycée Français Charles de Gaulle based on Clancarty road in Fulham) is at risk of 
closure. What steps are the council taking to support Holy Cross School in their 
endeavours to save the partnership, which provides a unique education in a very 
popular dual curriculum that benefits hundreds of children in the borough, and what 
plans are being set out to provide a bilingual education alternative via the Borough 
and Holy Cross School, should the partnership come to an unfortunate end? 
 
Question 21 
 
From: Paul Micheron, Resident 
To: Councillor Alex Sanderson, Deputy Leader 
 
Question: 
Fulham Bilingual is a well-regarded school delivering bilingual education through a 
long-standing partnership between the UK and France, with the UK component 
being state-funded. It has been reported that the Lycée Français de Londres may be 
considering withdrawal from this partnership. Should this partnership come to an 
end, what measures would the Council put in place to maintain the provision of this 
high-quality, state-funded bilingual education for current and future pupils in the local 
area? 
 
Question 22 
 
From: Merije Delamare, Resident 
To: Councillor Alex Sanderson, Deputy Leader 
 
Question: 
We understand the Lycée Charles de Gaulle wants to pull out of the partnership with 
Holy Cross which forms the Fulham Bilingual School. Can you set out the main pain 
points for the Lycée wanting to discontinue the partnership and what hurdles does 
Holy Cross / the council need to overcome to continue the partnership? How can 
parents help to support Holy Cross and the council in this? 
 
Question 23 
 
From: Marie Lecointre-Brown, Resident 
To: Councillor Alex Sanderson, Deputy Leader 
 
Question: 
Given the Lycée Charles de Gaulle’s intent to withdraw from the Fulham Bilingual 
partnership, what steps is the Council taking to guarantee funding for bilingual 
schooling on Clancarty Road if the agreement dissolves? 
 
Question 24 
 
From: Alexandra Green, Resident 
To: Councillor Alex Sanderson, Deputy Leader 
 
Question: 

Page 29



The Fulham Bilingual represents a unique asset to our borough—a thriving bridge 
between British and French communities that enriches local life far beyond the 
classroom. Will the Council recognise this cultural and educational value by 
committing the funding required for Holy Cross to sustain bilingual provision, 
regardless of the Lycée's decision? 
 
Question 25 
 
From: Anna Quattrone, Resident  
To: Councillor Alex Sanderson, Deputy Leader 
 
Question: 
Please comment on how you intend to support the Fulham Bilingual school - to keep 
the partnership between HC and Lycées - to create a HC bilingual (50:50) 
curriculum. Could you propose to decrease/remove(?) the rent of the building and 
the VAT from fees for the Lycées if they stay in the partnership? 
 
Question 26 
 
From: Emma Bouché, Parent 
To: Councillor Alex Sanderson, Deputy Leader 
 
Question: 
The Fulham Bilingual school is a partnership with the Lycée Charles de Gaulle. As 
the council will know, the future of that partnership appears to be at risk due to the 
desire of the Lycée to conclude the partnership due to funding issues. Will the 
Council say what steps have been taken to ensure that there is funding for the 
continuation of bilingual education on the Clancarty Road site? 
 

Page 30



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 

 

Report to: Full Council 
 

Date:  28/01/2026 
 

Subject: Council Tax Support Scheme 2026/27 
 

Report of: Cabinet Member for Finance and Reform – Councillor Rowan Ree 
 

Report author: Kirsty Brooksmith, Assistant Director Benefits 
 

Responsible Director: Sukvinder Kalsi – Executive Director for Finance & 
Corporate Services 

  

 

SUMMARY 
 
With residents across Hammersmith & Fulham continuing to struggle with the cost of 
living, we will continue to provide 100% support for the most vulnerable residents 
through the Council Tax Support Scheme. We are one of the few councils who have 
maintained this despite central government reducing the funding for this through the 
Revenue Support Grant.  
 
This administration has gone beyond what was previously provided by exempting 
care leavers and foster carers from Council Tax entirely. This year, in recognition of 
the brave service of our nation’s Armed Forces, and to mark 80 years since VE Day, 
we will provide an addition 25% discount for veterans living in the borough.  
 
Since 2013, every council has been required to set its own Council Tax Support 
Scheme, setting out how it wants to help those on low income pay their council tax. 
The administration continues to be committed to ensuring that not only are residents 
no worse off than they would have been had the original Council Tax benefit 
regulations stayed in place but are also determined to try and reverse some of the 
regressive elements of Council Tax, by ensuring that lower income families are 
supported by the council. This constitutes a £10.27m investment, based on the 
2025/26 Council Tax charge, by the Council to support the borough's lowest income 
families for 2026/27.  
 
Pre-2013, funding for the Council Tax Support Scheme was originally provided 
directly from the Government to cover the full cost of the scheme. Since then, 
funding has been absorbed and aggregated within other central government grants 
given to local authorities. The funding that the Council receives each year towards 
the cost of the scheme expenditure is contained within the Revenue Support Grant. 
Grant funding from Central Government has reduced by £36m (54% in real terms) 
from 2010/11 to 2025/26. 
 
We know many of our residents are still feeling the squeeze from the increased cost 
of energy, petrol, and food prices, as such, we have invested more than £12m to 
provide much-needed cost-of-living support to our residents which includes 
dedicated support for older and vulnerable residents in need in H&F. 
 

Page 31

Agenda Item 6.1



 
 

We continue to be the only council in the country to provide free home care to older 
and disabled residents. It’s part of our work to build a stronger, safer, and kinder 
borough.  
 
Since April 2025 we have issued financial support vouchers to more than  
830 local pensioners not receiving pension credit and have supported a national 
campaign to ensure our local pensioners, who may have missed out on pension 
credit, to claim through advice and support provided by our cost-of-living team.  
 
We have worked with more than a 100 voluntary and community organisations and 
partners, making sure our help, advice, support, and financial assistance reach as 
many residents as possible. In the last year we provided preventative support for 
residents including free meals for children taking part in our holiday activities like 
Summer in the City and Spooktacular and on hardship relief including support for 
pensioners, young people with care experience and residents struggling with debt 
and essential living costs.  
 
In 2025/26, we have continued to provide Hardship Prevention Payments and Local 
Support Payments to ensure that residents facing financial crisis—particularly those 
struggling with energy or water arrears, have access to vital support when they need 
it most. 
 
These payments are designed not only to assist those on low incomes, but also to 
support working families and individuals not in receipt of benefits who are 
experiencing financial hardship and have nowhere else to turn to. We’ve been able 
to maintain this crucial safety net by ensuring that the government’s extension of the 
Household Support Fund is effectively targeted to those most in need across our 
borough. 
 
To ensure that we do not add any further burden to our residents, and to continue 
our commitment to being a compassionate council we have once again chosen for 
2026/27 not to introduce changes to our local council tax support scheme, and we 
remain committed to offering the most help to the lowest income families in our 
borough. We therefore remain committed to providing the maximum support to our 
residents with 100% support available to those on the lowest incomes. 
 
In April 2013 when local council tax schemes were introduced, we were one of only 
34 Councils out of 326 across England that retained a scheme providing up to 100% 
support to our residents. We have continued to provide this and 2026/2027 will be 
the 14th year that we have consistently provided up to 100% support to our residents. 
 
The latest research published on Council Tax Support schemes indicates that in 
2025/6, 28 councils reduced their local council tax support schemes, and just over 
40% of all schemes in place are now income-banded, which often means partial 
rather than full support.  
 
We are committed to providing the best possible service to our residents facing 
financial hardship and in 2025 our Benefits Service was awarded a national 
performance award by the Institute of Revenues Rating and Valuation for the Most 
Improved Team. 
 

Page 32



 
 

This report is therefore not proposing to make any changes to the Council Tax 
Support Scheme for 2026/27 other than the application of the annual uprating, as 
part of our commitment to creating a compassionate and inclusive council.  
 
The annual uprating will apply to the allowances, applicable amounts, and income for 
both pensioners and working age Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) 
benefits, as per the Housing Benefit uprating circular issued to local authorities in 
late November 2025. This circular advises the new rates from April 2026. All local 
authorities have a duty to apply uprating to their Housing Benefit Scheme, and we 
propose to continue to reflect this uprating within our Council Tax Support Scheme to 
mirror the original intention of the default scheme. This will ensure transparency, 
ease of administration and clarity for our residents. 
 
Hammersmith & Fulham introduced an ethical debt approach to collecting Council 
Tax in 2018. Our council’s ethical debt policy is designed to balance financial 
responsibility with compassion. By ensuring recovery practices are fair, respectful, 
and sensitive to individual circumstances, we create an inclusive environment where 
vulnerable residents are supported rather than excluded. Accessible options such as 
payment plans and hardship schemes help households manage debt sustainably, 
reducing the risk of long-term poverty cycles. Through early engagement and flexible 
repayment options, we help residents manage their commitments in a way that 
works for them, reducing stress and avoiding unnecessary enforcement action. By 
focusing on support rather than pressure, we promote financial stability and give 
households the confidence to stay on track. This approach not only protects 
residents from hardship but also strengthens our community by enabling people to 
participate fully in local life and contribute to shared prosperity. By not changing our 
scheme for 2026/27 it remains the most effective scheme for ensuring we provide 
the maximum support available to our residents.  
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Full Council approve: 
 

1. That the Council Tax Support Scheme in operation in 2025/2026 (included at 
Appendix 1) shall continue in 2026/2027. 

 
2. That the Council shall apply the annual uprating of allowances, applicable 

amounts and income, set out in the DWP Housing Benefit circular, to the 
Council Tax Support scheme for 2026/2027. 

 

 

Wards Affected: All 
 

 

Our Values Summary of how this report aligns to 
the H&F Corporate Plan and the H&F 
Values 

Building shared prosperity We will support our low-income 
residents by ensuring our scheme gives 

Page 33

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/publications/corporate-plan/hf-plan-2023-2026


 
 

them the maximum benefit of up to 
100%, contributing to keeping their 
living costs, including their council tax, 
affordable 

Creating a compassionate and inclusive 
council 
 

We are continuing to deliver our local 
Council Tax Support Scheme to the 
most vulnerable amongst us, so we 
know they are supported financially. 

Doing things with local residents, not to 
them 
 

We will continue to listen to and work 
with our residents by offering financial 
support to them. We will continue to 
monitor the impacts of economic and 
welfare changes on our residents, 
ensuring we understand their needs. 
This will allow us to continue to target 
our help to support them where they say 
it is needed the most. 

Being ruthlessly financially efficient 
 

We want our residents to know we are 
working to protect and maintain policies 
that protect our most vulnerable 

 

Financial Impact 
 
The Council Tax Support Scheme operates by offering a discount to residents who 
need help paying their Council Tax. The cost of the scheme is shared between 
Hammersmith & Fulham Council and the Greater London Authority based on their 
respective Council Tax charges. The scheme cost is estimated at £14.67m in 
2026/27, based on current Council Tax levels, of which the Hammersmith and 
Fulham share will be £10.27m. This estimate is allowed for within the 2026/27 
Council Tax Base report and the Council’s Medium-Term Financial Strategy. 
 
Up until 2013, funding for the Council Tax Support Scheme (known as the Council 
Tax Benefit Scheme) was originally provided specifically through the Revenue 
Support Grant (RSG) from the Government. The Government abolished the national 
Council Tax Benefit scheme from 1 April 2013 and allowed local councils to develop 
their own local replacement schemes for working age residents. Government grant 
funding has reduced by £36m (54% in real terms) from 2010/11 to 2025/25. 
  
Verified by James Newman, Assistant Director of Finance 
 

Legal Implications 
  
Each financial year the Council must consider whether it wants to revise its Council 
Tax Support Scheme, leave as is or replace it. The Council must make this decision 
no later than 31 January in the financial year preceding when the scheme is to take 
effect. 
 
The Council has a statutory duty to set the council tax each year, and this report is 
part of this process. The Council can only vary or set council tax discounts or higher 
amounts as legally empowered to do so. The relevant regulations and legislation are 

Page 34



 
 

the Local Government Finance Act 1992, the Local Authorities (Calculation of 
Council Tax Base) Regulations 2012, and the Council Tax (Prescribed Classes of 
Dwellings) (England)Regulations 2003, as amended in 2012. The Council Tax base 
has been calculated in accordance with the relevant Acts and regulations. 
 
The appended Council Tax Reduction Scheme has been considered in accordance 
with The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed/Requirements) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2025’ The Secretary of State makes these Regulations in 
exercise of the powers conferred by section 113(1) and (2) of, and paragraph 2 of 
Schedule 1A to, the Local Government Finance Act 1992(1). 
 
Grant Deg, Director for Legal Services 
 

Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
None. 
 

 

DETAILED ANALYSIS 

Proposals and Analysis of Options  

  
1. In our review of our Council Tax Support Scheme, in 2024/25 we compared 

schemes across neighbouring London authorities. 45% of those authorities had 
a banded income scheme and the remaining 55% had a scheme based on the 
previous Council Tax Benefit scheme (default scheme) which was like ours. 
The lowest level of support available was 15% of council tax liability, only three 
councils offered 100% as we do, and the majority offered 90%. 

 
2. We modelled a variety of changes to our schemes, including changes to capital 

limits, changes to non-dependant charges and the introduction of banded 
income schemes. When considering the capital limits, we also looked at the 
treatment of capital as income, and we also considered changing the 
deductions for non- dependants in the household. 

 
3. The overarching objective of the modelling was to ensure that we continued to 

provide maximum support (100%) for those who needed the most support. 
However, there was also a focus on making the scheme simpler for residents 
and simpler for the Council to administer. 

 
4. The options were considered by the Section 151 Officer and the Cabinet 

Member for Finance and Reform. In all the options modelled some residents 
would be negatively impacted.  

  
5. None of the options modelled provided significant financial benefits in reducing 

administrative costs. One of the reasons for this was that we would need to 
maintain our scheme as is for residents of pension age as this is required by 
law. The operation of two different schemes applying one to working age and 
one to pensioners would likely increase complexity in administration.  

  

Page 35



 
 

6. Given the findings of our comprehensive review none of the options are 
recommended for adoption and it is recommended that we continue with our 
current scheme. 

 
Supporting Our Veterans 

 
7. This year, we have gone further in recognising the service and sacrifice of our 

Armed Forces community by proposing a new Council Tax discount, effective 
from April 2026. Under this initiative, veterans living in our borough who hold an 
HM Armed Forces Veteran Card will receive an additional 25% reduction on 
their Council Tax. This measure reflects our deep gratitude to those who have 
served our country and ensures that our brave service veterans receive 
meaningful financial support as part of our commitment to an inclusive and 
compassionate borough. 

Equality Implications  

 
8. There are no anticipated negative implications for groups with protected 

characteristics, under the Equality Act 2010 by the approval of these proposals. 

Risk Management Implications 

 
9. Over the last decade, local authorities have received significant real terms cuts 

to budgets, in addition the Government’s Universal Credit Scheme has posed 
challenges to the poorest and most vulnerable in society. Council tax benefit 
was a UK-wide benefit that provided support for council tax to low-income 
families. This was abolished in April 2013 and local authorities in England were 
charged with designing their own council tax support schemes in its place. 
Although these must maintain support for pensioners at its previous level, local 
authorities have wide discretion to design their own schemes for working-age 
families. Options have been considered but none provide any significant 
financial benefits by reducing administrative costs The Council’s scheme 
contributes positively to our residents, meeting their needs and expectations. It 
also contributes to our council values most specifically being a compassionate 
council, so the most vulnerable among us are looked after. 

 
Implications verified by Moira Mackie, Head of Internal Audit, 4 November 2025  

Climate and Ecological Emergency Implications  

 
10. There are no anticipated climate or ecological implications as a result of the 

approval of this recommendation.  
 

Consultation 

  
11. There is no requirement to consult this year as we are not proposing any 

changes to our scheme.  
 
 

Page 36



 
 

LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 – Council Tax Support Scheme 2025/26 
 
Appendix 2 – https://www.entitledto.co.uk/blog/2025/may/20/council-tax-reduction-
schemes-in-england-202526 
 
 

Page 37

https://www.entitledto.co.uk/blog/2025/may/20/council-tax-reduction-schemes-in-england-202526
https://www.entitledto.co.uk/blog/2025/may/20/council-tax-reduction-schemes-in-england-202526


       

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
    

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

London Borough of Hammersmith and 
Fulham 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
2025/26 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

1 Page 38



       

 

     
      

    
           

     
    

     
                

   
   

    
     

           
            
             
             
           

                
                
             
             

    
          

        
               

            
          
         

     
     

        
        

              
               

       
              
   

        
              

       
            

    
         

          
               

      
      
          

            
              
         

             
            

            
   

           
      

              
      

       
      

         
        

      

PART 1 - Introduction.............................................................................................. 6 

PART 7 Maximum council tax reduction for the purposes of calculating eligibility for a reduction under 

Maximum council tax reduction amount under this scheme: pensioners and persons who are not 

PART 8 Alternative maximum council tax reduction for the purposes of calculating eligibility for a 

Alternative maximum council tax reduction under this scheme: pensioners and persons who are 

PART 10 Income and capital for the purposes of calculating eligibility for a reduction under this 

Calculation of income and capital: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of universal 

1.— Citation, commencement and application ................................................................ 6 
PART 2 Interpretation ............................................................................................. 7 
Application of scheme: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners................................. 14 
Meaning of “couple”.............................................................................................. 15 
Polygamous marriages ............................................................................................ 15 
Meaning of “family” .............................................................................................. 15 
Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible or not responsible for another.... 15 
Households ......................................................................................................... 16 
Non-dependants ................................................................................................... 16 
Remunerative work ............................................................................................... 17 
PART 3 Procedural matters ...................................................................................... 18 
Procedure for reduction applications and appeals against reduction decisions......................... 18 
PART 4 Classes of person entitled to a reduction under this scheme..................................... 18 

Class A: pensioners whose income is no greater than the applicable amount........................ 18 
Class B: pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount............................ 18 
Class C: alternative maximum council tax reduction – pensioners ..................................... 19 

Class D: persons who are not pensioners whose income is less than the applicable amount ......... 19 
Class E: persons who are not pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount .. 19 
Class F: alternative maximum council tax reduction – persons who are not pensioners............ 20 

Periods of absence from a dwelling – pensioners and persons who are not pensioners ................ 20 
Transitional provision.......................................................................................... 23 

PART 5 Classes of person excluded from this scheme ....................................................... 24 
Classes of person excluded from this scheme ............................................................. 24 
Class of person excluded from this scheme: persons treated as not being in Great Britain ....... 24 

Class of person excluded from this scheme: persons subject to immigration control.................. 26 
Class of person excluded from this scheme: capital limit .................................................. 26 
Class of person excluded from this scheme: students....................................................... 27 
PART 6 Applicable amounts...................................................................................... 27 

Applicable amounts: pensioners ............................................................................. 27 
Applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners....................................................... 27 

Polygamous marriages: persons who are not pensioners................................................. 28 
Applicable amount: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of universal credit ..... 28 

this scheme and amount of reduction ......................................................................... 29 

pensioners ....................................................................................................... 29 
Non-dependent deductions: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners........................... 29 

reduction under this scheme and amount of reduction ..................................................... 31 

not pensioners .................................................................................................. 31 
PART 9 Amount of reduction under this scheme ............................................................. 31 

Amount of reduction under this scheme: Classes A to F ................................................. 31 

scheme and amount of reduction............................................................................... 32 
CHAPTER 1 Income and capital: general ...................................................................... 32 
Calculation of income and capital: applicant’s family and polygamous marriages ..................... 32 

Circumstances in which income and capital of non-dependent is to be treated as applicant’s ... 32 
CHAPTER 2 Income and capital: pensioners in receipt of guarantee credit or savings credit......... 32 

Applicant in receipt of guarantee credit: pensioners .................................................... 32 
Calculation of applicant’s income and capital in savings credit only cases: pensioners ............ 33 

CHAPTER 3 Income and capital where there is an award of universal credit............................ 33 

credit............................................................................................................. 33 
Tolerance of cases where Universal Credit is in payment. ................................................. 34 
CHAPTER 4 Income: other pensioners.......................................................................... 34 

Calculation of income and capital where state pension credit is not payable: pensioners ........ 34 
Meaning of “income”: pensioners ........................................................................... 34 
Calculation of weekly income: pensioners ................................................................. 36 
Earnings of employed earners: pensioners ................................................................. 38 
Calculation of net earnings of employed earners: pensioners .......................................... 39 
Calculation of earnings of self-employed earners: pensioners.......................................... 39 
Earnings of self-employed earners: pensioners............................................................ 40 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

2 Page 39



       

 

     
   

        
            
           
            

            
         

            
         

            
         
        
           

         
       
          
        

        
          

    
     

   
        
        

    
       
          

     
         
            

    
    

   
     

          
   

   
      
           

           
        

       
      
        

    
      

   
        

     
     

    
       

         
          

       
       

       
          

        
       
       

          
          

Notional income: pensioners ................................................................................. 40 
Income paid to third parties: pensioners ................................................................... 42 

CHAPTER 5 Income: persons who are not pensioners........................................................ 42 
Average weekly earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners.................... 42 
Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners: persons who are not pensioners .............. 43 
Average weekly income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners ...................... 43 
Calculation of weekly income of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners.............. 44 
Earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners........................................ 44 
Calculation of net earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners................. 45 
Earnings of self-employed earners: persons who are not pensioners .................................. 45 
Calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners ........................ 46 
Capital treated as income: persons who are not pensioners ............................................ 47 
Notional income: persons who are not pensioners........................................................ 48 

CHAPTER 6 Income: further provisions applying to pensioners and persons who are not pensioners 50 
Calculation of income on a weekly basis ................................................................... 50 
Treatment of child care charges............................................................................. 50 
Calculation of average weekly income from tax credits ................................................. 54 
Disregard of changes in tax, contributions etc. ........................................................... 55 
Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners ....................................................... 55 
Calculation of deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners ........................ 56 

CHAPTER 7 Capital ................................................................................................ 57 
Calculation of capital.......................................................................................... 57 
Income treated as capital: persons who are not pensioners ............................................ 57 
Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom.............................................................. 58 
Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom....................................................... 58 
Notional capital ................................................................................................ 58 
Diminishing notional capital rule: pensioners ............................................................. 60 
Diminishing notional capital rule: persons who are not pensioners .................................... 62 
Capital jointly held ............................................................................................ 64 
Calculation of tariff income from capital: pensioners ................................................... 64 
Calculation of tariff income from capital: persons who are not pensioners .......................... 64 

PART 11 Students.................................................................................................. 64 
CHAPTER 1 General ............................................................................................... 64 

Interpretation................................................................................................... 64 
Treatment of students ........................................................................................ 67 
Students who are excluded from entitlement to a reduction under this scheme.................... 67 

CHAPTER 2 ......................................................................................................... 69 
Income ........................................................................................................... 69 
Calculation of grant income .................................................................................. 69 
Calculation of covenant income where a contribution is assessed ..................................... 70 
Covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed ............................. 70 
Relationship with amounts to be disregarded under Schedule 8 ....................................... 70 
Other amounts to be disregarded ........................................................................... 70 
Treatment of student loans .................................................................................. 71 
Treatment of payments from access funds ................................................................ 72 
Disregard of contribution ..................................................................................... 72 
Further disregard of student’s income...................................................................... 72 
Income treated as capital..................................................................................... 72 
Disregard of changes occurring during summer vacation ................................................ 72 

PART 12 Extended reductions ................................................................................... 73 
CHAPTER 1 Extended reductions: pensioners ................................................................. 73 

Extended reductions: pensioners ............................................................................ 73 
Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners................................... 73 
Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners ............ 73 
Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners ...................... 73 
Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)—movers: pensioners........................ 74 
Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement to a 
reduction by virtue of classes A to C........................................................................ 74 
Continuing reductions where state pension credit claimed: pensioners .............................. 74 

CHAPTER 2 Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners ....................................... 75 
Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners................................................... 75 
Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners................................................... 75 
Duration of extended reduction period: persons who are not pensioners ............................ 76 
Amount of extended reduction: persons who are not pensioners ...................................... 76 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

3 Page 40



       

 

        
         

   
          

         
   

          
   

        
   

      
       

         
        

          
       
           

           
            
     

         
               

        
      
         

   
       

       
      

     
     

           
          
   

       
           

        
    
          

             
     

    
             
        

                 
          

               
   

     
   

     
           

           
       

    
        

             
    
     
     
           
          

     
    

Extended reductions—movers: persons who are not pensioners ........................................ 76 
Relationship between extended reduction and entitlement to a reduction by virtue of classes D to 

Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not 

Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not pensioners 

Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)—movers: persons who are not pensioners 

Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement to 

F .................................................................................................................. 77 
Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not pensioners ......... 77 

pensioners ....................................................................................................... 77 

.................................................................................................................... 77 

.................................................................................................................... 78 

reduction by virtue of classes D to F ........................................................................ 78 
CHAPTER 3 Extended reductions: movers in the authority’s area......................................... 78 

Extended reductions: applicant moving into the authority’s area ..................................... 78 
PART 13 When entitlement begins and change of circumstances ......................................... 79 

Date on which entitlement begins........................................................................... 79 
Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect ............................................... 79 
Change of circumstances where state pension credit in payment ..................................... 80 

PART 14 Applications (including duties to notify authority of change of circumstances).............. 81 
Making an application ......................................................................................... 81 
Date on which an application is made ...................................................................... 82 

Applications where an applicant’s Universal Credit ceases an award of Council Tax Reduction ..... 84 
Joint claims for Housing Benefit and Council Tax Reduction............................................... 84 

Backdating of applications: pensioners ..................................................................... 84 
Backdating of applications: persons who are not pensioners ........................................... 85 
Information and evidence..................................................................................... 85 
Amendment and withdrawal of application................................................................ 86 
Duty to notify changes of circumstances ................................................................... 86 

PART 15 Decisions by authority ................................................................................. 87 
Decision by authority .......................................................................................... 88 
Notification of decision ....................................................................................... 88 

PART 16 Circumstances in which a payment may be made................................................. 88 
Payment where there is joint and several liability ....................................................... 88 
PART 17 .......................................................................................................... 89 
Award or payment of reduction.............................................................................. 89 
Time and manner of granting reduction under this scheme............................................. 89 
Person to whom reduction is to be paid .................................................................... 89 
Shortfall in reduction.......................................................................................... 90 
Payment on the death of the person entitled ............................................................. 90 
Transitional provisions for restrictions on amounts for children and young persons (pensioners) 90 

SCHEDULE 1 Procedural matters ................................................................................ 92 
Paragraph 11 .................................................................................................... 92 
PART 1 Procedure for an application for a reduction under this scheme ............................. 92 
PART 2 Procedure for making an appeal.................................................................... 92 
Procedure by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the authority.... 92 
PART 3 Procedure for applying for a discretionary reduction........................................... 93 
Procedure for an application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992 
Act ................................................................................................................ 93 
PART 4 Electronic communication........................................................................... 93 
Interpretation................................................................................................... 93 
Use of intermediaries.......................................................................................... 94 
Effect of delivering information by means of electronic communication ............................. 94 
Proof of identity of sender or recipient of information .................................................. 94 
Proof of delivery of information ............................................................................. 94 

SCHEDULE 2 Applicable amounts: .............................................................................. 95 
PART 1 Persons who are pensioners Paragraph 25 ........................................................ 95 
Transitional provisions for restrictions on amounts for children and young persons ................ 95 
2.Child or young person amounts ............................................................................ 97 
PART 2 Family premium....................................................................................... 97 
PART 3 - Premiums............................................................................................. 98 
PART 4 - Amounts of premium specified in Part 3 .......................................................101 

Applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners Paragraph 26 .....................................102 
PART 1 Personal allowances .................................................................................102 
Personal allowances ..........................................................................................102 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

4 Page 41



       

 

      
     
   

         
      
       
      
        
         

    
        

    
      

   
          

    
        
   

    
      

    
      
            
         

    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

PART 2 - Family premium ....................................................................................102 

SCHEDULE 3 Amount of alternative maximum council tax reduction: pensioners and persons who are 

SCHEDULE 5 Amounts to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: pensioners 

SCHEDULE 7 Sums disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not 

PART 3 - Premiums............................................................................................103 
PART 4 ..........................................................................................................107 
Amounts of Premiums Specified in Part 3 .................................................................107 
PART 5 - The components....................................................................................108 
PART 6 - Amount of Components ...........................................................................109 
PART 7 - Transitional Addition ..............................................................................109 
PART 8 - Amount of Transitional Addition.................................................................111 

not pensioners ....................................................................................................112 
SCHEDULE 4 Sums disregarded from applicant’s earnings: pensioners ..................................114 

Paragraph 40 ...................................................................................................114 

......................................................................................................................117 
SCHEDULE 6 Sums disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who are not pensioners ....121 

Paragraph 53 ...................................................................................................121 

pensioners .........................................................................................................125 
Paragraph 54 ...................................................................................................125 

SCHEDULE 8 Capital disregards: pensioners..................................................................134 
Paragraph 63 ...................................................................................................134 
PART 1 Capital to be disregarded...........................................................................134 
PART 2 - Capital disregarded only for the purposes of determining deemed income ..............141 

SCHEDULE 9 Capital disregards: persons who are not pensioners ........................................142 
Paragraph 63 ...................................................................................................142 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

5 Page 42



       

 

  
     

 
            

        
 

                 
    

 
               

             
          

            
 

                
 

         
         

  
          
          

  
        

   
           

   
          

  
          

  
         
          

   
          

   
          

   
          

   
           

   
          

   
          

   
          

   
          

 
                  

       
    

     
   
  
    

              
              

        
   
          

       
      

      

PART 1 - Introduction 
1.— Citation, commencement, and application 

(1) This scheme may be cited as the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 and comes into effect on 1 April 2025. 

(2) This scheme applies in relation to the billing authority in England known as the London 
Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham. 

(3) This Council Tax Reduction Scheme for working age applicants has been determined by the 
Council and is intended to assist people in financial need, by the award of a reduction in 
their council tax liability. It is a local scheme determined in respect of a decision made by 
full Council. Central Government has prescribed that the reduction given to pensioners. 

(4) The scheme in respect of pension age applicants is defined by Central Government within the 
following: 

(a) Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012; 
(b) Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements and Default Scheme) (England) 

(Amendment) Regulations 2012; 
(c) Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Transitional Provision) (England) Regulations 2013; 
(d) Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) Regulations 

2013; 
(e) Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2013; 
(f) The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) (No. 

2) Regulations 2014 
(g) The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2015; 
(h) The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2016; 
(i) The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2017; 
(j) The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2018; 
(k) The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2020; 
(l) The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2021; 
(m) The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2022; 
(n) The Council Tax (Demand Notices and Reduction Schemes) (England) (amendment) 

Regulations 2022; 
(o) The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2023; 
(p) The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2024; 
(q) The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2025; and 
(r) Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended by the Local Government Finance Act 2012) 

(5) Whilst the scheme for those who have reached the qualifying age for state pension credit is set 
by Central Government, the Council has resolved to enhance the government scheme (as 
defined by the Council Tax Reduction Scheme (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 
2012) to disregard in full the following: 

(a) a war disablement pension; 
(b) a war widow’s pension or war widower’s pension; 
(c) a pension payable to a person as a widow, widower or surviving civil partner under any power 

of Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision about pensions for or 
in respect of persons who have been disabled or have died in consequence of service as 
members of the armed forces of the Crown; 

(d) a guaranteed income payment; 
(e) a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or payment as is 

mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs; 
(f) a pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is analogous to 

any of the pensions or payments mentioned in sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) above; 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

6 Page 43



       

 

         
               

  
      

 
 

               
              

       
 

           
            

        
     

 
  

 
   

 
        

           
     

              
         

    

             
     

   
           

  
  

             
  

             
     
  

 
           

          
   

           
   

   
             

       
      

    
          

       
 

                
        

                
         

  
        
           

             
       

             
    

             
      

              

(g) pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special provision made by 
the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or of the Republic of Austria. 

The provisions outlined above, enhance the Central Government’s scheme for Pension age 
applicants. 

(6) The incomes outlined within paragraph (6) shall also be disregarded in full for all persons 
who are not pensioners. Both this and the enhancement to the pensioner’s scheme meets 
the authority’s commitment to the Armed Forces Covenant. 

(7) Except where otherwise stated, an uprating will be applied to the Council Tax Reduction 
Schemes to reflect national changes to the amounts of pensions, tax credits, income related and 
non-income related social security benefits and allowances, component parts, applicable 
amounts, premiums, and deductions. 

PART 2 Interpretation 

2.—(1) In this scheme— 

“the 1992 Act” means the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 
“Abbeyfield Home” means an establishment run by the Abbeyfield Society including all bodies 
corporate or unincorporated which are affiliated to that society; 
“adoption leave” means a period of absence from work on ordinary or additional adoption leave by 
virtue of section 75A or 75B of the Employment Rights Act 1996; 
“adult disability payment” ;as the meaning given in regulation 2 of the DAWAP Regulations; 

“an AFIP” means an armed forces independence payment payable in accordance with an armed 
and reserve forces compensation scheme established under section 1(2) of the Armed Forces 
(Pensions and Compensation) Act 2004; 
“alternative maximum council tax reduction” means the amount determined in accordance with 
paragraph 30 and Schedule 4; 
“applicable amount” means— 
(a) in relation to a pensioner, the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph 24 and Schedule 
2, and 
(b) in relation to a person who is not a pensioner, the amount calculated in accordance with— 
(i) paragraph 25 and Schedule 3; or 
(ii) paragraph 27, 
as the case may be; 
“applicant” means a person applying for a reduction under this scheme; 
“application” means an application for a reduction under this scheme; 
“appropriate DWP office” means an office of the Department for Work and Pensions dealing with 
state pension credit or an office which is normally open to the public for the receipt of claims for 
income support, a jobseeker’s allowance or an employment and support allowance; 
“approved blood scheme” means a scheme established or approved by the Secretary of State, or 
trust established with funds provided by the Secretary of State, for the purpose of providing 
compensation in respect of a person having been infected from contaminated blood products; 
“assessment period” means the period determined— 
(a) in relation to pensioners— 
(i) in relation to the earnings of a self-employed earner, in accordance with paragraph 42 of this 
scheme for the purpose of calculating the weekly earnings of the applicant; 
or 
(ii) in relation to any other income, in accordance with paragraph 39 of this scheme for the purpose 
of calculating the weekly income of the applicant; 
(b) in relation to persons who are not pensioners, such period as is set out in paragraphs 46 to 48 of 
this scheme over which income falls to be calculated; 
“attendance allowance” means— 
(a) an attendance allowance under Part 3 of the SSCBA(3); 
(b) an increase of disablement pension under section 104 or 105 of that Act; 
(c) a payment under regulations made in exercise of the power conferred by paragraph 7(2)(b) of 
Part 2 of Schedule 8 to that Act; 
(d) an increase of an allowance which is payable in respect of constant attendance under paragraph 
4 of Part 1 of Schedule 8 to that Act; 
(e) a payment by virtue of article 14, 15, 16, 43 or 44 of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983 
or any analogous payment; or 
(f) any payment based on need for attendance which is paid as part of a war disablement pension; 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

7 Page 44



       

 

               
     
    
               

    
             

                    
      
          

         
     

                 
               

 
                

             
                

        
        
    

  
      

   
                

    
             

    
            

        
     

        
          

                 
         

        
   

             
     

           
  

         
  

              
 

 

              
       

          
             

    
         

               
         

   
     

   
               

                  
  

           
    

                
          

“the authority” means the billing authority in whose area this scheme has effect by virtue of 
paragraph 4 of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act; 
“basic rate” has the meaning given by the Income Tax Act 2007; 
“the benefit Acts” means the SSCBA, the Jobseekers Act 1995, the State Pension Credit Act 2002, 
and the Welfare Reform Act 2007; 
“board and lodging accommodation” means accommodation provided to a person or, if he is a 
member of a family, to him or any other member of his family, for a charge which is inclusive of the 
provision of that accommodation and at least some cooked or prepared meals which both are cooked 
or prepared (by a person other than the person to whom the accommodation is provided or a member 
of his family) and are consumed in that accommodation or associated premises; 
“care home” has the meaning given by section 3 of the Care Standards Act 2000 and in Scotland 
means a care home service within the meaning given by section 2(3) of the Regulation of Care 
(Scotland) Act 2001 and in Northern Ireland means a nursing home within the meaning of Article 11 
of the Health and Personal Social Services (Quality, Improvement and Regulation) (Northern Ireland) 
Order 2003 or a residential care home within the meaning of Article 10 of that Order; 
“the Caxton Foundation” means the charitable trust of that name established on 28th March 2011 
out of funds provided by the Secretary of State for the benefit of certain persons suffering from 
hepatitis C and other persons eligible for payment in accordance with its provisions; 
“child” means a person under the age of 16; 
“child benefit” has the meaning given by section 141 of the SSCBA; 
“child disability payment” has the meaning given by regulation 2 of the DACYP Regulations; 
“child care costs element” has the meaning given by regulation 27 of the Universal Credit 
Regulations 2012; 
“child tax credit” means a child tax credit under section 8 of the Tax Credits Act 2002; 
“close relative” means a parent, parent-in-law, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter-in-law, step-
parent, step-son, step-daughter, brother, sister, or if any of the preceding persons is one member of 
a couple, the other member of that couple; 
“concessionary payment” means a payment made under arrangements made by the Secretary of 
State with the consent of the Treasury which is charged either to the National Insurance Fund or to 
a Departmental Expenditure Vote to which payments of benefit or tax credits under the benefit Acts 
or the Tax Credits Act 2002 are charged; 
“contributory employment and support allowance” means a contributory allowance under Part 1 
of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 as amended by the provisions of Schedule 3, and Part 1 of Schedule 
14, to the Welfare Reform Act 2012 that remove references to an income-related allowance and a 
contributory allowance under Part 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 as that Part has effect apart 
from those provisions; 
“council tax benefit” means council tax benefit under Part 7 of the SSCBA; 
“couple” has the meaning given by paragraph 4 of this scheme; 
“DACYP Regulations” means the Disability Assistance for Children and Young People (Scotland) 
Regulations 2021; 
“the DAWAP Regulations” means the Disability Assistance for Working Age People (Scotland) 
Regulations 2022; 
“designated office” means the office of the authority designated by it for the receipt of 
applications— 

(a) by notice upon or with a form supplied by it for the purpose of making an application; or 

(b) by reference upon or with such a form to some other document available from it and sent 
by electronic means or otherwise on application and without charge; or 

(c) by any combination of the provisions set out in paragraphs (a) and (b); 
“disability living allowance” means a disability living allowance under section 71 of the SSCBA; 
“dwelling” has the meaning given by section 3 of the 1992 Act; 
“earnings” has the meaning given by paragraph 40, 42, 43 or 50 of this scheme as the case may be; 
“the Eileen Trust” means the charitable trust of that name established on 29th March 1993 out of 
funds provided by the Secretary of State for the benefit of persons eligible for payment in accordance 
with its provisions; 
“electronic communication” has the same meaning as in section 15(1) of the Electronic 
Communications Act 2000; 
“employed earner” is to be construed in accordance with section 2(1)(a) of the SSCBA and also 
includes a person who is in receipt of a payment which is payable under any enactment having effect 
in Northern Ireland and which corresponds to statutory sick pay or statutory maternity pay; 
“the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme” means a scheme under section 17A (schemes for 
assisting persons to obtain employment: ““work for your benefit”” schemes etc.) of the Jobseekers 
Act 1995 known by that name and provided pursuant to arrangements made by the Secretary of State 
that is designed to assist claimants for job-seekers allowance to obtain employment, including self-
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

8 Page 45



       

 

     
  
               

             
        

    
                

     
               

  
              

       
         

           
      

   
                

     
    

      
                 

  

          
           

  
       

             

                
              

       
           
        

  
      

          
       

        

  

             
      

              
              
     

              
     

              
               

           
               

  
          

     
         

               
           

           
 

                  
     

        
    

   

employment, and which may include for any individual work-related activity (including work 
experience or job search); 
“employment zone” means an area within Great Britain designated for the purposes of section 60 
of the Welfare Reform and Pensions Act 1999 and an “employment zone programme” means a 
programme established for such an area or areas designed to assist claimants for a jobseeker’s 
allowance to obtain sustainable employment; 
“enactment” includes an enactment comprised in, or in an instrument made under, an Act of the 
Scottish Parliament or the National Assembly for Wales; 
“extended reduction” means a reduction under this scheme for which a person is eligible under Part 
12 (extended reductions); 
“extended reduction period” means the period for which a person is in receipt of an extended 
reduction in accordance with paragraph 87, 94 or 99; 
“extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits)” means a reduction under this scheme for 
which a person is eligible in accordance with paragraph 87or 98; 
“family” has the meaning given by paragraph 6 of this scheme; 
“the Fund” means moneys made available from time to time by the Secretary of State for the benefit 
of persons eligible for payment in accordance with the provisions of a scheme established by him on 
24th April 1992 or, in Scotland, on 10th April 1992; 
“Grenfell Tower support payment” means a payment made for the purpose of providing 
compensation or support in respect of the fire on 14th June 2017 at Grenfell Tower; 
“guarantee credit” is to be construed in accordance with sections 1 and 2 of the State Pension Credit 
Act 2002; 

“a guaranteed income payment” means a payment made under article 15(1)(c) (injury benefits) 
or 29(1)(a) (death benefits) of the Armed Forces and Reserve Forces (Compensation Scheme) 
Order 2011; 
“historical child abuse payment” means a payment made under: 

(a) Part 1 of the Historical Institutional Abuse (Northern Ireland) Act 2019; 

(b)Part 4 of the Redress for Survivors (Historical Child Abuse in Care) (Scotland) Act 2021; 
“the Horizon system” means any version of the computer system used by the Post Office known as 
Horizon, Horizon Legacy, Horizon Online or HNG-X; 
“housing benefit” means housing benefit under Part 7 of the SSCBA; 
“housing costs element” has the meaning given by regulation 21 of the Universal Credit Regulations 
2012; 
“an income-based jobseeker’s allowance” and “a joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance” have the 
meanings given by section 1(4) of the Jobseekers Act 1995; 
“income-related employment and support allowance” means an income-related allowance under 
Part 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007; 

“independent hospital”— 

(a) in England means a hospital as defined by section 275 of the National Health Service Act 
2006 that is not a health service hospital as defined by that section; 

(b) in Wales has the meaning given by section 2 of the Care Standards Act 2000; and 
(c) in Scotland means an independent health care service as defined by section 10F of the National 
Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978; 
“the Independent Living Fund (2006)” means the Trust of that name established by a deed dated 
10th April 2006 and made between the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions of the one part and 
Margaret Rosemary Cooper, Michael Beresford Boyall and Marie Theresa Martin of the other part; 
“invalid carriage or other vehicle” means a vehicle propelled by a petrol engine or by electric power 
supplied for use on the road and to be controlled by the occupant; 
“local authority” means a local authority in England within the meaning of the Local Government 
Act 1972 
“the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund” means the company limited by guarantee number 
5505072), and registered charity of that name established on 11th July 2005 for the purpose of 
(amongst other things) relieving sickness, disability, or financial need of victims (including families 
or dependants of victims) of the terrorist attacks carried out in London on 7th July 2005; 
“the London Emergencies Trust” means the company of that name (number 09928465) incorporated 
on 23rd December 2015 and the registered charity of that name (number 1172307) established on 
28th March 2017 
“lone parent” means a person who has no partner and who is responsible for and a member of the 
same household as a child or young person; 
“the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust” means the trust of that name, established on 29th January 
1990 partly out of funds provided by the Secretary of State, for the benefit of certain persons 
suffering from haemophilia; 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

9 Page 46



       

 

             
     

    
             

        
   

         
                
          
     

               
                  
              

         
                
          
     

            
            

     
                   
     

  
             

 
              
 

                
             

          
            

 
                 

    
                
               
         

   
     

              
         

       

     
            

          

         
   

         
  

      
 
         

           
          

  
       

 
      

  
            
              

     

“the Macfarlane (Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust” means the trust of that name, established on 
3rd May 1991 partly out of funds provided by the Secretary of State, for the benefit of certain persons 
suffering from haemophilia and other beneficiaries; 
“the Macfarlane Trust” means the charitable trust, established partly out of funds provided by the 
Secretary of State to the Haemophilia Society, for the relief of poverty or distress among those 
suffering from haemophilia; 
“main phase employment and support allowance” means an employment and support allowance 
where the calculation of the amount payable in respect of the applicant includes a component under 
section 2(1)(b) or 4(2)(b) of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 or the applicant is a member of the work-
related activity group except in Part 1 of Schedule 3; 
“maternity leave” means a period during which a woman is absent from work because she is pregnant 
or has given birth to a child, and at the end of which she has a right to return to work either under 
the terms of her contract of employment or under Part 8 of the Employment Rights Act 1996; 
“main phase employment and support allowance” means an employment and support allowance 
where the calculation of the amount payable in respect of the applicant includes a component under 
section 2(1)(b) or 4(2)(b) of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 or the applicant is a member of the work-
related activity group except in Part 1 of Schedule 3 
“member of a couple” means a member of a married or unmarried couple; 
“MFET Limited” means the company limited by guarantee (number 7121661) of that name, 
established for the purpose in particular of making payments in accordance with arrangements made 
with the Secretary of State to persons who have acquired HIV as a result of treatment by the NHS 
with blood or blood products; 
“mobility supplement” means— 
(a) in relation to pensioners, a supplement to which paragraph 5(1)(a)(vi) of Schedule 5 to this scheme 
refers; 
(b) in relation to persons who are not pensioners, a supplement to which paragraph 13 of Schedule 8 
refers; 
“mover” means an applicant who changes the dwelling in which the applicant is resident, and in 
respect of which the applicant is liable to pay council tax, from a dwelling in the area of the authority 
to a dwelling in the area of a second authority; 
“the National Emergencies Trust” means the registered charity of that name (number 1182809) 
established on 28th March 2019; 
“net earnings” means such earnings as are calculated in accordance with paragraph 41 or 51 of this 
scheme, as the case may be; 
“net profit” means such profit as is calculated in accordance with paragraph 60 of this scheme; 
“new dwelling” means, for the purposes of the definition of “second authority” and paragraphs 89, 
96 and 101, the dwelling to which an applicant has moved, or is about to move, in which the applicant 
will be resident; 
“non-dependant” has the meaning given by paragraph 9 of this scheme; 
“occasional assistance” means any payment or provision made by a local authority, the Welsh 
Ministers, or the Scottish Ministers for the purposes of— 

(a) meeting, or helping to meet an immediate short-term need— 

(i) arising out of an exceptional event or exceptional circumstances, or 
(ii) that needs to be met to avoid a risk to the well-being of an individual, and 

(b) enabling qualifying individuals to establish or maintain a settled home, and— 

(i) “local authority” has the meaning given by section 270(1) of the Local Government 
Act 1972; and 
(ii) “qualifying individuals” means individuals who have been, or without the assistance might 
otherwise be— 

(aa) in prison, hospital, an establishment providing residential care or other 
institution, or 
(bb) homeless or otherwise living an unsettled way of life; 

“occupational pension” means any pension or other periodical payment under an occupational 
pension scheme but does not include any discretionary payment out of a fund established for relieving 
hardship in particular cases; 
“occupational pension scheme” has the same meaning as in section 1 of the Pension Schemes Act 
1993; 
“parental bereavement leave” means leave under section 80EA of the Employment Rights Act 1996; 
“partner”, in relation to a person, means— 
(a) where that person is a member of a couple, the other member of that couple; or 
(b) where that person is polygamously married to two or more members of his household, any such 
member to whom he is married; 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

10 Page 47



       

 

              
          
     

             
               

 
      

  
      

         
        

         
 

       
 

  
             

              
               

               
   

              
                 
    

               
           
        

   
             

     
   

      
  
         

 
  

             
    

       
                     

   
   

  
  

   
    

  
  

     
    

           
       

          
           
            

      
              

   
            
                 

 
     

             
   

“paternity leave” means a period of absence from work on ordinary paternity leave by virtue of 
section 80A or 80B of the Employment Rights Act 1996 or on additional paternity leave by virtue of 
section 80AA or 80BB of that Act; 
“pension fund holder” means with respect to a personal pension scheme or an occupational pension 
scheme, the trustees, managers, or scheme administrators, as the case may be, of the scheme 
concerned; 
“pensionable age” has the meaning given by the rules in paragraph 1 of Schedule 4 to the Pensions 
Act 1995; 
“pensioner” has the meaning given by paragraph 3(2)(a) of this scheme; 
“person on income support” means a person in receipt of income support; 
“person who is not a pensioner” has the meaning given by paragraph 3(2)(b) of this scheme; 
“persons treated as not being in Great Britain” has the meaning given by paragraph 21 of this 
scheme; 
“personal independence payment” has the meaning given by Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 
2012; 
“personal pension scheme” means— 
(a) a personal pension scheme as defined by section 1 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993; 
(b) an annuity contract or trust scheme approved under section 620 or 621 of the Income and 
Corporation Taxes Act 1988 or a substituted contract within the meaning of section 622(3) of that 
Act which is treated as having become a registered pension scheme by virtue of paragraph 1(1)(f) of 
Schedule 36 to the Finance Act 2004; 
(c) a personal pension scheme approved under Chapter 4 of Part 14 of the Income and Corporation 
Taxes Act 1988 which is treated as having become a registered pension scheme by virtue of paragraph 
1(1)(g) of Schedule 36 to the Finance Act 2004; 
“policy of life insurance” means any instrument by which the payment of money is assured on death 
(except death by accident only) or the happening of any contingency dependent on human life, or 
any instrument evidencing a contract which is subject to payment of premiums for a term dependent 
on human life; 
“polygamous marriage” means any marriage to which paragraph 5 of this scheme applies; 
“the Post Office” means Post Office Limited (registered number 02154540) 
“Post Office compensation payment” means a payment made by the Post Office or the Secretary of 
State for the purpose of providing compensation or support which is— 

(a) in connection with the failings of the Horizon system; or 
(b) otherwise, payable following the judgment in Bates and Others v Post Office Ltd ((No. 3) 

“Common Issues; 
“public authority” includes any person certain of whose functions are functions of a public nature; 
“qualifying age for state pension credit” means (in accordance with section 1(2)(b) and (6) of the 
State Pension Credit Act 2002-
(a) in the case of a woman, pensionable age; or 
(b) in the case of a man, the age which is pensionable age in the case of a woman born on the same 
day as the man; 
“qualifying contributory benefit” means— 
(a) severe disablement allowance; 
(b) incapacity benefit; 
(c) contributory employment and support allowance; 
“qualifying income-related benefit” means— 
(a) income support; 
(b) income-based jobseeker’s allowance; 
(c) income-related employment and support allowance; 
“qualifying person” means— 
(a) a person in respect of whom a Grenfell Tower support payment has been made or payment has 
been made from the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, 
the Scottish Infected Blood Support Scheme, an approved blood scheme, the London Emergencies 
Trust, the We Love Manchester Emergency Fund, Discretionary Fund, a Windrush payment, a Post 
Office compensation payment or a vaccine damage payment Scheme National Emergencies Trust or 
the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund; 
“reduction week” means a period of seven consecutive days beginning with a Monday and ending 
with a Sunday; 
“relative” means a close relative, grandparent, grandchild, uncle, aunt, nephew, or niece; 
“relevant week”, in relation to any particular day, means the week within which the day in question 
falls; 
“remunerative work” has the meaning given by paragraph 10 of this scheme; 
“rent” means “eligible rent” to which regulation 12 of the Housing Benefit (Persons who have 
acquired the qualifying age for state pension credit) Regulations 2006 refer, less any deductions in 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

11 Page 48



       

 

        
  

     
                  

  
          

             
 
                 

    
     

                
 

  
         

 
   

             
        

            
    

                 

          
               

              
  

            
        

        
                 

    
              
     

                
           

   
               

         
            

      
            
                    

             
 
              

        
         

              
                

          
            

       
                  

              
          

 
        

             
   

       
   

  
    

respect of non-dependants which fall to be made under paragraph 29 (non-dependant deductions) of 
this scheme; 
“resident” has the meaning given by Part 1 of the 1992 Act; 
“savings credit” is to be construed in accordance with sections 1 and 3 of the State Pension Credit 
Act 2002; 
“the Scottish Infected Blood Support Scheme” means the scheme of that name administered by the 
Common Services Agency (constituted under section 10 of the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 
1978(b)) 
Scottish basic rate” means the rate of income tax of that name calculated in accordance with section 
6A of the Income Tax Act 2007; 
“Scottish taxpayer” has the same meaning as in Chapter 2 of Part 4A of the Scotland Act 1998(f);” 
“second authority” means the authority to which a mover is liable to make payments for the new 
dwelling; 
“self-employed earner” is to be construed in accordance with section 2(1)(b) of the SSCBA; 
“self-employment route” means assistance in pursuing self-employed earner’s employment whilst 
participating in— 
(a) an employment zone programme; 
(b) a programme provided by or under arrangements made pursuant to section 2 of the Employment 
and Training Act 1973 (functions of the Secretary of State) or section 2 of the Enterprise and New 
Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 (functions in relation to training for employment, etc.); or 
(c) the Employment, Skills, and Enterprise Scheme; 
‘Service User’ references in this scheme to an applicant participating as a service user are to 

• a person who is being consulted by or on behalf of— 
(i) the Secretary of State in relation to any of the Secretary of State’s functions in 
the field of social security or child support or under section 2 of the Employment and Training 
Act 1973; or 
(ii) a body which conducts research or undertakes monitoring for the purpose of 
planning or improving such functions in their capacity as a person affected or potentially 
affected by the exercise of those functions or the carer of such a person; or 
the carer of a person consulted as described in sub-paragraph (a) where the carer is not being 
consulted as described in that sub-paragraph; 

“single applicant” means an applicant who neither has a partner nor is a lone parent; 
“the Skipton Fund” means the ex-gratia payment scheme administered by the Skipton Fund Limited, 
incorporated on 25th March 2004, for the benefit of certain persons suffering from hepatitis C and 
other persons eligible for payment in accordance with the scheme’s provisions; 
“sports award” means an award made by one of the Sports Councils named in section 23(2) of the 
National Lottery etc. Act 1993 out of sums allocated to it for distribution under that section; 
“the SSCBA” means the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992; 
“state pension credit” means state pension credit under the State Pension Credit Act 2002; 
“statutory parental bereavement pay” means a payment to which a person is entitled in accordance 
with section 171ZZ6 of the Social Security Contribution and Benefits Act 1992 
“tax year” means a period beginning with 6th April in one year and ending with 5th April in the next; 
“training allowance” means an allowance (whether by way of periodical grants or otherwise) 
payable— 
(a) out of public funds by a Government department or by or on behalf of the Secretary of State, 
Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands Enterprise, the Chief 
Executive of Skills Funding, or the Welsh Ministers; 
(b) to a person for his maintenance or in respect of a member of his family; and 
(c) for the period, or part of the period, during which he is following a course of training or instruction 
provided by, or in pursuance of arrangements made with, that department or approved by that 
department in relation to him or so provided or approved by or on behalf of the Secretary of State, 
Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands Enterprise or the Welsh 
Ministers, but it does not include an allowance paid by any Government department to or in respect 
of a person by reason of the fact that he is following a course of full-time education, other than 
under arrangements made under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973, or is training as 
a teacher; 
“the Trusts” (except where the context otherwise requires) means the Macfarlane Trust, the 
Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust and the Macfarla7ne (Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust and 
“Trustees” is to be construed accordingly; 
“universal credit” has the meaning given by section 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012; 
“voluntary organisation” means a body, other than a public or local authority, the activities of which 
are carried on otherwise than for profit; 
“Vaccine damage payment” means a payment made under the Vaccine Damage Payments Act 1979; 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

12 Page 49



       

 

       
     

               
      

   
               

 
                 

                
        

                  
           

        
   

                
    
             

      
    

          
   

     
              

              
 

        
                
          
    

          
 

                 
                

 
 

               
                   

 
 

             
     

          
            

              
       

   
                 

        
        

             
 

           
       

        
      

        
        

       
 

              
       

 

“the Victims of Overseas Terrorism Compensation Scheme” means the scheme of that name 
established by the Ministry of Justice in 2012 under section 47 of the Crime and Security Act 2010 
“war disablement pension” means any retired pay or pension or allowance payable in respect of 
disablement under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and 
Pensions) Act 2003; 
“war pension” means a war disablement pension, a war widow’s pension, or a war widower’s 
pension; 
“war widow’s pension” means any pension or allowance payable to a woman as a widow under an 
instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in respect 
of the death or disablement of any person; 
“war widower’s pension” means any pension or allowance payable to a man as a widower or to a 
surviving civil partner under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings 
and Pensions) Act 2003 in respect of the death or disablement of any person; 
“water charges” means— 
(a) as respects England and Wales, any water and sewerage charges under Chapter 1 of Part 5 of the 
Water Industry Act 1991, 
(b) as respects Scotland, any water and sewerage charges established by Scottish Water under a 
charges scheme made under section 29A of the Water Industry (Scotland) Act 2002, in so far as such 
charges are in respect of the dwelling which a person occupies as his home; 
“the We Love Manchester Emergency Fund” means the registered charity of that name (number 
1173260) established on 30th May 2017; 
“the Windrush Compensation Scheme” means— 
(a)the scheme of that name operated by the Secretary of State for the purpose of compensating 
individuals who have suffered loss in connection with being unable to demonstrate their lawful status 
in the United Kingdom; and 
(b)the policy entitled “Windrush Scheme: Support in urgent and exceptional circumstances” which 
was operated by the Secretary of State for the purpose of compensating individuals who, for urgent 
and exceptional reasons, required support in advance of the scheme referred to in paragraph (a) of 
this definition becoming operational; 
“Windrush payment” means a payment made under the Windrush Compensation Scheme 
(Expenditure) Act 2020 
“working tax credit” means a working tax credit under section 10 of the Tax Credits Act 2002; 
“young person” means a person who falls within the definition of qualifying young person in section 
142 of the SSCBA. 

(2) In this scheme, where an amount is to be rounded to the nearest penny, a fraction of a penny 
must be disregarded if it is less than half a penny and must otherwise be treated as a whole 
penny. 

(3) For the purpose of this scheme, a person is on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance on any day 
in respect of which an income-based jobseeker’s allowance is payable to him and on any day— 

(a) in respect of which he satisfies the conditions for entitlement to an income-based 
jobseeker’s allowance but where the allowance is not paid in accordance with regulation 27A 
of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996 or section 19 or 20A or regulations made under 
section 17A of the Jobseekers Act 1995 (circumstances in which a jobseeker’s allowance is 
not payable); or 
(b) which is a waiting day for the purposes of paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 to that Act and which 
falls immediately before a day in respect of which an income-based jobseeker’s allowance is 
payable to him or would be payable to him but for regulation 27A of the Jobseeker’s 
Allowance Regulations 1996 or section 19 or 20A or regulations made under section 17A of 
that Act; 
(c) in respect of which he is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the 
Jobseekers Act 1995 and no joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance is payable in respect of that 
couple as a consequence of either member of that couple being subject to sanctions for the 
purposes of section 20A of that Act; 
(d) in respect of which an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or a joint-claim jobseeker’s 
allowance would be payable but for a restriction imposed pursuant to section 6B, 7, 8 or 9 of 
the Social Security Fraud Act 2001 (loss of benefit provisions). 

(4) For the purposes of this scheme, a person is on an income-related employment and support 
allowance on any day in respect of which an income-related employment and support allowance 
is payable to him and on any day— 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

13 Page 50



       

 

           
     

       
                 

          
             

 
 

               
    

 
 

                 
        

 
              

           
              
     
            

  
               

   
            

               
               

   
  

  
               

     
 

              
 

 
      

 
 

   
      
          

          
        

      
       

          
          
               

   
        

      
       

         
     
   
       

   
 

   
              

 
   

 
 

(a) in respect of which he satisfies the conditions for entitlement to an income-related 
employment and support allowance but where the allowance is not paid in accordance with 
section 18 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 (disqualification); or 
(b) which is a waiting day for the purposes of paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 to that Act and which 
falls immediately before a day in respect of which an income-related employment and 
support allowance is payable to him or would be payable to him but for section 18 of that 
Act. 

(5) For the purposes of this scheme, two persons must be taken to be estranged only if their 
estrangement constitutes a breakdown of the relationship between them. 

(6) In this scheme, references to any person in receipt of state pension credit includes a person who 
would be in receipt of state pension credit but for regulation 13 of the State Pension Credit 
Regulations 2002 (small amounts of state pension credit). 

(7) In this scheme, references to any person participating as a service user are to — 
(a) a person who is being consulted by or on behalf of— 

(i) a body which has a statutory duty to provide services in the field of health, social 
care, or social housing; or 
(ii) a body which conducts research or undertakes monitoring for the purpose of 
planning or improving services, 
In their capacity as a user, potential user, carer of a user or person otherwise 
affected by the provision of those services; 

(aa) a person who is being consulted by or on behalf of 
(a) the Secretary of State in relation to any of the Secretary of State’s functions 
in the field of social security or child support or under section 2 of the Employment 
and Training Act 1973; or 
(b) a body which conducts research or undertakes monitoring for the purpose of 
planning or improving such functions, 
in their capacity as a person affected or potentially affected by the exercise of those 
functions or the carer of such a person; or 

(b) the carer of a person consulted as described in sub-paragraph (a) or (aa) where the carer 
is not being consulted as described in that sub-paragraph. 

Application of scheme: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners. 

3 - (1) In this scheme— 
(a) a person is a “pensioner” if— 
(i) he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; and 
(ii), he is not and, if he has a partner, his partner is not— 
(aa) a person on income support, on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or on an income-
related employment and support allowance, or 
(bb) a person with an award of universal credit; and 
(b) a person is a “person who is not a pensioner” if— 
(i) he has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; or 
(ii) he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and he, or if he has a partner, 
his partner, is— 
(aa) a person on income support, on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or on an income-
related employment and support allowance, or 
(bb) a person with an award of universal credit. 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (a)(ii)(bb) and (b)(ii)(bb) in paragraph (1) an award of 
universal credit is to be disregarded during: 
(a)during the relevant period; or 
(b)where regulation 60A of the Universal Credit (Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2014 applies 
in respect of the award the relevant period. 

(3) In this regulation— 
“assessment period” has the same meaning as in the Universal Credit Regulations 2013; 
“relevant period” means the period beginning with the day on which P and each partner of P 
has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and ending with the day on which the 
last assessment period for universal credit ends. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

14 Page 51



       

 

   
 

     
                 
                
       

                 
   

               
   

 
                  

              
       

 
  

 
       

                  
   

               
 

 
                     

 
 

   
 

     
  
                  

       
                  

            
             

           
      

 
           
  

      
        

             
   

 
          

 
                   
      

 
             
                  

     
            

      
             

     
             

                   
   

    
 
 

Meaning of “couple” 

4.—(1) In this scheme “couple” means— 
(a) a man and woman who are married to each other and are members of the same household; 
(b) a man and woman who are not married to each other but are living together as if they 
were a married couple or civil partners; 
(c) two people of the same sex who are civil partners of each other and are members of the 
same household; or 
(d) two people of the same sex who are not civil partners of each other but are living together 
as if they were civil partners. 

(2) Two people of the same sex who are not civil partners of each other are to be regarded as living 
together as if they were civil partners if, but only if, they would be regarded as living together 
as husband and wife were they instead two people of the opposite sex. 

Polygamous marriages 

5.—(1) This paragraph applies to any case where— 
(a) a person is a husband or wife by virtue of a marriage entered into under a law which 
permits polygamy; and 
(b) either party to the marriage has for the time being any spouse additional to the other 
party. 

(2) For the purposes of paragraph 4 neither party to the marriage is to be taken to be a member of a 
couple. 

Meaning of “family” 

6.—(1) In this scheme “family” means— 
(a) a couple; 
(b) a couple and a member of the same household for whom one of them is or both are 
responsible and who is a child or a young person; or 
(c) a person who is not a member of a couple and a member of the same household for whom 
that person is responsible and who is a child or a young person. 

(2) The references to a child or young person in sub-paragraph (1)(b) and (c) include a child or young 
person in respect of whom section 145A of the SSCBA applies for the purposes of entitlement to 
child benefit, but only for the period prescribed under section 145A(1). 

(3) The references to a young person in sub-paragraph (1)(b) and (c) do not include a young person 
who is— 

(a) on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related 
employment and support allowance, or has an award of universal credit; 
(b) a person to whom section 6 of the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 (exclusion from 
benefits) applies; 

Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible or not responsible for another. 

7.—(1) A person is to be treated as responsible for a child or young person who is normally living with 
him, including a child or young person to whom paragraph 6(2) applies. 

(2) Where a child or young person spends equal amounts of time in different households, or where 
there is a question as to which household he is living in, the child or young person must be treated 
for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) as normally living with— 

(a) the person who is receiving child benefit in respect of that child or young person, or 
(b) if there is no such person— 

(i) where only one claim for child benefit has been made in respect of him, the person 
who made that claim, or 
(ii) in any other case the person who has the primary responsibility for him. 

(3) For the purposes of this scheme a child or young person is the responsibility of only one person in 
any reduction week and any person other than the one treated as responsible for the child or 
young person under this paragraph is to be treated as not so responsible. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

15 Page 52



       

 

 
 

         
                

             
            

 
 

            
 

             
                 

        
    

             
  
           

  
             

   
   

 
         

    
               

  
             

  
              

     
 

             
          

           
 

             
   

 
     

   
    
   
   
   
     
      
   
   
      
     
    
   
       
    

      
 

 
 

        
           

 
    

      

      

Households 

8.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), an applicant and any partner and, where the applicant 
or his partner is treated (by virtue of paragraph 7) as responsible for a child or young person, 
that child or young person and any child of that child or young person, are to be treated as 
members of the same household notwithstanding that any of them is temporarily absent from 
that household. 

(2) A child or young person is not to be treated as a member of the applicant's household where 
he is— 

(a) placed with the applicant or his partner by a local authority under section 22C or 23(2)(a) 
of the Children Act 1989 or by a voluntary organisation under section 59(1)(a) of that Act, or 
section 81(2) of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 (ways in which looked 
after children are to be accommodated and maintained)”. 
or in Scotland boarded out with the applicant or his partner under a relevant 

enactment; or 
(b) placed, or in Scotland boarded out, with the applicant or his partner prior to 

adoption; or 
(c) placed for adoption with the applicant or his partner in accordance with the Adoption 
and Children Act 2002 or the Adoption Agencies (Scotland) Regulations 2009 or the Adoption 
(Northern Ireland) Order 1987. 

(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), sub-paragraph (1) does not apply to a child or young person who is 
not living with the applicant and who— 

(a) is being looked after by, or in Scotland is in the care of, a local authority under a relevant 
enactment; or 
(b) has been placed, or in Scotland boarded out, with a person other than the applicant prior 
to adoption; or 
(c) has been placed for adoption in accordance with the Adoption and Children Act 2002 or 
the Adoption Agencies (Scotland) Regulations 2009. 

(4) The authority must treat a child or young person to whom sub-paragraph (3)(a) applies as being a 
member of the applicant’s household in any reduction week where— 

(a) that child or young person lives with the applicant for part or all of that reduction week; 
and 
(b) the authority considers that it is reasonable to do so taking into account the nature and 
frequency of that child’s or young person’s visits. 

(5) In this paragraph “relevant enactment” means— 
(a) the Army Act 1955; 
(b) the Air Force Act 1955; 
(c) the Naval Discipline Act 1957; 
(d) the Matrimonial Proceedings (Children) Act 1958; 
(e) the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968; 
(f) the Family Law Reform Act 1969; 
(g) the Children and Young Persons Act 1969; 
(h) the Matrimonial Causes Act 1973; 
(i) the Children Act 1975; 
(j) the Domestic Proceedings and Magistrates’ Courts Act 1978; 
(k) the Adoption and Children (Scotland) Act 2007; 
(l) the Family Law Act 1986; 
(m) the Children Act 1989; 
(n) the Children (Scotland) Act 1995; the Children’s Hearings (Scotland) Act 2011; and; 
(na) the Children’s Hearings (Scotland) Act 2011; and 
(o) the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012. 

Non-dependants 

9.—(1) In this scheme, “non-dependant” means any person, except someone to whom subparagraph 
(2) applies, who normally resides with an applicant or with whom an applicant normally resides. 

(2) This paragraph applies to— 
(a) any member of the applicant’s family; 

(b) if the applicant is polygamously married, 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

16 Page 53



       

 

           
   

          

              
             

  

                
              

                 
  

        
                   

      
       

         
                   

               
         

 
            
   
                

    
          

           
 

              
      

           
     

      
             

            
          

                  
        

 
 

 
            

           
               

      
 

        
                  

 
             
               

   
                
                

     
 

            
             

              
          

               
 

             
          

   

(i) where the applicant has (alone or jointly with his partner) an award of 
universal credit, any— 

(aa) party to such a marriage other than the applicant's partner; and 

(bb) any child or young person who is a member of his household and for 
whom he or his partner or another party to the polygamous marriage is 
responsible; or 

(ii) in any other case, any partner of his and any child or young person who is a 
member of his household and for whom he or one of his partners is responsible; 

(c) a child or young person who is living with the applicant but who is not a member of his 
household by virtue of paragraph 8 (households); 
(d) subject to sub-paragraph (3), any person who, with the applicant, is jointly and severally 
liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling for any day under section 6 or 7 of the 1992 
Act (persons liable to pay council tax); 
(e) subject to sub-paragraph (3), any person who is liable to make payments on a commercial 
basis to the applicant or the applicant’s partner in respect of the occupation of the dwelling; 
(f) a person who lives with the applicant in order to care for him or a partner of his and who 
is engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation which makes a charge to the applicant 
or his partner for the services provided by that person. 

(3) Excepting persons to whom sub-paragraph (2)(a) to (c) and (f) refer, a person to whom any of the 
following paragraphs applies is a non-dependant— 

(a) a person who resides with the person to whom he is liable to make payments in respect 
of the dwelling and either— 

(i) that person is a close relative of his or his partner; or 
(ii) the tenancy or other agreement between them is other than on a commercial 
basis; 

(b) a person whose liability to make payments in respect of the dwelling appears to the 
authority to have been created to take advantage of a council tax reduction scheme except 
someone who was, for any period within the eight weeks prior to the creation of the 
agreement giving rise to the liability to make such payments, otherwise liable to make 
payments of rent in respect of the same dwelling; 
(c) a person who becomes jointly and severally liable with the applicant for council tax in 
respect of a dwelling and who was, at any time during the period of eight weeks prior to his 
becoming so liable, a non-dependant of one or more of the other residents in that dwelling 
who are so liable for the tax, unless the change giving rise to the new liability was not made 
to take advantage of a council tax reduction scheme. 

Remunerative work 

10.—(1) Subject to the following provisions of this paragraph, a person must be treated for the 
purposes of this scheme as engaged in remunerative work if he is engaged, or, where his hours 
of work fluctuate, he is engaged on average, for not less than 16 hours a week, in work for which 
payment is made or which is done in expectation of payment. 

(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), in determining the number of hours for which a person is engaged 
in work where his hours of work fluctuate, regard must be had to the average of hours worked 
over— 

(a) if there is a recognisable cycle of work, the period of one complete cycle (including, 
where the cycle involves periods in which the person does no work, those periods but 
disregarding any other absences); 
(b) in any other case, the period of 5 weeks immediately prior to the date of claim, or such 
other length of time as may, in the particular case, enable the person’s weekly average hours 
of work to be determined more accurately. 

(3) Where, for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a), a person’s recognisable cycle of work at a school, 
other educational establishment or other place of employment is one year and includes periods 
of school holidays or similar vacations during which he does not work, those periods and any other 
periods not forming part of such holidays or vacations during which he is not required to work 
must be disregarded in establishing the average hours for which he is engaged in work. 

(4) Where no recognisable cycle has been established in respect of a person’s work, regard must be 
had to the number of hours or, where those hours will fluctuate, the average of the hours, which 
he is expected to work in a week. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

17 Page 54



       

 

 
                

          
        

 
        

      
   

 
                 

          
    

 
                 

 
           
            

 
   

     
 

       
           
          
           
   

 
         

 
                

  
 

                 
           

  
 

       
 

              
                 
 

        
          

              
          
    

           
 

 
       

 
              

                 
 

        
          

              
            

  
       

            
  

             
      

(5) A person must be treated as engaged in remunerative work during any period for which he is 
absent from work referred to in sub-paragraph (1) if the absence is either without good cause or 
by reason of a recognised, customary, or other holiday. 

(6) A person on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related 
employment and support allowance for more than 3 days in any reduction week is to be treated 
as not being in remunerative work in that week. 

(7) A person must not be treated as engaged in remunerative work on any day on which the person is 
on maternity leave, paternity leave, shared parental leave”, parental bereavement leave or 
adoption leave, or is absent from work because he is ill. 

(8) A person must not be treated as engaged in remunerative work on any day on which he is engaged 
in an activity in respect of which— 
(a) a sports award has been made, or is to be made, to him; and 
(b) no other payment is made or is expected to be made to him. 

PART 3 Procedural matters 
Procedure for reduction applications and appeals against reduction decisions. 

11. Schedule 1 contains provisions about the procedure— 
(a) by which a person may apply for a reduction under this scheme; 
(b) by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the authority; 
(c) by which a person can apply to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of 
the 1992 Act. 

PART 4 Classes of person entitled to a reduction under this scheme. 

12.—(1) The classes of person described in paragraphs 13 to 18 are entitled to a reduction under this 
scheme. 

(2) In those paragraphs, references to the applicant’s income or capital include, in a case where that 
income or capital cannot accurately be determined, references to the applicant’s estimated 
income or capital. 

Class A: pensioners whose income is no greater than the applicable amount. 

13. On any day class A consists of any person who is a pensioner— 
(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a 
resident; 
(b) who, subject to paragraph 19, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the day; 
(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated; 
(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this scheme; 
(e) whose income (if any) for the relevant week does not exceed his applicable amount 
calculated in accordance with paragraph 24 and Schedule 2, and 
(f) who has made an application for a reduction under this scheme. 

Class B: pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount. 

14. On any day class B consists of any person who is a pensioner— 
(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a 
resident; 
(b) who, subject to paragraph 19, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the day; 
(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated; 
(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this scheme; 
(e) whose income for the relevant week is greater than his applicable amount calculated in 
accordance with paragraph 24 and Schedule 2; 
(f) in respect of whom amount A exceeds amount B where— 

(i) amount A is the maximum council tax reduction in respect of the day in the 
applicant’s case; and 
(ii) amount B is 2 6/7 per cent of the difference between his income for the relevant 
week and his applicable amount, and 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

18 Page 55



       

 

           
 

        
 

             
                 
 

        
          

              
           

          
 

            
              

          
 

 
       

               
  

               
        

                
               

             
    

  
 

             
       

    
              

       
  

                
               

          
    

 
         

 
               

                 
 

        
          

              
            

 
           

 
         

 
               

                 
 

        
          

              
            

  
       

         

(g) who has made an application for a reduction under this scheme. 

Class C: alternative maximum council tax reduction – pensioners 

15.—(1) On any day class C consists of any person who is a pensioner— 
(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a 
resident; 
(b) who, subject to paragraph 19, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the day; 
(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated; 
(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this scheme; 
(e) who has made an application for a reduction under this scheme; and 
(f) in relation to whom the condition in sub-paragraph (2) is met. 

(2) The condition referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(f) is that no other resident of the dwelling is liable 
to pay rent to the applicant in respect of the dwelling and there is an alternative maximum 
council tax reduction in respect of the day in the case of that person which is derived from the 
income, or aggregate income, of one or more residents to whom this sub-paragraph applies. 

(3) Sub-paragraph (1) applies to any other resident of the dwelling who— 
(a) is not a person who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls to be disregarded 
for the purposes of discount; 
(b) is not a person who is liable for council tax solely in consequence of the provisions of 
section 9 of the 1992 Act (spouse’s or civil partner’s joint and several liability for tax); 
(c) is not a person who is residing with a couple or with the members of a polygamous 
marriage where the applicant is a member of that couple or of that marriage and— 

(i) in the case of a couple, neither member of that couple is a person who, in 
accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls to be disregarded for the purposes 
of discount; 
or 
(ii) in the case of a polygamous marriage, two or more members of that marriage are 
not persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be 
disregarded for the purposes of discount; 

(d) is not a person who jointly with the applicant falls within the same paragraph of section 
6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 Act (persons liable to pay council tax) as applies in the case of the 
applicant; or 
(f) is not a person who is residing with two or more persons both or all of whom fall within 
the same paragraph of section 6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 Act where two or more of those 
persons are not persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be 
disregarded for the purposes of discount. 

Class D: persons who are not pensioners whose income is less than the applicable amount. 

16. On any day class D consists of any person who is not a pensioner— 
(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a 
resident; 
(b) who, subject to paragraph 19, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the day; 
(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated; 
(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this scheme; 
(e) whose income (if any) for the relevant week is less than his applicable amount calculated 
in accordance with paragraph 25 and Schedule 3, and 
(f) who has made an application for a reduction under this scheme. 

Class E: persons who are not pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount. 

17. On any day class E consists of any person who is not a pensioner— 
(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a 
resident; 
(b) who, subject to paragraph 19, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the day; 
(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated; 
(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this scheme; 
(e) whose income for the relevant week is greater than his applicable amount calculated in 
accordance with paragraph 25 and Schedule 3; 
(f) in respect of whom amount A exceeds amount B where— 

(i) amount A is the maximum council tax reduction in his case; and 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

19 Page 56



       

 

             
      

           
 

           
 

                
                       
                 

   
   
                   
        
     

 
            

                
            

         
  

 
         

                   
    

                  
       

                   
                  

               
          

             
       
    

                 
                 

   
              

            
        
   

 
          

 
                  

    
 

       
             

     
     
            

             
     

       
        

       
               

   
        
            

       
            

    
        

(ii) amount B is 2 6/7 per cent of the difference between his income for the relevant 
week and his applicable amount, and 

(g) who has made an application for a reduction under this scheme. 

Class F: alternative maximum council tax reduction – persons who are not pensioners. 

18.—(1) On any day class F consists of any person who is not a pensioner— 
(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident; 
(b) who, subject to paragraph 19 (periods of absence from a dwelling), is not absent from the 

dwelling throughout the day; 
(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated; 
(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this scheme; 
(e) who has made an application; and 
(f) in relation to whom the condition in sub-paragraph (2) is met. 

(2) The condition referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(f) is that no other resident of the dwelling is liable 
to pay rent to the person in question in respect of the dwelling and there is an alternative 
maximum council tax reduction in respect of the day in the case of that person which is derived 
from the income, or aggregate incomes, of one or more residents to whom this sub-paragraph 
applies. 

(3) Sub-paragraph (2) applies to any other resident of the dwelling who— 
(a) is not a person who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls to be disregarded 

for the purposes of discount; and 
(b) is not a person who is liable for council tax solely in consequence of the provisions of section 

9 of the 1992 Act (spouse’s or civil partner’s joint and several liability for tax); 
(c) is not a person who is residing with a couple or with the members of a polygamous marriage 

where the applicant for the reduction is a member of that couple or of that marriage and— 
(i)in the case of a couple, neither member of that couple is a person who, in accordance with 
Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls to be disregarded for the purposes of discount; or 
(ii)in the case of a polygamous marriage, two or more members of that marriage are not 
persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be disregarded for the 
purposes of discount; 

(d) is not a person who jointly with the applicant for reduction falls within the same paragraph 
of section 6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 Act (persons liable to pay council tax) as applies in the 
case of the applicant; or 

(e) is not a person who is residing with two or more persons both or all of whom fall within the 
same paragraph of section 6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 Act where two or more of those persons 
are not persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be disregarded 
for the purposes of discount. 

Periods of absence from a dwelling – pensioners and persons who are not pensioners. 

19 —(1) A person is not absent from a dwelling in relation to any day which falls within a period of 
temporary absence from that dwelling. 

(2) In sub-paragraph (1), a “period of temporary absence” means— 
(a) a period of absence not exceeding 13 weeks, beginning with the first whole day on which 
a person resides in residential accommodation in Great Britain where and for so long as— 

(i) the person resides in that accommodation; 
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; and 
(iii) that period of absence does not form part of a longer period of absence from the 
dwelling of more than 52 weeks, where he has entered the accommodation for the 
purpose of ascertaining whether it suits his needs and with the intention of returning 
to the dwelling if it proves not to suit his needs; 

(b) subject to sub-paragraph (2B), a period of absence within Great Britain not exceeding 13 
weeks, beginning with the first whole day of absence from the dwelling, where and for 
so long as— 
(i) the person intends to return to the dwelling; 
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; and 
(iii) that period is unlikely to exceed 13 weeks; 

(c) a period of absence not exceeding 52 weeks, beginning with the first whole day of that 
absence, where and for so long as— 

(i) the person intends to return to the dwelling; 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

20 Page 57



       

 

            
          

       
         

  
        

      
         

              
             
 

 
           

      
 

  
              

          
                

  
             
  

             
     

 
           

     
 

   
         
          

            
              

  
            

        
 

    
     
               

   
 

          
                  

 
     
        
                   

 
              
         

               
              

      
 

    
        

           
          

        
         
         

        
 

(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; 
(iii) the person is a person to whom sub-paragraph (3) applies; and 
(iv) subject to sub-paragraph (2D), a period of absence within Great Britain is unlikely 
to exceed 52 weeks or, in exceptional circumstances, is unlikely substantially to 
exceed that period and; 

(d) subject to sub-paragraphs (2F), (3C), (3E) and (3G) and where sub-paragraph (2E) applies, 
a period of absence outside Great Britain not exceeding 4 weeks, beginning with the first 
day of that absence from Great Britain where and for so long as— (i) the person intends 
to return to the dwelling; (ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resides is not 
let or sub-let; and (iii) the period of absence from Great Britain is unlikely to exceed 4 
weeks; 

(2A) The period of 13 weeks referred to in sub-paragraph (2)(b) shall run or continue to run during 
any period of absence from Great Britain. 

(2B) Where— 
(a) a person returns to Great Britain after a period of absence from Great Britain (period A); 
(b) that person has been absent from the dwelling, including any absence within Great 
Britain, for less than 13 weeks beginning with the first day of absence from that dwelling; 
and 
(c) at the outset of, or during, period A, period A ceased to be treated as a period of 
temporary absence, 
then any day that follows period A and precedes the person’s return to the dwelling, shall 
not be treated as a period of temporary absence under sub-paragraph (2)(b). 

(2C) The period of 52 weeks referred to in sub-paragraph (2)(c) shall run or continue to run during 
any period of absence from Great Britain. 

(2D) Where — 
1. a person returns to Great Britain after a period of absence from Great Britain (period A); 
2. that person has been absent from the dwelling, including any absence within Great Britain, 

for less than 52 weeks beginning with the first day of absence from that dwelling; and 
3. at the outset of, or during, period A, period A ceased to be treated as a period of temporary 

absence, 
then, any day that follows period A and precedes the person’s return to the dwelling, 
shall not be treated as a period of temporary absence under sub-paragraph (2)(c). 

(2E) This sub-paragraph applies where— 
1. a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain; 
2. immediately before that period of absence from Great Britain, the person was not absent 

from the dwelling. 

(2F) If the temporary absence referred to in sub-paragraph (2)(d) is in connection with the death of— 
1. the person’s partner or a child or young person for whom the person or the person’s partner 

is responsible; 
2. the person’s close relative; 
3. the close relative of the person’s partner; or 
4. the close relative of a child or young person for whom the person or the person’s partner is 

responsible, 
then the period of 4 weeks in the opening words of sub-paragraph (2)(d) may be extended by 
up to 4 further weeks if the relevant authority considers it unreasonable to expect the person 
to return to Great Britain within the first 4 weeks (and the reference in subparagraph (iii) of 
that paragraph to a period of 4 weeks shall, where the period is extended, be taken as 
referring to the period as so extended).”; 

(3) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who— 
(a) is a person to whom sub-paragraph (3A) applies; 

(i) in a dwelling, other than the dwelling referred to in sub-paragraph (1), or 
(ii) in premises approved under section 13 of the Offender Management Act 2007, 
or is detained in custody pending sentence upon conviction; 

(b) is resident in a hospital or similar institution as a patient; 
(c) is undergoing, or whose partner or dependent child is undergoing medical treatment, or 
medically approved convalescence, in accommodation other than residential 
accommodation; 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

21 Page 58



       

 

     
        
              

        
   

          
 

   
            

  
              

             
 

     
       
      

       
            
           

       
 

    
      

              
    

         
   

 
         
                 

        
        

             
             

 
    

      
             

 
         

   
 

         
                 

        
        
            
            

    
 

    
      

              
  

         
    

 
          

          
        
        
            
            

   

(d) is following a training course; 
(e) is undertaking medically approved care of a person; 
(f) is undertaking the care of a child whose parent or guardian is temporarily absent from the 
dwelling normally occupied by that parent or guardian for the purpose of receiving medically 
approved care or medical treatment; 
(g) is receiving medically approved care provided in accommodation other than residential 
accommodation; 
(h) is a student; 
(i) is receiving care provided in residential accommodation and is not a person to whom 
subparagraph (2)(a) applies; or 
(j) has left the dwelling he resides in through fear of violence, in that dwelling, or by a person 
who was formerly a member of the family of the person first mentioned. 

(3A) This sub-paragraph applies to a person (“P”) who is— 
(a) detained in custody on remand pending trial; 
(b) detained pending sentence upon conviction; or 
(c) as a condition of bail required to reside— 

(i) in a dwelling, other than a dwelling P occupies as P’s home; or 
(ii) in premises approved under section 13 of the Offender Management Act 2007(a), 

and who is not also detained in custody following sentence upon conviction. 

(3B) This sub-paragraph applies where— 
(a) a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain; 
(b) the person is a member of Her Majesty’s forces posted overseas, a mariner or a 
continental shelf worker; 
(c) immediately before that period of absence from Great Britain, the person was not absent 
from the dwelling. 

(3C) Where sub-paragraph (3B) applies, a period of absence from Great Britain not exceeding 26 
weeks, beginning with the first day of absence from Great Britain, shall be treated as a period 
of temporary absence where and for so long as— 

(a) the person intends to return to the dwelling; 
(b) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; 
(c) the period of absence from Great Britain is unlikely to exceed 26 weeks. 

(3D) This sub-paragraph applies where— 
(a) a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain; 
(b) the person is a person described in any of paragraphs (b), (c), (g) or (j) of subparagraph 
(3); 
(c) immediately before that period of absence from Great Britain, the person was not absent 
from the dwelling. 

(3E) Where sub-paragraph (3D) applies, a period of absence from Great Britain not exceeding 26 
weeks, beginning with the first day of absence from Great Britain, shall be treated as a period 
of temporary absence where and for so long as— 

(a) the person intends to return to the dwelling; 
(b) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; 
(c) the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 26 weeks, or in exceptional circumstances, is 
unlikely substantially to exceed that period. 

(3F) This sub-paragraph applies where— 
(a) a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain; 
b) the person is a person described in any of paragraphs (a), (d), (e), (f), (h) or (i) of sub-
paragraph (3); 
(c) immediately before that period of absence from Great Britain, the person was not absent 
from the dwelling. 

(3G) Where sub-paragraph (3F) applies, a period of absence from Great Britain not exceeding 4 weeks, 
beginning with the first day of absence from Great Britain, shall be treated as a period of 
temporary absence where and for so long as— 

(a) the person intends to return to the dwelling; 
(b) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; 
(c) the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 4 weeks, or in exceptional circumstances, is 
unlikely substantially to exceed that period. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

22 Page 59



       

 

 
    

              
      
               

             
             

           
 

            
             
          
              
          

                
 

 
   

    
         

      
     

                
       

 
    

                 
   
              

           
                

             
   

                
        

             
               

    
    

  
 

          
           
                
      

   
   
  
   
          

             
 

            
        
       

 
   
 

         
            

    
 

                  
   

(4) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who is— 
(a) detained in custody pending sentence upon conviction or under a sentence imposed by a 
court (other than a person who is detained in hospital under the provisions of the Mental 
Health Act 1983, or, in Scotland, under the provisions of the Mental Health (Care and 
Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003 or the Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 1995; and 
(b) on temporary release from detention in accordance with Rules made under the provisions 
of the Prison Act 1952 or the Prisons (Scotland) Act 1989. 

(5) Where sub-paragraph (4) applies to a person, then, for any day when he is on temporary release— 
(a) if such temporary release was immediately preceded by a period of temporary absence 
under sub-paragraph (2)(b) or (c), he must be treated, for the purposes of sub-paragraph 
(1), as if he continues to be absent from the dwelling, despite any return to the dwelling; 
(b) for the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(a), he must be treated as if he remains in detention; 
(c) if he does not fall within paragraph (a), he is not to be considered to be a person who is 
liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident. 

(6) In this paragraph— 
““continental shelf worker” means a person who is employed, whether under a contract of 
service or not, in a designated area or a prescribed area in connection with any of the 
activities mentioned in section 11(2) of the Petroleum Act 1998(a); 
“designated area” means any area which may from time to time be designated by Order in 
Council under the Continental Shelf Act 1964(b) as an area within which the rights of the 
United Kingdom with respect to the seabed and subsoil and their natural resources may be 
exercised; 
“mariner” means a person who is employed under a contract of service either as a master 
or member of the crew of any ship or vessel, or in any other capacity on board any ship or 
vessel, where— 

(a) the employment in that capacity is for the purposes of that ship or vessel or its crew 
or any passengers or cargo or mails carried by the ship or vessel; and 

(b) the contract is entered into in the United Kingdom with a view to its performance (in 
whole or in part) while the ship or vessel is on its voyage; 

“medically approved” means certified by a medical practitioner; 
member of Her Majesty’s forces posted overseas” means a person who is a member of the 
regular forces or the reserve forces (within the meaning of section 374 of the Armed Forces 
Act 2006(c)), who is absent from the main dwelling because the person has been posted 
outside of Great Britain to perform the duties of a member of Her Majesty’s regular forces 
or reserve forces;”; and 
“patient” means a person who is undergoing medical or other treatment as an in-patient in 
any hospital or similar institution; 
“prescribed area” means any area over which Norway or any member State (other than the 
United Kingdom) exercises sovereign rights for the purpose of exploring the seabed and 
subsoil and exploiting their natural resources, being an area outside the territorial seas of 
Norway or such member State, or any other area which is from time to time specified under 
section 10(8) of the Petroleum Act 1998; 
“residential accommodation” means accommodation which is provided in— 

(a) a care home; 
(b) an independent hospital; 
(c) an Abbeyfield Home; or 
(d) an establishment managed or provided by a body incorporated by Royal Charter 
or constituted by Act of Parliament other than a local social services authority; 

“training course” means a course of training or instruction provided wholly or partly by or on 
behalf of or in pursuance of arrangements made with, or approved by or on behalf of, Skills 
Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise, Highlands and Islands Enterprise, a government 
department, or the Secretary of State. 

Transitional provision 

19A (1) Subject to paragraph (2), the amendments made by regulation 2(3)(a), shall not apply in 
respect of a person who is temporarily absent from Great Britain on 1st April 2017 until the day 
that person returns to Great Britain. 

(2) Paragraph (1) does not apply to a person who, on 1st April 2017, is temporarily absent from Great 
Britain and is— 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

23 Page 60



       

 

        
       
      

 
   

    
         

       
    

                
               

   
                   

   
            

       
              

            
  

        
            

       
           

 
          

           
                
      

 
       
      

 
                  

  
 

             
 

                
   

 
              

       
            

 
               

                 
     

 
            

     
     

          
    

            
     

            
  

           
          

 
             

     
         

 

(a) a member of Her Majesty’s forces posted overseas; 
(b) absent in the capacity of a continental shelf worker; or 
(c) absent in the capacity of a mariner. 

(3) In this regulation— 
“continental shelf worker” means a person who is employed, whether under a contract of 
service or not, in a designated area or a prescribed area in connection with any of the 
activities mentioned in section 11(2) of the Petroleum Act 1998; 
“designated area” means any area which may from time to time be designated by Order in 
Council under the Continental Shelf Act 1964 as an area within which the rights of the United 
Kingdom with respect to the seabed and subsoil and their natural resources may be exercised; 
“mariner” means a person who is employed under a contract of service either as a master or 
member of the crew of any ship or vessel, or in any other capacity on board any ship or 
vessel, where— 

(a) the employment in that capacity is for the purposes of that ship or vessel or its 
crew or any passengers or cargo or mails carried by the ship or vessel; and 
(b) the contract is entered into in the United Kingdom with a view to its performance 
(in whole or in part) while the ship or vessel is on its voyage; 

“member of Her Majesty’s forces posted overseas” means a person who is a member of the 
regular forces or the reserve forces (within the meaning of section 374 of the Armed Forces 
Act 2006), who is absent from the dwelling that the person normally occupies as his home 
because the person has been posted outside of Great Britain to perform the duties of a 
member of Her Majesty’s regular forces or reserve forces; and 
“prescribed area” means any area over which Norway or any member State (other than the 
United Kingdom) exercises sovereign rights for the purpose of exploring the seabed and 
subsoil and exploiting their natural resources, being an area outside the territorial seas of 
Norway or such member State, or any other area which is from time to time specified under 
section 10(8) of the Petroleum Act 1998. 

PART 5 Classes of person excluded from this scheme. 
Classes of person excluded from this scheme. 

20. The classes of person described in paragraphs 21 to 24 are not entitled to a reduction under this 
scheme. 

Class of person excluded from this scheme: persons treated as not being in Great Britain 

21.—(1) The class of person described in this paragraph consists of any person treated as not 
being in Great Britain. 

(2) Except where a person falls within sub-paragraph (5) or (6), a person is to be treated as not 
being in Great Britain if the person is not habitually resident in the United Kingdom, the 
Channel Islands, the Isle of Man, or the Republic of Ireland. 

(3) A person must not be treated as habitually resident in the United Kingdom, the Channel 
Islands, the Isle of Man, or the Republic of Ireland unless the person has a right to reside in 
one of those places. 

(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3), a right to reside does not include a right which exists 
by virtue of, or in accordance with— 

(a) regulation 13 of the EEA Regulations; 
(aa) regulation 14 of the EEA Regulations but only in a case where the right exists 

under that regulation where the person is -
(i) a jobseeker for the purpose of the definition of a ‘qualified person’ in 
regulation 6(1) of those regulations, or, 
(ii) a family member (within the meaning of regulation 7 of those regulations) of 
such a jobseeker 

(b) regulation 16 of the EEA Regulations, but only in a case where the right exists under 
that regulation because the applicant satisfies the criteria in paragraph 5 of that 
regulation. 

(4A) For the purposes of paragraph (3), a right to reside does not include a right which exists by 
virtue of a person having been granted limited leave to enter, or remain in, the United 
Kingdom under the Immigration Act 1971 by virtue of— 

(a) (removed) 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

24 Page 61



       

 

           
                

         
             

            
 

     
                  

   
              

             
     

        
  

     
      
        

    
       

             
    

    
  

   
    

      
     

   
      

      
        

             
             

  
 

    
      

     
   

      
      

     
              

 
            

   
                
    

             
      

     
   

     
       

       
       

             
                  
   

    
      

      
                

          

(b)Appendix EU to the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of that Act; 
(c)being a person with a Zambrano right to reside as defined in Annex 1 of Appendix EU 
to the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of that Act; or 
(d) having arrived in the United Kingdom with an entry clearance that was granted under 
Appendix EU (Family Permit) to the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of that 
Act; 

“(4B) Paragraph (4A)(b) does not apply to a person who— 
(a) has a right to reside granted by virtue of being a family member of a relevant person of 

Northern Ireland; and 
(b) would have a right to reside under the EEA Regulations(6) if the relevant person of 

Northern Ireland were an EEA national, provided that the right to reside does not fall 
within paragraph (4)(a) or (b); 

(5) A person falls within this sub-paragraph if the person is— 
(za) a person granted leave in accordance with the immigration rules made under section 

3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971, where such leave is granted by virtue of— 
(i)the Afghan Relocations and Assistance Policy; or 
(ii)the previous scheme for locally employed staff in Afghanistan (sometimes 
referred to as the ex-gratia scheme); 

(zb) a person in Great Britain not coming within sub-paragraph (za) or (e) who left 
Afghanistan in connection with the collapse of the Afghan government that took place 
on 15th August 2021; 

(zc) a person in Great Britain who was residing in Ukraine immediately before 1st January 
2022, left Ukraine in connection with the Russian invasion which took place on 24th 
February 2022 and— 
(i) has been granted leave in accordance with immigration rules made under 

section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971; 
(ii) has a right of abode in the United Kingdom within the meaning given in section 

2 of that Act; or 
(iii) does not require leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom in accordance 

with section 3ZA of that Act; 
(zd) a person who was residing in Israel, the West Bank, the Gaza Strip, East Jerusalem, 

the Golan Heights, or Lebanon immediately before 7th October 2023, left Israel, the 
West Bank, the Gaza Strip, East Jerusalem, the Golan Heights, or Lebanon in 
connection with the Hamas terrorist attack in Israel on 7th October 2023 or the 
violence which rapidly escalated in the region following the attack and— 
(i) has been granted leave in accordance with immigration rules made under 

section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971, 
(ii) has a right of abode in the United Kingdom within the meaning given in section 

2 of that Act, or 
(iii) does not require leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom in accordance 

with section 3ZA of that Act; 
(ze) a person who was residing in Sudan before 15th April 2023, left Sudan in connection 

with the violence which rapidly escalated on 15th April 2023 in Khartoum and across 
Sudan and— 
(i) has been granted leave in accordance with immigration rules made under section 
3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971; 
(ii )has a right of abode in the United Kingdom within the meaning given in section 2 
of that Act; or 
(iii) does not require leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom in accordance 
with section 3ZA of that Act 

(a) a qualified person for the purposes of regulation 6 of the EEA Regulations as a worker 
or a self-employed person; 

(b) a family member of a person referred to in sub-paragraph (a); 
(c) a person who has a right to reside permanently in the United Kingdom by virtue of 

regulation 15(1)(c), (d) or (e) of the EEA Regulations; 
(ca) a family member of a relevant person of Northern Ireland, with a right to reside 

which falls within paragraph (4A)(b), provided that the relevant person of Northern 
Ireland falls within paragraph (5)(a), or would do so but for the fact that they are not 
an EEA national; 

(cb) a frontier worker within the meaning of regulation 3 of the Citizens’ Rights (Frontier 
Workers) (EU Exit) Regulations 2020; 

(cc) a family member of a person referred to in sub-paragraph (cb), who has been granted 
limited leave to enter, or remain in, the United Kingdom by virtue of Appendix EU to 
the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

25 Page 62



       

 

   
               

        
     

       
            

     
       

            
              

 
             

  
              

          
 
 

             
     

 
         

              
              

  
 

   
   
    

   
      
        

      
    

     
             

      
    

  
 

          
 

              
 

    
  

 
                

                
                 

             
 

  
 

        
 

                
  

 
           

  
  

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

(d) a person recorded by the Secretary of State as a refugee within the definition in 
Article 1 of the Convention relating to the Status of Refugees done at Geneva on 28th 
July 1951, as extended by Article 1(2) of the Protocol relating to the Status of 
Refugees done at New York on 31st January 1967; 

(e) a person who has been granted, or who is deemed to have been granted, leave 
outside the rules made under section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971 

(f) a person who has humanitarian protection granted under those rules; 
(g) a person who is not a person subject to immigration control within the meaning of 

section 115(9) of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 and who is in the United 
Kingdom as a result of his deportation, expulsion, or other removal by compulsion of 
law from another country to the United Kingdom; 

(h) in receipt of income support or on an income-related employment and support 
allowance; or 

(ha) in receipt of an income-based jobseeker’s allowance and has a right to reside 
other than a right to reside falling within paragraph (4) 

(6) A person falls within this sub-paragraph if the person is a Crown servant or member of Her 
Majesty’s forces posted overseas. 

(7) A person mentioned in sub-paragraph (6) is posted overseas if the person is performing 
overseas the duties of a Crown servant or member of Her Majesty’s forces and was, 
immediately before the posting or the first of consecutive postings, habitually resident in the 
United Kingdom. 

(8) In this paragraph— 
“claim for asylum” has the same meaning as in section 94(1) of the Immigration and 
Asylum Act 1999; 
“EEA Regulations” means the Immigration (European Economic Area) Regulations 2016 
and references to the EEA Regulations are to be read with Schedule 4 to the Immigration 
and Social Security Co-ordination (EU Withdrawal) Act 2020 (Consequential, Saving, 
Transitional and Transitory Provisions) Regulations 2020; 
“EEA national” has the meaning given in regulation 2(1) of the EEA Regulations;”; 
“family member” has the meaning given in regulation 7(1)(a), (b) or (c) of the EEA 
Regulations, except that regulation 7(4) of the EEA Regulations does not apply for the 
purposes of paragraphs (4B) and (5)(ca);”; 

“relevant person of Northern Ireland” has the meaning given in Annex 1 of Appendix EU to the 
immigration rules made under section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971. 

Class of person excluded from this scheme: persons subject to immigration control. 

22.—(1) Persons subject to immigration control are not entitled to a reduction under this scheme. 

(2) “Person subject to immigration control” has the meaning given in section 115(9) of the 
Immigration and Asylum Act 1999. 

(2A) A person who is a national of a state which has ratified the European Convention on Social and 
Medical Assistance (done in Paris on 11th December 1953) or a state which has ratified the Council 
of Europe Social Charter (signed in Turin on 18th October 1961) and who is lawfully present in the 
United Kingdom and is not a person subject to immigration control for the purpose of paragraph 
(1)dc 

Class of person excluded from this scheme: capital limit. 

23.—(1) The class of person described in this paragraph consists of any person whose capital exceeds 
£16,000. 

(2) Capital for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) is to be calculated in accordance with Part 10 of 
this scheme. 

26 Page 63



       

 

 
       

 
                 

         
       

 
  

  
 

   
   

       
     

        
                

 
                    

     
  

            
    

 
           

               
         

            
  

 
    

                
                  

              
 

           
      

 
 

        
            

        
       

 
 

   
       

    
 

  
      

         
   

 
    

 
           

    
           

             
        

     
                     

       

Class of person excluded from this scheme: students. 

24. The class of person described in this paragraph consists of any student to whom paragraph 75(1) 
applies (except to the extent that a student may be entitled to an alternative maximum council 
tax reduction by virtue of paragraph 18). 

PART 6 Applicable amounts 
Applicable amounts: pensioners 

25.- (1) The applicable amount for a pensioner for a week is the aggregate of such of the 
following amounts as apply in his case— 
(a) an amount in respect of his personal allowance, determined in accordance with 

paragraph 1 of Schedule 2 (personal allowance); 
(b) an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 2 of that Schedule in respect of up 

to two individuals who are either children or young persons and who are members of his 
family. 

(c) if he is a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young 
person, an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 3 of that Schedule 
(family premium); 

(d) the amount of any premiums which may be applicable to him, determined in 
accordance with Parts 3 and 4 of that Schedule (premiums). 

(1A) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) as it applies apart from sub-paragraph (1C), where 
the family includes more than two individuals who are either children or young persons and 
under paragraph 2 of that Schedule a different amount applies to different individuals, the 
two amounts to be included in the applicable amount shall be those that result in the greatest 
possible total amount. 

(1B) Sub-paragraph (1C) applies where— 
(a) (whether or not as part of a tax credit couple as defined in section 3(5A) of the Tax Credits 
Act 2002) the applicant has an award of child tax credit (whether or not any amount is payable 
by way of such credit) in respect of a child or young person who is a member of his family; 
and 
(b) the total amount to be included in the applicable amount under sub-paragraph (1)(b) as 
substituted by sub-paragraph (1C) would be higher than the total amount that would be 
included under paragraph (1)(b) apart from sub-paragraph (1C). 

(1C) Where this paragraph applies, for sub-paragraph (1)(b) substitute— 
(b) an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 2 of that Schedule in respect of any 

child or young person who is a member of his family and in respect of whom the individual 
element of child tax credit has been included in the determination of the maximum rate of 
that credit;” 

(2) In Schedule 2— 
“additional spouse” means a spouse of either party to the marriage who is additional to the 
other party to the marriage; 

“patient” means a person (other than a person who is serving a sentence of imprisonment or 
detention in a youth custody institution) who is regarded as receiving free in-patient 
treatment within the meaning of regulation 2(4) and (5) of the Social Security (Hospital In-
Patients) Regulations 2005 

Applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners. 

26.—(1) Subject to paragraphs 27 and 28, the applicable amount for a week for a person who is not 
a pensioner is the aggregate of such of the following amounts as may apply in his case— 

(a) an amount in respect of himself or, if he is a member of a couple, an amount in respect 
of both of them, determined in accordance with paragraph 1 of Schedule 3; 

(b) an amount in respect of any child or young person who is a member of his family, 
determined in accordance with paragraph 3 of that Schedule; 

(c) if he is a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person, 
an amount determined in accordance with Part 2 of that Schedule (family premium); 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

27 Page 64



       

 

             
          

      
   

 
                  

  
             

           
    

       
    

 
  

      
         

   
 

   
     

   
 

       
        

    
    

 
  

      
         

    
 

     
 

                
         

    
 

                 
             
              

          
       

            
     

         
      

                  
                 

  
               

         
      

    
  
                 

  
              

          
 

       
 

              
     

(d) the amount of any premiums which may be applicable to him, determined in accordance 
with Parts 3 and 4 of that Schedule (premiums); 

(e) the amount of either the— 
(i)work-related activity component; or 
(ii)support component, 

(f) which may be applicable to him in accordance with Parts 5 and 6 of that Schedule (the 
components)); 

(g) the amount of any transitional addition which may be applicable to him in accordance 
with Parts 7 and 8 of that Schedule (transitional addition). 

(2) In Schedule 2— 
“additional spouse” means a spouse of either party to the marriage who is additional to the 
other party to the marriage; 

“patient” means a person (other than a person who is serving a sentence of imprisonment or 
detention in a youth custody institution) who is regarded as receiving free in-patient 
treatment within the meaning of regulation 2(4) and (5) of the Social Security (Hospital In-
Patients) Regulations 2005 

(3) In Schedule 3— 
“additional spouse” means a spouse by the party to the marriage who is additional to the 
party to the marriage; 

“converted employment and support allowance” means an employment and support 
allowance which is not income-related and to which a person is entitled as a result of a 
conversion decision within the meaning of the Employment and Support Allowance (Existing 
Awards) Regulations 2008; 

“patient” means a person (other than a person who is serving a sentence of imprisonment or 
detention in a youth custody institution) who is regarded as receiving free in-patient 
treatment within the meaning of regulation 2(4) and (5) of the Social Security (Hospital In-
Patients) Regulations 2005. 

Polygamous marriages: persons who are not pensioners. 

27.—(1) This paragraph applies where an applicant who is not a pensioner is a member of a 
polygamous marriage and does not have (alone or jointly with a party to a marriage), an award 
of universal credit. 

(2) The applicable amount for a week of an applicant where this paragraph applies is the aggregate 
of such of the following amounts as may apply in his case— 
(a) the amount applicable to him and one of his partners determined in accordance with 

paragraph 1(3) of Schedule 3 as if he and that partner were a couple; 
(b) an amount equal to the difference between the amounts specified in sub-paragraphs (3) and 

(1)(b) of paragraph 1 of that Schedule in respect of each of his other partners; 
(c) an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 2 of that Schedule (main phase 

employment and support allowance) in respect of any child or young person for whom he or 
a partner of his is responsible and who is a member of the same household; 

(d) if he or another partner of the polygamous marriage is responsible for a child or young person 
who is a member of the same household, the amount specified in Part 2 of that Schedule 
(family premium); 

(e) the amount of any premiums which may be applicable to him determined in accordance with 
Parts 3 and 4 of that Schedule (premiums); 

(f) the amount of either the— 
a. (i)work-related activity component; or 
b. (ii)support component, 

which may be applicable to him in accordance with Parts 5 and 6 of that Schedule (the 
components); 

(g) the amount of any transitional addition which may be applicable to him in accordance with 
Parts 7 and 8 of that Schedule (transitional addition). 

Applicable amount: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of universal credit. 

28.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), in determining the applicable amount for a week of an 
applicant who is not a pensioner— 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

28 Page 65



       

 

     
        

       
       

      
 

                   
                

              
             

 
            

    
 

              
              

 
              

     
              

 
 

            
             

             
             
       

         
         

       
 

                 
        

          
  

 
        

             
              

  
 

               
         

 
          

 
 

 
 

      
 

        
           

        
              

  
 

               
        

        
  

             

(a) who has, or 
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has, 
an award of universal credit, the authority must use the calculation or estimate of the maximum 
amount of the applicant, or the applicant and his partner jointly (as the case may be), subject 
to the adjustment described in sub-paragraph (3). 

(2) In determining the applicable amount for a week of an applicant who is a member of a polygamous 
marriage, the fact that two people are husband and wife is to be disregarded if— 
(a) one of them is a party to an earlier marriage that still subsists; and 
(b) the other party to that earlier marriage is living in the same household. 

(3) The adjustment referred to in sub-paragraph (1) is to multiply the maximum amount by 12 and 
divide the product by 52. 

(4) In this paragraph “maximum amount” means the maximum amount calculated by the Secretary 
of State in accordance with section 8(2) of the Welfare Reform Act 2012. 

PART 7 Maximum council tax reduction for the purposes of calculating eligibility for a reduction 
under this scheme and amount of reduction. 
Maximum council tax reduction amount under this scheme: pensioners and persons who are not 
pensioners. 

29.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) to (4), the maximum council tax reduction payable to a 
pensioner in respect of a day is 100 per cent of the amount A/B where— 

(a) A is the amount set by the authority as the council tax for the relevant financial year in 
respect of the dwelling in which he is a resident and for which he is liable, subject to any 
discount which may be appropriate to that dwelling under the 1992 Act; and 
(b) B is the number of days in that financial year 
less any deductions in respect of non-dependants which fall to be made under paragraph 29 
(non-dependant deductions: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners). 

(2) In calculating a person’s maximum council tax reduction under this scheme any support in the 
amount that person is liable to pay in respect of council tax, which is made in consequence of 
any enactment in, or made under, the 1992 Act (other than a support under this scheme), is to 
be taken into account. 

(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (5), where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in 
respect of a dwelling in which he is resident with one or more other persons, in determining the 
maximum council tax reduction in his case in accordance with sub-paragraph (1), the amount A 
is to be divided by the number of persons who are jointly and severally liable for that tax. 

(4) Where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in respect of a dwelling with only 
his partner, sub-paragraph (4) does not apply in his case. 

(5) The reference in sub-paragraph (4) to a person with whom an applicant is jointly and severally 
liable for council tax does not include a student to whom paragraph 73(2) applies. 

(6) In this paragraph “relevant financial year” means, in relation to any particular day, the financial 
year within which the day in question falls. 

Non-dependent deductions: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners. 

30.—(1) Subject to the following provisions of this paragraph, the non-dependant deductions in 
respect of a day referred to in section 29 (maximum council tax reduction) shall be; 
(a) in respect of a non-dependant aged 18 or over in remunerative work, £15.35 x 1/7; 
(b) in respect of a non-dependant aged 18 or over to whom sub-paragraph (a) does not apply, 

£5.00 x 1/7. 

(2) In the case of a non-dependant aged 18 or over to whom paragraph 30.1(a) applies, where it is 
shown to the appropriate authority that his normal gross weekly income is– 
(a) less than £266.00, the deduction to be made under this paragraph shall be that specified 

in paragraph 30.1(b); 
(b) not less than £266.00, but less than £463.00, the deduction to be made under this section 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

29 Page 66



       

 

    
             

    
 

                     
          
             

                  
            

 
              

         
             

 
        

               
   

               
                
         

                
  

      
 

 
              

  
          

    
      

        
          

   
      

          
    

          
   

      
         

    
       

                
   

        
 

 
            

      
   

    
      

       
          
         

    
         

               
                 

        
 

           
            

      

shall be £10.20 x1/7; 
(c) not less than £463.00, but less than £577.00, the deduction to be made under this section 

shall be £12.80 x 1/7. 

(3) Only one deduction is to be made under this paragraph in respect of a couple or, as the case may 
be, members of a polygamous marriage (other than where there is an award of universal credit) 
and, where, but for this paragraph, the amount that would fall to be deducted in respect of one 
member of a couple or polygamous marriage is higher than the amount (if any) that would fall to 
be deducted in respect of the other, or any other, member, the higher amount is to be deducted. 

(4) In applying the provisions of sub-paragraph (2) in the case of a couple or, as the case may be, a 
polygamous marriage, regard must be had, for the purpose of that sub-paragraph, to the couple’s 
or, as the case may be, all members of the polygamous marriage’s joint weekly gross income. 

(5) Where in respect of a day— 
(a) a person is a resident in a dwelling but is not himself liable for council tax in respect of that 

dwelling and that day; 
(b) other residents in that dwelling (the liable persons) have joint and several liability for council 

tax in respect of that dwelling and that day otherwise than by virtue of section 9 of the 1992 
Act (liability of spouses and civil partners); and 

(c) the person to whom paragraph (a) refers is a non-dependent of two or more of the liable 
persons, 
the deduction in respect of that non-dependent must be apportioned equally between those 
liable persons. 

(6) No deduction is to be made in respect of any non-dependants occupying an applicant’s dwelling 
if the applicant or his partner is— 
(a) blind or treated as blind by virtue of paragraph 10 of Schedule 3 (additional condition for the 

disability premium); or 
(b) receiving in respect of himself— 

(i)attendance allowance, or would be receiving that allowance but for— 
(aa)a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) of 
the SSCBA; or 
(bb)an abatement as a result of hospitalisation; or 

(ii)the care component of the disability living allowance, or would be receiving that 
component but for— 

(aa)a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) of 
the SSCBA; or 
(bb)an abatement as a result of hospitalisation; or 

(iii)the daily living component of personal independence payment, or would be receiving that 
allowance but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 86 of 
the Welfare Reform Act 2012 (hospital in-patients); or 
(iv)an AFIP or would be receiving that payment but for a suspension of it in accordance with 
any terms of the armed and reserve forces compensation scheme which allows for a 
suspension because a person is undergoing medical treatment in a hospital or similar 
institution. 

(7) No deduction is to be made in respect of a non-dependent if— 
(a) although he resides with the applicant, it appears to the authority that his normal home is 

elsewhere; or 
(b) he is in receipt of a training allowance paid in connection with youth training established 

under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 or section 2 of the Enterprise and 
New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990; or 

(c) he is a full-time student within the meaning of Part 11 (students); or 
(d) he is not residing with the applicant because he has been a patient for a period in excess of 

52 weeks, and for these purposes— 
(i)“patient” has the meaning given in paragraph 19(6), and 
(ii)where a person has been a patient for two or more distinct periods separated by one or 
more intervals each not exceeding 28 days, he is to be treated as having been a patient 
continuously for a period equal in duration to the total of those distinct periods. 

(8) No deduction is to be made in respect of a non-dependent— 
(a) who is on income support, state pension credit, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or 

an income-related employment and support allowance? 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

30 Page 67



       

 

              
               

    
                 

       
 

         
    

     
    

       
        
           
             

          
      

        
       

  
   
     
           

       
                

 
 

         
      

 
        

  
 

        
           

          
       

   
 

          
             

       
                 

   
 

                   
         

       
 

      
       

 
               

         
 

              
          

 
              

             
        

 
              

            
 

(b) to whom Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act applies (persons disregarded for purposes of discount) 
but this paragraph does not apply to a non-dependent who is a student to whom paragraph 4 
of that Schedule refers, or 

(c) is entitled to an award of Universal Credit where the award is calculated on the basis that 
the person does not have any earned income. 

(9) In the application of sub-paragraph (2) there is to be disregarded from the non-dependent’s 
weekly gross income— 
(a) any attendance allowance, disability living allowance, personal independence payment or an 

AFIP received by him; 
(b) any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the 

Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, or the Independent Living Fund (2006), the Windrush 
Compensation Scheme or the National Emergencies Trust, the Victims of Overseas Terrorism 
Compensation Scheme which, had his income fallen to be calculated under paragraph 54 
(calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners), would have 
been disregarded under paragraph 28 of Schedule 8 (income in kind); and 

(c) any payment which, had his income fallen to be calculated under paragraph 54, would have 
been disregarded under paragraph 41 of Schedule 8 (payments made under certain trusts and 
certain other payments). 

(d) any Post Office compensation payment; 
(e) (ae)any vaccine damage payment; 
(f) any payment out of the estate of a person to that person’s son, daughter, step-son, or step-

daughter, which derives from a payment to meet the recommendation of the Infected Blood 
Inquiry in its interim report published on 29th July 2022 made under or by the Scottish 
Infected Blood Support Scheme or an approved blood scheme. 

PART 8 Alternative maximum council tax reduction for the purposes of calculating eligibility for 
a reduction under this scheme and amount of reduction. 

Alternative maximum council tax reduction under this scheme: pensioners and persons who are 
not pensioners. 

31.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), the alternative maximum council tax reduction in 
respect of a day where the conditions set out in paragraph 15 (alternative maximum council tax 
reduction: pensioners) or 18 (alternative maximum council tax reduction: persons who are not 
pensioners) are fulfilled, is the amount determined in accordance with Schedule 4 (amount of 
alternative council tax reduction). 

(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in 
respect of a dwelling in which he is resident with one or more other persons, in determining the 
alternative maximum council tax reduction in his case, the amount determined in accordance 
with Schedule 4 must be divided by the number of persons who are jointly and severally liable 
for that tax. 

(3) Where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in respect of a dwelling with only 
his partner, solely by virtue of section 9 of the 1992 Act (liability of spouses and civil partners), 
sub-paragraph (2) does not apply in his case. 

PART 9 Amount of reduction under this scheme 
Amount of reduction under this scheme: Classes A to F 

32.—(1) Where a person is entitled to a reduction under this scheme in respect of a day, the amount 
of the reduction to which he is entitled is as follows. 

(2) Where the person is within class A or D, that amount is the amount which is the maximum council 
tax reduction in respect of the day in the applicant’s case. 

(3) Where the person is within class B or E, that amount is the amount found by deducting amount B 
from amount A, where “amount A” and “amount B” have the meanings given in paragraph 14(f) 
or 17(f), as the case may be. 

(4) Where the person is within class C or F, that amount is the amount which is the alternative 
maximum council tax reduction in respect of the day in the applicant’s case. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

31 Page 68



       

 

   
    
 

   
 

             
        
          

   
       

 
  

               
     

 
  
       

 
       

    
     
   

 
                   

              
 

 
                

       
      

   
               

         
 

       
 

          
      

     
 

    
            
           

      
         

       
  

 
               

          
    

      
        

 
  

 
     

 
                      

            
  

(5) Sub-paragraph (6) applies where both— 
(a) sub-paragraph (2) or sub-paragraph (3), and 
(b) sub-paragraph (4), 
apply to a person. 

(6) Subject to the maximum reduction specified by paragraph 12 and 28, the amount of the 
reduction to which the person is entitled is whichever is the greater of— 

(a) the amount of the reduction given by sub-paragraph (2) or sub-paragraph (3), as the case 
may be, and 

(b) the amount of the reduction given by sub-paragraph (4). 

PART 10 Income and capital for the purposes of calculating eligibility for a reduction under this 
scheme and amount of reduction. 

CHAPTER 1 Income and capital: general 
Calculation of income and capital: applicant’s family and polygamous marriages 

33.—(1) The income and capital of— 
(a) an applicant; and 
(b) any partner of that applicant, 
(c) is to be calculated in accordance with the provisions of this Part. 

(2) The income and capital of any partner of the applicant is to be treated as income and capital of 
the applicant, and in this Part any reference to the applicant applies equally to any partner of 
that applicant. 

(3) Except where paragraph 37 applies, where an applicant or the partner of an applicant is married 
polygamously to two or more members of his household— 
(a) the applicant must be treated as possessing capital and income belonging to each such 

member; and 
(b) the income and capital of that member is to be calculated in accordance with the following 

provisions of this Part in like manner as for the applicant. 

Circumstances in which income and capital of non-dependent is to be treated as applicants. 

34.—(1) Sub-paragraph (2) applies where it appears to the authority that a non-dependent and an 
applicant have entered into arrangements in order to take advantage of this scheme and the 
non-dependent has more income and capital than the applicant. 

(2) Except where— 
(a) the applicant is a pensioner and is on a guarantee credit, or 
(b) the applicant is not a pensioner and is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s 

allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance, 
the authority must treat the applicant as possessing income and capital belonging to that non-
dependent and, in such a case, any income and capital which the applicant does possess is to be 
disregarded. 

(3) Where an applicant is treated as possessing income and capital belonging to a non-dependent 
under sub-paragraph (2) the income and capital of that non-dependent must be calculated in 
accordance with the following provisions of this Part in like manner as for the applicant and, 
except where the context otherwise requires, any reference to the “applicant” is to be construed 
for the purposes of this Part as if it were a reference to that non-dependent. 

CHAPTER 2 Income and capital: pensioners in receipt of guarantee credit or savings credit 

Applicant in receipt of guarantee credit: pensioners 

35. In the case of an applicant who is a pensioner and who is in receipt, or whose partner is in 
receipt, of a guarantee credit, the whole of his capital and income must be disregarded. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

32 Page 69



       

 

 
          

 
                  

               
             
                
               

 
                

                
      

      
                

     
          

    
             
  

          
              
              

  
        

    
                 

         
    

           
      

         
          

              
 

              
         

        
           

 
 

        
             

 
     

             
   

             
                

        
 

   
        

  
 

   
     
        

        
        

      
        

       
 

Calculation of applicant’s income and capital in savings credit only cases: pensioners. 

36.—(1) In determining the income and capital of an applicant who is a pensioner and who has, or 
whose partner has, an award of state pension credit comprising only the savings credit, subject 
to the following provisions of this paragraph, the authority must use the calculation or estimate 
of the applicant’s or as the case may be, the applicant’s partner’s income and capital made by 
the Secretary of State for the purpose of determining the award of state pension credit. 

(2) Where the calculation or estimate provided by the Secretary of State includes the amount taken 
into account in that determination in respect of net income, the authority may only adjust that 
amount so far as necessary to take into account— 
(a) the amount of any savings credit payable; 
(b) in respect of any dependent children of the applicant, child care charges taken into account 

under paragraph 57(1)(c) (calculation of income on a weekly basis); 
(c) the higher amount disregarded under this scheme in respect of— 

(i)lone parent’s earnings; or 
(ii)payments of maintenance, whether under a court order or not, which is made or due to 
be made by— 

(aa)the applicant’s former partner, or the applicant’s partner’s former partner; or 
(bb)the parent of a child or young person where that child or young person is a 
member of the applicant’s family except where that parent is the applicant or the 
applicant’s partner; 

(d) any amount to be disregarded by virtue of paragraph 10(1) of Schedule 5 (sums disregarded 
from applicant’s earnings: pensioners); 

(e) the income and capital of any partner of the applicant who is treated as a member of the 
applicant’s household under paragraph 8, to the extent that it is not taken into account in 
determining the net income of the person claiming state pension credit; 

(f) paragraph 34 (circumstances in which capital and income of a non-dependent is to be treated 
as applicant’s), if the authority determines that that provision applies in the applicant’s case; 

(g) such further reduction (if any) as the authority thinks fit under section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992 
Act (power of billing authority to reduce amount of council tax payable); 

(h) (h)any amount to be disregarded by virtue of paragraph 6 of Schedule 5 (exempt work). 

(3) Paragraphs 39 to 46 (calculation of income: pensioners) and 57 to 61 (calculation of income: 
pensioners and persons who are not pensioners) do not apply to the amount of the net income to 
be taken into account under sub-paragraph (1) but do apply (so far as relevant) for the purpose 
of determining any adjustments to that amount which the authority makes under sub-paragraph 
(2). 

(4) If sub-paragraph (5) applies, the authority must calculate the applicant’s capital in accordance 
with paragraphs 63, 65 to 68 and 70 (calculation of capital: pensioners). 

(5) This sub-paragraph applies if— 
(a) the Secretary of State notifies the authority that the applicant’s capital has been determined 

as being £16,000 or less or the authority determines his capital as being £16,000 or less; 
(b) subsequent to that determination the applicant’s capital rises to more than £16,000; and 
(c) )the increase occurs whilst there is in force an assessed income period within the meaning of 

sections 6 and 9 of the State Pension Credit Act 2002. 

CHAPTER 3 Income and capital where there is an award of universal credit. 
Calculation of income and capital: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of 
universal credit. 

37.—(1) In determining the income of an applicant— 
(a) who has, or 
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has, 
an award of universal credit the authority must, subject to the following provisions of this 
paragraph, use the calculation or estimate of the amount of the income of the applicant, or the 
applicant and his partner jointly (as the case may be), made by the Secretary of State for the 
purpose of determining the award of universal credit. For the avoidance of doubt the award of 
Universal Credit shall be determined before any deduction, sanction, advance etc. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

33 Page 70



       

 

              
            

 
                

      
         
          

     
         

            
 

                
        

      
 

               
      

  
 

   
     
        

        
               

            
 

            
             

 
       

 
               

              
      

 
  
         

 
               

        
                

      
 

    
 

              
    
   
     
              
   
    
    
    
      

        
    

   
         

  
   

  
  

      

(2) The authority must adjust the amount of the income referred to in sub-paragraph (1) by 
multiplying the amount by 12 and dividing the product by 52. 

(3) The authority may only adjust the amount of the income as adjusted in accordance with sub-
paragraph (2) so far as necessary to take into account— 
(a) the amount of the award of universal credit before any deduction, sanction, advance etc; 
(b) paragraph 34 (circumstances in which income and capital of non-dependent is to be treated 

as applicant’s), if the authority determines that the provision applies in the applicant’s case; 
(c) such further reduction (if any) as the authority thinks fit under section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992 

Act (power of billing authority to reduce amount of council tax payable). 

(4) The amount for the award of universal credit to be taken into account for the purposes of sub-
paragraph (3)(a) is to be determined by multiplying the amount of the award of universal credit 
by 12 and dividing the product by 52. 

(5) Paragraph 34 (income and capital of non-dependent to be treated as applicant’s) applies for the 
purpose of determining any adjustments which fall to be made to the figure for income under 
sub-paragraph (3). 

(6) In determining the capital of an applicant— 
(a) who has, or 
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has, 
an award of universal credit, the authority must use the calculation or estimate of the capital of 
the applicant, or the applicant and his partner jointly (as the case may be), made by the Secretary 
of State for the purpose of determining the award of universal credit. 

(7) In this paragraph “maximum amount” means the maximum amount calculated by the Secretary 
of State in accordance with section 8(2) of the Welfare Reform Act 2012. 

Tolerance of cases where Universal Credit is in payment. 

(8) Where the authority receives any notification from the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions 
that a person who is awarded Universal Credit has a change in that award of less than £5, no 
adjustment shall be made to the applicant’s Council Tax Reduction. 

CHAPTER 4 Income: other pensioners 
Calculation of income and capital where state pension credit is not payable: pensioners. 

38. Where neither paragraph 35 (applicant in receipt of guarantee credit: pensioners) nor 36 
(applicant in receipt of savings credit only: pensioners) applies in the applicant’s case, his 
income and capital is to be calculated or estimated in accordance with paragraphs 39 to 46 and 
57 to 62 (calculation of income) and Chapter 7 of this Part (calculation of capital). 

Meaning of “income”: pensioners 

39.—( .—(1) For the purposes of classes A to C in this scheme, “income” means income of any of 
the following descriptions— 
(a) earnings; 
(b) working tax credit; 
(c) retirement pension income within the meaning of the State Pension Credit Act 2002; 
(d) income from annuity contracts (other than retirement pension income); 
(e) a war disablement pension or war widow’s or widower’s pension; 
(f) a foreign war disablement pension or war widow’s or widower’s pension; 
(g) a guaranteed income payment; 
(h) a payment made under article 29(1)(c) of the Armed Forces and Reserve Forces 

(Compensation Scheme) Order 2011, in any case where article 31(2)(c) applies; 
(zi) Universal Credit; 
(i) income from capital other than capital disregarded under Part 1 of Schedule 9; 
(j) social security benefits, other than retirement pension income or any of the following 

benefits— 
(i)disability living allowance; 
(ii)personal independence payment; 
(iii)an AFIP; 
(iiia)the daily living component of adult disability payment; 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

34 Page 71



       

 

          
  

         
      

  
           

  
          

      
  

          
 

          
  

  
 

   
   
          

       
       

         
         

  
 

         
 

            
 

          
            

    
  

           
   

            
  

           
    

      
  

    
           
               

      
         

            
       

                
  

         
   

          
             

             
  
   
     

 
       

  
          

       
      

(iv)attendance allowance payable under section 64 of the SSCBA (entitlement to 
attendance allowance); 
(v)an increase of disablement pension under section 104 (increase for constant 
attendance) or 105 of that Act (increase for exceptionally severe disablement); 
(vi)child benefit; 
(vii)any guardian’s allowance payable under section 77 of the SSCBA (guardian’s 
allowance); 
(viii)any increase for a dependent, other than the applicant’s partner, payable in 
accordance with Part 4 of that Act (increases for dependants); 
(ix)any— 
(aa)social fund payment made under Part 8 of the SSCBA (the social fund), or 
(bb)occasional assistance; 
(x)Christmas bonus payable under Part 10 of that Act (Christmas bonus for pensioners); 
(xi)housing benefit; 
(xii)council tax benefit; 
(xiii)bereavement payment; 
(xiv)statutory sick pay; 
(xv)statutory maternity pay; 
(xvi)ordinary statutory paternity pay payable under Part 12ZA of the SSCBA; 
(xvia) statutory shared parental pay under Part 12ZC of that Act; 
(xvib) statutory parental bereavement pay under Part 12ZD of the SSCBA; 
(xvii)additional statutory paternity pay payable under Part 12ZA of the SSCBA; 
(xviii)statutory adoption pay payable under Part 12ZB of that Act (statutory adoption 
pay); 
(xix) Removed 
(xx) carer’s allowance supplement payable under section 81 of the Social Security 
(Scotland) Act 2018; 
(xxi) early years assistance given in accordance with section 32 of the Social Security 
(Scotland) Act 2018; 
(xxii) funeral expense assistance given in accordance with section 34 of that Act; 
(xxiii) any Scottish child payment assistance given in accordance with section 79 of that Act; 
(xxiv) any assistance given in accordance with the Carer’s Assistance (Young Carer Grants) 
(Scotland) Regulations 2019(11); 
(xxv) short-term assistance given in accordance with regulations under section 36 of the Social 
Security (Scotland) Act 2018(12); 
(xxvi) winter heating assistance given in accordance with regulations under section 30 of 
that Act; 
(xxvii) any benefit similar to those mentioned in the preceding provisions of this 
paragraph payable under legislation having effect in Northern Ireland 

(k) all foreign social security benefits which are similar to the social security benefits mentioned 
above; 

(l) a payment made— 
(i)under article 30 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement and Death) Service 
Pensions Order 2006 (award for children who have reached the child’s age limit), in any case 
where article 30(1)(b) applies; or 
(ii)under article 12(8) of that Order (unemployability allowances: children who have reached 
the child’s age limit), in any case where sub-paragraph (b) of that article applies; 

(m) a pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special provision made 
by the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or of the Republic of 
Austria; 

(n) payments under a scheme made under the Pneumoconiosis etc. (Worker’s Compensation) 
Act 1979; 

(o) payments made towards the maintenance of the applicant by his spouse, civil partner, 
former spouse, or former civil partner or towards the maintenance of the applicant’s partner 
by his spouse, civil partner, former spouse, or former civil partner, including payments 
made— 

(i)under a court order; 
(ii)under an agreement for maintenance; or 
(iii)voluntarily; 

(p) payments due from any person in respect of board and lodging accommodation provided by 
the applicant; 

(q) royalties or other sums paid as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any 
copyright, design, patent, or trade mark; 

(r) any payment in respect of any— 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

35 Page 72



       

 

         
           

      
         

                  
         

        
  
  
  
   
  

        
        

              
     

           
    

        
                

  
 

           
         

        
         

 
 

                 
           

              
              

 
      

      
      
          

   
         

       
   

         
 

         
          

 
 

       
          
               

     
                  

      
 

     
 

            
               

    
          

   
        

  

(i)book registered under the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; or 
(ii)work made under any international public lending right scheme that is analogous to the 
Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; 

(s) any payment, other than a payment ordered by a court or made in settlement of a claim, 
made by or on behalf of a former employer of a person on account of the early retirement 
of that person on grounds of ill-health or disability; 

(t) any sum payable by way of pension out of money provided under— 
(i)the Civil List Act 1837, 
(ii)the Civil List Act 1937, 
(iii)the Civil List Act 1952, 
(iv)the Civil List Act 1972, or 
(v)the Civil List Act 1975; 

(u) any income in lieu of that specified in paragraphs (a) to (r); 
(v) any payment of rent made to an applicant who— 

(i)owns the freehold or leasehold interest in any property or is a tenant of any property; 
(ii)occupies part of the property; and 
(iii)has an agreement with another person allowing that person to occupy that property on 
payment of rent; 

(w) any payment made at regular intervals under an equity release scheme; 
(x) PPF periodic payments within the meaning of section 17(1) of the State Pension Credit Act 

2002. 

(2) Where the payment of any social security benefit referred to in sub-paragraph (1) or retirement 
pension income to which section 16(1)(za) to (e) of the State Pension Credit Act 2002 applies is 
subject to any deduction (other than an adjustment specified in sub-paragraph (4)) the amount 
to be taken into account under sub-paragraph (1) is to be the amount before the deduction is 
made. 

(3) Where an award of any working tax credit or child tax credit is subject to a deduction by way of 
recovery of an overpayment of working tax credit or child tax credit which arose in a previous 
tax year the amount to be taken into account under sub-paragraph (1) is to be the amount of 
working tax credit or child tax credit awarded less the amount of that deduction. 

(4) The adjustments specified in this sub-paragraph are those made in accordance with— 
(a) the Social Security (Overlapping Benefits) Regulations 1979; 
(b) the Social Security (Hospital In-Patients) Regulations 1975; 
(c) section 30DD or section 30E of the SSCBA (reductions in incapacity benefit in 

respect of pensions and councillor's allowances); 
(d) section 3 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 (deductions from contributory employment and 

support allowance in respect of pensions and councillor's allowances) and regulations 
made under it; 

(e) section 14 of the Pensions Act 2014 (pension sharing: reduction in sharer’s section 4 
pension); 

(f) section 45B or 55B of the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992 (reduction 
in additional pension in Category A retirement pension and shared additional pension: 
pension sharing). 

(5) In sub-paragraph (1)(w), “equity release scheme” means a loan— 
(a) made between a person (“the lender”) and the applicant; 
(b) by means of which a sum of money is advanced by the lender to the applicant by way of 

payments at regular intervals; and 
(c) which is secured o on a dwelling in which the applicant owns an estate or interest and 

which he occupies as his home? 

Calculation of weekly income: pensioners 

40.—(1) Except in a case within sub-paragraph (2), (3A), (4A) or (5), for the purposes of calculating 
the weekly income of an applicant who is a pensioner, where the period in respect of which a 
payment is made— 
(a) does not exceed a week, the whole of that payment is to be included in the applicant’s 

weekly income; 
(b) exceeds a week, the amount to be included in the applicant’s weekly income is to be 

determined— 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

36 Page 73



       

 

                  
    

                
       

   
      

           
 

     
                

   
             

 
            

            
              

   
       

   
             
             

  
  

   
  

 
        

 
                   

          
                 

     
        

                 
              

      
         

       
 

         
        

 
          

     
 

      
          

                 
     

        
                 

              
     

           
 

               
                

 
     

          
       

      
         

(i) in a case where that period is a month, by multiplying the amount of the payment by 
12 and dividing the product by 52; 

(ii) in a case where that period is three months, by multiplying the amount of the 
payment by 4 and dividing the product by 52; 

(iii) in a case where that period is a year, by dividing the amount of the payment by 52; 
(iv) n any other case, by multiplying the amount of the payment by 7 and dividing the 

product by the number of days in the period in respect of which it is made. 

(2) Sub-paragraph (3) applies where— 
(a) the applicant’s regular pattern of work is such that he does not work the same hours every 

week; or 
(b) the amount of the applicant’s income fluctuates and has changed more than once. 

(3) The weekly amount of that applicant’s income is to be determined— 
(a) if, in a case to which sub-paragraph (2)(a) applies, there is a recognised cycle of 

work, by reference to his average weekly income over the period of the complete 
cycle (including, where the cycle involves periods in which the applicant does no 
work, those periods but disregarding any other absences); or 

(b) in any other case, on the basis of— 
(i) the last two payments if those payments are one month or more apart; 
(ii) the last four payments if the last two payments are less than one month 

apart; or 
(iii) calculating or estimating such other payments as may, in the particular 

circumstances of the case, enable the applicant’s average weekly income to 
be determined more accurately. 

(3A) Income calculated pursuant to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) must be taken into account— 

(a) in the case of an application, on the date on which the application was made or treated as 
made, and the first day of each reduction week thereafter; 

(b) in the case of an application or a reduction under a scheme where the applicant commences 
employment, the first day of the reduction week following the date the applicant commences 
that employment, and the first day of each reduction week thereafter; or 

(c) in the case of an application or a reduction under a scheme where the applicant’s average 
weekly earnings from employment change, the first day of the reduction week following the 
date the applicant’s earnings from employment change so as to require recalculation under 
this paragraph, and the first day of each reduction week thereafter, 
regardless of whether those earnings were actually received in that reduction week. 

(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(b) the last payments are the last payments before the date 
the application was made or treated as made. 

(4A) An applicant’s earnings from employment as an employed earner not calculated pursuant to sub-
paragraphs (2) and (3) must be taken into account— 

(a) in the case of an application, on the date on which the application was made or treated as 
made, and the first day of each reduction week thereafter; 

(b) in the case of an application or a reduction under a scheme where the applicant commences 
employment, the first day of the reduction week following the date the applicant commences 
that employment, and the first day of each reduction week thereafter; or 

(c) in the case of an application or a reduction under a scheme where the applicant’s average 
weekly earnings from employment change, the first day of the reduction week following the 
date of the change, and the beginning of each reduction week thereafter, 
regardless of whether those earnings were actually received in that reduction week. 

(5) If the applicant is entitled to receive a payment to which sub-paragraph (6) applies, the amount 
of that payment is to be treated as if made in respect of a period of a year. 

(6) This sub-paragraph applies to— 
(a) royalties or other sums paid as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any 

copyright, design, patent, or trade mark; 
(b) any payment in respect of any— 

(i)book registered under the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; or 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

37 Page 74



       

 

           
       

     
 

                 
       

 
                   

      
 

             
     
          

      
     

 
         

      
 

                  
 

         
              

  
              

  
 

                  
    

 
    

 
         

              
  

   
        

       
     
   
     
      

      
  

            
             

          
          

                 
     

       
       
        
     

          
      

 
      

        
        

     
    
        

(ii)work made under any international public lending right scheme that is analogous to the 
Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; and 

(c) any payment which is made on an occasional basis. 

(7) The period under which any benefit under the benefit Acts is to be taken into account is to be 
the period in respect of which that benefit is payable. 

(8) Where payments are made in a currency other than Sterling, the value of the payment is to be 
determined by taking the Sterling equivalent on the date the payment is made. 

(9) The sums specified in Schedule 5 are to be disregarded in calculating— 
(a) the applicant’s earnings; and 
(b) any amount to which sub-paragraph (6) applies where the applicant is the first owner of the 

copyright, design, patent or trademark, or an original contributor to the book or work 
referred to in sub-paragraph (6)(b). 

(10) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (9)(b), and for that purpose only, the amounts specified in 
sub-paragraph (6) is to be treated as though they were earnings. 

(11) Income specified in Schedule 6 is to be disregarded in the calculation of the applicant’s income. 

(12) Schedule 9 (capital disregards: pensioners) has effect so that— 
(a) the capital specified in Part 1 is disregarded for the purpose of determining an applicant’s 

income; and 
(b) the capital specified in Part 2 is disregarded for the purpose of determining an applicant’s 

income under paragraph 71 (calculation of tariff income from capital: pensioners). 

(13) In the case of any income taken into account for the purpose of calculating a person’s income 
any amount payable by way of tax is disregarded. 

Earnings of employed earners: pensioners 

41.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), “earnings”, in the case of employment as an employed earner 
who is a pensioner, means any remuneration or profit derived from that employment and 
includes— 
(a) any bonus or commission; 
(b) any payment in lieu of remuneration except any periodic sum paid to an applicant on 

account of the termination of his employment by reason of redundancy; 
(c) any payment in lieu of notice; 
(d) any holiday pay; 
(e) any payment by way of a retainer; 
(f) any payment made by the applicant’s employer in respect of expenses not wholly, 

exclusively, and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment, 
including any payment made by the applicant’s employer in respect of— 
(i)travelling expenses incurred by the applicant between his home and place of employment; 
(ii)expenses incurred by the applicant under arrangements made for the care of a member 
of his family owing to the applicant’s absence from home; 

(g) the amount of any payment by way of a non-cash voucher which has been taken into account 
in the computation of a person’s earnings in accordance with Part 5 of Schedule 3 to the 
Social Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001; 

(h) statutory sick pay and statutory maternity pay payable by the employer under the SSCBA; 
(i) statutory paternity pay payable under Part 12ZA of that Act; 
(j) statutory adoption pay payable under Part 12ZB of that Act; 
(k) any sums payable under a contract of service— 

(i)for incapacity for work due to sickness or injury; or 
(ii)by reason of pregnancy or confinement. 

(2) Earnings does not include— 
(a) subject to sub-paragraph (3), any payment in kind; 
(b) any payment in respect of expenses wholly, exclusively, and necessarily incurred in the 

performance of the duties of the employment; 
(c) any occupational pension; 
(d) any lump sum payment made under the Iron and Steel Re-adaptation Benefits Scheme; 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

38 Page 75



       

 

        
          

   
      

   
 

          
  

 
       

 
           

        
             

       
 

           
         

      
      

  
       

       
    

        
   

              
    

            
   

    
       

 
               

   
 

                
     

       
   

              
      

                
        

 
              

               
      

         
              

        
          

      
        

    
        

         
  

      
           

   
 

      
 

(e) any payment of compensation made pursuant to an award by an employment tribunal 
established under the Employment Tribunals Act 1996 in respect of unfair dismissal or 
unlawful discrimination; 

(f) any payment in respect of expenses arising out of the applicant’s participation in a service 
user group. 

(3) Sub-paragraph (2)(a) does not apply in respect of any non-cash voucher referred to in sub-
paragraph (1)(g). 

Calculation of net earnings of employed earners: pensioners 

42.—(1) For the purposes of paragraph 57 (calculation of income on a weekly basis), the earnings of 
an applicant who is a pensioner derived or likely to be derived from employment as an employed 
earner to be taken into account must, subject to paragraph 40(5) and Schedule 5 (sums to be 
disregarded from earnings: pensioners), be his net earnings. 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) net earnings must, except where sub-paragraph (5) applies, 
be calculated by taking into account the gross earnings of the applicant from that employment 
over the assessment period, less— 

(a) any amount deducted from those earnings by way of— 
(i)income tax; 
(ii)primary Class 1 contributions under the SSCBA; 

(b) one-half of any sum paid by the applicant by way of a contribution towards an 
occupational pension scheme; 

(c) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (4) in respect of any 
qualifying contribution payable by the applicant; and 

(d) where those earnings include a payment which is payable under any enactment having 
effect in Northern Ireland and which corresponds to statutory sick pay, statutory 
maternity pay, ordinary or additional statutory paternity pay or statutory adoption pay, 
any amount deducted from those earnings by way of any contributions which are payable 
under any enactment having effect in Northern Ireland and which correspond to primary 
Class 1 contributions under the SSCBA. 

(3) In this paragraph “qualifying contribution” means any sum which is payable periodically as a 
contribution towards a personal pension scheme. 

(4) The amount in respect of any qualifying contribution is to be calculated by multiplying the daily 
amount of the qualifying contribution by the number equal to the number of days in the 
assessment period; and for the purposes of this paragraph the daily amount of the qualifying 
contribution is to be determined— 

(a) where the qualifying contribution is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of the 
qualifying contribution by 12 and dividing the product by 365; 

(b) in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying contribution by the number 
equal to the number of days in the period to which the qualifying contribution relates. 

(5) Where the earnings of an applicant are determined under paragraph 40(2)(b) (calculation of 
weekly income: pensioners) his net earnings is to be calculated by taking into account those 
earnings over the assessment period, less— 

(a) an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by applying to 
those earnings the basic rate of tax applicable to the assessment period less only the 
personal relief to which the applicant is entitled under sections 35 to 37 the Income Tax 
Act 2007 (personal allowances) as is appropriate to his circumstances but, if the 
assessment period is less than a year, the earnings to which the basic rate of tax is to be 
applied and the amount of the personal relief deductible under this sub-paragraph is to 
be calculated on a pro rata basis; 

(b) an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that would be 
payable by him under the SSCBA in respect of those earnings if such contributions were 
payable; and 

(c) one-half of any sum which would be payable by the applicant by way of a contribution 
towards an occupational or personal pension scheme if the earnings so estimated were 
actual earnings. 

Calculation of earnings of self-employed earners: pensioners 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

39 Page 76



       

 

               
       

        
        
               

      
        

    
 

           
      

          
 

                
          

 
     

 
         

         
 

       
                 

     
      

              
                  

  
            

          
    

          
          

  
       

  
   
          
          

        
       

   
             

              
        

   
             

              
      

      
     

      
             

     
   

 
   

 
            

          
        
            

   
 

43.—(1) Where the earnings of an applicant who is a pensioner consist of earnings from employment 
as a self-employed earner, the weekly amount of his earnings is to be determined by reference 
to his average weekly earnings from that employment— 

(a) over a period of one year; or 
(b) where the applicant has recently become engaged in that employment or there has been 

a change which is likely to affect the normal pattern of business, over such other period 
(“computation period”) as may, in the particular case, enable the weekly amount of his 
earnings to be determined more accurately. 

(2) For the purposes of determining the weekly amount of earnings of an applicant to whom sub-
paragraph (1)(b) applies, his earnings over the computation period are to be divided by the 
number equal to the number of days in that period and the product multiplied by 7. 

(3) The period over which the weekly amount of an applicant’s earnings is calculated in accordance 
with this paragraph is to be his assessment period. 

Earnings of self-employed earners: pensioners 

44.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), “earnings”, in the case of employment as a self-employed 
earner who is a pensioner, means the gross income of the employment. 

(2) “Earnings” in the case of employment as a self-employed earner does not include— 
(a) where an applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and he provides in that dwelling board 

and lodging accommodation for which payment is made, those payments; 
(b) any payment made by a local authority to an applicant— 

(i)with whom a person is accommodated by virtue of arrangements made under section 22C 
or 23(2)(a) of the Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 26(1) of the Children 
(Scotland) Act 1995; or 
(ii)with whom a local authority fosters a child under the Looked After Children (Scotland) 
Regulations 2009 or who is a kinship carer under those Regulations; 

(c) any payment made by a voluntary organisation in accordance with section 59(1)(a) of the 
Children Act 1989 (provision of accommodation by voluntary organisations); 

(d) any payment made to the applicant or his partner for a person (“the person concerned”) who 
is not normally a member of the applicant’s household but is temporarily in his care, by— 
(i) a local authority but excluding payments of housing benefit made in respect of the person 

concerned; 
(ii) a voluntary organisation; 
(iii) the person concerned pursuant to section 26(3A) of the National Assistance Act 1948; 
(iv) the National Health Service Commissioning Board or a clinical commissioning group 

established under section 14D of the National Health Service Act 2006; or 
(v) a Local Health Board established under section 11 of the National Health Service (Wales) 

Act 2006; 
(vi) the persons concerned where the payment is for the provision of accommodation to meet 

that person’s needs for care and support under section 35 or 36 of the Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 (respectively, duty and power to meet care and support 
needs of an adult); 

(da) any payment or part of a payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 26A 
of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (duty to provide continuing care) to a person (“A”) which 
A passes on to the applicant where A— 

(i) was formerly in the applicant’s care; 
(ii) is aged 16 or over; and 
(iii) continues to live with the applicant; 

(db) any payments made to an applicant under section 73(1)(b) of the Children and Young People 
(Scotland) Act 2014 (kinship care assistance: further provisions 

(e) any sports award. 

Notional income: pensioners 

45.—(1) An applicant who is a pensioner is to be treated as possessing— 
(a) subject to sub-paragraph (2), the amount of any retirement pension income— 

(i)for which no claim has been made; and 
(ii)to which he might expect to be entitled if a claim for it were made; 

(b) income from an occupational pension scheme which the applicant elected to defer. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

40 Page 77



       

 

         
        
       
        

  
 

         
                  

   
               

    
               

       
 

      
  

             
  

            
   

               
     

                
           

       
 

         
       

    
 

                
              

       
 

              
               

        
            

  
 

        
   

 
          

        
        

 
            

                 
          

            
         

 
             

        
 

             
       

  
 

                    
                    

           

(2) Sub-paragraph (1)(a) does not apply to the following where entitlement has been deferred— 
(a) a Category A or Category B retirement pension payable under sections 43 to 55 of the SSCBA; 
(b) a shared additional pension payable under section 55A of the SSCBA; 
(c) graduated retirement benefit payable under sections 36 and 37 of the National Insurance Act 

1965. 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), entitlement has been deferred— 
(a) in the case of a Category A or Category B pension, in the circumstances specified in section 

55(3) of the SSCBA; 
(b) in the case of a shared additional pension, in the circumstances specified in section 55C(3) 

of the SSCBA; and 
(c) in the case of graduated retirement benefit, in the circumstances specified in section 36(4) 

and (4A) of the National Insurance Act 1965. 

(4) This sub-paragraph applies where a person who has attained the qualifying age for state pension 
credit— 
(a) is entitled to money purchase benefits under an occupational pension scheme or a personal 

pension scheme; 
(b) fails to purchase an annuity with the funds available in that scheme; and 
(c) either— 

(i)defers in whole or in part the payment of any income which would have been payable to 
him by his pension fund holder, or 
(ii)fails to take any necessary action to secure that the whole of any income which would be 
payable to him by his pension fund holder upon his applying for it, is so paid, or 
(iii)income withdrawal is not available to him under that scheme. 

(5) Where sub-paragraph (4) applies, the amount of any income foregone is to be treated as possessed 
by that person, but only from the date on which it could be expected to be acquired were an 
application for it to be made. 

(6) The amount of any income foregone in a case where sub-paragraph (4)(c)(i) or (ii) applies is to be 
the maximum amount of income which may be withdrawn from the fund and must be determined 
by the authority, taking account of information provided by the pension fund holder. 

(7) The amount of any income foregone in a case where sub-paragraph (4)(c)(iii) applies is to be the 
income that the applicant could have received without purchasing an annuity had the funds held 
under the relevant scheme been held under a personal pension scheme or occupational pension 
scheme where income withdrawal was available and is to be determined in the manner specified 
in sub-paragraph (6). 

(8) In sub-paragraph (4), “money purchase benefits” has the same meaning as in the Pension Schemes 
Act 1993. 

(9) Subject to sub-paragraphs (10) and (12), a person is to be treated as possessing income of which 
he has deprived himself for the purpose of securing entitlement to a reduction under this scheme 
or increasing the amount of the reduction. 

(10) Sub-paragraph (9) does not apply in respect of the amount of an increase of pension or benefit 
where a person, having made an election in favour of that increase of pension or benefit under 
Schedule 5 or 5A to the SSCBA or under Schedule 1 to the Social Security (Graduated Retirement 
Benefit) Regulations 2005, changes that election in accordance with regulations made under 
Schedule 5 or 5A to that Act in favour of a lump sum. 

(11) In sub-paragraph (10), “lump sum” means a lump sum under Schedule 5 or 5A to the SSCBA or 
under Schedule 1 to the Social Security (Graduated Retirement Benefit) Regulations 2005. 

(12) Sub-paragraph (9) does not apply in respect of any amount of income other than earnings, or 
earnings of an employed earner, arising out of the applicant’s participation in a service user 
group. 

(13) Where an applicant is in receipt of any benefit under the benefit Acts and the rate of that benefit 
is altered with effect from a date on or after 1st April in any year but not more than 14 days 
thereafter, the authority must treat the applicant as possessing such benefit at the altered rate 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

41 Page 78



       

 

             
              

 
                   

  
      

      
         

          
       

           
               

   
 

           
  

      
      

             
        

 
       

   
 

  
 

               
                 

  
 

            
           

       
   

         
         

 
                  

   
               

        
 

             
        

    
 

   
 

      
 

               
      

      
              

       
       
       

               
           

      
   

 
                

    

from either 1st April or the first Monday in April in that year, whichever date the authority 
selects to apply, to the date on which the altered rate is to take effect. 

(14) In the case of an applicant who has, or whose partner has, an award of state pension credit 
comprising only the savings credit, where the authority treats the applicant as possessing any 
benefit at the altered rate in accordance with sub-paragraph (13), the authority must— 
(a) determine the income and capital of that applicant in accordance with paragraph 36(1) 

(calculation of applicant’s income in savings credit only cases: pensioners) where the 
calculation or estimate of that income and capital is altered with effect from a date on or 
after 1st April in any year but not more than 14 days thereafter; and 

(b) treat that applicant as possessing such income and capital at the altered rate by reference 
to the date selected by the relevant authority to apply in its area, for the purposes of 
establishing the period referred to in sub-paragraph (13). 

(15) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (9), a person is not to be regarded as depriving himself of 
income where— 
(a) his rights to benefits under a registered pension scheme are extinguished and in 

consequence of this he receives a payment from the scheme, and 
(b) that payment is a trivial commutation lump sum within the meaning given by paragraph 7 

of Schedule 29 to the Finance Act 2004. 

(16) In sub-paragraph (15), “registered pension scheme” has the meaning given in section 150(2) of 
the Finance Act 2004. 

Income paid to third parties: pensioners. 

46.—(1) Any payment of income, other than a payment specified in sub-paragraph (2) or (3), to a 
third party in respect of an applicant who is a pensioner is to be treated as possessed by the 
applicant. 

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in respect of a payment of income made under an occupational 
pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other periodical payment made under a personal 
pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension Protection Fund where— 
(a) a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of whom the payment 

has been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that person is subject to sequestration or a 
judicial factor has been appointed on that person’s estate under section 41 of the Solicitors 
(Scotland) Act 1980; 

(b) the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person acting on behalf of the 
creditors; and 

(c) the person referred to in paragraph (a) and his partner does not possess, or is not treated as 
possessing, any other income apart from that payment. 

(3) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in respect of any payment of income other than earnings, or 
earnings derived from employment as an employed earner, arising out of the applicant’s 
participation in a service user group. 

CHAPTER 5 Income: persons who are not pensioners. 

Average weekly earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners. 

47.—(1) Where the income of an applicant who is not a pensioner consists of earnings from 
employment as an employed earner his average weekly earnings must be estimated by reference 
to his earnings from that employment— 
(a) over a period immediately preceding the reduction week in which the application is made 

or treated as made and being a period of— 
(i)5 weeks, if he is paid weekly; or 
(ii)2 months, if he is paid monthly; or 

(b) whether or not paragraph (a)(i) or (ii) applies, where an applicant’s earnings fluctuate, over 
such other period preceding the reduction week in which the application is made or treated 
as made as may, in any particular case, enable his average weekly earnings to be estimated 
more accurately. 

(2) Where the applicant has been in his employment for less than the period specified in sub-
paragraph (1)(a)(i) or (ii)— 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

42 Page 79



       

 

                   
         

     
   

 
               

                
      

          
 

        
                   

          
                 

    
       

                 
              

     
         

      
 

 
       

               
 

          
     

                    
          

                 
     

        
                 

              
          

                   
 

      
 

               
      

         
      

  
 

        
          

 
     

 
                 

       
           

     
     
      

 
  

       
 

        
               

 

(a) if he has received any earnings for the period that he has been in that employment and those 
earnings are likely to represent his average weekly earnings from that employment his 
average weekly earnings must be estimated by reference to those earnings; 

(b) in any other case, the authority must estimate the applicant’s average weekly earnings. 

(3) Where the amount of an applicant’s earnings changes the authority must estimate his average 
weekly earnings by reference to his likely earnings from the employment over such period as is 
appropriate in order that his average weekly earnings may be estimated accurately but the length 
of the period must not in any case exceed 52 weeks. 

(3A) Income calculated pursuant to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) must be taken into account---
(a) in the case of an application, on the date on which the application was made or treated as 

made, and the first day of each reduction week thereafter; 
(b) in the case of an application or a reduction under a scheme where the applicant commences 

employment, the first day of each reduction week following the date the applicant 
commences that employment and the first day of each reduction week thereafter; or 

(c) in the case of an application or a reduction under a scheme where the applicant’s average 
weekly earnings from employment change, the first day of the reduction week following the 
date the applicant’s earnings from employment change so as to require calculation under 
this paragraph, and the first day of each reduction week thereafter, 
regardless of whether those earnings were actually received in that reduction week 
thereafter, 

(4) For the purposes of this paragraph the applicant’s earnings are to be calculated in accordance 
with paragraphs 51 and 52 (earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners). 

(4A) An applicant’s earnings from employment as an employed earner not calculated pursuant to sub-
paragraphs (2) and (3) must be taken into account---
(a) in the case of an application, on the date on which the application was made or treated as 

made, and the first day of each reduction week thereafter; 
(b) in the case of an application or a reduction under a scheme where the applicant commences 

employment, the first day of the reduction week following the date the applicant commences 
that employment and the first day of each reduction week thereafter; or 

(c) in the case of an application or a reduction under a scheme where the applicant’s average 
weekly earnings from employment change, the first day of the reduction week following the 
date of the change, and the beginning of each reduction week thereafter, 

regardless of whether those earnings were actually received in that reduction week. 

Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners: persons who are not pensioners. 

48.—(1) Where the income of an applicant who is not a pensioner consists of earnings from 
employment as a self-employed earner his average weekly earnings must be estimated by 
reference to his earnings from that employment over such period as is appropriate in order that 
his average weekly earnings may be estimated accurately but the length of the period must not 
in any case exceed a year. 

(2) For the purposes of this paragraph the applicant’s earnings must be calculated in accordance with 
paragraphs 53, 61 and 62 (earnings, and net profit, of self-employed earners). 

Average weekly income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners. 

49.—(1) The income of an applicant who is not a pensioner which does not consist of earnings must, 
except where sub-paragraph (2) applies, be estimated over such period as is appropriate in order 
that his average weekly income may be estimated accurately but the length of the period must 
not in any case exceed 52 weeks; and nothing in this paragraph authorises an authority to 
disregard any such income other than that specified in Schedule 8 (sums disregarded in the 
calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners). 

(2) The period over which any benefit under the benefit Acts is to be taken into account is to be the 
period in respect of which that benefit is payable. 

(3) For the purposes of this paragraph income other than earnings is to be calculated in accordance 
with paragraph 54 (calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners). 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

43 Page 80



       

 

        
 

           
             

           
             
        

                   
    

                 
         

 
  

      
      

    
 

      
 

         
              

   
   
        

       
       

 
   

  
     
      

      
  

            
             

          
       

         
       

            
       

       
   

   
    

  
       

          
   

          
                 

     
 

      
        
        

     
    
      

   
 

          
  

 

Calculation of weekly income of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners. 

50.—(1) For the purposes of paragraphs 47 (average weekly earnings of employed earners), 49 
(average weekly income other than earnings) and 59 (calculation of average weekly income from 
tax credits), where the period in respect of which a payment is made— 
(a) does not exceed a week, the weekly amount is to be the amount of that payment; 
(b) exceeds a week, the weekly amount is to be determined— 

(i) in a case where that period is a month, by multiplying the amount of the payment by 12 
and dividing the product by 52; 

(ii) in any other case, by dividing the amount of the payment by the number equal to the 
number of days in the period to which it relates and multiplying the product by 7. 

(2) For the purposes of paragraph 48 (average weekly earnings of self-employed earners) the weekly 
amount of earnings of an applicant is to be determined by dividing his earnings over the 
assessment period by the number equal to the number of days in that period and multiplying the 
product by 7. 

Earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners. 

51.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), “earnings”, in the case of employment as an employed earner 
of a person who is not a pensioner, means any remuneration or profit derived from that 
employment and includes— 
(a) any bonus or commission; 
(b) any payment in lieu of remuneration except any periodic sum paid to an applicant on 

account of the termination of his employment by reason of redundancy; 
(c) any payment in lieu of notice or any lump sum payment intended as compensation for the 

loss of employment but only in so far as it represents loss of income; 
(d) any holiday pay except any payable more than 4 weeks after termination or interruption of 

the employment; 
(e) any payment by way of a retainer; 
(f) any payment made by the applicant’s employer in respect of expenses not wholly, 

exclusively, and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment, 
including any payment made by the applicant’s employer in respect of— 

(i)travelling expenses incurred by the applicant between his home and place of employment; 
(ii)expenses incurred by the applicant under arrangements made for the care of a member 
of his family owing to the applicant’s absence from home; 

(g) any award of compensation made under section 112(4) or 117(3)(a) of the Employment 
Rights Act 1996 (remedies and compensation for unfair dismissal); 

(h) any payment or remuneration made under section 28, 34, 64, 68 or 70 of the Employment 
Rights Act 1996 (right to guarantee payments, remuneration on suspension on medical or 
maternity grounds, complaints to employment tribunals); 

(i) any such sum as is referred to in section 112 of the SSCBA (certain sums to be earnings for 
social security purposes); 

(j) any statutory sick pay, statutory maternity pay, statutory paternity pay or statutory 
adoption pay, or a corresponding payment under any enactment having effect in Northern 
Ireland; 

(k) any remuneration paid by or on behalf of an employer to the applicant who for the time 
being is on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave or is absent from work 
because he is ill; 

(l) the amount of any payment by way of a non-cash voucher which has been taken into account 
in the computation of a person’s earnings in accordance with Part 5 of Schedule 3 to the 
Social Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001. 

(2) Earnings does not include— 
(a) subject to sub-paragraph (3), any payment in kind; 
(b) any payment in respect of expenses wholly, exclusively, and necessarily incurred in the 

performance of the duties of the employment; 
(c) any occupational pension; 
(d) any payment in respect of expenses arising out of the applicant’s participation in a service 

user group. 

(3) Sub-paragraph (2)(a) does not apply in respect of any non-cash voucher referred to in sub-
paragraph (1)(l). 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

44 Page 81



       

 

         
 

          
                  

      
     

 
               

                 
   

 
           

         
      

      
  
       

        
  

        
   

               
             

       
         

  
 

               
   

 
                

     
       

   
              

      
                

              
 

              
               
     

           
                  

            
                  

                   
         

     
       

       
           

         
  

     
          
 

 
      

 
         

           
 

Calculation of net earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners. 

52.—(1) For the purposes of paragraph 47 (average weekly earnings of employed earners: persons 
who are not pensioners), the earnings of an applicant who is not a pensioner derived or likely to 
be derived from employment as an employed earner to be taken into account must, subject to 
sub-paragraph (2), be his net earnings. 

(2) There is to be disregarded from an applicant’s net earnings, any sum, where applicable, specified 
in paragraphs 1 to 16 of Schedule 7 (sums disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who 
are not pensioners). 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) net earnings must, except where sub-paragraph (6) applies, 
be calculated by taking into account the gross earnings of the applicant from that employment 
over the assessment period, less— 
(a) any amount deducted from those earnings by way of— 

(i)income tax; 
(ii)primary Class 1 contributions under the SSCBA; 

(b) one-half of any sum paid by the applicant by way of a contribution towards an occupational 
pension scheme; 

(c) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (5) in respect of any 
qualifying contribution payable by the applicant; and 

(d) where those earnings include a payment which is payable under any enactment having effect 
in Northern Ireland and which corresponds to statutory sick pay, statutory maternity pay, 
statutory paternity pay or statutory adoption pay, any amount deducted from those earnings 
by way of any contributions which are payable under any enactment having effect in Northern 
Ireland and which correspond to primary Class 1 contributions under the SSCBA. 

(4) In this paragraph “qualifying contribution” means any sum which is payable periodically as a 
contribution towards a personal pension scheme. 

(5) The amount in respect of any qualifying contribution is to be calculated by multiplying the daily 
amount of the qualifying contribution by the number equal to the number of days in the 
assessment period; and for the purposes of this paragraph the daily amount of the qualifying 
contribution is to be determined— 
(a) where the qualifying contribution is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of the 

qualifying contribution by 12 and dividing the product by 365; 
(b) in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying contribution by the number equal 

to the number of days in the period to which the qualifying contribution relates. 

(6) Where the earnings of an applicant are estimated under paragraph 47(2)(b) (average weekly 
earnings of employed earners: classes D to H), his net earnings is to be calculated by taking into 
account those earnings over the assessment period, less— 

(a) an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by applying to 
those earnings the basic rate or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of 
tax applicable to the assessment period less only the personal relief to which the applicant 
is entitled under section 35, 36 or 37 of the Income Tax Act 2007 as is personal reliefs to 
which the applicant is entitled under Chapters 2, 3 and 3A of Part 3 of the Income Tax Act 
2007 as are; (personal allowances) as is appropriate to his circumstances but, if the 
assessment period is less than a year, the earnings to which the basic rate or in the case of 
a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax is to be applied and the amount of the 
personal relief deductible under this sub-paragraph is to be calculated on a pro rata basis; 
(b) an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that would be 
payable by him under the SSCBA in respect of those earnings if such contributions were 
payable; and 
(c) one-half of any sum which would be payable by the applicant by way of a contribution 
towards an occupational or personal pension scheme, if the earnings so estimated were actual 
earnings 

Earnings of self-employed earners: persons who are not pensioners. 

53.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), “earnings”, in the case of employment as a self-employed 
earner of a person who is not a pensioner, means the gross income of the employment. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

45 Page 82



       

 

    
           

          
             

    
 

      
          

        
      

         
           

      
                 
        

 
             

              
               

   
             

     
           

       
    

 
 

        
 

         
        

            
            
    

 
              

      
 

                   
           

  
 

                   
       

         
  

 
                    

          
      

        
     

 
       

       
              

    
 

                  
        

        

 
 

(2) “Earnings” does not include any payment to which paragraph 31 or 32 of Schedule 8 refers 
(payments in respect of a person accommodated with the applicant under arrangements made 
by a local authority or voluntary organisation and payments made to the applicant by a health 
authority, local authority, or voluntary organisation in respect of persons temporarily in the 
applicant’s care) nor does it include any sports award. 

(3) This paragraph applies to— 
(a) royalties or other sums paid as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any 

copyright, design, patent, or trade mark; or 
(b) any payment in respect of any— 

(i)book registered under the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; or 
(ii)work made under any international public lending right scheme that is analogous to the 
Public Lending Right Scheme 1982, 
where the applicant is the first owner of the copyright, design, patent or trade mark, or an 
original contributor to the book or work concerned. 

(4) Where the applicant’s earnings consist of any items to which sub-paragraph (3) applies, those 
earnings must be taken into account over a period equal to such number of weeks as is equal to 
the number obtained (and any fraction is to be treated as a corresponding fraction of a week) by 
dividing the earnings by— 

(a) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant would have been 
entitled had the payment not been made, plus; 

(b) an amount equal to the total of the sums which would fall to be disregarded from the 
payment under Schedule 7 (sums disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who 
are not pensioners) as appropriate in the applicant’s case. 

Calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners. 

54.—(1) For the purposes of paragraph 49 (average weekly income other than earnings: persons who 
are not pensioners), the income of an applicant who is not a pensioner which does not consist 
of earnings to be taken into account must, subject to sub-paragraphs (2) to (8), be his gross 
income and any capital treated as income under paragraph 55 (capital treated as income: 
persons who are not pensioners). 

(2) There is to be disregarded from the calculation of an applicant’s gross income under sub-
paragraph (1), any sum, where applicable, specified in Schedule 8. 

(3) Where the payment of any benefit under the benefit Acts is subject to any deduction by way of 
recovery the amount to be taken into account under sub-paragraph (1) must be the gross amount 
payable. 

(4) Where the applicant or, where he is a member of a couple, his partner is receiving a contributory 
employment and support allowance and that benefit has been reduced under regulation 63 of 
the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008, the amount of that benefit to be taken 
into account is the amount as if it had not been reduced. 

(5) Where an award of any working tax credit or child tax credit under the Tax Credits Act 2002 is 
subject to a deduction by way of recovery of an overpayment of working tax credit or child tax 
credit which arose in a previous tax year the amount to be taken into account under sub-
paragraph (1) is to be the amount of working tax credit or child tax credit awarded less the 
amount of that deduction. 

(6) Sub-paragraphs (7) and (8) apply where— 
(a) a relevant payment has been made to a person in an academic year; and 
(b) that person abandons, or is dismissed from, his course of study before the payment to him of 

the final instalment of the relevant payment. 

(7) Where a relevant payment is made quarterly, the amount of a relevant payment to be taken into 
account for the assessment period for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) in respect of a person 
to whom sub-paragraph (7) applies, is to be calculated by applying the formula— 

Where; 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

46 Page 83



       

 

                
           

          
   

              
                 

           
               

              
           
     

          
   

           
 

                   
           

           
     

               
             

       
 

   
     

   
                

         
            

          
                   

   
     

  
            

          
            

   
       

       
     
     
     
     

    
        

 
        

  
         
                   

      
         

             
       

 
      

 
               

      
          

    
    

 

A = the total amount of the relevant payment which that person would have received had he 
remained a student until the last day of the academic term in which he abandoned, or was 
dismissed from, his course, less any deduction under paragraph 81(5) (costs of travel, books, 
and equipment); 

B = the number of reduction weeks from the reduction week immediately following that which 
includes the first day of that academic year to the reduction week which includes the day on 
which the person abandoned, or was dismissed from, his course; 

C = the weekly amount of the relevant payment, before the application of the £10 disregard, 
which would have been taken into account as income under paragraph 81(2) (treatment of 
student loans) had the person not abandoned or been dismissed from, his course and, in the 
case of a person who was not entitled to a reduction under this scheme immediately before 
he abandoned or was dismissed from his course, had that person, at that time, been entitled 
to housing benefit; 

D = the number of reduction weeks in the assessment period. 

(8) Where a relevant payment is made by two or more instalments in a quarter, the amount of a 
relevant payment to be taken into account for the assessment period for the purposes of sub-
paragraph (1) in respect of a person to whom sub-paragraph (7) applies, is to be calculated by 
applying the formula in sub-paragraph (8) but as if— 
A = the total amount of relevant payments which that person received, or would have received, 
from the first day of the academic year to the day the person abandoned the course, or was 
dismissed from it, less any deduction under paragraph 81(5). 

(9) In this paragraph— 
“academic year” and “student loan” have the same meanings as in Part 11 (students); 
“assessment period” means— 

(a) in a case where a relevant payment is made quarterly, the period beginning with the 
reduction week which includes the day on which the person abandoned, or was dismissed 
from, his course and ending with the reduction week which includes the last day of the last 
quarter for which an instalment of the relevant payment was payable to that person; 

(b) in a case where the relevant payment is made by two or more instalments in a quarter, the 
period beginning with the reduction week which includes the day on which the person 
abandoned, or was dismissed from, his course and ending with the reduction week which 
includes— 
(i) the day immediately before the day on which the next instalment of the relevant payment 
would have been due had the payments continued; or 
(ii) the last day of the last quarter for which an instalment of the relevant payment was 
payable to that person, 
whichever of those dates is earlier; 

“quarter” in relation to an assessment period means a period in that year beginning on— 
1st January and ending on 31st March; 
1st April and ending on 30th June; 
1st July and ending on 31st August; or 
1st September and ending on 31st December; 

“relevant payment” means either a student loan or an amount intended for the maintenance of 
dependants referred to in paragraph 76(7) or both. 

(10) For the avoidance of doubt there must be included as income to be taken into account under 
sub-paragraph (1)— 
(a) any payment to which paragraph 41(2) or 51(2) (payments not earnings) applies; or 
(b) in the case of an applicant who is receiving support under section 95 or 98 of the Immigration 

and Asylum Act 1999 including support provided by virtue of regulations made under 
Schedule 9 to that Act, the amount of such support provided in respect of essential living 
needs of the applicant and his dependants (if any) as is specified in regulations made under 
paragraph 3 of Schedule 8 to the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999. 

Capital treated as income: persons who are not pensioners. 

55.—(1) Any capital payable by instalments which are outstanding at the date on which the 
application is made or treated as made, or, at the date of any subsequent revision or 
supersession, must, if the aggregate of the instalments outstanding and the amount of the 
applicant’s capital otherwise calculated in accordance with Chapter 7 of this Part exceeds 
£16,000, be treated as income. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

47 Page 84



       

 

             
 

                   
 

               
    

 
                 

        
               

          
  

 
     

 
                 

        
        

 
       

   
         
      

             
    

         
      

       
            
    
      
      
      

                  
                

 
                

                 
              

           
       

         
                 

           
         

            
               

        
                

              
             

            
 

            
       

      
         

          
           

  
         

   
          
           

(2) Any payment received under an annuity is to be treated as income. 

(3) Any earnings to the extent that they are not a payment of income is to be treated as income. 

(4) Any Career Development Loan paid pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 
1973 is to be treated as income. 

(5) Where an agreement or court order provides that payments must be made to the applicant in 
consequence of any personal injury to the applicant and that such payments are to be made, 
wholly or partly, by way of periodic payments, any such periodic payments received by the 
applicant (but not a payment which is treated as capital by virtue of this Part), is to be treated 
as income. 

Notional income: persons who are not pensioners. 

56.—(1) An applicant who is not a pensioner is to be treated as possessing income of which he has 
deprived himself for the purpose of securing entitlement to a reduction under a council tax 
reduction scheme or increasing the amount of the reduction. 

(2) Except in the case of— 
(a) a discretionary trust; 
(b) a trust derived from a payment made in consequence of a personal injury; 
(c) a personal pension scheme, occupational pension scheme or a payment made by the Board 

of the Pension Protection Fund where the applicant has not attained the qualifying age for 
state pension credit; 

(d) any sum to which paragraph 50(2)(a) of Schedule 10 (capital disregards: persons who are not 
pensioners) applies which is administered in the way referred to in paragraph 50(1)(a); 

(e) any sum to which paragraph 51(a) of Schedule 10 refers; 
(f) rehabilitation allowance made under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973; 
(g) child tax credit; 
(h) working tax credit, or 
(i) any sum to which sub-paragraph (11) applies, 
(j) any income which would become available to the applicant upon application being made, but 

which has not been acquired by him, is to be treated as possessed by the applicant but only 
from the date on which it could be expected to be acquired were an application made. 

(3) Any payment of income, other than a payment of income specified in sub-paragraph (4), made— 
(a) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or a member of the family (but not a member 

of the third party’s family) must, where that payment is a payment of an occupational 
pension, a pension or other periodical payment made under a personal pension scheme or a 
payment made by the Board of the Pension Protection Fund, be treated as possessed by that 
single applicant or, as the case may be, by that member; 

(b) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or in respect of a member of the family (but 
not a member of the third party’s family) must, where it is not a payment referred to in 
paragraph (a), be treated as possessed by that single applicant or by that member to the 
extent that it is used for the food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of 
that single applicant or, as the case may be, of any member of that family or is used for any 
council tax or water charges for which that applicant or member is liable; 

(c) to a single applicant or a member of the family in respect of a third party (but not in respect 
of another member of that family) must be treated as possessed by that single applicant or, 
as the case may be, that member of the family to the extent that it is kept or used by him 
or used by or on behalf of any member of the family. 

(4) Sub-paragraph (3) does not apply in respect of a payment of income made— 
(a) under or by the Macfarlane Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust, the Macfarlane 

(Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, 
the Caxton Foundation, or the Independent Living Fund (2006); 

(b) pursuant to section 19(1)(a) of the Coal Industry Act 1994 (concessionary coal); 
(c) pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 in respect of a person’s 

participation— 
(i)in an employment programme specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) of the Jobseeker’s 
Allowance Regulations 1996(144); 
(ii)in a training scheme specified in regulation 75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations; 
(iii)in the Intense Activity Period specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(iv) of those Regulations; 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

48 Page 85

http://legislation.data.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2886/made/data.htm?wrap=true#f00144


       

 

            
   

          
   
   
      
          

                
    

              
         

       
 

                
   

              
             

 
                    

                    
           

             
             

 
      

     
              

   
            

          
  

 
      

              
                   

   
   

           
        

           
          
           

      
                

          
  

               
            

 
          

   
 

                
             

               
  

 
            

              
         

           
          

           

(iv)in a qualifying course within the meaning specified in regulation 17A(7) of those 
Regulations; or 
(v)in the Flexible New Deal specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(v) of those Regulations; 

(d) in respect of a person’s participation in the Work for Your Benefit Pilot Scheme; 
(e) in respect of a person’s participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme; 
(f) in respect of an applicant’s participation in the Employment, Skills, and Enterprise Scheme; 
(g) under an occupational pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other periodical payment 

made under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension 
Protection Fund where— 
(i)a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of whom the payment 
has been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that person is subject to sequestration or a 
judicial factor has been appointed on that person’s estate under section 41 of the Solicitors 
(Scotland) Act 1980; 
(ii)the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person acting on behalf of 
the creditors; and 
(iii)the person referred to in sub-paragraph (i) and any member of his family does not possess, 
or is not treated as possessing, any other income apart from that payment. 

(5) Where an applicant is in receipt of any benefit under the benefit Acts and the rate of that benefit 
is altered with effect from a date on or after 1st April in any year but not more than 14 days 
thereafter, the authority must treat the applicant as possessing such benefit at the altered rate 
from either 1st April or the first Monday in April in that year, whichever date the authority 
selects, to the date on which the altered rate is to take effect. 

(6) Subject to sub-paragraph (7), where— 
(a) an applicant performs a service for another person; and 
(b) that person makes no payment of earnings or pays less than that paid for a comparable 

employment in the area, 
the authority must treat the applicant as possessing such earnings (if any) as is reasonable for 
that employment unless the applicant satisfies the authority that the means of that person are 
insufficient for him to pay or to pay more for the service. 

(7) Sub-paragraph (6) does not apply— 
(a) to an applicant who is engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation or who is a volunteer 

if the authority is satisfied in any of those cases that it is reasonable for him to provide those 
services free of charge; or 

(b) in a case where the service is performed in connection with— 
(i)the applicant’s participation in an employment or training programme in accordance with 
regulation 19(1)(q) of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996, other than where the 
service is performed in connection with the applicant’s participation in the Intense Activity 
Period specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(iv) of those Regulations; or 
(ii)the applicant’s or the applicant’s partner’s participation in an employment or training 
programme as defined in regulation 19(3) of those Regulations for which a training allowance 
is not payable or, where such an allowance is payable, it is payable for the sole purpose of 
reimbursement of travelling or meal expenses to the person participating in that programme; 
or 

(c) to an applicant who is participating in a work placement approved by the Secretary of State 
(or a person providing services to the Secretary of State) before the placement starts. 

(8) In sub-paragraph (7)(c) “work placement” means practical work experience which is not 
undertaken in expectation of payment. 

(9) Where an applicant is treated as possessing any income under any of sub-paragraphs (1) to (8), 
the foregoing provisions of this Part apply for the purposes of calculating the amount of that 
income as if a payment had actually been made and as if it were actual income which he does 
possess. 

(10) Where an applicant is treated as possessing any earnings under sub-paragraph (6) the foregoing 
provisions of this Part apply for the purposes of calculating the amount of those earnings as if a 
payment had actually been made and as if they were actual earnings which he does possess 
except that paragraph 42(2) or 52(3) (calculation of net earnings of employed earners: pensioners 
and persons who are not pensioners, respectively) do not apply and his net earnings are to be 
calculated by taking into account those earnings which he is treated as possessing, less— 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

49 Page 86



       

 

         
       

              
       

        
         

        
         

  
       

      
 

             
         

  
 

            
 
      

 
           

    
       

    
         
   

              
  

          
          

              
            

        
          

 
         

               
              

     
               

        
 

          
                

   
                

   
 

   
 

               
     

   
   
                   

   
     

            
   

 
         

 
 

(a) an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by applying to those 
earnings the basic rate of tax applicable to the assessment period less only the personal relief 
to which the applicant is entitled under sections 35 to 37 of the Income Tax Act 2007 (personal 
allowances) as is appropriate to his circumstances; but, if the assessment period is less than 
a year, the earnings to which the basic rate of tax is to be applied and the amount of the 
personal relief deductible under this sub-paragraph is to be calculated on a pro rata basis; 

(b) an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that would be 
payable by him under the SSCBA in respect of those earnings if such contributions were 
payable; and 

(c) one-half of any sum payable by the applicant by way of a contribution towards an 
occupational or personal pension scheme. 

(11) Sub-paragraphs (1), (2), (3) and (6) do not apply in respect of any amount of income other than 
earnings, or earnings of an employed earner, arising out of the applicant participating as a 
service user. 

CHAPTER 6 Income: further provisions applying to pensioners and persons who are not 
pensioners. 
Calculation of income on a weekly basis 

57.—(1) Subject to paragraph 60 (disregard of changes in tax, etc.), the income of an applicant is to 
be calculated on a weekly basis— 
(a) by estimating the amount which is likely to be his average weekly income in accordance 

with this Part; 
(b) by adding to that amount, the weekly income calculated— 
(c) if the applicant is a pensioner, under paragraph 71 (tariff income: pensioners); 

a. (ii )if the applicant is a person who is not a pensioner, under paragraph 72 (tariff 
income: persons who are not pensioners); and 

(d) deducting from the sum of paragraphs (a) and (b) any relevant child care charges to which 
paragraph 58 (treatment of child care charges) applies from any earnings which form part 
of the average weekly income or, in a case where the conditions in sub-paragraph (2) are 
met, from those earnings plus whichever credit specified in paragraph (b) of that sub-
paragraph is appropriate, up to a maximum deduction in respect of the applicant’s family 
of whichever of the sums specified in sub-paragraph (3) applies in his case. 

(2) The conditions of this paragraph are that— 
(a) the applicant’s earnings which form part of his average weekly income are less than the 

lower of either his relevant child care charges or whichever of the deductions specified in 
sub-paragraph (3) otherwise applies in his case; and 

(b) that applicant or, if he is a member of a couple either the applicant or his partner, is in 
receipt of either working tax credit or child tax credit. 

(3) The maximum deduction to which sub-paragraph (1)(c) above refers is to be— 
(a) where the applicant’s family includes only one child in respect of whom relevant child care 

charges are paid, £175.00 per week; 
(b) where the applicant’s family includes more than one child in respect of whom relevant child 

care charges are paid, £300 per week. 

Treatment of child care charges 

58.—(1) This paragraph applies where an applicant (within the meaning in this paragraph) is incurring 
relevant child care charges and— 
(a) is a lone parent and is engaged in remunerative work; 
(b) is a member of a couple both of whom are engaged in remunerative work; or 
(c) is a member of a couple where one member is engaged in remunerative work and the other— 

(i) is incapacitated; 
(ii) is an in-patient in hospital; or 
(iii)is in prison (whether serving a custodial sentence or remanded in custody awaiting trial 
or sentence). 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) and subject to sub-paragraph (4), a person to whom sub-
paragraph 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

50 Page 87



       

 

              
  

   
               

  
   
                

       
  

                
            

 
      

  
              

         
      

            
  

 
               

                  
          

 
             

     
 

              
                    

      
      

                   
      

     
 

                    
    

   
               

      
     

   
 

         
           

              
  

   
              

  
   

        
      

            
          

            
      
   

   
         

  
      

                 
   

(3) applies must be treated as engaged in remunerative work for a period not exceeding 28 weeks 
during which he— 

(a) is paid statutory sick pay; 
(b) is paid short-term incapacity benefit at the lower rate under sections 30A to 30E of the 

SSCBA; 
(c) is paid an employment and support allowance; 
(d) is paid income support on the grounds of incapacity for work under regulation 4ZA of, 

and paragraph 7 or 14 of Schedule 1B to, the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987; 
or 

(e) is credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited capability for 
work under regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) Regulations 1975. 

This sub-paragraph applies to a person who was engaged in remunerative work immediately 
before— 

(a) the first day of the period in respect of which he was first paid statutory sick pay, short-
term incapacity benefit, an employment and support allowance or income support on the 
grounds of incapacity for work; or 

(b) the first day of the period in respect of which earnings are credited, 
as the case may be. 

(4) In a case to which sub-paragraph (2)(d) or (e) applies, the period of 28 weeks begins on the day 
on which the person is first paid income support or on the first day of the period in respect of 
which earnings are credited, as the case may be. 

(5) Relevant child care charges are those charges for care to which sub-paragraphs (6) and (7) apply 
and are to be calculated on a weekly basis in accordance with sub-paragraph (10). 

(6) The charges are paid by the applicant for care which is provided— 
(a) in the case of any child of the applicant’s family who is not disabled, in respect of the period 

beginning on that child’s date of birth and ending on the day preceding the first Monday in 
September following that child’s fifteenth birthday; or 

(b) in the case of any child of the applicant’s family who is disabled, in respect of the period 
beginning on that person’s date of birth and ending on the day preceding the first Monday in 
September following that person’s sixteenth birthday. 

(7) The charges are paid for care which is provided by one or more of the care providers listed in sub-
paragraph (8) and are not paid— 
(a) in respect of the child’s compulsory education; 
(b) by an applicant to a partner or by a partner to an applicant in respect of any child for whom 

either or any of them is responsible in accordance with paragraph 7 (circumstances in which 
a person is treated as responsible or not responsible for another); or 

(c) in respect of care provided by a relative of the child wholly or mainly in the child’s home. 

(8) The care to which sub-paragraph (7) refers may be provided— 
(a) (out of school hours, by a school on school premises or by a local authority— 

(i)for children who are not disabled in respect of the period beginning on their eighth birthday 
and ending on the day preceding the first Monday in September following their fifteenth 
birthday; or 
(ii)for children who are disabled in respect of the period beginning on their eighth birthday 
and ending on the day preceding the first Monday in September following their sixteenth 
birthday; or 

(b) by a child care provider approved in accordance with the Tax Credit (New Category of Child 
Care Provider) Regulations 1999; or 

(c) by persons registered under Part 2 of the Children and Families (Wales) Measure 2010; or 
(d) by a person who is excepted from registration under Part 2 of the Children and Families 

(Wales) Measure 2010 because the child care that person provides is in a school or 
establishment referred to in article 11, 12 or 14 of the Child Minding and Day Care Exceptions 
(Wales) Order 2010; or 

(e) by— 
(i)persons registered under section 59(1) of the Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010; 
or 
(ii)local authorities registered under section 83(1) of that Act, 
where the care provided is child minding or day care of children within the meaning of that 
Act; or 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

51 Page 88



       

 

         
  

                 
          

                  
       

          
                  

       
         

   
               

           
         

                 
   

          
        

           
       

            
   

             
 

           
          

 
               

   
               
  

 
            

                 
                  

           
             

              
     
    

          
          

        
           

           
               

        
          

     
           

   
  

            
      

         
     

      
           

    
                

          
        

                 

(f) by a person prescribed in regulations made pursuant to section 12(4) of the Tax Credits Act 
2002; or 

(g) by a person who is registered under Chapter 2 or 3 of Part 3 of the Childcare Act 2006; or 
(h) by any of the schools mentioned in section 34(2) of the Childcare Act 2006 in circumstances 

where the requirement to register under Chapter 2 of Part 3 of that Act does not apply by 
virtue of section 34(2) of that Act; or 

(i) by any of the schools mentioned in section 53(2) of the Childcare Act 2006 in circumstances 
where the requirement to register under Chapter 3 of Part 3 of that Act does not apply by 
virtue of section 53(2) of that Act; or 

(j) by any of the establishments mentioned in section 18(5) of the Childcare Act 2006 in 
circumstances where the care is not included in the meaning of “childcare” for the purposes 
of Part 1 and Part 3 of that Act by virtue of that subsection; or 

(k) by a foster parent or kinship carer under the Fostering Services Regulations 2011, the 
Fostering Services (Wales) Regulations 2003 or the Looked After Children (Scotland) 
Regulations 2009 in relation to a child other than one whom the foster parent is fostering or 
kinship carer is looking after; or 

(l) by a provider of personal care within the meaning of paragraph 1 of Schedule 1 to the Health 
and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2010 and being a regulated 
activity prescribed by those Regulations or by a person who is employed, or engaged under a 
contract for services, to provide care and support by the provider of a domiciliary support 
service within the meaning of Part 1 of the Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) 
Act 2016; or 

(m) by a person who is not a relative of the child wholly or mainly in the child’s home. 

(9) In sub-paragraphs (6) and (8)(a), “the first Monday in September” means the Monday which first 
occurs in the month of September in any year. 

(10) Relevant child care charges must be estimated over such period, not exceeding a year, as is 
appropriate in order that the average weekly charge may be estimated accurately having regard 
to information as to the amount of that charge provided by the child minder or person providing 
the care. 

(11) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(c) the other member of a couple is incapacitated where— 
(a) the applicant is a pensioner and the other member of the couple is aged not less than 80; 
(b) the applicant is a pensioner and the other member of the couple is aged less than 80, and— 

(i)the additional condition specified in paragraph 10 of Schedule 3 (additional condition for 
the disability premium) to this scheme is treated as applying in his case; and 
(ii)he satisfies that conditions or would satisfy it but for his being treated as capable of work 
by virtue of a determination made in accordance with regulations made under section 171E 
of the SSCBA; 

(c) the applicant is not a pensioner, the applicant’s applicable amount includes a disability 
premium on account of the other member’s incapacity or the support component or the work-
related activity component on account of his having limited capability for work; 

(d) the applicant is not a pensioner, the applicant’s applicable amount would include a disability 
premium on account of the other member’s incapacity but for that other member being 
treated as capable of work by virtue of a determination made in accordance with regulations 
made under section 171E of the SSCBA; 

(e) the applicant’s applicable amount would include the support component or the work-related 
activity component on account of the other member having limited capability for work but 
for that other member being treated as not having limited capability for work by virtue of a 
determination made in accordance with the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 
2008; 

(f) he is, or is treated as, incapable of work and has been so incapable, or has been so treated 
as incapable, of work in accordance with the provisions of, and regulations made under, Part 
12A of the SSCBA (incapacity for work) for a continuous period of not less than 196 days; and 
for this purpose, any two or more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 56 
days must be treated as one continuous period; 

(g) he is, or is treated as having, limited capability for work and has had, or been treated as 
having, limited capability for work in accordance with the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations 2008 for a continuous period of not less than 196 days and for this 
purpose any two or more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 84 days 
must be treated as one continuous period; 

(h) there is payable in respect of him one or more of the following pensions or allowances— 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

52 Page 89



       

 

         
   
        

        
         

  
  

         
            

              
       

    
  

        
                 

        
        

        
         

    
    

           
  

      
          

         
      

        
              

        
  

          
         

    
        

     
               

         
              

 
         

                
         

                   
  

 
         

                
          

              
        

 
              

              
      

           
  

      
            

        
        
             
        

      

(i)long-term incapacity benefit or short-term incapacity benefit at the higher rate under 
Schedule 4 to the SSCBA; 
(ii)attendance allowance under section 64 of the SSCBA; 
(iii)severe disablement allowance under section 68 of the SSCBA; 
(iv)disability living allowance under section 71 of the SSCBA; 
(v)personal independence payment; 
(vi)an AFIP; 
(vii)increase of disablement pension under section 104 of the SSCBA; 
(viii)a pension increase paid as part of a war disablement pension or under an industrial 
injuries scheme which is analogous to an allowance or increase of disablement pension under 
sub-paragraph (ii), (iv), (v) or (vii) above; 
(ix)main phase employment and support allowance; 
(x)adult disability payment 

(i) a pension or allowance to which sub-paragraph (vii) or (viii) of paragraph (h) above refers 
was payable on account of his incapacity but has ceased to be payable in consequence of his 
becoming a patient, which in this paragraph means a person (other than a person who is 
serving a sentence of imprisonment or detention in a youth custody institution) who is 
regarded as receiving free in-patient treatment within the meaning of regulation 2(4) and (5) 
of the Social Security (Hospital In-Patients) Regulations 2005; 

(j) an attendance allowance under section 64 of the SSCBA or disability living allowance would 
be payable to that person but for— 
(i)a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) of the SSCBA; 
or 
(ii)an abatement as a consequence of hospitalisation; 

(k) the daily living component of personal independence payment would be payable to that 
person but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 86 of the 
Welfare Reform Act 2012 (hospital in-patients); 

(l) an AFIP would be payable to that person but for any suspension of payment in accordance 
with any terms of the armed and reserve forces compensation scheme which allow for a 
suspension because a person is undergoing medical treatment in a hospital or similar 
institution; 

(m) paragraph (h), (i), (j) or (k) would apply to him if the legislative provisions referred to in 
those paragraphs were provisions under any corresponding enactment having effect in 
Northern Ireland; or 

(n) he has an invalid carriage or other vehicle provided to him by the Secretary of State or a 
clinical commissioning group under paragraph 9 of Schedule 1 to the National Health Service 
Act 2006 or under section 46 of the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 or provided 
by the Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety in Northern Ireland under 
Article 30(1) of the Health and Personal Social Services (Northern Ireland) Order 1972. 

(12) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (11), once sub-paragraph (11)(f) applies to the person, if he 
then ceases, for a period of 56 days or less, to be incapable, or to be treated as incapable, of 
work, that sub-paragraph is, on his again becoming so incapable, or so treated as incapable, of 
work at the end of that period, immediately thereafter to apply to him for so long as he remains 
incapable, or is treated as remaining incapable, of work. 

(13) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (11), once sub-paragraph (11)(g) applies to the person, if he 
then ceases, for a period of 84 days or less, to have, or to be treated as having, limited capability 
for work, that paragraph is, on his again having, or being treated as having, limited capability 
for work at the end of that period, immediately thereafter to apply to him for so long as he has, 
or is treated as having, limited capability for work. 

(14) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (6) and (8)(a), a person is disabled if he is a person— 
(a) to whom an attendance allowance or the care component of disability allowance is payable 

or would be payable but for— 
(i)a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) of the SSCBA; 
or 
(ii)an abatement as a consequence of hospitalisation; 

(b) to whom the daily living component of personal independence payment is payable or would 
be payable but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 86 
of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 (hospital in-patients); 

(ba)in respect of whom adult disability payment is payable or has ceased to be payable solely 
by virtue of regulation 28 (effect of admission to hospital on ongoing entitlement to Adult 
Disability Payment) of the DAWAP Regulations 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

53 Page 90



       

 

                 
               

        
         

                  
      

         
 

          
                  

     
                

   
           

  
       

       
          

        
  

 
        

        
     
                   

          
       

                   
           

        
        
    

 
     

     
      

     
        

 
   

     
        
      

 
      

 
            

 
                   

     
 

                 
       

  
                   

   
 

      
     

  
 

           
 

(c) who is registered as blind in a register compiled under section 29 of the National Assistance 
Act 1948 (welfare services) or, in Scotland, has been certified as blind and in consequence 
he is registered as blind in a register maintained by or on behalf of a council constituted 
under section 2 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1994; or 

(d) who ceased to be registered as blind in such a register within the period beginning 28 weeks 
before the first Monday in September following that person’s fifteenth birthday and ending 
on the day preceding that person’s sixteenth birthday. 

(15) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) a person on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption 
leave is to be treated as if he is engaged in remunerative work for the period specified in sub-
paragraph (16) (“the relevant period”) provided that— 

(a) in the week before the period of maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave began 
he was in remunerative work; 

(b) the applicant is incurring relevant child care charges within the meaning of sub-paragraph 
(5); and 

(c) he is entitled to either statutory maternity pay under section 164 of the SSCBA, ordinary 
statutory paternity pay by virtue of section 171ZA or 171ZB of that Act, additional statutory 
paternity pay by virtue of section 171ZEA or 171ZEB of that Act, statutory adoption pay by of 
section 171ZL of that Act, maternity allowance under section 35 of that Act or qualifying 
support. 

(16) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (15) the relevant period begins on the day on which the 
person’s maternity, paternity leave or adoption leave commences and ends on— 

(a) the date that leave ends; 
(b) if no child care element of working tax credit is in payment on the date that entitlement to 

maternity allowance, qualifying support, statutory maternity pay, ordinary or additional 
statutory paternity pay or statutory adoption pay ends, the date that entitlement ends; or 

(c) if a child care element of working tax credit is in payment on the date that entitlement to 
maternity allowance or qualifying support, statutory maternity pay, ordinary or additional 
statutory paternity pay or statutory adoption pay ends, the date that entitlement to that 
award of the child care element of the working tax credit ends, 

whichever occurs first. 

(17) In sub-paragraphs (15) and (16)— 
(a) “qualifying support” means income support to which that person is entitled by virtue of 

paragraph 14B of Schedule 1B to the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987; and 
(b) “child care element” of working tax credit means the element of working tax credit 

prescribed under section 12 of the Tax Credits Act 2002 (child care element). 

(18) In this paragraph “applicant” does not include an applicant— 
(a) who has, or 
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has, 
(c) an award of universal credit. 

Calculation of average weekly income from tax credits 

59.—(1) This paragraph applies where an applicant receives a tax credit. 

(2) Where this paragraph applies, the period over which a tax credit is to be taken into account is 
the period set out in sub-paragraph (3). 

(3) Where the instalment in respect of which payment of a tax credit is made is— 
(a) a daily instalment, the period is 1 day, being the day in respect of which the instalment is 

paid; 
(b) a weekly instalment, the period is 7 days, ending on the day on which the instalment is due 

to be paid; 
(c) a two weekly instalment, the period is 14 days, commencing 6 days before the day on which 

the instalment is due to be paid; 
(d) a four weekly instalment, the period is 28 days, ending on the day on which the instalment 

is due to be paid. 

(4) For the purposes of this paragraph “tax credit” means child tax credit or working tax credit. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

54 Page 91



       

 

       
 

    
   
   
                

            
            
        

                     
           

  
   

         
         

 
      

 
          

         
         
            

    
            

          
            

    
  

      
  

             
                

        
   

       
            

  
      

     
 

                  
               

      
 

           
       

     
           

      
     

   
      

   
  

       
  

 
           

          
            

    
 

         
   

Disregard of changes in tax, contributions etc. 

60. In calculating the applicant’s income the authority may disregard any legislative change— 
(a) in the basic or other rates of income tax; 
(b) in the amount of any personal tax relief; 
(c) in the rates of social security contributions payable under the SSCBA or in the lower earnings 

limit or upper earnings limit for Class 1 contributions under that Act, the lower or upper 
limits applicable to Class 4 contributions under that Act or the amount specified in section 
11(4) of that Act (small profits threshold in relation to Class 2 contributions); 

(d) in the amount of tax payable as a result of an increase in the weekly rate of Category A, B, 
C or D retirement pension or any addition thereto or any graduated pension payable under 
the SSCBA; 

(e) in the maximum rate of child tax credit or working tax credit, 
for a period not exceeding 30 reduction weeks beginning with the reduction week immediately 
following the date from which the change is effective. 

Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners 

61.—(1) For the purposes of paragraphs 48 (average weekly earnings of self-employed earners: 
persons who are not pensioners) and 57 (calculation of income on a weekly basis) the earnings 
of an applicant to be taken into account must be— 
(a) in the case of a self-employed earner who is engaged in employment on his own account, 

the net profit derived from that employment; 
(b) in the case of a self-employed earner who is a pensioner whose employment is carried on in 

partnership, his share of the net profit derived from that employment, less— 
(i)an amount in respect of income tax and of social security contributions payable under the 
SSCBA calculated in accordance with paragraph 62 (deduction of tax and contributions of 
self-employed earners); and 
(ii)one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (11) in respect of 
any qualifying premium; 

(c) in the case of a self-employed earner who is not a pensioner whose employment is carried 
on in partnership or is that of a share fisherman within the meaning of the Social Security 
(Mariners’ Benefits) Regulations 1975, his share of the net profit derived from that 
employment, less— 

(i) an amount in respect of income tax and of social security contributions payable under 
the SSCBA calculated in accordance with paragraph 62 (deduction of tax and 
contributions for self-employed earners); and 

(ii) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (11) in respect 
of any qualifying premium. 

(2) There must be disregarded from the net profit of an applicant who is not a pensioner, any sum, 
where applicable, specified in paragraphs 1 to 16 of Schedule 7 (sums disregarded in the 
calculation of earnings: persons who are not pensioners). 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(a) the net profit of the employment must, except where 
sub-paragraph (9) applies, be calculated by taking into account the earnings of the employment 
over the assessment period less— 

(a) subject to sub-paragraphs (5) to (8), any expenses wholly and exclusively incurred in that 
period for the purposes of that employment; 

(b) an amount in respect of— 
(i)income tax; and 
(ii)social security contributions payable under the SSCBA, 
calculated in accordance with paragraph 62 (deduction of tax and contributions for self-
employed earners); and 

(c) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (11) in respect of 
any qualifying premium. 

(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) the net profit of the employment is to be calculated by 
taking into account the earnings of the employment over the assessment period less, subject to 
sub-paragraphs (5) to (8), any expenses wholly and exclusively incurred in that period for the 
purposes of the employment. 

(5) Subject to sub-paragraph (6), no deduction is to be made under sub-paragraph (3)(a) or (4), in 
respect of— 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

55 Page 92



       

 

    
      
        

  
      
             
     
                  

             
    

 
              

     
           
              

  
 

              
             

   
 

     
           

  
     

                
   

       
           

        
 

                  
       

     
   
         
    

  
        

  
 

         
        
           

  
 

                
       
           

  
              

       
  

             
 

              
            

 
        

 
               

       
           

(a) any capital expenditure; 
(b) the depreciation of any capital asset; 
(c) any sum employed or intended to be employed in the setting up or expansion of the 

employment; 
(d) any loss incurred before the beginning of the assessment period; 
(e) the repayment of capital on any loan taken out for the purposes of the employment; 
(f) any expenses incurred in providing business entertainment; and 
(g) in the case of an applicant who is not a pensioner, any debts, except bad debts proved 

to be such, but this paragraph does not apply to any expenses incurred in the recovery 
of a debt. 

(6) A deduction is to be made under sub-paragraph (3)(a) or (4) in respect of the repayment of capital 
on any loan used for— 
(a) the replacement in the course of business of equipment or machinery; or 
(b) the repair of an existing business asset except to the extent that any sum is payable under 

an insurance policy for its repair. 

(7) The authority must refuse to make a deduction in respect of any expenses under sub-paragraph 
(3)(a) or (4) where it is not satisfied given the nature and the amount of the expense that it has 
been reasonably incurred. 

(8) For the avoidance of doubt— 
(a) a deduction must not be made under sub-paragraph (3)(a) or (4) in respect of any sum unless 

it has been expended for the purposes of the business; 
(b) a deduction must be made thereunder in respect of— 

(i) the excess of any value added tax paid over value added tax received in the 
assessment period; 

(ii) any income expended in the repair of an existing business asset except to the extent 
that any sum is payable under an insurance policy for its repair; 

(iii) any payment of interest on a loan taken out for the purposes of the employment. 

(9) Where an applicant is engaged in employment as a child minder the net profit of the employment 
is to be one-third of the earnings of that employment, less— 
(a) an amount in respect of— 

(i) income tax; and 
(ii) social security contributions payable under the SSCBA, 
(iii) calculated in accordance with paragraph 62 (deduction of tax and contributions for 

self-employed earners); and 
(b) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (11) in respect of any 

qualifying premium. 

(10) For the avoidance of doubt where an applicant is engaged in employment as a self-employed 
earner and he is also engaged in one or more other employments as a self-employed or employed 
earner any loss incurred in any one of his employments must not be offset against his earnings 
in any other of his employments. 

(11) The amount in respect of any qualifying premium is to be calculated by multiplying the daily 
amount of the qualifying premium by the number equal to the number of days in the assessment 
period; and for the purposes of this paragraph the daily amount of the qualifying premium must 
be determined— 

(a) where the qualifying premium is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of the 
qualifying premium by 12 and dividing the product by 365; 

(b) in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying premium by the number equal to 
the number of days in the period to which the qualifying premium relates. 

(12) In this paragraph, “qualifying premium” means any premium which is payable periodically in 
respect of a personal pension scheme and is so payable on or after the date of application. 

Calculation of deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners 

62.—(1) The amount to be deducted in respect of income tax under paragraph 61(1)(b)(i), (3)(b)(i) or 
(9)(a)(i) (calculation of net profit of self-employed earners) must be calculated— 

(a) on the basis of the amount of chargeable income, and 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

56 Page 93



       

 

           
       

             
       

  
 

                   
       

    
 

              
     

             
           

     
            

                 
  

               
           

  
         

        
        

 
   

        
           

       
 

  
   

 
            
                

     
    

 
              

     
     
        

 
                     

        
    
     
     

                    
         

 
                     

        
 

  
 

           
 

               
           

 
 

                 
              

(b) as if that income were assessable to income tax at the basic rate or in the case of a 
Scottish taxpayer the Scottish basic rate of tax applicable to the assessment period 
less only the personal relief to which the applicant is entitled under sections 35 to 
37 of the Income Tax Act 2007 (personal allowances) as is appropriate to his 
circumstances. 

(2) But, if the assessment period is less than a year, the earnings to which the basic rate of tax is to 
be applied and the amount of the personal reliefs deductible under this paragraph must be 
calculated on a pro rata basis. 

(3) The amount to be deducted in respect of social security contributions under paragraph 60(1)(b)(i), 
(3)(b)(ii) or (9)(a)(ii) is the total of— 

(a) the amount of Class 2 contributions payable under section 11(2) or, as the case may be, 
11(8) of the SSCBA at the rate applicable to the assessment period except where the 
applicant’s chargeable income is less than the amount specified in section 11(4) of that 
Act (small earnings exception) for the tax year applicable to the assessment period; but 
if the assessment period is less than a year, the amount specified for that tax year must 
be reduced pro rata; and 

(b) the amount of Class 4 contributions (if any) which would be payable under section 15 of 
the SSCBA (Class 4 contributions recoverable under the Income Tax Acts) at the 
percentage rate applicable to the assessment period on so much of the chargeable 
income as exceeds the lower limit but does not exceed the upper limit of profits and 
gains applicable for the tax year applicable to the assessment period; but if the 
assessment period is less than a year, those limits must be reduced pro rata. 

(4) In this paragraph “chargeable income” means— 
(a) except where paragraph (b) applies, the earnings derived from the employment less any 

expenses deducted under sub-paragraph (3)(a) or, as the case may be, (5) of paragraph 61; 
(b) in the case of employment as a child minder, one-third of the earnings of that employment. 

CHAPTER 7 Capital 
Calculation of capital 

63.—(1) The capital of an applicant to be taken into account must be, subject to sub-paragraph (2), 
the whole of his capital calculated in accordance with this Part and (in the case of persons who 
are not pensioners) any income treated as capital under paragraph 64 (income treated as 
capital: persons who are not pensioners). 

(2) There must be disregarded from the calculation of an applicant’s capital under sub-paragraph (1), 
any capital, where applicable, specified in— 

(a) Schedule 9, in relation to pensioners; 
(b) Schedule 10, in relation to persons who are not pensioners. 

(3) In the case of an applicant who is a pensioner, his capital is to be treated as including any payment 
made to him by way of arrears of— 

(i) child tax credit; 
(ii) working tax credit; 
(iii) state pension credit, 

if the payment was made in respect of a period for the whole or part of which a reduction under 
this scheme was allowed before those arrears were paid. 

(4) The capital of a child or young person who is a member of the family of an applicant who is not a 
pensioner must not be treated as capital of the applicant. 

Income treated as capital: persons who are not pensioners. 

64.—(1) This paragraph applies in relation to persons who are not pensioners. 

(2) Any bounty derived from employment to which paragraph 9 of Schedule 7 (sums disregarded in 
the calculation of earnings: persons who are not pensioners) applies and paid at intervals of at 
least one year is to be treated as capital. 

(3) Any amount by way of a refund of income tax deducted from profits or emoluments chargeable 
to income tax under Schedule D or E is to be treated as capital. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

57 Page 94



       

 

 
                

      
 

               
      

             
    

 
                   

         
 

                 
                 

      
     

 
                  

       
        

     
 

                  
  

 
                 

 
 

     
 

               
      

               
        

 
    

 
               

  
                  

               
 

                     
     

             
   

 
  

 
                 

        
          

   
 

             
        
        

   
  

 
         

 
       

   

(4) Any holiday pay which is not earnings under paragraph 41(1)(d) or 51(1)(d) (earnings of employed 
earners) is to be treated as capital. 

(5) Except any income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 4, 5, 7, 11, 17, 30 to 33, 
50 or 51 of Schedule 10 (capital disregards: persons who are not pensioners), any income derived 
from capital is to be treated as capital but only from the date it is normally due to be credited 
to the applicant’s account. 

(6) In the case of employment as an employed earner, any advance of earnings or any loan made by 
the applicant’s employer is to be treated as capital. 

(7) Any charitable or voluntary payment which is not made or due to be made at regular intervals, 
other than a payment which is made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET 
Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the Independent Living Fund (2006) or the 
London Bombings Charitable Relief Fund, is to be treated as capital. 

(8) There is to be treated as capital the gross receipts of any commercial activity carried on by a 
person in respect of which assistance is received under the self-employment route, but only in 
so far as those receipts were payable into a special account during the period in which that person 
was receiving such assistance. 

(9) Any arrears of subsistence allowance which are paid to an applicant as a lump sum must be treated 
as capital. 

(10) Any arrears of working tax credit or child tax credit must be treated as capital. 

Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom 

65. Capital which an applicant possesses in the United Kingdom is to be calculated at its current 
market or surrender value less— 
(a) where there would be expenses attributable to the sale, 10 per cent; and 
(b) the amount of any encumbrance secured on it. 

Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom 

66. Capital which an applicant possesses in a country outside the United Kingdom must be 
calculated— 
(a) in a case where there is no prohibition in that country against the transfer to the United 

Kingdom of an amount equal to its current market or surrender value in that country, at 
that value; 

(b) in a case where there is such a prohibition, at the price which it would realise if sold in the 
United Kingdom to a willing buyer, 

less, where there would be expenses attributable to sale, 10 per cent and the amount of any 
encumbrances secured on it. 

Notional capital 

67.—(1) An applicant is to be treated as possessing capital of which he has deprived himself for the 
purpose of securing entitlement to a reduction or increasing the amount of that reduction except 
to the extent that that capital is reduced in accordance with paragraph 68 (diminishing notional 
capital rule). 

(2) A person who is a pensioner who disposes of capital for the purpose of— 
(a) reducing or paying a debt owed by the applicant; or 
(b) purchasing goods or services if the expenditure was reasonable in the circumstances of 

the applicant’s case, 
is to be regarded as not depriving himself of it. 

(3) Sub-paragraphs (4) to (6) apply in relation to applicants who are not pensioners. 

(4) Except in the case of— 
(a) a discretionary trust; or 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

58 Page 95



       

 

         
        

   
     

       
        

     
  

       
    
     

      
                   

  
 

                
                 

              
           
       

         
                 

           
         

            
               

        
                

              
          

            
 

             
          

    
   

           
  

         
    

          
           
            

   
          

   
   
      
          

                
    

              
         

       
 

                
   

              
             

 
                    

                   
    

(b) a trust derived from a payment made in consequence of a personal injury; or 
(c) any loan which would be obtained only if secured against capital disregarded under 

Schedule 9; or 
(d) a personal pension scheme, occupational pension scheme or a payment made by the 

Board of the Pension Protection Fund; or 
(e) any sum to which paragraph 50(2)(a) of Schedule 10 (capital disregards: persons who are 

not pensioners) applies which is administered in the way referred to in paragraph 
50(1)(a); or 

(f) any sum to which paragraph 51(a) of Schedule 10 refers; or 
(g) child tax credit; or 
(h) working tax credit, 
any capital which would become available to the applicant upon application being made, but 
which has not been acquired by him, is to be treated as possessed by him but only from the 
date on which it could be expected to be acquired were an application made. 

(5) Any payment of capital, other than a payment of capital specified in sub-paragraph (6), made— 
(a) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or a member of the family (but not a member 

of the third party’s family) must, where that payment is a payment of an occupational 
pension, a pension or other periodical payment made under a personal pension scheme or a 
payment made by the Board of the Pension Protection Fund, be treated as possessed by that 
single applicant or, as the case may be, by that member; 

(b) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or in respect of a member of the family (but 
not a member of the third party’s family) must, where it is not a payment referred to in 
paragraph (a), be treated as possessed by that single applicant or by that member to the 
extent that it is used for the food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of 
that single applicant or, as the case may be, of any member of that family or is used for any 
council tax or water charges for which that applicant or member is liable; 

(c) to a single applicant or a member of the family in respect of a third party (but not in respect 
of another member of the family) must be treated as possessed by that single applicant or, 
as the case may be, that member of the family to the extent that it is kept or used by him 
or used by or on behalf of any member of the family. 

(6) Sub-paragraph (5) does not apply in respect of a payment of capital made— 
(a) under or by any of the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Independent 

Living Fund (2006), the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, or the London Bombings Relief 
Charitable Fund; 

(b) pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 in respect of a person’s 
participation— 
(i)in an employment programme specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) of the Jobseeker’s 
Allowance Regulations 1996; 
(ii)in a training scheme specified in regulation 75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations; 
(iii)in the Intense Activity Period specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(iv) of those Regulations; 
(iv)in a qualifying course within the meaning specified in regulation 17A(7) of those 
Regulations; or 
(v)in the Flexible New Deal specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(v) of those Regulations; 

(c) in respect of a person’s participation in the Work for Your Benefit Pilot Scheme; 
(d) in respect of a person’s participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme; 
(e) in respect of an applicant’s participation in the Employment, Skills, and Enterprise Scheme; 
(f) under an occupational pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other periodical payment 

made under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension 
Protection Fund where— 
(i)a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of whom the payment 
has been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that person is subject to sequestration or a 
judicial factor has been appointed on that person’s estate under section 41 of the Solicitors 
(Scotland) Act 1980; 
(ii)the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person acting on behalf of 
the creditors; and 
(iii)the person referred to in sub-paragraph (i) and any member of his family does not possess, 
or is not treated as possessing, any other income apart from that payment. 

(7) Where an applicant stands in relation to a company in a position analogous to that of a sole owner 
or partner in the business of that company, he may be treated as if he were such sole owner or 
partner and in such a case— 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

59 Page 96



       

 

            
     

         
           

   
        

 
          

            
 

                 
       

    
 

     
 

                
        

   
          

  
      

  
        

         
              

  
 

          
        
         

     
 

             
        

  
         

   
                

        
               

         
                

         
             

      
       

              
   

        
      

               
            

             
         

 
          

      
        

 
                    

      
              

  

(a) the value of his holding in that company must, notwithstanding paragraph 63 (calculation 
of capital) be disregarded; and 

(b) he must, subject to sub-paragraph (8), be treated as possessing an amount of capital 
equal to the value or, as the case may be, his share of the value of the capital of that 
company and the foregoing provisions of this Chapter apply for the purposes of 
calculating that amount as if it were actual capital which he does possess. 

(8) For so long as the applicant undertakes activities in the course of the business of the company, 
the amount which he is treated as possessing under sub-paragraph (7) is to be disregarded. 

(9) Where an applicant is treated as possessing capital under any of sub-paragraphs (1), (4) or (5) the 
foregoing provisions of this Chapter apply for the purposes of calculating its amount as if it were 
actual capital which he does possess. 

Diminishing notional capital rule: pensioners 

68.—(1) Where an applicant who is a pensioner is treated as possessing capital under paragraph 67(1) 
(notional capital), the amount which he is treated as possessing— 
(a) in the case of a week that is subsequent to— 

(i) the relevant week in respect of which the conditions set out in sub-paragraph (2) 
are satisfied; or 

(ii) a week which follows that relevant week and which satisfies those conditions, 
is to be reduced by an amount determined under sub-paragraph (3); 

(b) in the case of a week in respect of which sub-paragraph (1)(a) does not apply but where— 
(i) that week is a week subsequent to the relevant week; and 
(ii) that relevant week is a week in which the condition in sub-paragraph (4) is satisfied, 

is to be reduced by the amount determined under sub-paragraph (5). 

(2) This sub-paragraph applies to a reduction week where the applicant satisfies the conditions that— 
(a) he is in receipt of a reduction under this scheme; and 
(b) but for paragraph 67(1), he would have received a greater reduction in council tax under this 

scheme in that week. 

(3) In a case to which sub-paragraph (2) applies, the amount of the reduction in the amount of capital 
he is treated as possessing for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(a) must be equal to the 
aggregate of— 
(a) an amount equal to the additional amount of the reduction in council tax to which sub-

paragraph (2)(b) refers; 
(b) where the applicant has also claimed state pension credit, the amount of any state pension 

credit or any additional amount of state pension credit to which he would have been entitled 
in respect of the reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application of 
regulation 21(1) of the State Pension Credit Regulations 2002 (notional capital); 

(c) where the applicant has also claimed housing benefit, the amount of any housing benefit or 
any additional amount of housing benefit to which he would have been entitled in respect of 
the whole or part of the reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the 
application of regulation 47(1) of the Housing Benefit (Persons who have attained the 
qualifying age for state pension credit) Regulations 2006 (notional capital); 

(d) where the applicant has also claimed a jobseeker’s allowance, the amount of an income-
based jobseeker’s allowance to which he would have been entitled in respect of the reduction 
week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application of regulation 113 of the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996 (notional capital); and 

(e) where the applicant has also claimed an employment and support allowance, the amount of 
an income-related employment and support allowance to which he would have been entitled 
in respect of the reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application of 
regulation 115 of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 (notional capital). 

(4) Subject to sub-paragraph (7), for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) the condition is that the 
applicant is a pensioner and would have been entitled to a reduction in council tax under this 
scheme in the relevant week but for paragraph 67(1). 

(5) In such a case the amount of the reduction in the amount of capital he is treated as possessing 
for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) is equal to the aggregate of— 
(a) the amount of the reduction in council tax to which the applicant would have been entitled 

in the relevant week but for paragraph 67(1); 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

60 Page 97



       

 

                
      

           
            

                
     

            
                

              
   

          
  

               
      

           
             

               
         

        
             

       
 

               
               

       
          

   
          

 
         

             
   

             
         

           
       

 
      

   
              

          
           

  
   

               
     

             
  

 
             

         
     

 
       

  
              

              
              

        
       

     
         

    
      

(b) if the applicant would, but for regulation 21 of the State Pension Credit Regulations 2002, 
have been entitled to state pension credit in respect of the benefit week, within the meaning 
of regulation 1(2) of those Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day of the 
relevant week, the amount to which he would have been entitled; 

(c) if the applicant would, but for regulation 47(1) of the Housing Benefit (Persons who have 
attained the qualifying age for state pension credit) Regulations 2006, have been entitled to 
housing benefit or to an additional amount of housing benefit in respect of the benefit week 
which includes the last day of the relevant week, the amount which is equal to— 
(i)in a case where no housing benefit is payable, the amount to which he would have been 
entitled; or 
(ii)in any other case, the amount equal to the additional amount of housing benefit to which 
he would have been entitled; 

(d) if the applicant would, but for regulation 113 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996, 
have been entitled to an income-based jobseeker’s allowance in respect of the benefit week, 
within the meaning of regulation 1(3) of those Regulations (interpretation), which includes 
the last day of the relevant week, the amount to which he would have been entitled; and 

(e) if the applicant would, but for regulation 115 of the Employment and Support Allowance 
Regulations 2008, have been entitled to an income-related employment and support 
allowance in respect of the benefit week, within the meaning of regulation 2(1) of those 
Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day of the relevant week, the amount 
to which he would have been entitled. 

(6) But if the amount mentioned in paragraph (a), (b), (c), (d) or (e) of sub-paragraph (5) (“the 
relevant amount”) is in respect of a part-week, the amount that is to be taken into account under 
that paragraph is to be determined by— 

(a) dividing the relevant amount by the number equal to the number of days in that part-
week, and 

(b) multiplying the result of that calculation by 7. 

(7) The amount determined under sub-paragraph (5) is to be re-determined under that sub-paragraph 
if the applicant makes a further application and the conditions in sub-paragraph (8) are satisfied, 
and in such a case— 

(a) paragraphs (a) to (e) of sub-paragraph (5) apply as if for the words “relevant week” there 
were substituted the words “relevant subsequent week”; and 

(b) subject to sub-paragraph (9), the amount as re-determined has effect from the first week 
following the relevant subsequent week in question. 

(8) The conditions are that— 
(a) a further application is made 26 or more weeks after— 

(i) the date on which the applicant made an application in respect of which he was 
first treated as possessing the capital in question under paragraph 67(1); 

(ii) in a case where there has been at least one re-determination in accordance with 
sub-paragraph (11), the date on which he last made an application which resulted 
in the weekly amount being re-determined, or 

(iii) the date on which he last ceased to be entitled to a reduction under this scheme, 
whichever last occurred; and 

(b) the applicant would have been entitled to a reduction under this scheme but for 
paragraph 67(1). 

(9) The amount as re-determined pursuant to sub-paragraph (7) must not have effect if it is less than 
the amount which applied in that case immediately before the re-determination and in such a 
case the higher amount must continue to have effect. 

(10) For the purposes of this paragraph— 
“part-week”— 
(a) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(a), means a period of less than a 

week for which a reduction in council tax under this scheme is allowed; 
(b) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(b), means a period of less than a 

week for which housing benefit is payable; 
(c) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(c), (d) or (e), means— 

(i) a period of less than a week which is the whole period for which income support, 
an income-related employment and support allowance or, as the case may be, 
an income-based jobseeker’s allowance is payable; and 

(ii) any other period of less than a week for which it is payable; 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

61 Page 98



       

 

          
           

               
  

               
      
    

   
      

                  
         

       
                

 
 

         
 

                
       
   

         
   

    
  

  
                  

         
            

  
  

 
          

         
         
        

    
 

             
          

         
   

                
          

              
            

                
      

        
   

              
   

            
       

               
            

               
        

   
 

          
       

     
 

“relevant week” means the reduction week or part-week in which the capital in question of which 
the applicant has deprived himself within the meaning of paragraph 67(1)— 

(a) was first taken into account for the purpose of determining his entitlement to a 
reduction; or 

(b) was taken into account on a subsequent occasion for the purpose of determining or re-
determining his entitlement to a reduction on that subsequent occasion and that 
determination or re-determination resulted in his beginning to receive, or ceasing to 
receive, a reduction; 

and where more than one reduction week is identified by reference to paragraphs (a) and (b) 
of this definition, the later or latest such reduction week or, as the case may be, the later 
or latest such part-week is the relevant week; 
“relevant subsequent week” means the reduction week or part-week which includes the day 
on which the further application or, if more than one further application has been made, the 
last such application was made. 

Diminishing notional capital rule: persons who are not pensioners. 

69.—(1) Where an applicant who is not a pensioner is treated as possessing capital under paragraph 
67(1) (notional capital), the amount which he is treated as possessing— 

(a) in the case of a week that is subsequent to— 
(i) the relevant week in respect of which the conditions set out in sub-paragraph 

(2) are satisfied; or 
(ii) a week which follows that relevant week and which satisfies those 

conditions, 
is to be reduced by an amount determined under sub-paragraph (3); 

(b) in the case of a week in respect of which sub-paragraph (1)(a) does not apply but where— 
(i) that week is a week subsequent to the relevant week; and 
(ii) that relevant week is a week in which the condition in sub-paragraph (4) is 

satisfied, 
is to be reduced by the amount determined under sub-paragraph (5). 

(2) This sub-paragraph applies to a reduction week (or, in the case of persons who are not pensioners, 
part-week) where the applicant satisfies the conditions that— 

(a) he is in receipt of a reduction in council tax under this scheme; and 
(b) but for paragraph 67(1), he would have received a greater reduction in council tax under 

this scheme in that week. 

(3) In a case to which sub-paragraph (2) applies, the amount of the reduction in the amount of capital 
he is treated as possessing for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(a) is equal to the aggregate of— 
(a) an amount equal to the additional amount of the reduction in council tax to which sub-

paragraph (2)(b) refers; 
(b) where the applicant has also claimed housing benefit, the amount of any housing benefit or 

any additional amount of that benefit to which he would have been entitled in respect of the 
whole or part of the reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application 
of regulation 49(1) of the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 (notional capital); 

(c) where the applicant has also claimed income support, the amount of income support to which 
he would have been entitled in respect of the whole or part of the reduction week to which 
sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application of regulation 51(1) of the Income Support 
(General) Regulations 1987 (notional capital); 

(d) where the applicant has also claimed a jobseeker’s allowance, the amount of an income-
based jobseeker’s allowance to which he would have been entitled in respect of the whole 
or part of the reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application of 
regulation 113 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996 (notional capital); and 

(e) where the applicant has also claimed an employment and support allowance, the amount of 
an income-related employment and support allowance to which he would have been entitled 
in respect of the whole or part of the reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but 
for the application of regulation 115 of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 
2008 (notional capital). 

(4) Subject to sub-paragraph (7), for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) the condition is that the 
applicant is not a pensioner and would have been entitled to a reduction in council tax in the 
relevant week but for paragraph 67(1). 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

62 Page 99



       

 

                    
        

             
     

                
        

           
  

              
   

         
       

           
       

           
            

               
      

           
             

               
         

        
             

       
 

               
               

       
          

   
          

 
        

      
       
             

         
           

       
 

      
   

               
           

  
        

    
        

               
     

              
  

 
             

         
     

 
       

  
             

  
             

   

(5) In such a case the amount of the reduction in the amount of capital he is treated as possessing 
must be equal to the aggregate of— 
(a) the amount of council tax benefit to which the applicant would have been entitled in the 

relevant week but for paragraph 67(1); 
(b) if the applicant would, but for regulation 49(1) of the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006, have 

been entitled to housing benefit or to an additional amount of housing benefit in respect of 
the benefit week which includes the last day of the relevant week, the amount which is equal 
to— 

a. (i)in a case where no housing benefit is payable, the amount to which he would have 
been entitled; or 

b. (ii)in any other case, the amount equal to the additional amount of housing benefit 
to which he would have been entitled; 

(c) if the applicant would, but for regulation 51(1) of the Income Support (General) Regulations 
1987, have been entitled to income support in respect of the benefit week, within the 
meaning of regulation 2(1) of those Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day 
of the relevant week, the amount to which he would have been entitled; 

(d) if the applicant would, but for regulation 113 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996, 
have been entitled to an income-based jobseeker’s allowance in respect of the benefit week, 
within the meaning of regulation 1(3) of those Regulations (interpretation), which includes 
the last day of the relevant week, the amount to which he would have been entitled; and 

(e) if the applicant would, but for regulation 115 of the Employment and Support Allowance 
Regulations 2008, have been entitled to an income-related employment and support 
allowance in respect of the benefit week, within the meaning of regulation 2(1) of those 
Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day of the relevant week, the amount 
to which he would have been entitled. 

(6) But if the amount mentioned in paragraph (a), (b), (c), (d) or (e) of sub-paragraph (5) (“the 
relevant amount”) is in respect of a part-week, the amount that is to be taken into account under 
that paragraph is to be determined by— 

(a) dividing the relevant amount by the number equal to the number of days in that part-
week, and 

(b) multiplying the result of that calculation by 7. 

(7) The amount determined under sub-paragraph (5) is to be re-determined under the appropriate 
sub-paragraph if the applicant makes a further application and the conditions in sub-paragraph 
(8) are satisfied, and in such a case— 

(a) paragraphs (a) to (e) of sub-paragraph (5) apply as if for the words “relevant week” there 
were substituted the words “relevant subsequent week”; and 

(b) subject to sub-paragraph (9), the amount as re-determined has effect from the first week 
following the relevant subsequent week in question. 

(8) The conditions are that— 
(a) a further application is made 26 or more weeks after— 

(i)the date on which the applicant made an application for a reduction under this scheme in 
respect of which he was first treated as possessing the capital in question under paragraph 
67(1); 
(ii)in a case where there has been at least one re-determination in accordance with sub-
paragraph (7), the date on which he last made an application under this scheme which 
resulted in the weekly amount being re-determined, or 
(iii)the date on which he last ceased to be entitled to a reduction under this scheme, 
whichever last occurred; and 

(b) the applicant would have been entitled to a reduction under this scheme but for paragraph 
67(1). 

(9) The amount as re-determined pursuant to sub-paragraph (6) must not have effect if it is less than 
the amount which applied in that case immediately before the re-determination and in such a 
case the higher amount must continue to have effect. 

(10) For the purposes of this paragraph— 
“part-week”— 

(a) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(a), means a period of less than 
a week for which a reduction under this scheme is allowed; 

(b) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(b), means a period of less than 
a week for which housing benefit is payable; 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

63 Page 100



       

 

       
     

          
    

      
          

           
               

  
               

      
    

   
       
              
       

        
                

    
 

   
 

              
     

         
              

     
            

   
 

      
 

                  
         

      
    

 
        

 
                  

       
     
    

 
  

  
 

 
   

 
        

            
              

               
  

 
  

          
          

            
        

        
             

            

(c) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(c), (d) or (e), means— 
(a) a period of less than a week which is the whole period for which income support, an 

income-related employment and support allowance or, as the case may be, an income-
based jobseeker’s allowance is payable; and 

(b) any other period of less than a week for which it is payable; 
“relevant week” means the reduction week or part-week in which the capital in question of which 
the applicant has deprived himself within the meaning of paragraph 67(1)— 

(a) was first taken into account for the purpose of determining his entitlement to a 
reduction; or 

(b) was taken into account on a subsequent occasion for the purpose of determining or re-
determining his entitlement to a reduction on that subsequent occasion and that 
determination or re-determination resulted in his beginning to receive, or ceasing to 
receive, a reduction, 

and where more than one reduction week is identified by reference to paragraphs (a) and (b) of 
this definition, the later or latest such reduction week or, as the case may be, the later or latest 
such part-week is the relevant week; 
“relevant subsequent week” means the reduction week or part-week which includes the day on 
which the further application or, if more than one further application has been made, the last 
such application was made. 

Capital jointly held. 

70. Except where an applicant possesses capital which is disregarded under paragraph 67(7) (notional 
capital), where an applicant and one or more persons are beneficially entitled in possession to 
any capital asset they must be treated, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, as if each 
of them were entitled in possession to the whole beneficial interest therein in an equal share 
and the foregoing provisions of this Chapter apply for the purposes of calculating the amount of 
capital which the applicant is treated as possessing as if it were actual capital which the 
applicant does possess. 

Calculation of tariff income from capital: pensioners 

71. The capital of an applicant who is a pensioner, calculated in accordance with this Part, is to be 
treated as if it were a weekly income of— 

(a) £1 for each £500 in excess of £10,000 but not exceeding £16,000; and 
(b) £1 for any excess which is not a complete £500. 

Calculation of tariff income from capital: persons who are not pensioners. 

72. The capital of an applicant who is not a pensioner, calculated in accordance with this Part, is to 
be treated as if it were a weekly income(169) of— 

(a) £1 for each £250 in excess of £6,000 but not exceeding £16,000; 
(b) £1 for any excess which is not a complete £250. 

PART 11 Students 
CHAPTER 1 General 
Interpretation 

73.—(1) In this Part— 

“academic year” means the period of twelve months beginning on 1st January 1st April 1st July or 
1st September according to whether the course in question begins in the winter, the spring, the 
summer, or the autumn respectively but if students are required to begin attending the course during 
August or September and to continue attending through the autumn, the academic year of the course 
is to be considered to begin in the autumn rather than the summer; 

“access funds” means— 
(a) grants made under section 68 of the Further and Higher Education Act 1992 for the purpose 

of providing funds on a discretionary basis to be paid to students; 
(b) grants made under sections 73(a) and (c) and 74(1) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; 
(c) grants made under Article 30 of the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) Order 1993 or 

grants, loans or other payments made under Article 5 of the Further Education (Northern 
Ireland) Order 1997 in each case being grants, or grants, loans or other payments as the case 
may be, for the purpose of assisting students in financial difficulties; 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

64 Page 101

http://legislation.data.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2886/made/data.htm?wrap=true#f00169


       

 

       
      

        
          

       
 

 
      

 
  

      
      

      
     

       
            

  
       

    
             

            
      

 
    

       
 

       
    

 
    

               
         

    
         

          
  

 
            

                    
                 

                  
               

         
                    

  
      

        
                   
               

              
  

                
           

                    
     
         

          
      

         
      

         
            

  
 

(d) discretionary payments, known as “learner support funds”, which are made available to 
students in further education by institutions out of funds provided by the Secretary of State 
under section 14 of the Education Act 2002 or the Chief Executive of Skills Funding under 
sections 100 and 101 of the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009; or 

(e) Financial Contingency Funds made available by the Welsh Ministers; 

“college of further education” means a college of further education within the meaning of Part 1 of 
the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 

“contribution” means— 
(a) any contribution in respect of the income of a student or any person which the Secretary of 

State, the Scottish Ministers or an education authority takes into account in ascertaining the 
amount of a student’s grant or student loan; or 

(b) any sums, which in determining the amount of a student’s allowance or bursary in Scotland 
under the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, the Scottish Ministers or education authority takes 
into account being sums which the Scottish Ministers or education authority considers that it 
is reasonable for the following persons to contribute towards the holder’s expenses— 
(i)the holder of the allowance or bursary; 
(ii) the holder’s parents; 
(iii) the holder’s parent’s spouse, civil partner or a person ordinarily living with the holder’s 
parent as if he or she were the spouse or civil partner of that parent; or 
(iv) the holder’s spouse or civil partner; 

“course of study” means any course of study, whether or not it is a sandwich course and whether or 
not a grant is made for attending or undertaking it; 

“covenant income” means the gross income payable to a full-time student under a Deed of Covenant 
by his parent; 

“education authority” means a government department, a local authority as defined in section 579 
of the Education Act 1996 (interpretation), a local education authority as defined in section 123 of 
the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973, an education and library board established under Article 
3 of the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) Order 1986, any body which is a research council 
for the purposes of the Science and Technology Act 1965 or any analogous government department, 
authority, board or body, of the Channel Islands, Isle of Man or any other country outside Great 
Britain; 

“full-time course of study” means a full-time course of study which— 
(a) is not funded in whole or in part by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the Education 

Act 2002, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or by the Welsh Ministers or a full-time course 
of study which is not funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers at a college of 
further education or a full-time course of study which is a course of higher education and is 
funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers; 

(b) is funded in whole or in part by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the Education Act 
2002, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or by the Welsh Ministers if it involves more than 
16 guided learning hours per week for the student in question, according to the number of 
guided learning hours per week for that student set out— 
(i) in the case of a course funded by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the Education 
Act 2002 or the Chief Executive of Skills Funding, in the student’s learning agreement signed 
on behalf of the establishment which is funded by either of those persons for the delivery of 
that course; or 
(ii)in the case of a course funded by the Welsh Ministers, in a document signed on behalf of 
the establishment which is funded by that Council for the delivery of that course; or 

(c) is not higher education and is funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers at a college 
of further education and involves— 
(i) more than 16 hours per week of classroom-based or workshop-based programmed learning 
under the direct guidance of teaching staff according to the number of hours set out in a 
document signed on behalf of the college; or 
(ii)16 hours or less per week of classroom-based or workshop-based programmed learning 
under the direct guidance of teaching staff and additional hours using structured learning 
packages supported by the teaching staff where the combined total of hours exceeds 21 hours 
per week, according to the number of hours set out in a document signed on behalf of the 
college; 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

65 Page 102



       

 

               
   

 
      

            
             

        
 

   
    
     

 
  

     
 

   
                     

      
 

                   
          

 
   

                     
          

                       
       

           
   

                
          

      
   

            
   

                   
      

 
    

 
  

    
 

    
             

             
   

 
   

         
    

          
      

   
          

      
                 

 
     

            
         

                 
         

 

“full-time student” means a person attending or undertaking a full-time course of study and includes 
a student on a sandwich course; 

“grant” (except in the definition of “access funds”) means any kind of educational grant or award 
and includes any scholarship, studentship, exhibition, allowance, or bursary but does not include a 
payment from access funds or any payment to which paragraph 16 of Schedule 8 or paragraph 55 of 
Schedule 10 (allowances and payments for courses of study) applies; 

“grant income” means— 
(a) any income by way of a grant; 
(b) any contribution whether or not it is paid; 

“higher education” means higher education within the meaning of Part 2 of the Further and Higher 
Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 

“last day of the course” means— 
(a) in the case of a qualifying course, the date on which the last day of that course falls or the 

date on which the final examination relating to that course is completed, whichever is the 
later; 

(b) in any other case, the date on which the last day of the final academic term falls in respect 
of the course in which the student is enrolled; 

“period of study” means— 
(a) in the case of a course of study for one year or less, the period beginning with the start of 

the course and ending with the last day of the course; 
(b) in the case of a course of study for more than one year, in the first or, as the case may be, 

any subsequent year of the course, other than the final year of the course, the period 
beginning with the start of the course or, as the case may be, that year’s start and ending 
with either— 

(i)the day before the start of the next year of the course in a case where the student’s 
grant or loan is assessed at a rate appropriate to his studying throughout the year or, if 
he does not have a grant or loan, where a loan would have been assessed at such a rate 
had he had one; or 
(ii)in any other case, the day before the start of the normal summer vacation appropriate 
to his course; 

(c) in the final year of a course of study of more than one year, the period beginning with that 
year’s start and ending with the last day of the course; 

“periods of experience” means periods of work experience which form part of a sandwich course; 

“qualifying course” means a qualifying course as defined for the purposes of Parts 2 and 4 of the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996; 

“sandwich course” has the meaning prescribed in regulation 2(9) of the Education (Student Support) 
Regulations 2008, regulation 4(2) of the Education (Student Loans) (Scotland) Regulations 2007 or 
regulation 2(8) of the Education (Student Support) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2007, as the case 
may be; 

“standard maintenance grant” means— 
(a) except where paragraph (b) or (c) applies, in the case of a student attending or undertaking 

a course of study at the University of London or an establishment within the area comprising 
the City of London and the Metropolitan Police District, the amount specified for the time 
being in paragraph 2(2)(a) of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 
2003(“the 2003 Regulations”) for such a student; 

(b) except where paragraph (c) applies, in the case of a student residing at his parent’s home, 
the amount specified in paragraph 3 thereof; 

(c) in the case of a student receiving an allowance or bursary under the Education (Scotland) Act 
1980, the amount of money specified as “standard maintenance allowance” for the relevant 
year appropriate for the student set out in the Student Support in Scotland Guide issued by 
the Student Awards Agency for Scotland, or its nearest equivalent in the case of a bursary 
provided by a college of further education or a local education authority; 

(d) in any other case, the amount specified in paragraph 2(2) of Schedule 2 to the 2003 
Regulations other than in sub-paragraph (a) or (b) thereof; 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

66 Page 103



       

 

    
   

      
   

 
   

      
          

              
     

 
           

              
     
           

                
               

           
       

                
                 

                  
      

 
        

  
               

           
      
      

      
         

      
 

 
            

               
   

 
   

 
               

     
 

          
 

             
      

    
          

 
        

           
      

       
              

   
               

  
     

                    
      

         

“student” means a person, other than a person in receipt of a training allowance, who is attending 
or undertaking— 

(a) a course of study at an educational establishment; or 
(b) a qualifying course; 

“student loan” means a loan towards a student’s maintenance pursuant to any regulations made 
under section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, section 73 of the Education 
(Scotland) Act 1980 or Article 3 of the Education (Student Support) (Northern Ireland) Order 1998 and 
includes, in Scotland, a young student’s bursary paid under regulation 4(1)(c) of the Students’ 
Allowances (Scotland) Regulations 2007. 

(2) For the purposes of the definition of “full-time student” in sub-paragraph (1), a person must be 
regarded as attending or, as the case may be, undertaking a full-time course of study or as being 
on a sandwich course— 
(a) subject to sub-paragraph (3), in the case of a person attending or undertaking a part of a 

modular course which would be a full-time course of study for the purposes of this Part, for 
the period beginning on the day on which that part of the course starts and ending— 

(i)on the last day on which he is registered with the educational establishment as 
attending or undertaking that part as a full-time course of study; or 
(ii)on such earlier date (if any) as he finally abandons the course or is dismissed from it; 

(b) in any other case, throughout the period beginning on the date on which he starts attending 
or undertaking the course and ending on the last day of the course or on such earlier date (if 
any) as he finally abandons it or is dismissed from it. 

(3) For the purposes of paragraph (a) of sub-paragraph (2), the period referred to in that paragraph 
includes— 
(a) where a person has failed examinations or has failed successfully to complete a module 

relating to a period when he was attending or undertaking a part of the course as a full-time 
course of study, any period in respect of which he attends or undertakes the course for the 
purpose of retaking those examinations or that module; 

(b) any period of vacation within the period specified in that paragraph or immediately following 
that period except where the person has registered with the educational establishment to 
attend or undertake the final module in the course and the vacation immediately follows the 
last day on which he is required to attend or undertake the course. 

(4) In sub-paragraph (2), “modular course” means a course of study which consists of two or more 
modules, the successful completion of a specified number of which is required before a person 
is considered by the educational establishment to have completed the course. 

Treatment of students 

74. This scheme has effect in relation to students who are not pensioners subject to the following 
provisions of this Part. 

Students who are excluded from entitlement to a reduction under this scheme. 

75.—(1) The students who are excluded from entitlement to a reduction under this scheme are, 
subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (7)— 

(a) full-time students, and 
(b) students who are persons treated as not being in Great Britain. 

(2) Sub-paragraph (1)(b) does not apply to a student— 
(a) who is a person on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-

related employment and support allowance; 
(b) who is a lone parent; 
(c) whose applicable amount would, but for this paragraph, include the disability premium or 

severe disability premium; 
(d) whose applicable amount would include the disability premium but for his being treated as 

capable of work by virtue of a determination made in accordance with regulations made 
under section 171E of the SSCBA; 

(e) who is, or is treated as, incapable of work and has been so incapable, or has been so treated 
as incapable, of work in accordance with the provisions of, and regulations made under, Part 
12A of the SSCBA (incapacity for work) for a continuous period of not less than 196 days; and 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

67 Page 104



       

 

     
      

                   
    

               
          

        
                 

     
                  

              
      

    
               
                

    
                

     
   

            
    

               
          

    
     

               
     

           
   

  
            
            

            
          

 
       

     
 

         
                     
           
                

  
 

          
      

 
         

      
          

 
            

   
       

      
       

 
        

     
         

  
 

for this purpose, any two or more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 56 
days must be treated as one continuous period; 

(f) who has, or is treated as having, limited capability for work and has had, or been treated as 
having, limited capability for work in accordance with the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations 2008 for a continuous period of not less than 196 days, and for this 
purpose any two or more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 84 days 
must be treated as one continuous period; 

(g) who has a partner who is also a full-time student, if he or that partner is treated as 
responsible for a child or young person; 

(h) who is a single applicant with whom a child is placed by a local authority or voluntary 
organisation within the meaning of the Children Act 1989 or, in Scotland, boarded out within 
the meaning of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968; 

(i) who is— 
a. (i)aged under 21 and whose course of study is not a course of higher education, 
b. (ii)aged 21 and attained that age during a course of study which is not a course of 

higher education, or 
c. (iii)a qualifying young person or child within the meaning of section 142 of the SSCBA 

(child and qualifying young person); 
(j) in respect of whom— 

(i)a supplementary requirement has been determined under paragraph 9 of Part 2 of Schedule 
2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003; 
(ii)an allowance, or as the case may be, bursary has been granted which includes a sum under 
paragraph (1)(d) of regulation 4 of the Students’ Allowances (Scotland) Regulations 1999 or, 
as the case may be, under paragraph (1)(d) of regulation 4 of the Education Authority 
(Bursaries) (Scotland) Regulations 1995, in respect of expenses incurred; 
(iii)a payment has been made under or by virtue of regulations made under the Teaching and 
Higher Education Act 1998; 
(iv)a grant has been made under regulation 13 of the Education (Student Support) Regulations 
2005 or under regulation 13 of the Education (Student Support) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 
2000; or 
(v)a supplementary requirement has been determined under paragraph 9 of Schedule 6 to 
the Students Awards Regulations (Northern Ireland) 1999 or a payment has been made under 
Article 50(3) of the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) Order 1986, 
on account of his disability by reason of deafness. 

(3) Sub-paragraph (2)(i)(ii) only applies to an applicant until the end of the course during which the 
applicant attained the age of 21. 

(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), once sub-paragraph (2)(e) applies to a full-time student, 
if he then ceases, for a period of 56 days or less, to be incapable, or to be treated as incapable, 
of work, that sub-paragraph must, on his again becoming so incapable, or so treated as incapable, 
of work at the end of that period, immediately thereafter apply to him for so long as he remains 
incapable or is treated as remaining incapable, of work. 

(5) In sub-paragraph (2)(i) the reference to a course of higher education is a reference to a course of 
any description mentioned in Schedule 6 to the Education Reform Act 1988. 

(6) A full-time student to whom sub-paragraph (2)(i) applies must be treated as satisfying that sub-
paragraph from the date on which he made a request for the supplementary requirement, 
allowance, bursary, or payment as the case may be. 

(7) Sub-paragraph (1)(b) does not apply to a full-time student for the period specified in sub-
paragraph (8) if— 
(a) at any time during an academic year, with the consent of the relevant educational 

establishment, he ceases to attend or undertake a course because he is— 
(i)engaged in caring for another person; or 
(ii)ill; 

(b) he has subsequently ceased to be engaged in caring for that person or, as the case may be, 
he has subsequently recovered from that illness; and 

(c) he is not eligible for a grant or a student loan in respect of the period specified in sub-
paragraph (8). 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

68 Page 105



       

 

             
     

             
             
           

  
    

 
 

 
 

    
 

               
           

 
             

   
   
           

     
                   

   
                 

       
   
   
   
                  

 
                    

        
            
               

         
 

              
            

             
     

 
            

          
      

         
          
     

                
                

      
        

 
            

              
         

    
                
   

 
                      

            
          

       
      

(8) The period specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (7) is the period, not exceeding one year, 
beginning on the day on which he ceased to be engaged in caring for that person or, as the case 
may be, the day on which he recovered from that illness and ending on the day before— 
(a) the day on which he resumes attending or undertaking the course; or 
(b) the day from which the relevant educational establishment has agreed that he may resume 

attending or undertaking the course, 
whichever first occurs. 

CHAPTER 2 
Income 

Calculation of grant income 

76.—(1) The amount of a student’s grant income to be taken into account in assessing his income 
must, subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), be the whole of his grant income. 

(2) There must be excluded from a student’s grant income any payment— 
(a) intended to meet tuition fees or examination fees; 
(b) in respect of the student’s disability; 
(c) intended to meet additional expenditure connected with term time residential study away 

from the student’s educational establishment; 
(d) on account of the student maintaining a home at a place other than that at which he resides 

during his course; 
(e) on account of any other person but only if that person is residing outside the United Kingdom 

and there is no applicable amount in respect of him; 
(f) intended to meet the cost of books and equipment; 
(g) intended to meet travel expenses incurred as a result of his attendance on the course; 
(h) intended for the child care costs of a child dependent; 
(i) of higher education bursary for care leavers made under Part 3 of the Children Act 1989. 

(3) Where a student does not have a student loan and is not treated as possessing such a loan, there 
must be excluded from the student’s grant income— 
(a) the sum of £303 per academic year in respect of travel costs; and 
(b) the sum of £390 per academic year towards the costs of books and equipment, 
whether or not any such costs are incurred. 

(4) There must also be excluded from a student’s grant income the grant for dependants known as 
the parents’ learning allowance paid pursuant to regulations made under Article 3 of the 
Education (Student Support) (Northern Ireland) Order 1998 or section 22 of the Teaching and 
Higher Education Act 1998. 

(5) Subject to sub-paragraphs (6) and (7), a student’s grant income must be apportioned— 
(a) subject to sub-paragraph (8), in a case where it is attributable to the period of study, equally 

between the weeks in that period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of which 
coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the period of study and ending with 
the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately precedes, the last 
day of the period of study; 

(b) in any other case, equally between the weeks in the period beginning with the reduction 
week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the 
period for which it is payable and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which 
coincides with, or immediately precedes, the last day of the period for which it is payable. 

(6) Any grant in respect of dependants paid under section 63(6) of the Health Services and Public 
Health Act 1968 (grants in respect of the provision of instruction to officers of hospital 
authorities) and any amount intended for the maintenance of dependants under Part 3 of 
Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003 must be apportioned equally 
over the period of 52 weeks or, if there are 53 reduction weeks (including part-weeks) in the 
year, 53. 

(7) In a case where a student is in receipt of a student loan or where he could have acquired a student 
loan by taking reasonable steps but had not done so, any amount intended for the maintenance 
of dependants to which neither sub-paragraph (6) nor paragraph 80(2) (other amounts to be 
disregarded) applies, must be apportioned over the same period as the student’s loan is 
apportioned or, as the case may be, would have been apportioned. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

69 Page 106



       

 

 
                   

           
              

             
               

 
       

 
                     

       
         

         
 

            
       

          
      

 
        

         
         

 
 

      
 

                    
  

      
         

           
        

            
      

     
               

      
 

                    
            

     
             

              
   

           
           

 
   

 
                 

          
 

     
 

         
           

           
       

 
          

              
          

 
 

(8) In the case of a student on a sandwich course, any periods of experience within the period of 
study must be excluded and the student’s grant income must be apportioned equally between 
the weeks in the period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of which immediately 
follows the last day of the period of experience and ending with the reduction week, the last day 
of which coincides with, or immediately precedes, the last day of the period of study. 

Calculation of covenant income where a contribution is assessed. 

77.—(1) Where a student is in receipt of income by way of a grant during a period of study and a 
contribution has been assessed, the amount of his covenant income to be taken into account for 
that period and any summer vacation immediately following must be the whole amount of the 
covenant income less, subject to sub-paragraph (3), the amount of the contribution. 

(2) The weekly amount of the student’s covenant must be determined— 
(a) by dividing the amount of income which falls to be taken into account under sub-paragraph 

(1) by 52 or 53, whichever is reasonable in the circumstances; and 
(b) by disregarding £5 from the resulting amount. 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), the contribution must be treated as increased by the 
amount (if any) by which the amount excluded under paragraph 76(2)(g) falls short of the amount 
specified in paragraph 7(2) of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003 
(travel expenditure). 

Covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed. 

78.—(1) Where a student is not in receipt of income by way of a grant the amount of his covenant 
income must be calculated as follows— 

(a) any sums intended for any expenditure specified in paragraph 76(2)(a) to (e) necessary as a 
result of his attendance on the course must be disregarded; 

(b) any covenant income, up to the amount of the standard maintenance grant, which is not so 
disregarded, must be apportioned equally between the weeks of the period of study; 

(c) there must be disregarded from the amount so apportioned the amount which would have 
been disregarded under paragraph 76(2)(f) and (3) had the student been in receipt of the 
standard maintenance grant; and 

(d) the balance, if any, must be divided by 52 or 53 whichever is reasonable in the circumstances 
and treated as weekly income of which £5 must be disregarded. 

(2) Where a student is in receipt of income by way of a grant and no contribution has been assessed, 
the amount of his covenanted income must be calculated in accordance with paragraphs (a) to 
(d) of sub-paragraph (1), except that— 
(a) the value of the standard maintenance grant must be abated by the amount of such grant 

income less an amount equal to the amount of any sums disregarded under paragraph 76(2)(a) 
to (e); and 

(b) the amount to be disregarded under sub-paragraph (1)(c) must be abated by an amount equal 
to the amount of any sums disregarded under paragraph 76(2)(f) and (g) and (3). 

Relationship with amounts to be disregarded under Schedule 8 

79. No part of a student’s covenant income or grant income is to be disregarded under paragraph 19 
of Schedule 8 (disregard of certain charitable and voluntary, etc., payments). 

Other amounts to be disregarded. 

80.—(1) For the purposes of ascertaining income other than grant income, covenant income and loans 
treated as income in accordance with paragraph 81 (treatment of student loans), any amounts 
intended for any expenditure specified in paragraph 76(2) (calculation of grant income), 
necessary as a result of his attendance on the course must be disregarded. 

(2) But sub-paragraph (1) applies only if, and to the extent that, the necessary expenditure exceeds 
or is likely to exceed the amount of the sums disregarded under paragraph 76(2) or (3), 77(3), 
78(1)(a) or (c) or 81(5) (calculation of grant income, covenant income and treatment of student 
loans) on like expenditure. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

70 Page 107



       

 

    
 

         
 

   
                    

      
  

          
               

             
                

           
     

      
                   

                
     

            
        

            
        

      
                

        
    

                  
          

   
          

              
          

                
     

     
      

                  
   

         
           

    
     

      
          

 
                  

         
          

 
               

           
                     

    
              

     
         

                     
          

               
     

               
 

               
            

Treatment of student loans 

81.—(1) A student loan is to be treated as income. 

(2) In calculating the weekly amount of the loan to be taken into account as income— 
(a) in respect of a course that is of a single academic year’s duration or less, a loan which is 

payable in respect of that period is to be apportioned equally between the weeks in the 
period beginning with— 
(i)except in a case where sub-paragraph (ii) applies, the reduction week, the first day of 
which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the single academic year; 
(ii)where the student is required to start attending the course in August or where the course 
is less than an academic year’s duration, the reduction week, the first day of which coincides 
with, or immediately follows, the first day of the course, 
and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes, the last day of the course; 

(b) in respect of an academic year of a course which starts other than on 1st September, a loan 
which is payable in respect of that academic year is to be apportioned equally between the 
weeks in the period— 
(i)beginning with the reduction week, the first day of which coincides with or immediately 
follows, the first day of that academic year, and 
(ii)ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with or immediately 
precedes, the last day of that academic year, 
but excluding any reduction weeks falling entirely within the quarter during which, in the 
opinion of the authority, the longest of any vacation is taken and for the purposes of this 
paragraph, “quarter” has the same meaning as for the purposes of the Education (Student 
Support) Regulations 2005; 

(c) in respect of the final academic year of a course (not being a course of a single year’s 
duration), a loan which is payable in respect of that final academic year is to be apportioned 
equally between the weeks in the period beginning with— 
(i)except in a case where sub-paragraph (ii) applies, the reduction week, the first day of 
which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of that academic year; 
(ii)where the final academic year starts on 1st September, the reduction week, the first day 
of which coincides with, or immediately follows, the earlier of 1st September or the first day 
of the autumn term, 
and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes, the last day of the course; 

(d) in any other case, the loan is to be apportioned equally between the weeks in the period 
beginning with the earlier of— 
(i)the first day of the first reduction week in September; or 
(ii)the reduction week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows the first 
day of the autumn term, 
and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes, the last day of June, 
and, in all cases, from the weekly amount so apportioned £10 is to be disregarded. 

(3) A student is to be treated as possessing a student loan in respect of an academic year where— 
(a) a student loan has been made to him in respect of that year; or 
(b) he could acquire such a loan in respect of that year by taking reasonable steps to do so. 

(4) Where a student is treated as possessing a student loan under sub-paragraph (3), the amount of 
the student loan to be taken into account as income must be, subject to sub-paragraph (5)— 
(a) in the case of a student to whom a student loan is made in respect of an academic year, a 

sum equal to— 
(i)the maximum student loan he is able to acquire in respect of that year by taking reasonable 
steps to do so; and 
(ii)any contribution whether or not it has been paid to him; 

(b) in the case of a student to whom a student loan is not made in respect of an academic year, 
the maximum student loan that would be made to the student if— 
(i)he took all reasonable steps to obtain the maximum student loan he is able to acquire in 
respect of that year; and 
(ii)no deduction in that loan was made by virtue of the application of a means test. 

(5) There must be deducted from the amount of income taken into account under sub-paragraph (4)— 
(a) the sum of £303 per academic year in respect of travel costs; and 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

71 Page 108



       

 

              
         

 
                 

              
      

        
 

      
 

             
       

 
             

   
 

          
      

        
         

         
    

        
             

 
         

                  
           

        
        

  
    

 
   

 
   

            
         

    
 

    
 

                   
         

    
 

  
 

                  
   

 
                  

 
                    

               
             
                   

 
       

 
                

            
               

       

(b) the sum of £390 per academic year towards the cost of books and equipment, 
whether or not any such costs are incurred. 

(6) A loan for fees, known as a fee loan or a fee contribution loan, made pursuant to regulations 
made under Article 3 of the Education (Student Support) (Northern Ireland) Order 1998, section 
22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998 or section 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) 
Act 1980, shall be disregarded as income. 

Treatment of payments from access funds 

82.—(1) This paragraph applies to payments from access funds that are not payments to which 
paragraph 85(2) or (3) (income treated as capital) applies. 

(2) A payment from access funds, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (3) applies, must be 
disregarded as income. 

(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4) of this paragraph and paragraph 40 of Schedule 8 (disregards in the 
calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners)— 
(a) any payments from access funds which are intended and used for an item of food, ordinary 

clothing or footwear, household fuel, or rent of a single applicant or, as the case may be, of 
the applicant or any other member of his family, and 

(b) any payments from access funds which are used for any council tax or water charges for 
which that applicant or member is liable, 

must be disregarded as income to the extent of £20 per week. 

(4) Where a payment from access funds is made— 
(a) on or after 1st September or the first day of the course, whichever first occurs, but before 

receipt of any student loan in respect of that year and that payment is intended for the 
purpose of bridging the period until receipt of the student loan; or 

(b) before the first day of the course to a person in anticipation of that person becoming a 
student, 

that payment must be disregarded as income. 

Disregard of contribution 

83. Where the applicant or his partner is a student and, for the purposes of assessing a contribution 
to the student’s grant or student loan, the other partner’s income has been taken into account, 
an amount equal to that contribution must be disregarded for the purposes of assessing that 
other partner’s income. 

Further disregard of student’s income 

84. Where any part of a student’s income has already been taken into account for the purposes of 
assessing his entitlement to a grant or student loan, the amount taken into account must be 
disregarded in assessing that student’s income. 

Income treated as capital. 

85.—(1) Any amount by way of a refund of tax deducted from a student’s covenant income must be 
treated as capital. 

(2) An amount paid from access funds as a single lump sum must be treated as capital. 

(3) An amount paid from access funds as a single lump sum which is intended and used for an item 
other than food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent, or which is used for an 
item other than any council tax or water charges for which that applicant or member is liable, 
must be disregarded as capital but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the payment. 

Disregard of changes occurring during summer vacation 

86. In calculating a student’s income the authority must disregard any change in the standard 
maintenance grant, occurring in the recognised summer vacation appropriate to the student’s 
course if that vacation does not form part of his period of study from the date on which the 
change occurred to the end of that vacation. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

72 Page 109



       

 

 
  

   
 

  
 

            
 

    
 

                 
                    

     
             
      

  
       

       
         

       
         

               
  

        
    

             
          

         
 

                 
         
              

     
                

       
      

  
 

         
 

             
             

            
   

 
         

            
  

 
       

        
             

       
 

     
 

      
           

              
                  
     

              
         

PART 12 Extended reductions 
CHAPTER 1 Extended reductions: pensioners 

Extended reductions: pensioners 

87. Paragraphs 88 to 93 apply in relation to applicants who are pensioners. 

Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners 

88.—(1) Except in the case of an applicant who is in receipt of state pension credit, an applicant who 
is entitled to a reduction under this scheme by virtue of falling within any of classes A to C is 
entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) where— 

(a) the applicant or the applicant’s partner was entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit; 
(b) entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased because the applicant or the 

applicant’s partner— 
(i)commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner; 
(ii)increased their earnings from such employment; or 
(iii)increased the number of hours worked in such employment, 
and that employment is or, as the case may be, those increased earnings or increased 
number of hours are expected to last five weeks or more; 

(c) the applicant or the applicant’s partner had been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying 
contributory benefit or a combination of qualifying contributory benefits for a continuous 
period of at least 26 weeks before the day on which the entitlement to a qualifying 
contributory benefit ceased; and 

(d) the applicant or the applicant’s partner was not entitled to and not in receipt of a 
qualifying income-related benefit in the last reduction week in which the applicant, or 
the applicant’s partner, was entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit. 

(2) An applicant must be treated as entitled to a reduction under this scheme by virtue of falling 
within any of classes A to C where— 

(a) the applicant ceased to be entitled to a reduction under this scheme because the 
applicant vacated the dwelling in which the applicant was resident; 

(b) the day on which the applicant vacated the dwelling was either in the week in which 
entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased, or in the preceding week; and 

(c) entitlement to the qualifying contributory benefit ceased in any of the circumstances 
listed in sub-paragraph (1)(b). 

Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners 

89.—(1) Where an applicant is entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits), 
the extended reduction period starts on the first day of the reduction week immediately 
following the reduction week in which the applicant, or the applicant’s partner, ceased to be 
entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit. 

(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant or an applicant’s partner ceases to be entitled 
to a qualifying contributory benefit on the day immediately following the last day of entitlement 
to that benefit. 

(3) The extended reduction period ends— 
(a) at the end of a period of four weeks; or 
(b) on the date on which the applicant who is receiving the extended reduction (qualifying 

contributory benefits) has no liability for council tax if that occurs first. 

Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners 

90.—(1) For any week during the extended reduction period the amount of the extended reduction 
(qualifying contributory benefits) the applicant is entitled to is the greater of— 
(a) the amount of council tax reduction to which the applicant was entitled by virtue of falling 

within any of classes A to C in the last reduction week before the applicant or the applicant’s 
partner ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit; 

(b) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant would be entitled under 
by virtue of falling within any of classes A to C for any reduction week during the extended 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

73 Page 110



       

 

      
      

              
         

  
 

         
 

               
              

             
  

 
 

    
 

     
     
         

 
             

                
          

            
  

 
                    

            
    

     
    
 

      
   

 
              

      
       

   
 

               
         

       
 

      
 

      
          
     
   

           
       

           
         

 
          

           
      

          
    

      
   

     

reduction period, if paragraph 88 (extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits): 
pensioners) did not apply to the applicant; or 

(c) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant’s partner would be 
entitled by virtue of falling within any of classes A to C if paragraph 88 did not apply to the 
applicant. 

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in the case of a mover. 

(3) Where an applicant is in receipt of an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) under 
this paragraph and the applicant’s partner makes an application for a reduction under this 
scheme, the authority must not award a reduction in pursuance of that application during the 
extended reduction period. 

Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)—movers: pensioners 

91.—(1) This paragraph applies— 
(a) to a mover; and 
(b) from the Monday following the day of the move. 

(2) The amount of the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) awarded from the 
Monday from which this paragraph applies until the end of the extended reduction period is to 
be the amount of reduction under this scheme which was payable to the mover for the last 
reduction week before the mover, or the mover’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying 
contributory benefit. 

(3) Where a mover’s liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to a second authority, 
the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) may take the form of a payment from 
this authority to— 
(a) the second authority; or 
(b) the mover directly. 

Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement to 
a reduction by virtue of classes A to C 

92.—(1) Where an applicant’s reduction under this scheme would have ended when the applicant 
ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit in the circumstances listed in 
paragraph 88(1)(b), that reduction does not cease to have effect until the end of the extended 
reduction period. 

(2) Part 13 (when entitlement begins and change of circumstances) does not apply to any extended 
reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) payable in accordance with paragraph 90(1)(a) or 
paragraph 91(2) (amount of extended reduction — movers: pensioners). 

Continuing reductions where state pension credit claimed: pensioners. 

93.—(1) This paragraph applies where— 
(a) the applicant is entitled to a reduction under this scheme; 
(b) sub-paragraph (2) is satisfied; and 
(c) either— 

(i)the applicant has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit or, if his 
entitlement to income-based jobseeker’s allowance or income-related employment and 
support allowance continued beyond that age, has attained the age of 65; or 
(ii)the applicant’s partner has actually claimed state pension credit. 

(2) This sub-paragraph is only satisfied if the Secretary of State has certified to the authority that 
the applicant’s partner has actually claimed state pension credit or that— 

(a) the applicant’s award of— 
(i)income support has terminated because the applicant has attained the qualifying age 
for state pension credit; or 
(ii)income-based jobseeker’s allowance or income-related employment and support 
allowance has terminated because the applicant has attained the qualifying age for state 
pension credit or the age of 65; and 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

74 Page 111



       

 

                 
    

 
         

      
          

         
             

  
 

                  
             
        

             
 

              
  

             
            

    
 

                
  

        
    

 
     

 
    

 
             

 
    

 
                
     

            
  

          
  

       
       
         

       
         

               
           

      
    

 
         

       
      
     

  
   

 
          

         
   

 
                 

         

(b) the applicant has claimed or is treated as having claimed or is required to make a claim 
for state pension credit. 

(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), in a case to which this paragraph applies, a person continues to be 
entitled to a reduction under this scheme for the period of 4 weeks beginning on the day following 
the day the applicant’s entitlement to income support or, as the case may be, income-based 
jobseeker’s allowance, income-related employment and support allowance, ceased, if and for so 
long as the applicant otherwise satisfies the conditions for entitlement to a reduction under this 
scheme. 

(4) Where a reduction under this scheme is awarded for the period of 4 weeks in accordance with 
sub-paragraph (3) above, and the last day of that period falls on a day other than the last day of 
a reduction week, then a reduction under this scheme must continue to be awarded until the end 
of the reduction week in which the last day of that period falls. 

(5) Throughout the period of 4 weeks specified in sub-paragraph (3) and any further period specified 
in sub-paragraph (4)— 

(a) the whole of the income and capital of the applicant is to be disregarded; 
(b) the maximum council tax reduction amount of the applicant is to be that which was 

applicable in his case immediately before that period commenced. 

(6) The maximum reduction is to be calculated in accordance with paragraph 29(1) if, since the date 
it was last calculated— 

(a) the applicant’s council tax liability has increased; or 
(b) a change in the deduction under paragraph 30 falls to be made. 

CHAPTER 2 Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners. 

Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners. 

94. Paragraphs 95 to 104 apply in relation to applicants who are not pensioners. 

Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners. 

95.—(1) An applicant who is entitled to a reduction under this scheme by virtue of falling within any 
of classes D to F is entitled to an extended reduction where— 

(a) the applicant or the applicant’s partner was entitled to a qualifying income-related 
benefit; 

(b) entitlement to a qualifying income-related benefit ceased because the applicant or the 
applicant’s partner— 
(i)commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner; 
(ii)increased their earnings from such employment; or 
(iii)increased the number of hours worked in such employment, 
and that employment is or, as the case may be, those increased earnings or increased 
number of hours are expected to last five weeks or more; and 

(c) the applicant or the applicant’s partner had been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying 
income-related benefit, jobseeker’s allowance, or a combination of those benefits for a 
continuous period of at least 26 weeks before the day on which the entitlement to a 
qualifying income-related benefit ceased. 

(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1)(c), an applicant or an applicant’s partner is to be treated 
as having been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying income-related benefit or jobseeker’s 
allowance during any period of less than five weeks in respect of which the applicant or the 
applicant’s partner was not entitled to any of those benefits because the applicant or the 
applicant’s partner was engaged in remunerative work as a consequence of their participation in 
an employment zone programme. 

(3) For the purpose of this paragraph, where an applicant or an applicant’s partner is entitled to and 
in receipt of joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance they must be treated as being entitled to and in 
receipt of jobseeker’s allowance. 

(4) An applicant must be treated as entitled to a reduction under this scheme by virtue of falling 
within any of classes D to F where— 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

75 Page 112



       

 

              
     

                
           

        
  

 
               

         
        

 
          

 
              

          
            

  
 

         
          

     
 

       
          
               

     
 

      
 

      
            
               

                  
       

              
              
          

     
              

      
  

 
         

 
                 

          
             

 
      

 
     

    
         

 
               

        
               

         
 

                    
            
    

     
    

(a) the applicant ceased to be entitled to a reduction under this scheme because the 
applicant vacated the dwelling in which the applicant was resident; 

(b) the day on which the applicant vacated the dwelling was either in the week in which 
entitlement to a qualifying income-related benefit ceased, or in the preceding week; and 

(c) entitlement to the qualifying income-related benefit ceased in any of the circumstances 
listed in sub-paragraph (1)(b). 

(5) This paragraph does not apply where, on the day before an applicant’s entitlement to income 
support ceased, regulation 6(5) of the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987(remunerative 
work: housing costs) applied to that applicant. 

Duration of extended reduction period: persons who are not pensioners. 

96.—(1) Where an applicant is entitled to an extended reduction, the extended reduction period 
starts on the first day of the reduction week immediately following the reduction week in which 
the applicant, or the applicant’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-related 
benefit. 

(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant or an applicant’s partner ceases to be entitled 
to a qualifying income-related benefit on the day immediately following the last day of 
entitlement to that benefit. 

(3) The extended reduction period ends— 
(a) at the end of a period of eight weeks; or 
(b) on the date on which the applicant to whom the extended reduction is payable has no liability 

for council tax if that occurs first. 

Amount of extended reduction: persons who are not pensioners. 

97.—(1) For any week during the extended reduction period the amount of the extended reduction 
to which an applicant is entitled is to be the higher of— 
(a) the amount of the reduction under this scheme to which the applicant was entitled by virtue 

of falling within any of classes D to F in the last reduction week before the applicant or the 
applicant’s partner ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit; 

(b) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant would be entitled by 
virtue of falling within any of classes D to F for any reduction week during the extended 
reduction period, if paragraph 95 (extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners) did 
not apply to the applicant; or 

(c) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant’s partner would be 
entitled by virtue of falling within any of classes D to F if paragraph 95 did not apply to the 
applicant. 

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in the case of a mover. 

(3) Where an applicant is in receipt of an extended reduction under this paragraph and the applicant’s 
partner makes an application for a reduction under this scheme, no amount of reduction under 
this scheme is to be awarded by the authority during the extended reduction period. 

Extended reductions—movers: persons who are not pensioners. 

98.—(1) This paragraph applies— 
(a)to a mover; and 
(b)from the Monday following the day of the move. 

(2) The amount of the extended reduction awarded from the Monday from which this paragraph 
applies until the end of the extended reduction period is to be the amount of reduction under 
this scheme to which the mover would have been entitled had they, or their partner, not ceased 
to be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit. 

(3) Where a mover’s liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to a second authority, 
the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) may take the form of a payment from 
this authority to— 

(a) the second authority; or 
(b) the mover directly. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

76 Page 113



       

 

 
         

  
 

               
            

          
   

 
              

          
  

 
      

 
                

              
             
      

  
       

       
         

       
         

               
  

        
    

             
           

     
 

                 
         
              

     
                

       
      

  
 

            
 

 
             
             

           
   

 
         

            
  

 
       

        
           

       
 

      
 

 
      

            

Relationship between extended reduction and entitlement to a reduction by virtue of classes D 
to F 

99.—(1) Where an applicant’s entitlement to a reduction under this scheme would have ended when 
the applicant ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit in the circumstances 
listed in paragraph 95(1)(b), that entitlement does not cease until the end of the extended 
reduction period. 

(2) Paragraphs 106 and 107 do not apply to any extended reduction payable in accordance with 
paragraph 95(1)(a) or 98(2) (amount of extended reduction—movers: persons who are not 
pensioners). 

Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not pensioners. 

100.—(1) An applicant who is entitled to a reduction under this scheme by virtue of falling within any 
of classes D to F is entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) where— 
(a) the applicant or the applicant’s partner was entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit; 
(b) entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased because the applicant or the 

applicant’s partner— 
(i)commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner; 
(ii)increased their earnings from such employment; or 
(iii)increased the number of hours worked in such employment, 
and that employment is or, as the case may be, those increased earnings or increased 
number of hours are expected to last five weeks or more; 

(c) the applicant or the applicant’s partner had been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying 
contributory benefit or a combination of qualifying contributory benefits for a continuous 
period of at least 26 weeks before the day on which the entitlement to a qualifying 
contributory benefit ceased; and 

(d) the applicant or the applicant’s partner was not entitled to and not in receipt of a 
qualifying income-related benefit in the last reduction week in which the applicant, or the 
applicant’s partner, was entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit. 

(2) An applicant must be treated as entitled to a reduction under this scheme by virtue of falling 
within any of classes D to F where— 

(a) the applicant ceased to be entitled to a reduction under this scheme because the 
applicant vacated the dwelling in which the applicant was resident; 

(b) the day on which the applicant vacated the dwelling was either in the week in which 
entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased, or in the preceding week; and 

(c) entitlement to the qualifying contributory benefit ceased in any of the circumstances 
listed in sub-paragraph (1)(b). 

Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not 
pensioners. 

101.—(1) Where an applicant is entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits), 
the extended reduction period starts on the first day of the reduction week immediately 
following the reduction week in which the applicant, or the applicant’s partner, ceased to be 
entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit. 

(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant or an applicant’s partner ceases to be entitled 
to a qualifying contributory benefit on the day immediately following the last day of entitlement 
to that benefit. 

(3) The extended reduction period ends— 
(a) at the end of a period of four weeks; or 
(b) on the date on which the applicant entitled to the extended reduction (qualifying 

contributory benefits) has no liability for council tax if that occurs first. 

Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not 
pensioners. 

102.—(1) For any week during the extended reduction period the amount of the extended reduction 
(qualifying contributory benefits) payable to an applicant is to be the greater of— 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

77 Page 114



       

 

              
                  
            

              
              
     
         

              
          

  
 

         
 

               
              

           
  

 
        

 
     

     
         

 
              

             
         

                
  

 
                    

            
    

     
    

 
      

       
 

              
      

      
  

 
               

     
       

     
 

     
 

     
 

    
    

   
               

      
     

            
       

 

(a) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant was entitled by virtue 
of falling within any of classes D to F in the last reduction week before the applicant or 
the applicant’s partner ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit; 

(b) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant would be entitled by 
virtue of falling within any of classes D to F for any reduction week during the extended 
reduction period, if paragraph 100 (extended reductions (qualifying contributory 
benefits): persons who are not pensioners) did not apply to the applicant; or 

(c) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant’s partner would be 
entitled by virtue of falling within any of classes D to F if paragraph 100 did not apply to 
the applicant. 

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in the case of a mover. 

(3) Where an applicant is in receipt of an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) under 
this paragraph and the applicant’s partner makes an application for a reduction under this 
scheme, no amount of reduction may be allowed by the appropriate authority during the 
extended reduction period. 

Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)—movers: persons who are not pensioners. 

103.—(1) This paragraph applies— 
(a) to a mover; and 
(b) from the Monday following the day of the move. 

(2) The amount of the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefit) payable from the Monday 
from which this paragraph applies until the end of the extended reduction period is to be the 
amount of reduction under this scheme which was awarded to the mover for the last reduction 
week before the mover, or the mover’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory 
benefit. 

(3) Where a mover’s liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to a second authority, 
the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) may take the form of a payment from 
this authority to— 

(a) the second authority; or 
(b) the mover directly. 

Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement to 
reduction by virtue of classes D to F 

104.—(1) Where an applicant’s reduction under this scheme would have ended when the applicant 
ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit in the circumstances listed in 
paragraph 100(1)(b), that reduction does not cease until the end of the extended reduction 
period. 

(2) Paragraphs 106 and 107 (dates on which entitlement begins and change of circumstances take 
effect) do not apply to any extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) payable in 
accordance with paragraph 102(1)(a) or 103(2) (amount of extended reduction—movers: persons 
who are not pensioners). 

CHAPTER 3 Extended reductions: movers in the authority’s area 

Extended reductions: applicant moving into the authority’s area. 

105. Where— 
(a) an application is made to the authority (“the current authority”) for a reduction under this 

scheme, and 
(b) the applicant, or the partner of the applicant, is in receipt of an extended reduction from— 

(i)another billing authority in England; or 
(ii)a billing authority in Wales, 
the current authority must reduce any reduction to which the applicant is entitled under this 
scheme by the amount of that extended reduction. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

78 Page 115



       

 

        
     

 
            

      
  

   
 

                  
               

            
   

 
          

 
              

       
      

           
        

           
 

                  
                

 
 

          
        

 
                    

               
            
                 

  
 

                
    

 
                 

         
 

                  
       

            
              

 
                  

                
        

        
                 

   
 

          
                

         
                

    
 

     
            
   

          

PART 13 When entitlement begins and change of circumstances. 
Date on which entitlement begins. 

106.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any person by whom or in respect of whom an application for 
a reduction under this scheme is made and who is otherwise entitled to that reduction is so 
entitled from the reduction week following the date on which that application is made or is 
treated as made. 

(2) Where a person is otherwise entitled to a reduction under this scheme and becomes liable for the 
first time for the authority’s council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident in the 
reduction week in which his application is made or is treated as made, he is so entitled from that 
reduction week. 

Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect. 

107.—(1) Except in cases where paragraph 60 (disregard of changes in tax, contributions, etc.) applies 
and subject to the following provisions of this paragraph and (in the case of applicants who 
are pensioners) paragraph 108 (change of circumstance where state pension credit in 
payment), a change of circumstances which affects entitlement to, or the amount of, a 
reduction under this scheme (“change of circumstances”), takes effect from the first day of 
the reduction week following the date on which the change actually occurs. 

(2) Where that change is cessation of entitlement to any benefit under the benefit Acts, the date on 
which the change actually occurs is the day immediately following the last day of entitlement to 
that benefit. 

(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), where the change of circumstances is a change in the amount of 
council tax payable, it takes effect from the day on which it actually occurs. 

(4) Where the change of circumstances is a change in the amount a person is liable to pay in respect 
of council tax in consequence of regulations under section 13 of the 1992 Act (reduced amounts 
of council tax) or changes in the discount to which a dwelling may be subject under section 11 
or 11A of that Act(discounts), it takes effect from the day on which the change in amount has 
effect. 

(5) Where the change of circumstances is the applicant’s acquisition of a partner, the change takes 
effect on the day on which the acquisition takes place. 

(6) Where the change of circumstances is the death of an applicant’s partner or their separation, it 
takes effect on the day the death or separation occurs. 

(7) If two or more changes of circumstances occurring in the same reduction week would, but for this 
paragraph, take effect in different reduction weeks in accordance with sub-paragraphs (1) to (6) 
they take effect from the day to which the appropriate sub-paragraph from (3) to (6) above 
refers, or where more than one day is concerned, from the earlier day. 

(8) Where the change of circumstances is that income, or an increase in the amount of income, other 
than a benefit or an increase in the amount of a benefit under the SSCBA, is paid in respect of a 
past period and there was no entitlement to income of that amount during that period, the 
change of circumstances takes effect from the first day on which such income, had it been paid 
in that period at intervals appropriate to that income, would have fallen to be taken into account 
for the purposes of this scheme. 

(9) Without prejudice to sub-paragraph (8), where the change of circumstances is the payment of 
income, or arrears of income, in respect of a past period, the change of circumstances takes 
effect from the first day on which such income, had it been timeously paid in that period at 
intervals appropriate to that income, would have fallen to be taken into account for the purposes 
of this scheme. 

(10) Sub-paragraph (11) applies if— 
(a) the applicant or his partner has attained the age of 65; and 
(b) either— 

(i)a non-dependent took up residence in the applicant’s dwelling; or 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

79 Page 116



       

 

              
     

 
      

     
 

        
             

     
            

  
            

                  
  

                  
        

 
                 

               
         

 
      

 
       

        
                

          
               

  
 
 

                 
    

    
           

  
    

          
              

    
    

     
 

               
    

   
                

          
         

    
                  

   
              

    
    

     
 

                 
             

             
   

 
                  

                

(ii)there has been a change of circumstances in respect of a non-dependent so that the 
amount of the deduction which falls to be made under paragraph 30 increased. 

(11) Where this sub-paragraph applies, the change of circumstances referred to in sub-paragraph 
(10)(b) takes effect from the effective date. 

(12) In sub-paragraph (11), but subject to sub-paragraph (13), “the effective date” means— 
(a) where more than one change of a kind referred to in sub-paragraph (10)(b) relating to the 

same non-dependent has occurred since— 
(i)the date on which the applicant’s entitlement to a reduction under this scheme first began; 
or 
(ii)the date which was the last effective date in respect of such a change, 
whichever is the later, the date which falls 26 weeks after the date on which the first such 
change occurred; 

(b) where paragraph (a) does not apply, the date which falls 26 weeks after the date on which 
the change referred to in sub-paragraph (10)(b) occurred. 

(13) If in any particular case the date determined under sub-paragraph (12) is not the first day of a 
reduction week, the effective date in that case is to be the first day of the next reduction week 
to commence after the date determined under that sub-paragraph. 

Change of circumstances where state pension credit in payment 

108.—(1) Sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) apply where— 
(a) the applicant is in receipt of state pension credit; 
(b) the amount of state pension credit awarded to him is changed in consequence of a change in 

the applicant’s circumstances or the correction of an official error; and 
(c) the change in the amount of state pension credit payable to the applicant results in a change 

in the amount of a reduction he receives under this scheme. 

(2) Where the change of circumstance is that an increase in the amount of state pension credit 
payable to the applicant results in— 
(a) an increase in the reduction he receives under this scheme, the change takes effect from the 

first day of the reduction week in which state pension credit becomes payable at the 
increased rate; or 

(b) a decrease in the reduction he receives under this scheme, the change takes effect from the 
first day of the reduction week next following the date on which— 
(i)the local authority receives notification from the Secretary of State of the increase in the 
amount of state pension credit; or 
(ii)state pension credit is increased, 
whichever is the later. 

(3) Where the change of circumstance (“the relevant change”) is that the applicant’s state pension 
credit has been reduced and in consequence the reduction the applicant receives under this 
scheme reduces— 
(a) in a case where the applicant’s state pension credit has been reduced because the applicant 

failed to notify the Secretary of State timeously of a change of circumstances, the relevant 
change takes effect from the first day of the reduction week from which state pension credit 
was reduced; or 

(b) in any other case the relevant change takes effect from the first day of the reduction week 
next following the date on which— 
(i)the authority receives notification from the Secretary of State of the reduction in the 
amount of state pension credit; or 
(ii)state pension credit is reduced, 
whichever is the later. 

(4) Where the change of circumstance is that state pension credit is reduced and in consequence of 
the change, the amount of a reduction he receives under this scheme is increased, the change 
takes effect from the first day of the reduction week in which state pension credit becomes 
payable at the reduced rate. 

(5) Where a change of circumstance occurs in that an award of state pension credit has been made 
to the applicant or his partner and this would result in a decrease in the amount of reduction he 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

80 Page 117



       

 

         
   

                
  

      
     

 
                   

    
          

       
     

       
            
               

    
 

                 
      
      

                
 

             
      

        
           

 
   

   
       

             
             

   
      
     

  
 

            
          

      
 

 
               

      
 

 
    

  
 

       
   

 
   

     
               
        

                 
       
         

     
 

                     
   

receives under this scheme, the change takes effect from the first day of the reduction week 
next following the date on which— 
(a) the authority receives notification from the Secretary of State of the award of state pension 

credit; or 
(b) entitlement to state pension credit begins, 
whichever is the later. 

(6) Where, in the case of an applicant who, or whose partner, is or has been awarded state pension 
credit comprising only the savings credit, there is— 
(a) a change of circumstances of a kind described in any of sub-paragraphs (2) to (5) which results 

from a relevant calculation or estimate; and 
(b) a change of circumstances which is a relevant determination, 

each of which results in a change in the amount of reduction the applicant receives under 
this scheme, the change of circumstances referred to in sub-paragraph (b) takes effect from 
the day specified in sub-paragraph (2), (3), (4) or (5) as the case may be, in relation to the 
change referred to in paragraph (a). 

(7) Where a change of circumstance occurs in that a guarantee credit has been awarded to the 
applicant or his partner and this would result in an increase in the amount of a reduction the 
applicant receives under this scheme, the change takes effect from the first day of the reduction 
week next following the date in respect of which the guarantee credit is first payable. 

(8) Where a change of circumstances would, but for this sub-paragraph, take effect under the 
preceding provisions of this paragraph within the 4 week period specified in paragraph 93 
(continuing reductions where state pension credit claimed), that change takes effect on the first 
day of the first reduction week to commence after the expiry of the 4 week period. 

(9) In this paragraph— 
“official error” means an error made by— 
(a) the authority or a person— 

(i)authorised to carry out any function of the authority relating to this scheme; or 
(ii)providing services relating to this scheme directly or indirectly to the authority; or 

(b) an officer of— 
(i)the Department for Work and Pensions; or 
(ii)the Commissioners of Inland Revenue, 
acting as such, 

but excludes any error caused wholly or partly by any person or body not specified in 
paragraph (a) or (b) of this definition and any error of law which is shown to have been an 
error only by virtue of a subsequent decision of the court; 

“relevant calculation or estimate” means the calculation or estimate made by the Secretary 
of State of the applicant’s or, as the case may be, the applicant’s partner’s income and 
capital for the purposes of the award of state pension credit; 

“relevant determination” means a change in the determination by the authority of the 
applicant’s income and capital using the relevant calculation or estimate, in accordance with 
paragraph 36(1). 

PART 14 Applications (including duties to notify authority of change of circumstances) 
Making an application 

109.—(1) In the case of— 
(a) a couple or (subject to paragraph (b)) members of a polygamous marriage an application is 

to be made by whichever one of them they agree should so apply or, in default of agreement, 
by such one of them as the authority determines; or 

(b) in the case of members of a polygamous marriage to whom paragraph 37 (income and capital: 
award of universal credit) applies, an application is to be made by whichever one of the 
parties to the earliest marriage that still subsists they agree should so apply or, in default of 
agreement, by such one of them as the authority determines. 

(2) Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is unable for the time 
being to act, and— 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

81 Page 118



       

 

      
         

                
          

    
      

       
              

            
      

 
                     

        
            

               
        

  
 

                     
         
          

          
   

 
             

  
   
                  

     
            

   
 

                  
               

       
           

 
     

   
       

  
             

  
 

       
 

       
   

              
    

                
       

  
           

    
   

            
             
        
              

     
        

   

(a) a deputy has been appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or as the case 
may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or 

(b) in Scotland, his estate is being administered by a judicial factor or any guardian acting or 
appointed under the Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 who has power to apply or, 
as the case may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or 

(c) an attorney with a general power or a power to apply or, as the case may be, receive benefit, 
has been appointed by that person under the Powers of Attorney Act 1971, the Enduring 
Powers of Attorney Act 1985, or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 or otherwise, 

that deputy, judicial factor, guardian, or attorney, as the case may be, may make an application 
on behalf of that person. 

(3) Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is unable for the time 
being to act and sub-paragraph (2) does not apply to him, the authority may, upon written 
application made to them by a person who, if a natural person, is over the age of 18, appoint 
that person to exercise on behalf of the person who is unable to act, any right to which that 
person might be entitled under this scheme and to receive and deal on his behalf with any sums 
payable to him. 

(4) Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is for the time being 
unable to act and the Secretary of State has appointed a person to act on his behalf under 
regulation 33 of the Social Security (Claims and Payments) Regulations 1987 (persons unable to 
act), the authority may if that person agrees, treat him as if he had been appointed by them 
under sub-paragraph (3). 

(5) Where the authority has made an appointment under sub-paragraph (3) or treated a person as an 
appointee under sub-paragraph (4)— 
(a) it may at any time revoke the appointment; 
(b) the person appointed may resign his office after having given 4 weeks notice in writing to the 

authority of his intention to do so; 
(c) )any such appointment must terminate when the authority is notified of the appointment of 

a person mentioned in sub-paragraph (2). 

(6) Anything required by this scheme to be done by or to any person who is for the time being unable 
to act may be done by or to the persons mentioned in sub-paragraph (2) above or by or to the 
person appointed or treated as appointed under this paragraph and the receipt of any such person 
so appointed shall be a good discharge to the authority for any sum paid. 

(7) The authority must— 
(a) inform any person making an application of the duty imposed by paragraph 115(1)(a); 
(b) explain the possible consequences (including prosecution) of failing to comply with that duty; 

and 
(c) set out the circumstances a change in which might affect entitlement to the reduction or its 

amount. 

Date on which an application is made. 

110.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (7), the date on which an application is made is— 
(a) in a case where— 

(i)an award of state pension credit which comprises a guarantee credit has been made to the 
applicant or his partner, and 
(ii)the application is made within one month of the date on which the claim for that state 
pension credit which comprises a guarantee credit was received at the appropriate DWP 
office, 
the first day of entitlement to state pension credit which comprises a guarantee credit arising 
from that claim; 

(b) in a case where— 
(i)an applicant or his partner is a person in receipt of a guarantee credit, 
(ii)the applicant becomes liable for the first time to pay council tax in respect of the dwelling 
which he occupies as his home, and 
(iii)the application to the authority is received at the designated office within one month of 
the date of the change, 
the date on which the change takes place; 

(c) in a case where— 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

82 Page 119



       

 

        
        

    
                

        
  

        
          

  
   

           
       

   
             
        
              

     
        

   
                

       
             

           
       

        
  

             
           

     
       

 
        

          
     

     
          

      
            

     
    

 
                 

  
               

               
      

               
             

       
  

 
                   

               
 

      
               

  
      

  
               

    
           

         

(i)an award of income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related 
employment and support allowance or an award of universal credit has been made to the 
applicant or his partner, and 
(ii)the application is made within one month of the date on which the claim for that income 
support, jobseeker’s allowance, employment and support allowance or universal credit was 
received, 
the first day of entitlement to income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, an 
income-related employment and support allowance or universal credit arising from that 
claim; 

(d) in a case where— 
(i)an applicant or his partner is a person on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s 
allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance or has an award of 
universal credit, 
(ii)the applicant becomes liable for the first time to pay council tax in respect of the dwelling 
which he occupies as his home, and 
(iii)the application to the authority is received at the designated office within one month of 
the date of the change, 
the date on which the change takes place; 

(e) in a case where— 
(i)the applicant is the former partner of a person who was, at the date of his death or their 
separation, entitled to a reduction under this scheme, and 
(ii)where the applicant makes an application for a reduction under this scheme within one 
month of the date of the death or the separation, 
the date of the death or separation; 

(f) except where paragraph (a), (b) or (e) is satisfied, in a case where a properly completed 
application is received within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers 
reasonable) of the date on which an application form was issued to the applicant following 
the applicant first notifying, by whatever means, the authority of an intention to make an 
application, the date of first notification; 

(g) In any other case, the date on which the application is received at the designated office. 

(2) For the purposes only of sub-paragraph (1)(c) a person who has been awarded an income-based 
jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance is to be treated 
as entitled to that allowance for any days which immediately precede the first day in that award 
and on which he would, but for regulations made under— 
(a) in the case of income-based jobseeker’s allowance, paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 to the 

Jobseekers Act 1995 (waiting days); or 
(b) in the case of income-related employment and support allowance, paragraph 2 of Schedule 

2 to the Welfare Reform Act 2007 (waiting days), 
have been entitled to that allowance. 

(3) Where the defect referred to in paragraph 7 of Schedule 1 to this scheme (application by 
telephone)— 
(a) is corrected within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers reasonable) 

of the date the authority last drew attention to it, the authority must treat the application 
as if it had been duly made in the first instance; 

(b) is not corrected within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers 
reasonable) of the date the authority last drew attention to it, the authority must treat the 
application as if it had been duly made in the first instance where it considers it has sufficient 
information to decide on the application. 

(4) The authority is to treat a defective application as if it had been validly made in the first instance 
if, in any particular case, the conditions specified in sub-paragraph (5)(a), (b) or (c) are satisfied. 

(5) The conditions are that— 
(a) where paragraph 4(a) of Schedule 1 (incomplete form) applies, the authority receives at its 

designated office the properly completed application or the information requested to 
complete it or the evidence within one month of the request, or such longer period as the 
authority may consider reasonable; or 

(b) where paragraph 4(b) of Schedule 1 (application not on approved form or further information 
requested by authority) applies— 
(i)the approved form sent to the applicant is received at the designated office properly 
completed within one month of it having been sent to him; or, as the case may be, 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

83 Page 120



       

 

          
   

               
             

  
     

  
 

                   
        

      
         

    
       

 
                   

              
                
       

    
   

   
              

  
              

                  
          

               
       

  
 

                
                

            
  

 
         

 
            

             
       

 
        

 
               
              
   

 
               

 
 

    
 

        
            

        
  

 
            

  
              

        
 

(ii)the applicant supplies whatever information or evidence was requested under paragraph 
4 of that Schedule within one month of the request, 
or, in either case, within such longer period as the authority may consider reasonable; or 

(c) where the authority has requested further information, the authority receives at its 
designated office the properly completed application or the information requested to 
complete it within one month of the request or within such longer period as the authority 
considers reasonable. 

(6) Except in the case of an application made by a person treated as not being in Great Britain, where 
a person has not become liable for council tax to the authority but it is anticipated that he will 
become so liable within the period of 8 weeks (the relevant period), he may apply for a reduction 
under this scheme at any time in that period in respect of that tax and, provided that liability 
arises within the relevant period, the authority is to treat the application as having been made 
on the day on which the liability for the tax arises. 

(7) Except in the case of an application made by a person treated as not being in Great Britain, where 
the applicant is not entitled to a reduction under this scheme in the reduction week immediately 
following the date of his application but the authority is of the opinion that unless there is a 
change of circumstances, he will be entitled to a reduction under this scheme for a period 
beginning not later than— 
(a) in the case of an application made by— 

(i)a pensioner, or 
(ii)a person who has attained, or whose partner has attained, the age which is 17 weeks 
younger than the qualifying age for state pension credit, 
the seventeenth reduction week following the date on which the application is made, or 

(b) in the case of an application made by a person who is not a pensioner, the thirteenth 
reduction week following the date on which the application is made, 
the authority may treat the application as made on a date in the reduction week immediately 
preceding the first reduction week of that period of entitlement and award a reduction 
accordingly. 

(8) In this paragraph “appropriate DWP office” means an office of the Department for Work and 
Pensions dealing with state pension credit or an office which is normally open to the public for 
the receipt of claims for income support, a jobseeker’s allowance or an employment and support 
allowance. 

Applications where an applicant’s Universal Credit ceases an award of Council Tax Reduction 

(9) Where a council tax reduction claim has stopped due to the level of the applicant’s Universal 
Credit and associated income, that claim will remain valid from the date that Council Tax 
Reduction has stopped for a period of six calendar months. 

Joint claims for Housing Benefit and Council Tax Reduction. 

(10) Where an applicant is entitled to Housing Benefit and notifies the authority of a wish to claim 
Council Tax Reduction, the authority will assess Council Tax Reduction without the need for a 
separate claim form 

(11) The effective date of the applicant shall be the date the request is made to the authority (in 
any format). 

Backdating of applications: pensioners 

111.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the time for the making of an application under this scheme 
by a pensioner is as regards any day on which, apart from satisfying the condition of making an 
application, the applicant is entitled to such a reduction, that day and the period of three months 
immediately following it. 

(2) In any case where paragraph 110(1)(a) applies, sub-paragraph (1) does not entitle a person to 
apply for a reduction under this scheme in respect of any day earlier than three months before 
the date on which the claim for state pension credit is made (or treated as made by virtue of any 
provision of the Social Security (Claims and Payments) Regulations 1987). 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

84 Page 121



       

 

      
 

              
              

         
                

          
            

               
  

 
        

          
        
       

  
 

 
 

          
      
       

 
      

       
          

        
           

       
                

    
             

         
 

      
                    

  
      

              
          

  
       

 
           

       
     

   
          

             
  

 
             

         
 

           
                 

             
     

                 
              

         
 

       
    

Backdating of applications: persons who are not pensioners. 

112.—(1) Where an applicant who is a person who is not a pensioner— 
(a) makes an application under this scheme which includes (or which he subsequently requests 

should include) a period before the application is made; and 
(b) from a day in that period, up to the date he made the application (or subsequently requested 

that the application should include a past period), the applicant had continuous good cause 
for failing to make an application (or request that the application should include that period), 

the application is to be treated as made on the date determined in accordance with sub-
paragraph (2). 

(2) That date is the latest of— 
(a) the first day from which the applicant had continuous good cause; 
(b) the day 1 month before the date the application was made; 
(c) the day 1 month before the date when the applicant requested that the application should 

include a past period. 

Information and evidence 

113.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), a person who makes an application for a reduction under this 
scheme must satisfy sub-paragraph (2) in relation both to himself and to any other person in 
respect of whom he is making the application. 

(2) This sub-paragraph is satisfied in relation to a person if— 
(a) the application is accompanied by— 

(i)a statement of the person’s national insurance number and information or evidence 
establishing that that number has been allocated to the person; or 
(ii)information or evidence enabling the authority to ascertain the national insurance number 
that has been allocated to the person; or 

(b) the person has made an application for a national insurance number to be allocated to him 
and the application for the reduction is accompanied by— 
(i)evidence of the application for a national insurance number to be so allocated; and 
(ii)the information or evidence enabling it to be so allocated. 

(3) Sub-paragraph (2) does not apply— 
(a) in the case of a child or young person in respect of whom an application for a reduction is 

made; 
(b) to a person who— 

(i)is a person treated as not being in Great Britain for the purposes of this scheme; 
(ii)is subject to immigration control within the meaning of section 115(9)(a) of the 
Immigration and Asylum Act 1999; and 
(iii)has not previously been allocated a national insurance number. 

(4) Subject to sub-paragraph (5), a person who makes an application, or a person to whom a reduction 
under this scheme has been awarded, must furnish such certificates, documents, information and 
evidence in connection with the application or the award, or any question arising out of the 
application or the award, as may reasonably be required by the authority in order to determine 
that person’s entitlement to, or continuing entitlement to a reduction under this scheme and 
must do so within one month of the authority requiring him to do so or such longer period as the 
authority may consider reasonable. 

(5) Nothing in this paragraph requires a person to furnish any certificates, documents, information, 
or evidence relating to a payment to which sub-paragraph (7) applies. 

(6) Where a request is made under sub-paragraph (4), the authority must— 
(i) inform the applicant or the person to whom a reduction under this scheme has been awarded 

of his duty under paragraph 115 (duty to notify change of circumstances) to notify the 
authority of any change of circumstances; and 

(ii) without prejudice to the extent of the duty owed under paragraph 115, indicate to him either 
orally or by notice or by reference to some other document available to him on application 
and without charge, the kind of change of circumstances which is to be notified. 

(7) This sub-paragraph applies to any of the following payments— 
(a) a payment which is— 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

85 Page 122



       

 

             
              

      
           

      
         

        
       

    
    

    
   

      
    

         
 

                  
          

       
      
          
         

   
 

    
 

                 
                

 
                 

    
 

              
   

 
                

         
 

                 
        

 
                

  
 

                
              
     

 
      

 
            
              

      
     

          
 

                 
        

           
   

   
    

(i)disregarded under paragraph 28 of Schedule 8 (sums disregarded in the calculation of 
income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners) or paragraph 38 of Schedule 
10 (capital disregards: persons who are not pensioners); or 
(ii) made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton 
Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the Caxton Foundation” insert “, the London Emergencies 
Trust, the We Love Manchester Emergency Fund, the Grenfell Tower charitable funds, 
the Grenfell Tower Residents’ Discretionary Fund, the Windrush Compensation Scheme 
or the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund; 

(aa) a Grenfell Tower support payment 
(b) a payment which is disregarded under paragraph 16 of Schedule 9 (payments made under 

certain trusts and certain other payments), other than a payment under the Independent 
Living Fund (2006); 

(c) a payment which is disregarded under paragraph 30(9)(b) or (c) (payment made under 
certain trusts etc.) or paragraph 2(b) or (c) of Schedule 4 (payments made under certain 
trusts etc.) other than a payment under the Independent Living Fund (2006). 

(8) Where an applicant or a person to whom a reduction under this scheme has been awarded or any 
partner has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and is a member of, or a person 
deriving entitlement to a pension under, a personal pension scheme, he must where the authority 
so requires furnish the following information— 
(a) the name and address of the pension fund holder; 
(b) such other information including any reference or policy number as is needed to enable the 

personal pension scheme to be identified. 

Amendment and withdrawal of application 

114.—(1) A person who has made an application may amend it at any time before a decision has been 
made on it by a notice in writing delivered or sent to the designated office. 

(2) Where the application was made by telephone in accordance with Part 1 of Schedule 1, the 
amendment may also be made by telephone. 

(3) Any application amended in accordance with sub-paragraph (1) or (2) is to be treated as if it had 
been amended in the first instance. 

(4) A person who has made an application may withdraw it by notice to the designated office at any 
time before a decision has been made on it. 

(5) Where the application was made by telephone in accordance with Part 1 of Schedule 1, the 
withdrawal may also be made by telephone. 

(6) Any notice of withdrawal given in accordance with sub-paragraph (4) or (5) has effect when it is 
received. 

(7) Where a person, by telephone, amends or withdraws an application the person must (if required 
to do so by the authority) confirm the amendment or withdrawal by a notice in writing delivered 
or sent to the designated office. 

Duty to notify changes of circumstances. 

115.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (3), (6) and (7), the applicant (or any person acting on his behalf) 
must comply with sub-paragraph (2) if there is a relevant change of circumstances at any time— 
(a) between the making of an application and a decision being made on it, or 
(b) after the decision is made (where the decision is that the applicant is entitled to a reduction 

under this scheme) including at any time while the applicant is in receipt of such a reduction. 

(2) The applicant (or any person acting on his behalf) must notify any change of circumstances which 
the applicant (or that person) might reasonably be expected to know might affect his entitlement 
to, or the amount of, a reduction under this scheme (a “relevant change of circumstances”) by 
giving notice to the authority— 
(a) in writing; or 
(b) by telephone— 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

86 Page 123



       

 

              
                  

   
                

  
            

                   
      

 
             

       
              
                 

         
               

 
         

        
  

 
          

                
              
   

 
           

               
         

     
  

                 
             

              
       

          
 

               
   

   
     

        
      

 
             

        
      

             
       

            
    

              
     

    
             

   
     

     
 

                
          

 
    

 

(i)where the authority has published a telephone number for that purpose or for the purposes 
of Part 1 of Schedule 1 unless the authority determines that in any particular case or class of 
case notification may not be given by telephone; or 
(ii)in any case or class of case where the authority determines that notice may be given by 
telephone; or 

(c) by any other means which the authority agrees to accept in any particular case, 
within a period of 21 days beginning with the day on which the change occurs, or as soon as 
reasonably practicable after the change occurs, whichever is later. 

(3) The duty imposed on a person by sub-paragraph (1) does not extend to notifying— 
(a) changes in the amount of council tax payable to the authority; 
(b) )changes in the age of the applicant or that of any member of his family; 
(c) in the case of an applicant in receipt of a relevant benefit, changes in circumstances which 

affect the amount of the benefit but not the amount of the reduction under this scheme to 
which he is entitled, other than the cessation of that entitlement to the benefit. 

(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(c) “relevant benefit” means income support, an income-
based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance or universal 
credit. 

(5) Notwithstanding sub-paragraph (3)(b) or (c) an applicant is required by sub-paragraph (1) to notify 
the authority of any change in the composition of his family arising from the fact that a person 
who was a member of his family is now no longer such a person because he has ceased to be a 
child or young person. 

(6) The duty imposed on a person by sub-paragraph (1) includes— 
(a) in the case of a person falling within class C (pensioners: alternative maximum council tax 

reduction) giving written notice to the authority of changes which occur in the number of 
adults in the dwelling or in their total gross incomes and, where any such adult ceases to be 
in receipt of state pension credit, the date when this occurs; 

(b) in the case of a person falling within class F (persons who are not pensioners: alternative 
maximum council tax reduction) giving written notice to the authority of changes which occur 
in the number of adults in the dwelling or in their total gross incomes and, where any such 
adult ceases to be in receipt of income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or 
an income-related employment and support allowance, the date when this occurs. 

(7) A person who has been awarded a reduction under this scheme who is also on state pension credit 
must report— 
(a) changes affecting the residence or income of any non-dependent normally residing with the 

applicant or with whom the applicant normally resides; 
(b) any absence from the dwelling which exceeds or is likely to exceed 13 weeks or where the 

absence is from Great Britain, which exceeds or is likely to exceed 4 weeks. 

(8) In addition to the changes required to be reported under sub-paragraph (7), a person whose state 
pension credit comprises only the savings credit must also report— 
(a) changes affecting a child living with him which may result in a change in the amount of 

reduction under this scheme allowed in his case, but not changes in the age of the child; 
(b) any change in the amount of the applicant’s capital to be taken into account which does or 

may take the amount of his capital to more than £16,000; 
(c) any change in the income or capital of— 

(i)a non-dependent whose income and capital are treated as belonging to the applicant in 
accordance with paragraph 34 (circumstances in which income of a non-dependent is to be 
treated as applicant’s); or 
(ii)a person to whom paragraph 36(2)(e) (partner treated as member of the household under 
paragraph 8) refers, 
and whether such a person or, as the case may be, non-dependent stops living or begins or 
resumes living with the applicant. 

(9) A person who is entitled to a reduction under this scheme and on state pension credit need only 
report to the authority the changes specified in sub-paragraphs (7) and (8). 

PART 15 Decisions by authority 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

87 Page 124



       

 

   
 

                  
    

   
 

  
                  

  
                 

 
                 

 
 

              
  

   
     

  
            

   
 

              
        

 
           

       
         

 
               

                
          

  
 

          
           

 
    

              
     

 
     

   
                     

      
               

     
             

                 
      

               
          
               

    
 

       
 

     
   

     
        

                

Decision by authority 

116. The authority must make a decision on an application for a reduction under this scheme within 
14 days of paragraphs 110 and 113 and Part 1 of Schedule 1 being satisfied, or as soon as 
reasonably practicable thereafter. 

Notification of decision 
117.—(1) The authority must notify in writing any person affected by a decision made by it under this 

scheme— 
• in the case of a decision on an application, forthwith or as soon as reasonably practicable 

thereafter; 
• in any other case, within 14 days of that decision or as soon as reasonably practicable 

thereafter. 

(2) Where the decision is to award a reduction the notification under sub-paragraph (1) must include 
a statement— 

• informing the person affected of the duty imposed by paragraph 115(1)(b); 
• explaining the possible consequences (including prosecution) of failing to comply with 

that duty; and 
• setting out the circumstances a change in which might affect entitlement to the 

reduction or its amount. 

(3) Where the decision is to award a reduction, the notification under sub-paragraph (1) must include 
a statement as to how that entitlement is to be discharged. 

(4) In any case, the notification under sub-paragraph (1) must inform the person affected of the 
procedure by which an appeal may be made and must refer the person to the provisions in this 
scheme relating to the procedure for making an appeal. 

(5) A person affected to whom the authority sends or delivers a notification of decision may, within 
one month of the date of the notification of that decision request in writing the authority to 
provide a written statement setting out the reasons for its decision on any matter set out in the 
notice. 

(6) The written statement referred to in sub-paragraph (5) must be sent to the person requesting it 
within 14 days or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter. 

(7) For the purposes of this paragraph a person is to be treated as a person affected by a decision of 
the authority under this scheme where the rights, duties or obligations of that person are affected 
by that decision and the person falls within sub-paragraph (8). 

(8) This sub-paragraph applies to— 
• the applicant; 
• in the case of a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling and is unable 

for the time being to act— 
(i)a deputy appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or as the case may be, 
receive benefit on his behalf; or 
(ii)in Scotland, a judicial factor or any guardian acting or appointed under the Adults with 
Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 who has power to apply or, as the case may be, receive benefit 
on the person’s behalf; or 
(iii)an attorney with a general power or a power to apply or, as the case may be, receive 
benefit, has been appointed by that person under the Powers of Attorney Act 1971, the 
Enduring Powers of Attorney Act 1985, or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 or otherwise, 

• a person appointed by the authority under paragraph 109(3). 

PART 16 Circumstances in which a payment may be made. 

Payment where there is joint and several liability. 
118.—(1) Where— 

(a) a person is entitled to a reduction under this scheme in respect of his liability for the 
authority’s council tax as it has effect in respect of a financial year; 

(b) the person entitled to the reduction is jointly and severally liable for the council tax; and 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

88 Page 125



       

 

           
         

      
                   

    
 

         
   

 
                  

             
         

              
       

 
 
    

 
       

 
             

            
        
             

        
 

     
           

    
             

           
              

   
 

               
            

 
       

             
        

              
       

        
            

       
     

              
             

               
   
               

         
    

 
            
            

   
 

   
 

         
       

   
 

(c) the authority determines that discharging his entitlement by reducing the amount of his 
liability to which regulation 20(2) of the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) 
Regulations 1992 refers would be inappropriate, 

it may make a payment to him of the amount of reduction to which he is entitled, rounded where 
necessary to the nearest penny. 

(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), any payment made under sub-paragraph (1) must be made to the 
person who is entitled to the reduction. 

(3) Where a person other than the person who is entitled to the reduction under this scheme made 
the application for the reduction and that first person is a person acting pursuant to an 
appointment under paragraph 109(3) (persons appointed to act for a person unable to act) or is 
treated as having been so appointed by virtue of paragraph 109(5), the amount of the reduction 
may be paid to that person. 

PART 17 
Award or payment of reduction. 

Time and manner of granting reduction under this scheme. 

119.—(1) Subject to paragraph 122 (payments on death), where a person is entitled to a reduction 
under this scheme in respect of his liability for the authority's council tax as it has effect in 
respect of the financial year, the authority must discharge his entitlement— 
(a) by reducing, so far as possible, the amount of his liability to which regulation 20(2) of the 
Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1992 refers; or 
(b) where— 

(i) such a reduction is not possible; or 
(ii) such a reduction would be insufficient to discharge the entitlement to a reduction 
under this scheme; or 
(iii) the person entitled to the reduction is jointly and severally liable for the council 
tax and the authority determines that such a reduction would be inappropriate, by 
making payment to him of the amount of reduction to which he is entitled, rounded 
where necessary to the nearest penny. 

(2) The authority must notify the person entitled to a reduction under this scheme of the amount of 
that reduction and how his entitlement is to be discharged in pursuance of sub-paragraph (1). 

(3) In a case to which sub-paragraph (1)(b) refers— 
(a) if the amount of the council tax for which he remains liable in respect of the financial 
year, after any reduction to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) refers has been made, is insufficient 
to enable his entitlement to a reduction under this scheme in respect thereof to be 
discharged, upon the final instalment of that tax becoming due any outstanding reduction— 

(i) must be paid to that person if he so requires; or 
(ii) in any other case must (as the authority determines) either be repaid or credited 
against any subsequent liability of the person to make a payment in respect of the 
authority's council tax as it has effect for any subsequent year; 

(b) if that person has ceased to be liable for the authority's council tax and has discharged 
the liability for that tax, the outstanding balance (if any) of the reduction under this scheme 
in respect thereof must be paid within 14 days or, if that is not reasonably practicable, as 
soon as practicable thereafter 
(c) in any other case, the reduction under this scheme must be paid within 14 days of the 
receipt of the application at the offices of the authority or, if that is not reasonably 
practicable, as soon as practicable thereafter. 

(4) For the purposes of this paragraph “instalment” means any instalment of the authority's council 
tax to which regulation 19 of the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1992 
refers (council tax payments). 

Person to whom reduction is to be paid. 

120.—(1) Subject to paragraph 122 (payment on death) and sub-paragraph (2), any payment of the 
amount of a reduction under paragraph 116(1)(b) must be made to the person who is entitled 
to the reduction. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

89 Page 126



       

 

                 
             

         
              

      
 

   
 

                   
        

   
              

        
             

 
             

             
           

 
   

 
                   

     
           

    
  

 
            

            
 

 
           

 
     

                
    

      
             

                
        

 
              

     
             

  
            

      
 

    
            
      
              

      
 

         
                 

          
 

 
   

              
 

                
  

(2) Where a person other than the person who is entitled to the reduction under this scheme made 
the application for the reduction and that first person is a person acting pursuant to an 
appointment under paragraph 107(3) (persons appointed to act for a person unable to act) or is 
treated as having been so appointed by virtue of paragraph 107(5), the amount of the reduction 
may be paid to that person. 

Shortfall in reduction 

121. Where, on the revision of a decision allowing a reduction under this scheme to a person, it is 
determined that the amount allowed was less than the amount to which that person was entitled, 
the authority must either— 

(a) make good any shortfall in reduction which is due to that person, by reducing so far as 
possible the next and any subsequent payments he is liable to make in respect of the council 
tax of the authority as it has effect for the financial year until that shortfall is made good; 
or 
(b) where this is not possible or the person concerned so requests, pay the amount of any 
shortfall in reduction due to that person within 14 days of the revision of the decision being 
made or if that is not reasonably practicable, as soon as possible afterwards. 

Payment on the death of the person entitled. 

122. Where the person entitled to any reduction under this scheme has died and it is not possible to 
award the reduction which is due in the form of a reduction of the council tax for which he was 
liable, the authority must make payment of the amount of the reduction to his executor or 
administrator in accordance with regulation 58(4) of the Council Tax (Administration and 
Enforcement) Regulations1992. 

(2) Where an Act of Parliament or subordinate legislation repeals and re-enacts, with or without 
modification, a previous enactment (including a previous regulation) then, unless the contrary 
intention appears. 

Transitional provisions for restrictions on amounts for children and young persons (pensioners) 

123 (1) This regulation applies where— 
(a) on 31st March 2018, a person is liable to pay council tax at a reduced rate by virtue of a 
council tax reduction under an authority’s scheme established under section 13A(2) of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992 (“a section 13A(2) scheme”); and 
(b) the person is, or the person and the person’s partner are between them, responsible for 
more than two individuals who are either children or young persons and who are members of 
the same household (each such individual is referred to as a protected individual”). 

(2) Where this regulation applies, the amendments made by regulation 7 do not apply to the person 
entitled to a council tax reduction referred to in paragraph (1) until— 

(a) the person makes a new application for a reduction under an authority’s section 13A(2) 
scheme; or 
(b) the person or the person’s partner (if any) becomes responsible for a new individual, 
whichever is the first to occur. 

(3) Paragraphs (4) to (8) apply where— 
(a) the amendments made by regulation 7 apply by virtue of paragraph (2)(b); 
(b) the child tax credit provisions do not apply; and 
(c) the person has not made a new application for a reduction under an authority’s scheme 
for a reduction under an authority’s section 13A(2) scheme. 

(4) Notwithstanding the default provisions, a child amount shall be included in the applicable amount 
in relation to any protected individual, in relation to any time when the person or the person’s 
partner (if any) is responsible for the individual and the individual is a member of the same 
household. 

(5) Paragraph (6) applies where— 
(a) the person or the person’s partner (if any) is responsible for one or more protected 
individuals who are members of the same household; and 
(b) either of them is responsible for one or more new individuals who are members of the 
same household. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

90 Page 127



       

 

 
            
        

      
         

 
   
              

           
               

          
      

 
            

 
        

              
  

 
            
      

              
                 

       
 

      
         

    
          

 
             

 
            

         
            

        
             

             
           
   

                 
       

(6) Where this paragraph applies, any protected individual for whom the person or the person’s 
partner is responsible is to be counted for the purpose of deciding whether, under the default 
provisions, an additional child amount is to be included in the applicable amount with respect to 
the new individual or individuals referred to in paragraph (5)(b). 

(7) Paragraph (8) applies where— 
(a) the number of protected individuals for whom either the person or the person’s partner 
(if any) is responsible, and who are members of the same household, is one; 
(b) the number of new individuals for whom either the person or the person’s partner is 
responsible, and who are members of the same household, is two or more; and 
(c) a different child amount would apply to different individuals. 

(8) Where this paragraph applies, the child amounts to be included in the applicable amount shall 
be— 

(a) the child amount in relation to the protected individual; and 
(b) a child amount in relation to such one of the new individuals as will result in the greatest 
possible total amount. 

(9) Under paragraph (3), for the purposes of determining whether the child tax credit provisions 
apply, by virtue of paragraph 6(1B) of Schedule 1 to the 2012 Regulations, where the person or 
the person’s partner is responsible for one or more protected individuals, the total amount that 
would be included in the applicable amount under the default provisions shall be taken to be the 
total that would be included under paragraphs (4), (6) and (8). 

(10) For the purposes of this regulation— 
(a) “the 2012 Regulations” means the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 
Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012; 
(b) “applicable amount”, “child”, “partner” and “young person” have the same meanings as 
in the 2012 Regulations; 
(c) “child amount” means the amount determined under paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 to the 
2012 Regulations; 
(d) “child tax credit provisions” means the provisions of paragraph 6(1)(b) of Schedule 1 to 
the 2012 Regulations (as substituted by paragraph 6(1C) of that Schedule); 
(e) “default provisions” means the provisions of paragraph 6(1)(b) of Schedule 1 to the 2012 
Regulations (as substituted by paragraph 6(1C) of that Schedule); 
(f) “new individual” means a child or young person who is not a protected individual; 
(g) any reference to an individual being part of the same household means being part of the 
same household with the person who is entitled to a reduction under an authority’s section 
13A(2) scheme and the person’s partner (if any); 
(h) a person is to be treated as responsible for a child or young person in the circumstances 
set out in regulation 7 of the 2012 Regulations 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

91 Page 128



       

 

    
 

 
 

      
 

             
               
        

   
            
               

  
              

       
 

 
                 

   
 

                
 

             
                   

  
                   

       
           

           
     

       
 

                 
  

   
 

              
           

 
               

   
 

                  
      

   
 

                
        

 
                 

       
 

    
 

     
 

              
          
        

                 
     

 
 

      

SCHEDULE 1 Procedural matters 

Paragraph 11 

PART 1 Procedure for an application for a reduction under this scheme 

Procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction under this scheme; 
1. Paragraphs 2 to 7 apply to an application for a reduction under this scheme. 
2. An application may be made— 

(a) in writing, 
(b) by means of an electronic communication in accordance with Part 4 of this Schedule, or 
(c) where the authority has published a telephone number for the purpose of receiving such 

applications, by telephone; 
(d) Any notification from the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions which informs the 

authority that any applicant has been awarded Universal Credit shall be treated as an 
application for reduction. 

3.—(1) An application which is made in writing must be made to the designated office on a properly 
completed form. 

(2) The form must be provided free of charge by the authority for the purpose. 

4. – (1)Where an application made in writing is defective because— 
(a) it was made on the form supplied for the purpose but that form is not accepted by the 

authority as being properly completed; or 
(b) it was made in writing but not on the form supplied for the purpose and the authority does 

not accept the application as being in a written form which is sufficient in the circumstances 
of the case having regard to the sufficiency of the written information and evidence, 

the authority may, in a case to which sub-paragraph (a) applies, request the applicant to 
complete the defective application or, in the case to which sub-paragraph (b) applies, supply the 
applicant with the approved form or request further information and evidence. 

(2) An application made on a form provided by the authority is properly completed if completed in 
accordance with the instructions on the form, including any instructions to provide information 
and evidence in connection with the application. 

5.—(1) If an application made by electronic communication is defective the authority must provide 
the person making the application with an opportunity to correct the defect. 

(2) An application made by electronic communication is defective if the applicant does not provide 
all the information the authority requires. 

6. In a particular case the authority may determine that an application made by telephone is only 
valid if the person making the application approves a written statement of his circumstances 
provided by the authority. 

7.—(1) If an application made by telephone is defective the authority must provide the person making 
the application with an opportunity to correct the defect. 

(2) An application made by telephone is defective if the applicant does not provide all the information 
the authority requests during the telephone call. 

PART 2 Procedure for making an appeal. 

Procedure by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the authority. 

8. A person who is aggrieved by a decision of the authority which affects— 
(a) the person’s entitlement to a reduction under this scheme, or 
(b) the amount of any reduction under this scheme, 

may serve a written notice on the authority stating the matter by which, and the grounds on 
which, he is aggrieved. 

9. The authority must— 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

92 Page 129



       

 

    
   

        
           

 
                 

              
               

   
 

     
 

     
 

 
                

  
   
            
               

   
 

   
                

  
       

 
               

     
 

  
 

 
 

    
    

   
        

       
 

              
   

 
               

          
  

 
                 

    
  

 
              

     
   
    

  
        

 
                  

      
 

                 
               

 

(a) consider the matter to which the notice relates; 
(b) notify the aggrieved person in writing— 

(i)that the ground is not well founded, giving reasons for that belief; or 
(ii)that steps have been taken to deal with the grievance, stating the steps taken. 

10. Where, following notification under paragraph 9(b)(i) or (ii), the person is still aggrieved, or if 
the authority fails to notify the person aggrieved in accordance with paragraph 9(b) within two 
months of the service of his notice, he may appeal to a valuation tribunal under section 16 of 
the 1992 Act. 

PART 3 Procedure for applying for a discretionary reduction. 

Procedure for an application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992 
Act 

11.—(1) An application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992 Act may 
be made— 

(a) in writing; 
(b) by means of an electronic communication in accordance with Part 4 of this Schedule; or 
(c) where the authority has published a telephone number for the purposes of receiving such 

applications, by telephone. 

(2) Where— 
(a) the authority has made a determination under section 13A(1)(c) in relation to a class of case 

in which liability is to be reduced; and 
(b) a person in that class would otherwise be entitled to a reduction under this scheme, 

that person’s application for a reduction under this scheme may also be treated as an application 
for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c). 

PART 4 Electronic communication 

Interpretation 

12. In this Part— 
“information” includes an application, certificate, notice or other evidence; 
“official computer system” means a computer system maintained by or on behalf of the authority for 
the sending, receiving, processing, or storing of any information. 
Conditions for the use of electronic communication 

13.—(1) The authority may use an electronic communication in connection with applications for, and 
awards of, reductions under this scheme. 

(2) A person other than the authority may use an electronic communication in connection with the 
matters referred to in sub-paragraph (1) if the conditions specified in sub-paragraphs (3) to (6) 
are satisfied. 

(3) The first condition is that the person is for the time being permitted to use an electronic 
communication by an authorisation given by means of a direction of the Chief Executive of the 
authority. 

(4) The second condition is that the person uses an approved method of— 
(a) authenticating the identity of the sender of the communication; 
(b) electronic communication; 
(c) authenticating any application or notice delivered by means of an electronic communication; 

and 
(d) subject to sub-paragraph (7), submitting to the authority any information. 

(5) The third condition is that any information sent by means of an electronic communication is in a 
form supplied for the purposes of this Part of this Schedule. 

(6) The fourth condition is that the person maintains such records in written or electronic form as 
may be specified in a direction given by the Chief Executive of the authority. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

93 Page 130



       

 

               
  

 
                 

             
 

   
 

           
             
           
    

 
      

 
               

     
    

     
      

  
 

                 
           

 
                 

               
 

        
 

    
               

     
             

     
                  

       
 

    
 

                   
    

       
        

  
       

  
 

                    
      

             
   

 
                  

          
             

 
     

 
                   

              
     

  

(7) Where the person uses any method other than the method approved of submitting any 
information, that information is to be treated as not having been submitted. 

(8) In this paragraph “approved” means approved by means of a direction given by the Chief Executive 
of the authority for the purposes of this Part of this Schedule. 

Use of intermediaries 

14. The authority may use intermediaries in connection with— 
(a) the delivery of any information by means of an electronic communication; and 
(b) the authentication or security of anything transmitted by such means, 
and may require other persons to use intermediaries in connection with those matters. 

Effect of delivering information by means of electronic communication. 

15.—(1) Any information which is delivered by means of an electronic communication is to be treated 
as having been delivered in the manner or form required by any provision of this scheme, on the 
day the conditions imposed— 
(a) by this Part; and 
(b) by or under an enactment, 
are satisfied. 

(2) The authority may determine that any information is to be treated as delivered on a different day 
(whether earlier or later) from the day provided for in sub-paragraph (1). 

(3) Information must not be taken to have been delivered to an official computer system by means 
of an electronic communication unless it is accepted by the system to which it is delivered. 

Proof of identity of sender or recipient of information 

16. If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, the identity of— 
(a) the sender of any information delivered by means of an electronic communication to an 

official computer system; or 
(b) the recipient of any such information delivered by means of an electronic communication 

from an official computer system, 
the sender or recipient, as the case may be, is to be presumed to be the person whose name is 
recorded as such on that official computer system. 

Proof of delivery of information 

17.—(1) If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, that the use of an 
electronic communication has resulted in the delivery of any information this must be presumed 
to have been the case where— 
(a) any such information has been delivered to the relevant authority, if the delivery of that 

information has been recorded on an official computer system; or 
(b) any such information has been delivered by the relevant authority if the delivery of that 

information has been recorded on an official computer system. 

(2) If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, that the use of an electronic 
communication has resulted in the delivery of any such information, this must be presumed not 
to be the case if that information delivered to the relevant authority has not been recorded on 
an official computer system. 

(3) If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, when any such information 
sent by means of an electronic communication has been received, the time and date of receipt 
must be presumed to be that recorded on an official computer system. 

Proof of content of information 

18. If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, the content of any 
information sent by means of an electronic communication, the content must be presumed to 
be that recorded on an official computer system. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

94 Page 131



       

 

 
 
 

    
 

    
 

                 
         

               
           

 
           

               
       
            

   
 

     
                

                  
               

          
      

 
 

         
            
        

       
 

 
          

 
      

                
    

      
             

                
            

 
                

     
             

  
             

       
 

       
            
      
              

      
 

              
      

             
     

 
      

              
 

SCHEDULE 2 Applicable amounts: 

PART 1 Persons who are pensioners Paragraph 25 

The amount specified in column (2) below in respect of each person or couple specified in column 
(1) is the amount specified for the purposes of paragraph 25(1)(a) is; 

(a) on or after 1st April 2021, the amount specified in column (2) of Table 1 below in respect 
of each person or couple referred to in column (1) of that Table. 

(1A) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) as it applies apart from sub-paragraph (1C), 
where the family includes more than two individuals who are either children or young persons 
and under paragraph 2 of that Schedule a different amount applies to different individuals, the 
two amounts to be included in the applicable amount shall be those that result in the greatest 
possible total amount. 

(1B) Sub-paragraph (1C) applies where— 
(a)(whether or not as part of a tax credit couple as defined in section 3(5A) of the Tax Credits 
Act 2002) the applicant has an award of child tax credit (whether or not any amount is payable 
by way of such credit) in respect of a child or young person who is a member of his family; and 
(b)the total amount to be included in the applicable amount under sub-paragraph (1)(b) as 
substituted by sub-paragraph (1C) would be higher than the total amount that would be 
included under paragraph (1)(b) apart from sub-paragraph (1C). 

(1C) Where this paragraph applies, for sub-paragraph (1)(b) substitute— 
(b)an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 2 of that Schedule in respect of any 
child or young person who is a member of his family and in respect of whom the individual 
element of child tax credit has been included in the determination of the maximum rate of 
that credit; 

Transitional provisions for restrictions on amounts for children and young persons 

(1) This regulation applies where— 
(a)on 31st March 2018, a person is liable to pay council tax at a reduced rate by virtue of a 
council tax reduction under an authority’s scheme established under section 13A(2) of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992 (“a section 13A(2) scheme”); and 
(b)the person is, or the person and the person’s partner are between them, responsible for 
more than two individuals who are either children or young persons and who are members of 
the same household (each such individual is referred to as a “protected individual”). 

(2) Where this regulation applies, the amendments made by regulation 7 do not apply to the 
person entitled to a council tax reduction referred to in paragraph (1) until— 
(a)the person makes a new application for a reduction under an authority’s section 13A(2) 
scheme; or 
(b)the person or the person’s partner (if any) becomes responsible for a new individual, 
whichever is the first to occur. 

(3) Paragraphs (4) to (8) apply where— 
(a)the amendments made by regulation 7 apply by virtue of paragraph (2)(b); 
(b)the child tax credit provisions do not apply; and 
(c)the person has not made a new application for a reduction under an authority’s scheme 
for a reduction under an authority’s section 13A(2) scheme. 

(4) Notwithstanding the default provisions, a child amount shall be included in the applicable 
amount in relation to any protected individual, in relation to any time when the person or 
the person’s partner (if any) is responsible for the individual and the individual is a member 
of the same household. 

(5) Paragraph (6) applies where— 
(a)the person or the person’s partner (if any) is responsible for one or more protected 
individuals who are members of the same household; and 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

95 Page 132



       

 

                
  

 
             

        
          
             

 
      

              
           

               
          

      
 

               
   

        
              

  
 

             
         

              
         

                
 

       
         

    
          

 
             

 
            

         
            

        
             

             
           
   

                 
      

 
 

 
  
     

  
 

 
        
   

 
         

 
            
            

         
           

 
          

   

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

(b)either of them is responsible for one or more new individuals who are members of the 
same household. 

(6) Where this paragraph applies, any protected individual for whom the person or the 
person’s partner is responsible is to be counted for the purpose of deciding whether, under 
the default provisions, an additional child amount is to be included in the applicable amount 
with respect to the new individual or individuals referred to in paragraph (5)(b). 

(7) Paragraph (8) applies where— 
(a)the number of protected individuals for whom either the person or the person’s partner 
(if any) is responsible, and who are members of the same household, is one; 
(b)the number of new individuals for whom either the person or the person’s partner is 
responsible, and who are members of the same household, is two or more; and 
(c)a different child amount would apply to different individuals. 

(8) Where this paragraph applies, the child amounts to be included in the applicable amount 
shall be— 
(a)the child amount in relation to the protected individual; and 
(b)a child amount in relation to such one of the new individuals as will result in the greatest 
possible total amount. 

(9) Under paragraph (3), for the purposes of determining whether the child tax credit 
provisions apply, by virtue of paragraph 6(1B) of Schedule 1 to the 2012 Regulations, where 
the person or the person’s partner is responsible for one or more protected individuals, the 
total amount that would be included in the applicable amount under the default provisions 
shall be taken to be the total that would be included under paragraphs (4), (6) and (8). 

(10) For the purposes of this regulation— 
(a)“the 2012 Regulations” means the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 
Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012; 
(b)“applicable amount”, “child”, “partner” and “young person” have the same meanings as 
in the 2012 Regulations; 
(c)“child amount” means the amount determined under paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 to the 
2012 Regulations; 
(d)“child tax credit provisions” means the provisions of paragraph 6(1)(b) of Schedule 1 to 
the 2012 Regulations (as substituted by paragraph 6(1C) of that Schedule); 
(e)“default provisions” means the provisions of paragraph 6(1)(b) of Schedule 1 to the 2012 
Regulations (as substituted by paragraph 6(1C) of that Schedule); 
(f)“new individual” means a child or young person who is not a protected individual; 
(g)any reference to an individual being part of the same household means being part of the 
same household with the person who is entitled to a reduction under an authority’s section 
13A(2) scheme and the person’s partner (if any); 
(h)a person is to be treated as responsible for a child or young person in the circumstances 
set out in regulation 7 of the 2012 Regulations. 

Table 1 

Column (1) 
Person, couple, or polygamous marriage 

Column (2) 
Amount 

(1) Single applicant or lone parent who has attained pensionable age 
before 1st April 2021 

(2) Couple one or both members before 1st April 2021 

(3) If the applicant is a member of a polygamous marriage and one or more 
members of the marriage have attained pensionable age before 1st April 2021 
(a) for the applicant and the other party to the marriage; 
(b) for each additional spouse who is a member of the same household 
as the applicant. 
(4) Single applicant or lone parent who has attained pensionable age on or 
after 1st April 2021 

£244.40 

£366.00 

(a) 366.00 
(b) £121.60 

£227.10 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

96 Page 133



       

 

      
   

           
            

         
               

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

   
 

                
           

   
 

  
 

  
 

   
 

 
 

      
           

     
  
        

       
  

 

 
 

 

 

             
         

 
 

  
                

         
    

      

           

 
   

      
             

               
      

               
             

          
 

 
    

        
              
     

 
      

      
       

            

(5) Couple where both members have attained pensionable age on or after 
1st April 2021 

(6) If the applicant is a member of a polygamous marriage and all members 
of the marriage have attained pensionable age on or after 1st April 2021— 

(a) for the applicant and the other party to the marriage; 
(b) for each additional spouse who is a member of the same household as the 
applicant 

2.Child or young person amounts 

£346.60 

£346.60 
£119.50 

(1) The amounts specified in column (2) below in respect of each person specified in column 
(1) are the amounts, for the relevant period specified in column (1), specified for the 
purposes of paragraph 25(1)(b). 

Column (1) Column (2) 

Child or young Person Amount 

Person in respect of the period— 
(a) beginning on that person's date of birth and ending on the day 

preceding the first Monday in September following that person's 
sixteenth birthday; 

(b) beginning on the first Monday in September following that person's 
sixteenth birthday and ending on the day preceding that person's 
twentieth birthday. 

(a) £84.66; 
(b) £84.66. 

(2) In column (1) of the table “the first Monday in September” means the Monday which first 
occurs in the month of September in any year. 

PART 2 Family premium 

3. Family premium 
The amount for the purposes of paragraph 6(1)(c) of Schedule 1 in respect of a 
family of which at least one member is a child or young person— 

(a) is £19.48 in respect of a reduction week which begins in the period 
beginning with 1st April 2015 and ending with 30th April 2016; 

(b) is nil in respect of a reduction week which begins after 1st May 2016. 

Transitional provision 
(1) The amendment in regulation Part 2-3 (Family Premium) of this policy (or 2(4)(b) for the 
purposes of SI2041/2015) does not apply to a person who, on 30th April 2016, is liable to pay council 
tax at a reduced rate by virtue of a council tax reduction under an authority’s scheme established 
under section 13A (2) of the Act and is— 

(a) a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person; or 
(b) a partner in a polygamous marriage, where he or she, or another partner of the 
polygamous marriage, is responsible for a child or young person who is a member of the same 
household. 

(2) Paragraph (1) does not apply if— 
(a) sub-paragraph (a) or (b) of that paragraph ceases to apply; or 
(b) the person makes a new application for a reduction under an authority’s scheme under 
section 13A (2) of the Act. 

(3) For the purposes of this regulation— 
(a) “the Act” means the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 
(b) “child”, “family”, “partner”, “polygamous marriage” and “young person” have the 
meanings given by regulation 2 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

97 Page 134



       

 

    
 
 

  
 

                
            

 
            

                  
  
               

        
 

     
       

         
        
         

 
          

          
               

   
  
           

   
           

    
         

      
          

         
  

 
   

         
 

          
   

                  
    

    
  

         
         

       
           

        
    

  
       

      
            

             
        
 

  
    

  
          

   
       

           

Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012. 

PART 3 - Premiums 

4. The premiums specified in Part 4 shall, for the purposes of paragraph 24(1)(d, be applicable 
to an applicant who satisfies the condition specified in this Part in respect of that premium. 

5.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), for the purposes of this Part of this Schedule, once a premium 
is applicable to an applicant under this Part, a person shall be treated as being in receipt of any 
benefit for— 

(a) in the case of a benefit to which the Social Security (Overlapping Benefits) Regulations 1979 
applies, any period during which, apart from the provision of those Regulations, he would be 
in receipt of that benefit; and 

(b) any period spent by a person in undertaking a course of training or instruction provided or 
approved by the Secretary of State under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973, 
or by Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highland and Islands Enterprise 
under section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 or for any period during 
which he is in receipt of a training allowance. 

(2) For the purposes of the carer premium under paragraph 9, a person is to be treated as 
being in receipt of a carer's allowance by virtue of sub-paragraph (1)(a) only if and for so 
long as the person in respect of whose care the allowance has been claimed remains in 
receipt of— 
(a) attendance allowance; 
(b) the care component of disability living allowance at the highest or middle rate 

prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the SSCBA; 
(c) the care component of child disability payment at the highest or middle rate in 

accordance with regulation 11(5) of the DACYP Regulations; 
(d) the daily living component of personal independence payment paid at either rate 

prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012; 
(e) the daily living component of adult disability payment at the standard or enhanced 

rate in accordance with regulation 5 of the DAWAP Regulations; or 
(f) an AFIP. 

Severe disability premium 
6.—(1) The condition is that the applicant is a severely disabled person. 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant shall be treated as being a severely disabled 
person if, and only if— 

a. in the case of a single applicant, a lone parent or an applicant who is treated as 
having no partner in consequence of sub-paragraph (3)— 
(i) he is in receipt of— 
(aa)attendance allowance; 
(bb)the care component of disability living allowance at the highest or middle 
rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the SSCBA; 
(cc)the daily living component of personal independence payment paid at either 
rate prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012; 
(dd)the daily living component of adult disability payment at the standard or 
enhanced rate in accordance with regulation 5 of the DAWAP Regulations; or 
(ee)an AFIP; and 
(ii) subject to sub-paragraph (6), he has no non-dependants aged 18 or over 
normally residing with him or with whom he is normally residing; and 
(iii) no person is entitled to, and in receipt of, a carer’s allowance under section 70 
of the SSCBA or has an award of universal credit which includes the carer element 
under regulation 29 of the Universal Credit Regulations 2013 in respect of caring for 
him; 

b. in the case of an applicant who has a partner— 
(i) the applicant is in receipt of— 
(aa)attendance allowance; 
(bb)the care component of disability living allowance at the highest or middle rate 
prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the SSCBA; 
(cc)the daily living component of personal independence payment paid at either 
rate prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012; 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

98 Page 135



       

 

        
    

  
                

         
  

       
             

      
         

                  
             

       
       

  
 

            
              

              
 

 
           

            
     

                
 

        
           

                  
  

 
         

   
  

           
 

        
      

          
 

  
                

 
 

        
      

     
            
 

         
              
          

       
         

        
        

       
 

      
            

        
 

          
         

(dd)the daily living component of adult disability payment at the standard or 
enhanced rate in accordance with regulation 5 of the DAWAP Regulations; or 
(ee)an AFIP; 
(ii) his partner is also in receipt of such an allowance or, if he is a member of a 
polygamous marriage, each other member of that marriage is in receipt of such an 
allowance; and 
(iii) subject to sub-paragraph (6), the applicant has no non-dependants aged 18 or 
over normally residing with him or with whom he is normally residing, 
and either a person is entitled to and in receipt of a carer’s allowance or has an 
award of universal credit that includes the carer element in respect of caring for 
only one of the couple or, if he is a member of a polygamous marriage, for one or 
more but not all the members of the marriage, or as the case may be, no person is 
entitled to and in receipt of such an allowance or has such an award of universal 
credit in respect of caring for either member of a couple or any of the members of 
the marriage. 

(3) Where an applicant has a partner who does not satisfy the condition in sub-paragraph 
(2)(b)(ii), and that partner is blind or is treated as blind within the meaning of sub-paragraph (4), 
that partner shall be treated for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) as if he were not a partner of the 
applicant. 

(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3), a person is blind if he is registered in a register compiled 
by a local authority under section 29 of the National Assistance Act 1948 (welfare services) or, in 
Scotland, has been certified as blind and in consequence he is registered in a register maintained by 
or on behalf of a council constituted under section 2 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1994. 

(5) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (4), a person who has ceased to be registered as blind on 
regaining his eyesight shall nevertheless be treated as blind and as satisfying the additional condition 
set out in that sub-paragraph for a period of 28 weeks following the date on which he ceased to be 
so registered. 

(6) (6) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a)(ii) and (2)(b)(iii) no account shall be taken of— 
(a)a person receiving— 

(i)attendance allowance; 
(ii)the care component of disability living allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed 
in accordance with section 72(3) of the SSCBA; 
(iii)the daily living component of personal independence payment paid at either rate 
prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012; 
(iv)the daily living component of adult disability payment at the standard or enhanced rate 
in accordance with regulation 5 of the DAWAP Regulations; or 
(v)an AFIP; or 

(b) a person who is blind or is treated as blind within the meaning of sub-paragraphs (4) and 
(5). 

(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(b) a person shall be treated— 
(a) as being in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living 

allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the 
SSCBA, if he would, but for his being a patient for a period exceeding 28 days, be so in 
receipt; 

(b) as being in receipt of the daily living component of personal independence payment paid at 
the rate prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 if he would, 
but for his being a patient for a period exceeding 28 days, be so in receipt, notwithstanding 
section 86 of that Act and regulations made there under; 

(c) as being entitled to and in receipt of a carer’s allowance or having an award of universal 
credit which includes the carer element if he would, but for the person for whom he was 
caring being a patient in hospital for a period exceeding 28 days, be so entitled and in receipt 
or have such an award of universal credit. 

(8) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a)(iii) and (2)(b)— 
(a) no account shall be taken of an award of carer’s allowance to the extent that payment of 

such an award is back-dated for a period before the date on which the award is first paid; 
and 

(b) references to a person being in receipt of a carer’s allowance or as having an award of 
universal credit which includes the carer element shall include reference to a person who 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

99 Page 136



       

 

                   
           

   
 

 
 

    
          

             
           

     
           
        
           

       
       

       
         

              
            

     
 

 
         

               
       

 
 

   
                    

     
             

           
             

      
                

    
                

     
            

            
               

   
                  

       
        

       
  

 
  

 
              

 
 

        
              
                

         
        

 
        
         

               
 

would have been in receipt of that allowance or had such an award of universal credit but 
for the application of a restriction under section 6B or 7 of the Social Security Fraud Act 2001 
(loss of benefit). 

Enhanced disability premium 

7(1) The condition is that— 
(a) the care component of disability living allowance is, or would, but for a suspension 

of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) of the SSCBA or but 
for an abatement as a consequence of hospitalisation, be payable at the highest rate 
prescribed under section 73(2) of that Act; 

(aa)the care component of child disability payment is payable at the highest rate in accordance 
with regulation 11(5) of the DACYP Regulations; 

(ab)the daily living component of adult disability payment is payable, or has ceased to be 
payable by virtue of regulation 28 (effect of admission to hospital on ongoing entitlement 
to Adult Disability Payment) of the DAWAP Regulations, at the enhanced rate in accordance 
with regulation 5 of those Regulations or 

(b) (as the case may be) the daily living component of personal independence payment 
is, or would, but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under 
section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012, be payable at the enhanced rate 
prescribed in accordance with section 78(2) of that Act, 

in respect of a child or young person who is a member of the applicant's family. 

(2) Where the condition in sub-paragraph (1) ceases to be satisfied because of the death of a child 
or young person, the condition is that the applicant or partner is entitled to child benefit in respect 
of that person under section 145A of the SSCBA (entitlement after death of child or qualifying young 
person). 

Disabled child premium 
8. The condition is that a child or young person for whom the applicant or a partner of his is 

responsible and who is a member of the applicant's household— 
(a) is in receipt of disability living allowance, personal independence payment or is no 

longer in receipt of such allowance or payment because he is a patient, provided 
that the child or young person continues to be a member of the family; 

(aa) is in receipt of child disability payment; or 
(b) is blind within the meaning of paragraph 6(4) or treated as blind in accordance 

with paragraph 6(5); or 
(c) is a child or young person in respect of whom section 145A of the SSCBA (entitlement 

after death of child or qualifying young person) applies for the purposes of entitlement 
to child benefit but only for the period prescribed under that section, and in respect of 
whom a disabled child premium was included in the applicant's applicable amount 
immediately before the death of that child or young person, or ceased to be included 
in the applicant's applicable amount because of that child or young person's death; or 

(d) is a young person who is in receipt of adult disability payment or who would, but for 
payment ceasing by virtue of regulation 28 (effect of admission to hospital on ongoing 
entitlement to Adult Disability Payment) of the DAWAP Regulations be so in receipt, 
provided that the young person continues to be a member of the family; or 

(e) is a young person who is in receipt of an AFIP. 

Carer premium 

9.—(1) The condition is that the applicant or his partner is, or both of them are, entitled to a 
carer’s allowance. 

(2) Where a carer premium has been awarded but— 
(a) the person in respect of whose care the carer’s allowance has been awarded dies; or 
(b) the person in respect of whom the premium was awarded ceases to be entitled, or ceases to 

be treated as entitled, to a carer’s allowance, this paragraph shall be treated as satisfied for 
a period of eight weeks from the relevant date specified in sub-paragraph (3). 

(3) The relevant date for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) is— 
(a) in a case within sub-paragraph (2)(a), the Sunday following the death of the person in respect 

of whose care the carer’s allowance has been awarded (or beginning with the date of death 
if the date occurred on a Sunday); 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

100 Page 137



       

 

         
    

 
               

                 
      

 
    

 
          

            
          

 
 

   
             

              
     

 
 

      
 

 
 

 

   
 

       
 

 
       

 
 

             
     

         
          

     
             

    
 

   
 
 
 
 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

   
    

  
   

   
 

   
    

  
   

   
 

 
   

  
   

 
 
  

(b) in a case within sub-paragraph (2)(b), the date on which that person who was entitled to a 
carer’s allowance ceases to be entitled to it. 

(4) For the purposes of this paragraph, a person shall be treated as being entitled to and in receipt 
of a carer’s allowance for any period not covered by an award but in respect of which a payment is 
made in lieu of an award. 

Persons in receipt of concessionary payments 

10.For the purpose of determining whether a premium is applicable to a person under paragraphs 6 
to 9 of this Schedule, any concessionary payment made to compensate that person for the non-
payment of any benefit mentioned in those paragraphs shall be treated as if it were a payment of 
that benefit. 

Person in receipt of benefit 
11.For the purposes of this Part of this Schedule, a person shall be regarded as being in receipt of 
any benefit if, and only if, it is paid in respect of him and shall be so regarded only for any period in 
respect of which that benefit is paid. 

PART 4 - Amounts of premium specified in Part 3 

Provision Amount 

(1) Severe Disability Premium— (a) £82.90; 

(a) where the applicant satisfies the condition in paragraph 
6(2)(a); 

(b) where the applicant satisfies the condition in paragraph 
6(2)(b)— 

(a) in a case where there is someone in receipt of a carer’s 
allowance or who has an award of universal credit which 
includes the carer element under regulation 29 of the 
Universal Credit Regulations 2013, or if he or any partner 
satisfies that condition only by virtue of paragraph 6(7); 

(b) in a case where there is no-one in receipt of such an 
allowance or such an award of universal credit. 

(2) Enhanced disability premium 

(3) Disabled Child Premium. 

(4) Carer Premium. 

(b) 

(i) £82.90; 

(ii) £165.80. 

(2) £32.75 in respect 
of each child or young 
person in respect of 
whom the conditions 
specified in paragraph 
7 are satisfied. 
(3) £81.37 in respect 
of each child or young 
person in respect of 
whom the condition 
specified in paragraph 
8 is satisfied 
(4) £46.40 in respect 
of each person who 
satisfies the condition 
specified in paragraph 
9. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

101 Page 138



       

 

 
      

 
   

   
                 

       
   

 
 

  
  

  

    
     

  

 

      
      

   
  

         
   
 

 

 

           
     

       
 

 

 
 

          
   

       
         

 
             

            
      

 
 

  
 

  
 

   
 

 
 

      
           

     
  
       

   
   

 

 
 

 
 
             

            
 

  
 

  
                   

  

Applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners Paragraph 26 

PART 1 Personal allowances 
Personal allowances 
1. The amounts specified in column (2) below in respect of each person or couple specified in 

column (1) shall be the amounts specified for the purposes of paragraphs 25(1)(a) and 26(1)(a) 
and (b)— 

Column 1 
Person or Couple 

Column 2 

1. A Single applicant who; 
a) is entitled to main phase employment and 
support allowance 

£92.05 

b) is aged not less than 25 £92.05 
c) is aged not less than 18 but less than 25 £72.90 

2. Lone Parent £92.05 
3. Couple; 

a) Where the applicant is entitled to the main 
phase of employment and support 
allowance 

£144.65 

b) Where one member is aged not less than 18 £144.65 
c) For each additional spouse who is a 

member of the same household as the 
claimant 

£52.60 

2. For the purposes of paragraph 1 of this Schedule an applicant is entitled to main phase employment 
and support allowance if— 

(a) paragraph 18 of this Schedule is satisfied in relation to the applicant; or 
(b) the applicant is entitled to a converted employment and support allowance. 

3.—(1) The amounts specified in column (2) below in respect of each person specified in column (1) 
shall, for the relevant period specified in column (1), be the amounts specified for the purposes of 
paragraphs 25(1)(b) and 26(1)(c) of this scheme: 

Column (1) Column (2) 

Child or Young person Amount 

Person in respect of the period— 
(a) beginning on that person's date of birth and ending on the day 

preceding the first Monday in September following that person's 
sixteenth birthday; 

(b) beginning on the first Monday in September following that 
person's sixteenth birthday and ending on the day preceding 
that person's twentieth birthday. 

£84.66 
£84.66 

(2) In column (1) of the table in sub-paragraph (1), “the first Monday in September” means the 
Monday which first occurs in the month of September in any year. 

PART 2 - Family premium 

4. Family premium 
The amount for the purposes of paragraph 6(1)(c) of Schedule 1 in respect of a family of which at 
least one member is a child or young person is £19.48. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

102 Page 139



       

 

 
  

 
                

           
          

 
 

           
               

        
 

     
            
            

            
              

   
 

            
                  

  
           

      
        
              

              
   

              
     

 
               
              

              
     

            
          

 
  

     
            

    
      

     
           

       
            

     
 

   
       

       
       

          
      

            
 

         
          

           
         

   
           

         

PART 3 - Premiums 

5. Except as provided in paragraph 6 of this Schedule, the premiums specified in Part 4 of this 
Schedule shall, for the purposes of paragraphs 25(1)(d) and 26(1)(e) of this scheme, be applicable to 
an applicant who satisfies the condition specified in paragraphs 9 to 14 of this Schedule in respect of 
that premium. 

6. Subject to paragraph 7 of this Schedule, where an applicant satisfies the conditions in respect of 
more than one premium in this Part of this Schedule, only one premium shall be applicable to him 
and, if they are different amounts, the higher or highest amount shall apply. 

7. The following premiums, namely— 
(a) a severe disability premium to which paragraph 11 of this Schedule applies; 
(b) an enhanced disability premium to which paragraph 12 of this Schedule applies; 
(c) a disabled child premium to which paragraph 13 of this Schedule applies; and 
(d) a carer premium to which paragraph 14 of this Schedule applies, may be applicable in 
addition to any other premium which may apply under this Schedule. 

8.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), for the purposes of this Part of this Schedule, once a premium 
is applicable to an applicant under this Part, a person shall be treated as being in receipt of any 
benefit for— 

(a) in the case of a benefit to which the Social Security (Overlapping Benefits) Regulations 
1979 applies, any period during which, apart from the provisions of those Regulations, he 
would be in receipt of that benefit; and 
(b) any period spent by a person in undertaking a course of training or instruction provided 
or approved by the Secretary of State under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 
1973 or by Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands 
Enterprise under section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 for any 
period during which he is in receipt of a training allowance. 

(2) For the purposes of the carer premium under paragraph 14 of this Schedule, a person shall be 
treated as being in receipt of carer’s allowance by virtue of sub-paragraph (1)(a) only if and for so 
long as the person in respect of whose care the allowance has been claimed remains in receipt of 
attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living allowance at the highest or middle 
rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the SSCBA or the daily living component of 
personal independence payment payable under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012. 

Disability premium 
9. The condition is that— 

(a) where the applicant is a single applicant or a lone parent, he has not attained the 
qualifying age for state pension credit and the additional condition specified in paragraph 10 
of this Schedule is satisfied; or 
(b) where the applicant has a partner, either— 

(i) the applicant has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and the 
additional condition specified in paragraph 10(1)(a) or (b) is satisfied by him; or 
(ii) his partner has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and the 
additional condition specified in paragraph 10(1)(a) is satisfied by his partner. 

Additional condition for the disability premium 
10.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2) and paragraph 8 of this Schedule, the additional condition 
referred to in paragraph 9 of this Schedule is that either— 

(a) the applicant or, as the case may be, his partner— 
(i) is in receipt of one or more of the following benefits: attendance allowance, 
disability living allowance, personal independence payment, the disability element 
or the severe disability element of working tax credit as specified in regulation 
20(1)(b) 
and (f) of the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) Regulations 2002, 
mobility supplement, long-term incapacity benefit under Part 2 of the SSCBA or 
severe disablement allowance under Part 3 of that Act but, in the case of long-term 
incapacity benefit or severe disablement allowance, only where it is paid in respect 
of him; or 
(ii) was in receipt of long-term incapacity benefit under Part 2 of the SSCBA when 
entitlement to that benefit ceased on account of the payment of a retirement 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

103 Page 140



       

 

      
          

         
         

           
    
       

   
     

    
    

     
              
        

      
             

        
        

      
             
      

     
       
     

  
            

        
            

    
            
     
     

        
            

              
    

 
         

          
           

    
 

 
         

  
             

      
      
                  

 
          

          
 

 
                  

               
              

           
            

      
 

                 
       

          

pension under that Act and the applicant has since remained continuously entitled 
to council tax benefit and, if the long-term incapacity benefit was payable to his 
partner, the partner is still a member of the family; or 
(iii) was in receipt of attendance allowance or disability living allowance but payment 
of benefit has been suspended in accordance with regulations made under section 
113(2) of the SSCBA or otherwise abated as a consequence of the applicant or his 
partner becoming a patient within the meaning of paragraph 57(11)(i) (treatment of 
child care charges); or 
(iv) was in receipt of personal independence payment, but payment of that benefit 
has been suspended in accordance with section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 
as a consequence of the applicant becoming a patient within the meaning of 
paragraph 57(11)(i) (treatment of child care charges); or 
(v) is provided by the Secretary of State with an invalid carriage or other vehicle 
under section 5(2) of the National Health Service Act 1977 (other services) or, in 
Scotland, under section 46 of the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 
(provision of services by Scottish Ministers) or receives payments by way of grant 
from the Secretary of State under paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 to the Act of 1977 
(additional provisions as to vehicles) or, in Scotland, by Scottish Ministers under 
section 46 of the Act of 1978; or 
(vi) is blind and in consequence registered in a register compiled by a local authority 
under section 29 of the National Assistance Act 1948 (welfare services) or, in 
Scotland, has been certified as blind and in consequence he is registered in a register 
maintained by or on behalf of a council constituted under section 2 of the Local 
Government (Scotland) Act 1994; or 

(b) the applicant— 
(i) is, or is treated as, incapable of work in accordance with the provisions of, and 
regulations made under, Part 12A of the SSCBA (incapacity for work); and 
(ii) has been incapable, or has been treated as incapable, of work for a continuous 
period of not less than— 

(aa) in the case of an applicant who is terminally ill within the meaning of 
section 30B(4) of the SSCBA, 196 days; 
(bb) in any other case, 364 days. 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(a)(vi), a person who has ceased to be registered as blind 
on regaining his eyesight shall nevertheless be treated as blind and as satisfying the additional 
condition set out in that sub-paragraph for a period of 28 weeks following the date on which he 
ceased to be so registered. 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b), once the disability premium is applicable to an applicant 
by virtue of his satisfying the additional condition specified in that provision, if he then ceases, for a 
period of 8 weeks or less, to be treated as incapable of work or to be incapable of work he shall, on 
again becoming so incapable of work, immediately thereafter be treated as satisfying the condition 
in sub-paragraph (1)(b). 

(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b), once the disability premium is applicable to an applicant 
by virtue 
of his satisfying the additional condition specified in that provision, he shall continue to be treated 
as satisfying that condition for any period spent by him in undertaking a course of training provided 
under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 or section 2 of the Enterprise and New 
Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 or for any period during which he is in receipt of a training allowance. 

(5) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b), where any two or more periods of incapacity are 
separated by a break of not more than 56 days, those periods shall be treated as one continuous 
period. 

(6) For the purposes of this paragraph, a reference to a person who is or was in receipt of long term 
incapacity benefit includes a person who is or was in receipt of short-term incapacity benefit at a 
rate equal to the long-term rate by virtue of section 30B(4)(a) of the Act (short-term incapacity 
benefit for a person who is terminally ill), or who would be or would have been in receipt of short 
term incapacity benefit at such a rate but for the fact that the rate of short-term incapacity benefit 
already payable to him is or was equal to or greater than the long-term rate. 

(7) In the case of an applicant who is a welfare to work beneficiary (a person to whom regulation 
13A(1) of the Social Security (Incapacity for Work) (General) Regulations 1995 applies, and who again 
becomes incapable of work for the purposes of Part 12A of the SSCBA)— 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

104 Page 141



       

 

           
          

          
 

              
 

 
   

         
 

          
   

               
    

           
    

           
        

        
        

            
             

         
  

         
         

    
             

        
   

                
        

  
       

              
          

     
                  
               

       
           

 
            

         
             

   
 

         
            

      
  

               
  

 
        

           
     

        
            

    
               

              
 

 

(a) the reference to a period of 8 weeks in sub-paragraph (3); and 
(b) the reference to a period of 56 days in sub-paragraph (5), 
shall in each case be treated as a reference to a period of 104 weeks. 

(8) The applicant is not entitled to the disability premium if he has, or is treated as having, limited 
capability for work. 

Severe disability premium 
11.—(1) The condition is that the applicant is a severely disabled person. 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant shall be treated as being a severely disabled 
person if, and only if— 

(a) in the case of a single applicant, a lone parent or an applicant who is treated as having 
no partner in consequence of sub-paragraph (3)— 

(i) he is in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living 
allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) 
of the SSCBA or the daily living component of personal independence payment 
payable at either rate under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012; and 
(ii) subject to sub-paragraph (4), he has no non-dependants aged 18 or over normally 
residing with him or with whom he is normally residing; and 
(iii) no person is entitled to, and in receipt of, a carer’s allowance under section 70 
of the SSCBA or has an award of universal credit which includes the carer element 
under regulation 29 of the Universal Credit Regulations 2013 in respect of caring for 
him ; 

(b) in the case of an applicant who has a partner— 
(i) the applicant is in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of 
disability living allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance 
with section 72(3) of the SSCBA or the daily living component of personal 
independence payment payable at either rate under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform 
Act 2012; and 
(ii) his partner is also in receipt of such an allowance or, if he is a member of a 
polygamous marriage, all the partners of that marriage are in receipt of such an 
allowance; and 
(iii) subject to sub-paragraph (4), the applicant has no non-dependants aged 18 or 
over normally residing with him or with whom he is normally residing, and either a 
person is entitled to and in receipt of a carer’s allowance or has an award of universal 
credit which includes the carer element in respect of caring for only one of a couple 
or, in the case of a polygamous marriage, for one or more but not all the partners of 
the marriage, or as the case may be, no person is entitled to and in receipt of such 
an allowance or has such an award of universal credit in respect of caring for either 
member of a couple or any partner of a polygamous marriage. 

(3) Where an applicant has a partner who does not satisfy the condition in sub-paragraph (2)(b)(ii), 
and that partner is blind or is treated as blind within the meaning of paragraph 10(1)(a)(v) and (2), 
that partner shall be treated for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(b)(ii) as if he were not a partner 
of the applicant. 

(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a)(ii) and (2)(b)(iii) no account shall be taken of— 
(a) a person receiving attendance allowance, or disability living allowance by virtue of the 
care component at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of 
the SSCBA; or 
(b) a person who is blind or is treated as blind within the meaning of paragraph 10(1)(a)(v) 
and (2). 

(5) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(b) a person shall be treated— 
(a) as being in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living 
allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the 
SSCBA or the daily living component of personal independence payment payable at either 
rate under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012, if he would, but for his being a patient for 
a period exceeding 28 days, be so in receipt; 
(b) as being entitled to and in receipt of a carer’s allowance if he would, but for the person 
for whom he was caring being a patient in hospital for a period exceeding 28 days, be so 
entitled and in receipt. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

105 Page 142



       

 

          
        

   
 

         
                

              
        

 
 

 
    

             
   

           
          

     
    

    
  

            
    

           
     

  
            
   

 
         

               
       

 
 

            
  

          
          

              
               

               
 

   
 

                    
     

           
              

      
               
               

        
          

     
      

     
 

  
 

               
  

 
       

             

(6) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a)(iii) and (2)(b), no account shall be taken of an award of 
carer’s allowance to the extent that payment of such an award is back-dated for a period before the 
date on which the award is first paid. 

(7) In sub-paragraph (2)(a)(iii) and (b), references to a person being in receipt of a carer’s allowance 
or an award of universal credit which include the carer element shall include references to a person 
who would have been in receipt of that allowance but for the application of a restriction under 
section 6B or 7 of the Social Security Fraud Act 2001 (loss of benefit provisions) 

Enhanced disability premium 

12.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the condition is that— 
(a) the Secretary of State has decided that the applicant has, or is to be treated as having, 
limited capability for work-related activity; or 
(b) the care component of disability living allowance is, or would be payable at the highest 
rate prescribed under section 72(3) of the SSCBA, but for a suspension of benefit in 
accordance with regulations made under section 113(2) of the SSCBA or but for an abatement 
as a consequence of hospitalisation be payable at the highest rate prescribed under section 
72(3) of the SSCBA in respect of— 

(i) the applicant; or 
(ii) a member of the applicant’s family, who has not attained the qualifying age for 
state pension credit; or 

(c) the daily living component of personal independence payment is, or would be payable at 
either rate under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012, but for a suspension of benefit in 
accordance with section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 in respect of— 

(i) the applicant; or 
(ii) a member of the applicant’s family, who has not attained the qualifying age for 
state pension credit. 

(2) Where the condition in sub-paragraph (1) ceases to be satisfied because of the death of a child 
or young person, the condition is that the applicant or partner is entitled to child benefit in respect 
of that person under section 145A of the SSCBA (entitlement after death of child or qualifying young 
person). 

(3) The condition is not satisfied if the person to whom sub-paragraph (1) refers is— 
(a) an applicant who— 

(i) is not a member of a couple or a polygamous marriage; and 
(ii) is a patient within the meaning of paragraph 57(11)(e) of this scheme (treatment 
of child care charges) and has been for a period of more than 52 weeks; or 

(b) a member of a couple or a polygamous marriage where each member is a patient within 
the meaning of paragraph 57(11)(e) and has been for a period of more than 52 weeks. 

Disabled child premium 

13. The condition is that a child or young person for whom the applicant or a partner of his is 
responsible and who is a member of the applicant’s household— 

(a) is in receipt of disability living allowance or personal independence payment or is no 
longer in receipt of such allowance because he is a patient, provided that the child or young 
person continues to be a member of the family; or 
(b) is blind or treated as blind within the meaning of paragraph 10 of this Schedule; or 
(c) is a child or young person in respect of whom section 145A of the SSCBA (entitlement after 
death of child or qualifying young person) applies for the purposes of entitlement to child 
benefit but only for the period prescribed under that section, and in respect of whom a 
disabled child premium was included in the applicant’s applicable amount immediately 
before the death of that child or young person, or ceased to be included in the applicant’s 
applicable amount because of that child or young person’s death. 

Carer premium 

14.—(1) The condition is that the applicant or his partner is, or both of them are, entitled to a carer’s 
allowance under section 70 of the SSCBA. 

(2) Where a carer premium is awarded but— 
(a) the person in respect of whose care the carer’s allowance has been awarded dies; or 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

106 Page 143



       

 

               
       

          
 

 
         

     
           

   
                

     
 

                
     

          
             

                
   

 
    

          
     

            
 

 
      

              
              

     
 
 

 
     

 
  

  
        

    
  

 

 

        
    

  

 

   
        

   
   

 

        
   

   
  

   
 

   

 

  
    

 

         
      

    
       

 
  

(b) in any other case the person in respect of whom a carer premium has been awarded 
ceases to be entitled to a carer’s allowance, the condition for the award of the premium 
shall be treated as satisfied for a period of eight weeks from the relevant date specified in 
sub-paragraph (3). 

(3) The relevant date for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) shall be— 
(a) where sub-paragraph (2)(a) applies, the Sunday following the death of the person in 
respect of whose care a carer’s allowance has been awarded or the date of death if the death 
occurred on a Sunday; 
(b) in any other case, the date on which the person who has been entitled to a carer’s 
allowance ceases to be entitled to that allowance. 

(4) Where a person who has been entitled to a carer’s allowance ceases to be entitled to that 
allowance and makes an application for a reduction, the condition for the award of the carer premium 
shall be treated as satisfied for a period of eight weeks from the date on which— 

(a) the person in respect of whose care the carer’s allowance has been awarded dies; 
(b) in any other case, the person who has been entitled to a carer’s allowance ceased to be 
entitled to that allowance. 

Persons in receipt of concessionary payments 
15. For the purpose of determining whether a premium is applicable to a person under paragraphs 
10 to 14 of this Schedule, any concessionary payment made to compensate that person for the non-
payment of any benefit mentioned in those paragraphs shall be treated as if it were a payment of 
that benefit. 

Persons in receipt of benefit for another 
16. For the purposes of this Part of this Schedule, a person shall be regarded as being in receipt of 
any benefit if, and only if, it is paid in respect of him and shall be so regarded only for any period in 
respect of which that benefit is paid. 

PART 4 
Amounts of Premiums Specified in Part 3 

Premium Amount 
Disability Premium 

a. where the applicant satisfies the condition in 
paragraph 12(a) of Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 

£43.20 

b. where the applicant satisfies the condition in 
paragraph 12(b) of Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 

£61.65 

Severe Disability Premium 
a. where the applicant satisfies the condition in 

paragraph 14(2)(a) of Schedule 3 Housing 
Benefit Regulations 2006 

£82.90 

b. where the applicant satisfies the condition in 
paragraph 14(2)(b) of Schedule 3 Housing 
Benefit Regulations 2006 

i. in a case where there is someone in 
receipt of carer’s allowance or if he or 
any partner satisfies that condition only 
by virtue of paragraph 14(5); 

£82.90 

ii. in a case where there is no one in receipt 
of such an allowance 

£165.80 

Disabled Child Premium £81.37 in respect of each child 
or young person in respect of 
whom the condition specified 
in paragraph 16 of Part 3 of 
Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

107 Page 144



       

 

  
   

 
 

     
 

  
     

 
   

 
     

 
    

    
  

     
       

  
   

 
  

 
        

 
 

     
 

   
       

 
 

 
  

 
             

  
           

 
             

             
  

 
           
  

        
         

       
    

 
             

           
  

 
              

         
 

            
             

 
 
 
 

Premium Amount 
Carer Premium £46.40 in respect of each 

person who satisfies the 
condition specified in 
paragraph 17 of Part 3 of 
Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 

Enhanced Disability Premium (a) £32.75 in respect of each 
child or young person in 
respect of whom the 
conditions specified in 
paragraph 15 of Part 3 of 
Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 are satisfied; 
(b) £21.20 in respect of each 
person who is neither– 
(i)a child or young person; nor 
(ii) a member of a couple or a 
polygamous marriage, in 
respect of whom the 
conditions specified in 
paragraph 15 are satisfied; 
(c) £30.25 where the applicant 
is a member of a couple or a 
polygamous marriage and the 
conditions specified in 
paragraph 15 of Part 3 of 
Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 are satisfied 
in respect of a member of that 
couple or polygamous 
marriage. 

PART 5 - The components 

18. Subject to paragraph 20 of this Schedule the applicant is entitled to one, but not both, of the 
components in paragraph 21 or 22 of this Schedule if— 

(a) the applicant or the applicant’s partner has made a claim for employment and support 
allowance; 
(b) the Secretary of State has decided that the applicant or the applicant’s partner has, or is 
to be treated as having, limited capability for work or limited capability for work-related 
activity; and 
(c) either— 

(i) the assessment phase as defined in section 24(2) of the Welfare Reform Act has 
ended; or 
(ii) regulation 7 of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 
(circumstances where the condition that the assessment phase has ended before 
entitlement to the support component or the work related activity component arises 
does not apply) applies. 

19. Subject to paragraph 20, the applicant is entitled to one, but not both, of the components in 
paragraphs 21 and 22 if the applicant or his partner is entitled to a converted employment and 
support allowance. 

20.—(1) The applicant has no entitlement under paragraph 21 or 22 if the applicant is entitled to the 
disability premium under paragraphs 9 and 10 of this Schedule. 

(2) Where the applicant and the applicant’s partner each satisfies paragraph 21 or 22, the component 
to be included in the applicant’s applicable amount is that which relates to the applicant. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

108 Page 145



       

 

   
          

          
 

 
  

                 
      

  
 

    
 

        
 

         
 

   
 

           
   

       
           

        
    

               
         

       
    

         
          

     
 

              
  

             
 

           
           

    
          

       
 

  
 

    
          

      
    

     
    

          
     

              
           

 
              

             
      

          
             

        
       

 
 

The work-related activity component 
21. The applicant is entitled to the work-related activity component if the Secretary of State has 
decided that the applicant or the applicant’s partner has, or is to be treated as having, limited 
capability for work. 

The support component 
22. The applicant is entitled to the support component if the Secretary of State has decided that the 
applicant or the applicant’s partner has, or is to be treated as having, limited capability for work-
related activity. 

PART 6 - Amount of Components 

23. The amount of the work-related activity component is £36.55. 

24. The amount of the support component is. £48.50 

PART 7 - Transitional Addition 

25.—(1) The applicant is entitled to the transitional addition calculated in accordance with paragraph 
28 where the applicant or the applicant’s partner (“the relevant person”)— 

(a) is entitled to a converted employment and support allowance; or 
(b) is appealing a conversion decision as described in regulation 5(2)(b) of the Employment 
and Support Allowance (Transitional Provisions, Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit) 
(Existing Awards) (No. 2) Regulations 2008 and— 

(i) is treated as having limited capability for work by virtue of regulation 30 of the 
Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 as modified by the Employment 
and Support Allowance (Transitional Provisions, Housing Benefit and Council Tax 
Benefit) (Existing Awards) (No. 2) Regulations 2008; and 
(ii) is not in receipt of an income-related employment and support allowance, unless 
the amount of the transitional addition calculated in accordance with paragraph 28 
of this Schedule would be nil. 

(2) The applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition by virtue of this paragraph ends on any of 
the following— 

(a) the reduction of the transitional addition to nil in accordance with paragraph 29 of this 
Schedule; 
(b) the termination of the applicant’s award of reduction under this scheme; 
(c) the relevant person ceasing to meet the requirements of sub-paragraph (1)(a) or (b), as 
the case may be; 
(d) the applicant or the applicant’s partner becoming entitled to an income-related 
employment and support allowance, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, or income 
support; 
(e) 5th April 2020. 

26.—(1) This paragraph applies where— 
(a) the applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition ends, by virtue of the termination 
of the applicant’s award of reduction, under— 

(i) paragraph 25(2)(b) of this Schedule; 
(ii) sub-paragraph (3)(b) of this paragraph; or 
(iii) paragraph 27(3)(b) of this Schedule; 

(b) within 104 weeks of that termination but before 5th April 2020 the applicant again 
becomes entitled to a reduction under this scheme; 
(c) in the reduction week in which the applicant again becomes entitled to a reduction under 
this scheme the relevant person is entitled to an employment and support allowance which 
is not income-related; 
(d) if the period between the events mentioned in paragraphs (a) and (b) is more than 12 
weeks, the intervening period is one to which regulation 145(2) (linking period where 
applicant is a work or training beneficiary) of the Employment and Support Allowance 
Regulations 2008 applies in respect of the relevant person; and 
(e) at the date on which the applicant again becomes entitled to a reduction under this 
scheme, neither the applicant nor the applicant’s partner is entitled to an income-related 
employment and support allowance, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, or income 
support. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

109 Page 146



       

 

            
       

            
          
       

  
 

              
   

             
 

            
          

    
          

       
 

  
 

    
         

    
  
  

 
           

     
 

           
 

         
      

            
 

        
     

           
 

      
        

    
 

          
          
        

          
              

             
 

              
  

             
 

            
          

    
          

       
 

  
  

(2) Where this paragraph applies, the applicant is entitled, with effect from the day on which the 
applicant again becomes entitled to a reduction under this scheme, to a transitional addition of the 
amount of the transitional addition that would have applied had the applicant’s entitlement to a 
transitional addition not ended (but taking account of the effect which any intervening change of 
circumstances would have had by virtue of paragraph 29), unless the amount of the transitional 
addition would be nil. 

(3) The applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition by virtue of this paragraph ends on any of 
the following— 

(a) the reduction of the transitional addition to nil in accordance with paragraph 29 of this 
Schedule; 
(b) the termination of the applicant’s award of a reduction under this scheme; 
(c) the relevant person no longer being entitled to the employment and support allowance 
referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(c); 
(d) the applicant or the applicant’s partner becoming entitled to an income-related 
employment and support allowance, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, or income 
support; 
(e) 5th April 2020. 

27.—(1) This paragraph applies where— 
(a) the applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition ends, by virtue of the relevant 
person ceasing to be entitled to an employment and support allowance, under— 

(i) paragraph 25(2)(c); 
(ii) paragraph 26(3)(c); or 
(iii) sub-paragraph (3)(c); 

(b) before 5th April 2020 the relevant person again becomes entitled to an employment and 
support allowance which is not income-related; 
(c) either— 

(i) at the date on which the relevant person again becomes entitled to an 
employment 
support allowance which is not income-related regulation 145(1) of the Employment 
and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 applies to the relevant person; or 
(ii) the period between the events mentioned in paragraphs (a) and (b) is one to 
which 
regulation 145(2) of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 
applies in respect of the relevant person; and 

(d) at the date on which the relevant person again becomes entitled to an employment 
support 
allowance which is not income-related, neither the applicant nor the applicant’s partner is 
entitled to an income-related employment and support allowance, an income-based 
jobseeker’s allowance, or income support. 

(2) Where this paragraph applies, the applicant is entitled, with effect from the day that the relevant 
person’s entitlement to employment and support allowance takes effect for the purposes of a 
reduction under this scheme, to a transitional addition of the amount of the transitional addition 
that would have applied had the applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition not ended (but 
taking account of the effect which any intervening change of circumstances would have had by virtue 
of paragraph 29 of this Schedule), unless the amount of the transitional addition would be nil. 

(3) The applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition by virtue of this paragraph ends on any of 
the following— 

(a) the reduction of the transitional addition to nil in accordance with paragraph 29 of this 
Schedule; 
(b) the termination of the applicant’s award of a reduction under this scheme; 
(c) the relevant person no longer being entitled to the employment and support allowance 
referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(b); 
(d) the applicant or the applicant’s partner becoming entitled to an income-related 
employment and support allowance, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, or income 
support; 
(e) 5th April 2020. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

110 Page 147



       

 

 
     

 
           

     
 
 

           
            

      
            

     
           

 
             

                 
        

            
                 

 
            

 
 

               
     

   
 

       
            

          
 

            
 

 
          

 
         

 
  

PART 8 - Amount of Transitional Addition 

28.—(1) Subject to paragraph 29 of this Schedule, the amount of the transitional addition is the 
amount by which Amount A exceeds Amount B. 

(2) Where a conversion decision as described in regulation 5(2)(a) of the Employment and Support 
Allowance (Transitional Provisions, Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit) (Existing Awards) (No. 
2) Regulations 2010 (“the 2010 Regulations”) is made in respect of the relevant person— 

(a) Amount A is the basic amount that would have applied on the day that decision took 
effect had that decision not been made; and 
(b) Amount B is the basic amount that applied on that day as a result of that decision. 

(3) Where the relevant person is appealing a conversion decision as described in regulation 5(2)(b) of 
the 2010 Regulations and is treated as having limited capability for work by virtue of regulation 30 
of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 as modified by the 2010 Regulations— 

(a) Amount A is the basic amount that would have applied on the day the relevant person 
was first treated as having limited capability for work if the relevant person had not been so 
treated; and 
(b) Amount B is the basic amount that applied on that day as a result of the relevant person 
being so treated. 

(4) In this paragraph and paragraph 29, “basic amount” means the aggregate of such amounts as may 
apply in the applicant’s case in accordance with paragraph 25(1)(a) to (e) or paragraph 26(1)(a) to 
(f) of this scheme. 

29.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where there is a change of circumstances which leads to an 
increase in the applicant’s basic amount, the transitional addition that applies immediately before 
the change of circumstances shall be reduced by the amount by which Amount C exceeds Amount D. 

(2) If Amount C exceeds Amount D by more than the amount of the transitional addition that applies 
immediately before the change of circumstances, that transitional addition shall be reduced to nil. 

(3) Amount C is the basic amount that applies as a result of the increase. 

(4) Amount D is the basic amount that applied immediately before the increase. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

111 Page 148



       

 

 
          

  
 

   
            

      
 

            
      

             
             

 
 

             
    

           
      
           

             
 
 

 
  

 
   

   
        

       
       

    
          

     
   

   

    
    
  

        
         

        
      

  
  

 

          
    
  

         
   

    
    
  

          
         

     
       
       

   
 

    
    
  

 
                 

   
           

              
           

         
             

      
       

SCHEDULE 3 Amount of alternative maximum council tax reduction: pensioners and persons who 
are not pensioners. 

Paragraph 31 
1.—(1) Subject to paragraphs 2 and 3, the alternative maximum council tax reduction in respect of a 
day for the purpose of paragraph 30 is determined in accordance with the following Table and in this 
Table— 

(a) “second adult” means any person or persons residing with the applicant to whom 
paragraph 15(2) of this scheme applies; and 
(b) “persons to whom paragraph 71(1) of this scheme applies” includes any person to whom 
that paragraph would apply were they, and their partner if they had one, below the qualifying 
age for state pension credit. 

(2) In this Schedule “council tax due in respect of that day” means the council tax payable under 
section 10 of the 1992 Act less— 

(a) any reductions made in consequence of any enactment in, or under, the 1992 Act (other 
than a reduction under this scheme); and 
(b) in a case to which sub-paragraph (c) in column (1) of the table below applies, the amount 
of any discount which may be appropriate to the dwelling under the 1992 Act. 

(1) 
Second adult 

(2) 
Alternative maximum council 
tax support 

(a) Where the second adult or all second adults are in receipt (a) 25 per cent of the council 
of income support, an income-related employment and tax due in respect of that 
support allowance or state pension credit or are persons on day; 
an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, or are under the age 
of 25 and in receipt of Universal Credit where the award is 
calculated on the basis that the second adult does not have 
any earned income (as given in regulation 52 of the Universal 
Credit Regulations 2013) 
(b) where the gross income of the second adult or, where 
there is more than one second adult, their aggregate gross 
income disregarding any income of persons on income 
support, an income-related employment and support 
allowance, state pension credit or an income-based 
jobseeker’s allowance— 

(b) 

(i) is less than £276.00 per week; (i) 15 per cent of the council 
tax due in respect of that 
day; 

(ii) is not less than £276.00 per week but less than £358.00 
per week; 

(ii) 7.5 per cent of the council 
tax due in respect of that 
day; 

(c) where the dwelling would be wholly occupied by one or (c) 100 per cent of the council 
more persons to whom paragraph 71(1) of this scheme applies tax due in respect of that 
but for the presence of one or more second adults who are in day. 
receipt of income support, state pension credit, an income-
related employment and support allowance or are persons on 
an income-based jobseeker’s allowance. 

2. In determining a second adult’s gross income for the purposes of this Schedule, there shall be 
disregarded from that income— 

(a) any attendance allowance, any disability living allowance under section 71 of the SSCBA, 
or any personal independence payment under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012; 
(b) any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the 
Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, or the Independent Living Fund (2006) which, had his 
income fallen to be calculated under paragraph 53 (calculation of income other than 
earnings: persons who are not pensioners), would have been disregarded under paragraph 28 
of Schedule 8 (income in kind); and 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

112 Page 149



       

 

           
     

  
 

                  
            

              
        

        
  

(c) any payment which, had his income fallen to be calculated under paragraph 53, would 
have been disregarded under paragraph 41 of Schedule 8 (payments made under certain trusts 
and certain other payments). 

3. Where there are two or more second adults residing with the applicant for a reduction under this 
scheme and any such second adult falls to be disregarded for the purposes of discount in accordance 
with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, his income shall be disregarded in determining the amount of any 
alternative maximum council tax reduction, unless that second adult is a member of a couple and his 
partner does not fall to be disregarded for the purposes of discount. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

113 Page 150



       

 

 
      

 
 

 
                 

              
        
     

 
  

 
            

  
 

     
            

           
   

            
           
  
           
                
    

 
 

              
   

         
           

    
 

                
      

 
               

          
       

 
                  

       
 

           
   

        
       

         
          

        
           

          
       

    
         

      
   

    
 

                
              

          
        

SCHEDULE 4 Sums disregarded from applicant’s earnings: pensioners. 

Paragraph 40 

1. Where two or more of paragraphs 2 to 5 apply in any particular case the overall maximum sum 
which falls to be disregarded in that case under those paragraphs is restricted to— 

(a) £25 in the case of a lone parent; 
(b) £20 in any other case. 

2. In a case where an applicant is a lone parent, £25 of earnings. 

3.—(1) In a case of earnings from any employment or employments to which sub-paragraph (2) 
applies, £20. 

(2) This paragraph applies to employment— 
(a) as a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority constituted by a 
scheme under section 2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to which section 
4 of that Act applies; 
(b) a part-time fire-fighter employed by the Scottish Fire and Rescue Service established 
under section 1A of the Fire (Scotland) Act 2005 as an auxiliary coastguard in respect of 
coast rescue activities; 
(d) in the manning or launching of a lifeboat if the employment is part-time; 
(e) as a member of any territorial or reserve force prescribed in Part I of Schedule 6 to the 
Social Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001. 

(3) If— 
(a) any of the earnings of the applicant or, if he has a partner, his partner, or both of them, 
are disregarded under sub-paragraph (1); and 
(b) either of them has, or both of them have, other earnings, 
so much of those other earnings as would not, in the aggregate with the earnings disregarded 
under that sub-paragraph, exceed £20. 

4.—(1) If the applicant or, if he has a partner, his partner is a carer, or both are carers, £20 of any 
earnings received from his or their employment. 

(2) Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of the applicant and of any partner of his, their 
earnings shall for the purposes of this paragraph be aggregated, but the amount to be disregarded in 
accordance with sub-paragraph (1) shall not exceed £20 of the aggregated amount. 

(3) In this paragraph the applicant or his partner is a carer if paragraph 14 of Part 3 of Schedule 3 
(amount applicable for carers) is satisfied in respect of him. 

5.—(1) £20 is disregarded if the applicant or, if he has a partner, his partner— 
(a) is in receipt of— 

(i) long-term incapacity benefit under section 30A of the SSCBA; 
(ii) severe disablement allowance under section 68 of that Act; 
(iii) attendance allowance under sections 64 to 76 of that Act; 
(iv) disability living allowance under section 71 to 76 of that Act; 
(v) personal independence payment under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012; 
(vi) any mobility supplement under article 20 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces 
Etc. (Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (including such a 
supplement by virtue of any other scheme or order) or under article 25A of the 
Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983; 
(vii) the disability element or the severe disability element of working tax credit 
under Schedule 2 to the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) 
Regulations 2002; or 
(viii) main phase employment and support allowance; or 

(b) is or are registered as blind in a register compiled by a local authority under section 29 
of the National Assistance Act 1948 (welfare services) or, in Scotland, has been certified as 
blind and in consequence is registered in a register maintained by or on behalf of a council 
constituted under section 2 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1994; or 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

114 Page 151



       

 

             
                

           
             
   

     
             

            
         

           
       

    
      

        
    

 
             

         
       

        
           
            

   
 

            
          

   
        

         
  

 
           

             
   

 
 
            
     
            

  
    

     
 

               
        

      
 

           
            
            
 

 
               

            
      

             
 

    
      
    
    

              
       

 

(c) is, or is treated as, incapable of work in accordance with the provisions of, and regulations 
made under, Part 12A of the SSCBA (incapacity for work), and has been incapable, or has 
been treated as incapable, of work for a continuous period of not less than— 

(i) in the case of an applicant who is terminally ill within the meaning of section 
30B(4) of the Act, 196 days; 
(ii) in any other case, 364 days; or 

(d) has, or is treated as having, limited capacity for work within the meaning of section 1(4) 
of the Welfare Reform Act 1997 or limited capability for work-related activity within the 
meaning of section 2(5) of that Act and either— 

(i) the assessment phase as defined in section 24(2) of the Welfare Reform Act has 
ended; or (ii) regulation 7 of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 
2008 or regulation 7 of the Employment and Support Regulations 2013; 
(circumstances where the condition that the assessment phase has ended before 
entitlement to the support component or the work-related activity component arising 
does not apply) applies. 

(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), £20 is disregarded if the applicant or, if he has a partner, his partner 
has, within a period of 8 weeks ending on the day in respect of which the applicant or his partner 
attains the qualifying age for state pension credit, had an award of housing benefit or council tax 
benefit or been in receipt of a reduction under this scheme and— 

(a) £20 was disregarded in respect of earnings taken into account in that award; and 
(b) the person whose earnings qualified for the disregard continues in employment after the 
termination of that award. 

(3) The disregard of £20 specified in sub-paragraph (2) applies so long as there is no break, other 
than a break which does not exceed 8 weeks, in a person's— 

(a) entitlement to housing benefit; or 
(b) receipt of a reduction under a council tax reduction scheme; or 
(c) employment, following the first day in respect of which that benefit is awarded under 
this scheme. 

(4) £20 is the maximum amount which may be disregarded under this paragraph, notwithstanding 
that, where the applicant has a partner, both the applicant and his partner satisfy the requirements 
of this paragraph. 

6.—(1) Where— 
(a) the applicant (or if the applicant is a member of a couple, at least one member of that 
couple) is a person to whom sub-paragraph (5) applies; 
(b) the Secretary of State is satisfied that that person is undertaking exempt work as defined 
in sub-paragraph (6); and 
(c) paragraph 34 does not apply, 
the amount specified in sub-paragraph (7) (“the specified amount”). 

(2) Where this paragraph applies, paragraphs 1 to 5 and 8 do not apply; but in any case, where the 
applicant is a lone parent, and the specified amount would be less than the amount specified in 
paragraph 2, then paragraph 2 applies instead of this paragraph. 

(3) Notwithstanding paragraph 26 (calculation of income and capital of members applicant's family 
and of a polygamous marriage), if sub-paragraph (1) applies to one member of a couple (“A”) it shall 
not apply to the other member of that couple (“B”) except to the extent provided in sub-paragraph 
(4). 

(4) Where A's earnings are less than the specified amount, there shall also be disregarded so much of 
B's earnings as would not when aggregated with A's earnings exceed the specified amount; but the 
amount of B's earnings which may be disregarded under this sub-paragraph is limited to a maximum 
of £20 unless the Secretary of State is satisfied that B is also undertaking exempt work. 

(5) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who is— 
(a) in receipt of a contributory employment and support allowance; 
(b) in receipt of incapacity benefit; 
(c) in receipt of severe disablement allowance; 
(d) being credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited capability 
for work under regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) Regulations 1975. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

115 Page 152



       

 

        
        

              
       

       
  

    
      

       
 

              
          

           
       

 
                 
                

     
 

               
    

           
           

 
             

                
     

 
              

            
          

 
 

     
              

            
    

  
             

      
        

          
          

         
             

     
              

    
   

 
         

     
           

 
               

                    
       

 
                  

     
 
 

(6) “Exempt work” means work of the kind described in— 
(a) regulation 45(2), (3) or (4) of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 
or regulation 39 (1)(a), (b) or (c) of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2013; 
or (as the case may be); or 
(b) regulation 17(2), (3) or (4) of the Social Security (Incapacity for Work) (General) 
Regulations 1995, 
and, in determining for the purposes of this paragraph whether an applicant or a member of 
a couple is undertaking any type of exempt work, it is immaterial whether that person or 
their partner is also undertaking other work. 

(7) The specified amount is the amount of money from time to time mentioned in any provision 
referred to in sub-paragraph (6) by virtue of which the work referred to in sub-paragraph (1) is exempt 
(or, where more than one such provision is relevant and those provisions mention different amounts 
of money, the highest of those amounts). 

7. Any amount or the balance of any amount which would fall to be disregarded under paragraph 18 
or 19 of Schedule 6 had the applicant's income which does not consist of earnings been sufficient to 
entitle him to the full amount disregarded there under. 

8. Except where the applicant or his partner qualifies for a £20 disregard under the preceding 
provisions of this Schedule— 

(a) £5 shall be disregarded if an applicant who has no partner has earnings; 
(b) £10 shall be disregarded if an applicant who has a partner has earnings. 

9. Any earnings, other than earnings referred to in paragraph 39(8)(b), derived from employment 
which ended before the day in respect of which the applicant first satisfies the conditions for 
entitlement to a reduction under this scheme. 

10.—(1) In a case where the applicant is a person who satisfies at least one of the conditions set out 
in sub-paragraph (2), and his net earnings equal or exceed the total of the amounts set out in sub-
paragraph (3), the amount of his earnings that falls to be disregarded under this Schedule shall be 
increased by £17.10. 

(2) The conditions of this sub-paragraph are that— 
(a) the applicant, or if he has a partner, either the applicant or his partner, is a person to 
whom regulation 20(1)(c) of the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) 
Regulations 2002 applies; or 
(b) the applicant— 

(i) is, or any partner of his is, aged at least 25 and is engaged in remunerative work 
for on average not less than 30 hours per week; or 
(ii) if he is a member of a couple— 

(aa) at least one member of that couple is engaged in remunerative work for 
on average not less than 16 hours per week; and 
(bb) his family includes at least one child or young person; 

(iii) is a lone parent who is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less 
than 16 hours per week; or 
(iv) is, or if he has a partner, one of them is, engaged in remunerative work for on 
average not less than 16 hours per week and paragraph 5(1) above is satisfied in 
respect of that person. 

(3) The following are the amounts referred to in sub-paragraph (1)— 
(a) any amount disregarded under this Schedule; 
(b) the amount of child care charges calculated as deductible under paragraph 56(1)(c); and 
(c) £17.10. 

(4) The provisions of paragraph 10 of this scheme shall apply in determining whether or not a person 
works for on average not less than 30 hours per week, but as if the reference to 16 hours in sub-
paragraph (1) of that paragraph was a reference to 30 hours. 

11. Where a payment of earnings is made in a currency other than Sterling, any banking charge or 
commission payable in converting to that payment into Sterling. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

116 Page 153



       

 

      
 

 
   
  
            

   
        
             

   
      

     
         
              

           
             

   
           

   
            

      
 

           
 

               
               

 
 

                
    

             
    

 
               

           
           
         

 
                  

              
        

 
  

   
            

    
              

         
         

           
     

 
              

               
   

 
      

 
 

     
 

 

SCHEDULE 5 Amounts to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: 
pensioners. 

Paragraph 40 
1.(1) 100% of any of the following— 

(a) a war disablement pension (except insofar as such a pension falls to be disregarded 
under paragraph 2 or 3); 

(b) a war widow's pension or war widower's pension; 
(c) a pension payable to a person as a widow, widower or surviving civil partner under 

any power of Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision 
about pensions for or in respect of persons who have been disabled or have died in 
consequence of service as members of the armed forces of the Crown; 

(d) a guaranteed income payment and, if the amount of that payment has been abated 
to less than £10 by a pension or payment falling within article 39(1)(a) or (b) of the 
Armed Forces and Reserve Forces (Compensation Scheme) Order 2011, so much of 
that pension or payment as would not, in aggregate with the amount of any 
guaranteed income payment disregarded, exceed £10; 

(e) a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or payment 
as is mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs; 

(f) a pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is 
analogous to any of the pensions or payments mentioned in sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) 
above; 

(g) a pension paid by a government to victims of National Socialist persecution. 

(2) The amounts to be disregarded under paragraph 1 include any amount included in a pension to 
which this paragraph relates in respect of the applicant's need for constant attendance or the 
applicant's exceptionally severe disablement 

2. Any mobility supplement under article 20 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement 
and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (including such a supplement by virtue of any other scheme 
or order) or under article 25A of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983 or any payment 
intended to compensate for the non-payment of such a supplement. 

3. Any supplementary pension under article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (pensions to surviving spouses and surviving 
civil partners) and any analogous payment made by the Secretary of State for Defence to any person 
who is not a person entitled under that Order. 

4. In the case of a pension awarded at the supplementary rate under article 27(3) of the Personal 
Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983 (pensions to widows, widowers or surviving civil partners), the sum 
specified in paragraph 1(c) of Schedule 4 to that Scheme. 

5 Not used. 
6.—(1) Any payment which is— 

(a) made under any of the Dispensing Instruments to a widow, widower or surviving civil 
partner of a person— 

(i) whose death was attributable to service in a capacity analogous to service as a 
member of the armed forces of the Crown; and 
(ii) whose service in such capacity terminated before 31st March 1973; and 

(b) equal to the amount specified in article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006. 

(2) In this paragraph “the Dispensing Instruments” means the Order in Council of 19th December 1881, 
the Royal Warrant of 27th October 1884 and the Order by His Majesty of 14th January 1922 
(exceptional grants of pay, non-effective pay and allowances). 

7. £15 of any widowed parent's allowance to which the applicant is entitled under section 39A of the 
SSCBA. 

8. £15 of any widowed mother's allowance to which the applicant is entitled under section 37 of the 
SSCBA. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

117 Page 154



       

 

                  
           

         
               

       
  
              

   
 

  
             

 
    

           
    
            

 
 

        
 

                
  

                
       

       
    

 
                
        

                
               

                
               

                
              

           
          

               
    
       

            
  

 
        

   
 

        
    

        
           

 
              
  

 
         

        
           

    
             

             
 

        

9. Where the applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and he provides in that dwelling board and 
lodging accommodation, an amount, in respect of each person for whom such accommodation is 
provided for the whole or any part of a week, equal to— 

(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect of such 
accommodation provided to such person does not exceed £20, 100 per cent. of such 
payments; or 
(b) where the aggregate of any such payments exceeds £20, £20 and 50 per cent. of the 
excess over £20. 

10. If the applicant— 
(a) owns the freehold or leasehold interest in any property or is a tenant of any property; 
and 
(b) occupies a part of that property; and 
(c) has an agreement with another person allowing that person to occupy another part of 
that property on payment of rent and— 

(i) the amount paid by that person is less than £20 per week, the whole of that 
amount; 
or 
(ii) the amount paid is £20 or more per week, £20. 

11. Where an applicant receives income under an annuity purchased with a loan, which satisfies the 
following conditions— 

(a) that the loan was made as part of a scheme under which not less than 90 per cent. of the 
proceeds of the loan were applied to the purchase by the person to whom it was made of an 
annuity ending with his life or with the life of the survivor of two or more persons (in this 
paragraph referred to as “the annuitants”) who include the person to whom the loan was 
made; 
(b) that at the time the loan was made the person to whom it was made or each of the 
annuitants had attained the age of 65 or if it was higher at the time, pensionable age; 
(c) that the loan was secured on a dwelling in Great Britain and the person to whom the loan 
was made or one of the annuitants owns an estate or interest in that dwelling; 
(d) that the person to whom the loan was made or one of the annuitants occupies the dwelling 
on which it was secured as his home at the time the interest is paid; and 
(e) that the interest payable on the loan is paid by the person to whom the loan was made 
or by one of the annuitants, the amount, calculated on a weekly basis, equal to— 

(i) where, or insofar as, section 369 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 
(mortgage interest payable under deduction of tax) applies to the payments of 
interest on the loan, the interest which is payable after deduction of a sum equal to 
income tax on such payments at the applicable percentage of income tax within the 
meaning of section 369(1A) of that Act; 
(ii) in any other case, the interest which is payable on the loan without deduction of 
such a sum. 

12.—(1) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (2) applies, made to the 
applicant by Trustees in exercise of a discretion exercisable by them. 

(2) This sub-paragraph applies to payments made to the applicant by Trustees in exercise of a 
discretion exercisable by them for the purpose of— 

(a) obtaining food, ordinary clothing or footwear or household fuel; 
(b) the payment of rent, council tax or water charges for which that applicant or his partner 
is liable; 
(c) meeting housing costs of a kind specified in Schedule 2 to the State Pension Credit 
Regulations 2002. 

(3) In a case to which sub-paragraph (2) applies, £20 or— 
(a) if the payment is less than £20, the whole payment; 
(b) if, in the applicant's case, £10 is disregarded in accordance with paragraph 1(a) to (g), 
£10 or the whole payment if it is less than £10; or 
(c) if, in the applicant's case, £15 is disregarded under paragraph 7 or paragraph 8 and— 

(i) he has no disregard under paragraph 1(a) to (g), £5 or the whole payment if it is 
less than £5; 
(ii) he has a disregard under paragraph 1(a) to (g), nil. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

118 Page 155



       

 

             
          

  
 

                    
            

  
 

                
       

  
 

              
                   

   
 

                  
      

 
              

 
 

                 
     

   
             

              
  

               
     

        
           

       
       

 
 

             
 

              
             

             
              

                
   

         
        

 
         

     
              

           
  

   
 

              
                  

         
      

 
       

               
  

 

(4) For the purposes of this paragraph, “ordinary clothing or footwear” means clothing or footwear 
for normal daily use, but does not include school uniforms, or clothing and footwear used solely for 
sporting activities. 

13. Any increase in pension or allowance under Part 2 or 3 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 paid in respect of a dependent other than the 
pensioner's partner. 

14. Any payment ordered by a court to be made to the applicant or the applicant's partner in 
consequence of any accident, injury or disease suffered by the person or a child of the person to or 
in respect of whom the payments are made. 

15. Periodic payments made to the applicant or the applicant's partner under an agreement entered 
into in settlement of a claim made by the applicant or, as the case may be, the applicant's partner 
for an injury suffered by him. 

16. Any income which is payable outside the United Kingdom for such period during which there is a 
prohibition against the transfer to the United Kingdom of that income. 

17. Any banking charges or commission payable in converting to Sterling payments of income made 
in a currency other than Sterling. 

18. Where the applicant makes a parental contribution in respect of a student attending a course at 
an establishment in the United Kingdom or undergoing education in the United Kingdom, which 
contribution has been assessed for the purposes of calculating— 

(a) under, or pursuant to regulations made under powers conferred by, section 1 or 2 of the 
Education Act 1962 or section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, that 
student's award; 
(b) under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 49 of the Education 
(Scotland) Act 1980, that student's bursary, scholarship, or other allowance under that 
section or under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 73 of that 
Act of 1980, any payment to that student under that section; or 
(c) the student's student loan, an amount equal to the weekly amount of that parental 
contribution, but only in respect of the period for which that contribution is assessed as being 
payable. 

19.—(1) Where the applicant is the parent of a student aged under 25 in advanced education who 
either— 

(a) is not in receipt of any award, grant, or student loan in respect of that education; or 
(b) is in receipt of an award under section 2 of the Education Act 1962 (discretionary awards) 
or an award bestowed by virtue of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, or regulations 
made there under, or a bursary, scholarship or other allowance under section 49(1) of the 
Education (Scotland) Act 1980, or a payment under section 73 of that Act of 1980, and the 
applicant makes payments by way of a contribution towards the student's maintenance, other 
than a parental contribution falling within paragraph 18, an amount specified in subparagraph 
(2) in respect of each week during the student's term. 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), the amount shall be equal to— 
(a) the weekly amount of the payments; or 
(b) ) the amount by way of a personal allowance for a single applicant under 25 less the 
weekly amount of any award, bursary, scholarship, allowance, or payment referred to in sub-
paragraph (1)(b), 
whichever is less. 

20.—(1) Where an applicant's family includes at least one child or young person £15 of any payment 
of maintenance, whether under a court order or not, which is made or due to be made by the 
applicant's spouse, civil partner, former spouse or former civil partner or the applicant's partner's 
spouse, civil partner, former spouse, or former civil partner. 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), where more than one maintenance payment falls to be 
taken into account in any week, all such payments shall be aggregated and treated as if they were a 
single payment. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

119 Page 156



       

 

                   
              

    
 

                  
            

   
 

                  
  

 
                  
            

           
           

 
      

 
       

                
  

     
          

   
 

     
 

  
 
 
  

21. Except in a case which falls under paragraph 10 of Schedule 5, where the applicant is a person 
who satisfies any of the conditions of sub-paragraph (2) of that paragraph, any amount of working 
tax credit up to £17.10. 

22. Where the total value of any capital specified in Part 2 (capital disregarded only for the purposes 
of determining deemed income) of Schedule 9 does not exceed £10,000, any income actually derived 
from such capital. 

23. Except in the case of income from capital specified in Part 2 of Schedule 9, any actual income 
from capital. 

24. Where the applicant, or the person who was the partner of the applicant on 31st March 2003, 
was entitled on that date to income support or an income-based jobseeker's allowance but ceased to 
be so entitled on or before 5th April 2003 by virtue only of regulation 13 of the Housing Benefit 
(General) Amendment (No. 3) Regulations 1999 as in force at that date, the whole of his income. 

25. Any victims’ payment under the Victims’ Payments Regulations 2020. 

26. Provision for all applicants: Homes for Ukraine scheme 
(1) Any payment made in connection with the Homes for Ukraine scheme is to be disregarded in 
determining— 

(a) an applicant’s entitlement to a reduction under the scheme; or 
(b) the amount of any reduction to which the applicant is entitled. 

(2) In this regulation— 
“the Homes for Ukraine scheme” means the Homes for Ukraine sponsorship scheme which was 
announced in Parliament by the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities on 
14th March 2022 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

120 Page 157



       

 

            
 

 
 

                   
           

   
        
             

       
         

 
 

                
      

      
       

   
          

       
         

       
            

      
             

   
               

    
      

         
          

    
 

                    
  

         
     

    
           

 
         

         
    

        
     

  
 

                 
      

          
          

    
 

                 
      

            
        

     
 

               
       

  
     

 

SCHEDULE 6 Sums disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who are not pensioners. 

Paragraph 53 

1. In the case of an applicant who has been engaged in remunerative work as an employed earner 
or, had the employment been in Great Britain, would have been so engaged— 

(a) where— 
(i)the employment has been terminated because of retirement; and 
(ii)on retirement he is entitled to a retirement pension under the Act, or is not so entitled 
solely because of his failure to satisfy the contribution conditions, 
any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment, but only for a period 
commencing on the day immediately after the date on which the employment was 
terminated; 

(b) where before the first day of entitlement to a reduction under this scheme the employment 
has been terminated otherwise than because of retirement, any earnings paid or due to be 
paid in respect of that employment except— 
(i)any payment of the nature described in— 
(aa)paragraph 51(1)(e) (retainer), or 
(bb)section 28, 64 or 68 of the Employment Rights Act 1996 (guarantee payments, suspension 
from work on medical or maternity grounds); and 
(ii)any award, sum or payment of the nature described in— 
(aa)paragraph 51(1)(g) or (i) (compensation etc. relating to employment), or 
(bb)section 34 or 70 of the Employment Rights Act 1996 (guarantee payments and suspension 
from work: complaints to employment tribunals), 
including any payment made following the settlement of a complaint to an employment 
tribunal or of court proceedings; 

(c) where before the first day of entitlement to a reduction under this scheme— 
(i)the employment has not been terminated, but 
(ii)the applicant is not engaged in remunerative work, 
any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment except any payment or 
remuneration of the nature described in paragraph (b)(i) or (ii)(bb) or paragraph 51(1)(j) 
(statutory sick pay etc.). 

2. In the case of an applicant who, before the first day of entitlement to a reduction under this 
scheme— 

(a) has been engaged in part-time employment as an employed earner or, where the employment 
has been outside Great Britain, would have been so engaged had the employment been in 
Great Britain; and 

(b) has ceased to be engaged in that employment, whether or not that employment has been 
terminated, 
any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment except— 
(i)where that employment has been terminated, any payment of the nature described in 
paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii)(bb); 
(ii)where that employment has not been terminated, any payment or remuneration of the 
nature described in paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii)(bb) or paragraph 51(1)(j) (statutory sick pay 
etc.). 

3. In the case of an applicant who has been engaged in remunerative work or part-time employment 
as a self-employed earner or, had the employment been in Great Britain, would have been so engaged 
and who has ceased to be so employed, from the date of the cessation of his employment, any 
earnings derived from that employment except earnings to which paragraph 53(3) and (4) (earnings 
of self-employed earners) apply. 

4.—(1) In a case to which this paragraph applies and paragraph 5 does not apply, £20; but 
notwithstanding paragraph 33 (calculation of income and capital of members of an applicant’s family 
and of a polygamous marriage) if this paragraph applies to an applicant, it does not apply to his 
partner except where, and to the extent that, the earnings of the applicant which are to be 
disregarded under this paragraph are less than £20. 

(2) This paragraph applies where the applicant’s applicable amount includes an amount by way of 
the disability premium, severe disability premium, work-related activity component or support 
component under Schedule 
3 (applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners). 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

121 Page 158



       

 

      
               

        
          

  
    

 
                  

         
      

            
      

  
 

                  
          

        
 

                    
                   

     
           

      
              

            
   

 
                         

      
              

           
               

  
 

                     
     

             
            

 
            

            
       

       
            
                   

    
        

            
         

 
   

         
      

            
       

  
 

                  
      

             
         

    
 

    

(3) This paragraph applies where— 
(a) the applicant is a member of a couple and his applicable amount includes an amount by way 

of the disability premium under Schedule 3; and 
(b) he or his partner has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and at least one 

is engaged in employment. 
5. In a case where the applicant is a lone parent, £25. 

6.—(1) In a case to which neither paragraph 4 nor paragraph 5 applies to the applicant and, subject 
to sub-paragraph (2), where the applicant’s applicable amount includes an amount by way of the 
carer premium under Schedule 3 (applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners), £20 of the 
earnings of the person who is, or at any time in the preceding eight weeks was, in receipt of carer’s 
allowance or treated in accordance with paragraph 14(2) of that Schedule as being in receipt of 
carer’s allowance. 

(2) Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of the applicant and of any partner of his, their 
earnings must for the purposes of this paragraph be aggregated, but the amount to be disregarded in 
accordance with sub-paragraph (1) must not exceed £20 of the aggregated amount. 

7. Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of an applicant who is a member of a couple and 
whose earnings are less than £20, but is not awarded in respect of the other member of the couple, 
and that other member is engaged in an employment— 

(a) specified in paragraph 9(1), so much of the other member’s earnings as would not when 
aggregated with the amount disregarded under paragraph 6 exceed £20; 

(b) other than one specified in paragraph 9(1), so much of the other member’s earnings from 
such other employment up to £10 as would not when aggregated with the amount disregarded 
under paragraph 5 exceed £20. 

8. In a case where paragraphs 4, 6, 7 and 9 do not apply to the applicant and he is one of a couple 
and a member of that couple is in employment, £10; but, notwithstanding paragraph 33 (calculation 
of income and capital of members of applicant’s family and of a polygamous marriage), if this 
paragraph applies to an applicant it must not apply to his partner except where, and to the extent 
that, the earnings of the applicant which are to be disregarded under this paragraph are less than 
£10. 

9.—(1) In a case where paragraphs 4, 6, 7 and 9 do not apply to the applicant, £20 of earnings derived 
from one or more employments as— 

(a) a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority constituted by a scheme 
under section 2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to which section 4 of 
that Act applies; 

(b) a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority (as defined in section 1 of 
the Fire (Scotland) Act 2005) or a joint fire and rescue board constituted by an amalgamation 
scheme made under section 2(1) of that Act; 

(c) an auxiliary coastguard in respect of coast rescue activities; 
(d) a person engaged part-time in the manning or launching of a life boat; 
(e) a member of any territorial or reserve force prescribed in Part I of Schedule 6 to the Social 

Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001; 
but, notwithstanding paragraph 33 (calculation of income and capital of members of applicant’s 
family and of a polygamous marriage), if this paragraph applies to an applicant, it must not apply 
to his partner except to the extent specified in sub-paragraph (2). 

(2) If the applicant’s partner is engaged in employment— 
(a) specified in sub-paragraph (1), so much of his earnings as would not in aggregate with the 

amount of the applicant’s earnings disregarded under this paragraph exceed £20; 
(b) other than one specified in sub-paragraph (1), so much of his earnings from that employment 

up to £10 as would not in aggregate with the applicant’s earnings disregarded under this 
paragraph exceed £20. 

10. Where the applicant is engaged in one or more employments specified in paragraph 9(1), but his 
earnings derived from such employments are less than £20 in any week and he is also engaged in any 
other employment, so much of his earnings from that other employment, up to £5 if he is a single 
applicant, or up to £10 if he has a partner, as would not in aggregate with the amount of his earnings 
disregarded under paragraph 9 exceed £20. 

11. In a case to which none of the paragraphs 4 to 10 applies, £5. 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

122 Page 159



       

 

 
   

             
      

              
  

      
      

 
                 

        
       

 
              
            
         
 

 
                 

            
            

                 
 

      
   
   
   
          

            
 

      
           

     
         

  
    

      
     

 
                

          
           

        
 

                 
    

       
 

            
       

 
                

                
    

 
                   

     
 

           
 

                    
            

             
   

12.—(1) Where— 
(a) the applicant (or if the applicant is a member of a couple, at least one member of that 

couple) is a person to whom sub-paragraph (5) applies; 
(b) the Secretary of State is satisfied that that person is undertaking exempt work as defined in 

sub-paragraph (6); and 
(c) paragraph 14 does not apply, 
the amount specified in sub-paragraph (7) (“the specified amount”). 

(2) Where this paragraph applies, paragraphs 4 to 11 do not apply; but in any case, where the 
applicant is a lone parent, and the specified amount would be less than the amount specified in 
paragraph 5, then paragraph 5 applies instead of this paragraph. 

(3) Notwithstanding paragraph 33 (calculation of income and capital of members of applicant’s family 
and of a polygamous marriage), if sub-paragraph (1) applies to one member of a couple (“A”) it does 
not apply to the other member of that couple (“B”) except to the extent provided in sub-paragraph 
(4). 

(4) Where A’s earnings are less than the specified amount, there must also be disregarded so much 
of B’s earnings as would not when aggregated with A’s earnings exceed the specified amount; but 
the amount of B’s earnings which may be disregarded under this sub-paragraph is limited to a 
maximum of £20 unless the Secretary of State is satisfied that B is also undertaking exempt work. 

(5) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who is— 
(a) in receipt of a contributory employment and support allowance; 
(b) in receipt of incapacity benefit; 
(c) in receipt of severe disablement allowance; or 
(d) being credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited capability for 

work under regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) Regulations 1975. 

(6) “Exempt work” means work of the kind described in— 
(a) regulation 45(2), (3) or (4) of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008; or 

(as the case may be) 
(b) regulation 17(2), (3) or (4) of the Social Security (Incapacity for Work) (General) Regulations 

1995, 
and, in determining for the purposes of this paragraph whether an applicant or a member of a 
couple is undertaking any type of exempt work, it is immaterial whether that person or their 
partner is also undertaking other work. 

(7) The specified amount is the amount of money from time to time mentioned in any provision 
referred to in sub-paragraph (6) by virtue of which the work referred to in sub-paragraph (1) is exempt 
(or, where more than one such provision is relevant and those provisions mention different amounts 
of money, the highest of those amounts). 

13. Any amount or the balance of any amount which would fall to be disregarded under paragraph 
23 or 24 of Schedule 8 had the applicant’s income which does not consist of earnings been sufficient 
to entitle him to the full disregard thereunder. 

14. Where an applicant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-
related employment and support allowance, his earnings. 

15. Any earnings derived from employment which are payable in a country outside the United 
Kingdom for such period during which there is a prohibition against the transfer to the United Kingdom 
of those earnings. 

16. Where a payment of earnings is made in a currency other than Sterling, any banking charge or 
commission payable in converting that payment into Sterling. 

17. Any earnings of a child or young person. 

18.—(1) In a case where the applicant is a person who satisfies at least one of the conditions set out 
in sub-paragraph (2), and his net earnings equal or exceed the total of the amounts set out in sub-
paragraph (3), the amount of his earnings that falls to be disregarded under paragraphs 4 to 12 must 
be increased by £17.10. 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

123 Page 160



       

 

 
       

                 
         

     
    

               
     
        

           
  

             
               
     

               
        

          
      
     

             
        

      
     

                
          
                

  
 

          
            

  
             
  

 
                

                    
       

 
               

  
 
  

(2) The conditions of this sub-paragraph are that— 
(a) the applicant, or if he is a member of a couple, either the applicant or his partner, is a person 

to whom regulation 20(1)(c) of the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) 
Regulations 2002 applies; or 

(b) the applicant— 
(i)is, or if he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple is aged at least 25 
and is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 30 hours per week; or 
(ii)is a member of a couple and— 
(aa)at least one member of that couple, is engaged in remunerative work for on average not 
less than 16 hours per week; and 
(bb)his applicable amount includes a family premium under paragraph 4 of Schedule 3; or 
(iii)is a lone parent who is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 16 
hours per week; or 
(iv)is, or if he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple is engaged in 
remunerative work for on average not less than 16 hours per week; and— 
(aa)the applicant’s applicable amount includes a disability premium under paragraph 9, the 
work-related activity component under paragraph 21 or the support component under 
paragraph 22 of Schedule 3 respectively; 
(bb)where he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple satisfies the 
qualifying conditions for the disability premium or either of the components referred to in 
paragraph (aa) above and is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 16 
hours per week; or 

(c) the applicant is, or if he has a partner, one of them is, a person to whom regulation 18(3) of 
the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) Regulations 2002 (eligibility for 50 
plus element) applies or would apply if an application for working tax credit were to be made 
in his case. 

(3) The following are the amounts referred to in sub-paragraph (1)— 
(a) (a)the amount calculated as disregardable from the applicant’s earnings under paragraphs 4 

to 12; 
(b) (b)the amount of child care charges calculated as deductible under paragraph 57(1)(c); and 
(c) (c)£17.10. 

(4) The provisions of paragraph 10 (remunerative work) apply in determining whether or not a person 
works for on average not less than 30 hours per week, but as if the reference to 16 hours in sub-
paragraph (1) of that paragraph were a reference to 30 hours. 

19. In this Schedule “part-time employment” means employment in which the person is engaged on 
average for less than 16 hours a week. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

124 Page 161

https://c)�17.10


       

 

             
  

 
 

 
                  
                   

 
                  

  
 

                  
     

 
                   

      
 

                  
         
   

                 
     

  
 

                  
  

 
                  

       
 

            
         

 
             

       
 

                   
            

                 
        

 
             

 
            

     
   
    
       

 
                 
    

             
     

 
      

 
                   

  
 

    
       

          
      

SCHEDULE 7 Sums disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are 
not pensioners. 

Paragraph 54 

1. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any child care, travel or other expenses incurred, 
or to be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Work for Your Benefit Pilot Scheme. 

2. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to be 
incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme. 

3. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to be 
incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Employment, Skills, and Enterprise Scheme. 

4. Any amount paid by way of tax on income which is to be taken into account under regulation 30 
(calculation of income other than earnings). 

5. Any payment in respect of any expenses incurred or to be incurred by an applicant who is— 
(a) (a)engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation, or 
(b) (b)a volunteer, 
if he otherwise derives no remuneration or profit from the employment and is not to be treated 
as possessing any earnings under paragraph 56(5) (notional income: persons who are not 
pensioners). 

6. Any payment in respect of expenses arising out of the applicant’s participation in a service user 
group. 

7. In the case of employment as an employed earner, any payment in respect of expenses wholly, 
exclusively, and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment. 

8. Where an applicant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-
related employment and support allowance, the whole of his income. 

9. Where the applicant is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the Jobseekers Act 
and his partner is on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, the whole of the applicant’s income. 

10. Where the applicant, or the person who was the partner of the applicant on 31st March 2003, 
was entitled on that date to income support or an income-based jobseeker’s allowance but ceased 
to be so entitled on or before 5th April 2003 by virtue only of regulation 13 of the Housing Benefit 
(General) Amendment (No. 3) Regulations 1999 as in force at that date, the whole of his income. 

11. Any disability living allowance, personal independence payment or an AFIP. 

12. Any concessionary payment made to compensate for the non-payment of— 
(a) any payment specified in paragraph 11 or 14; 
(b) income support; 
(c) an income-based jobseeker’s allowance; 
(d) an income-related employment and support allowance. 

13. Any mobility supplement under article 20 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement 
and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (including such a supplement by virtue of any other scheme 
or order) or under article 25A of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983 or any payment 
intended to compensate for the non-payment of such a supplement. 

14. Any attendance allowance. 

15. Any payment to the applicant as holder of the Victoria Cross or of the George Cross or any 
analogous payment. 

16.—(1) Any payment— 
(a) by way of an education maintenance allowance made pursuant to— 

(i)regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996 (payment of school 
expenses; grant of scholarships etc.); 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

125 Page 162



       

 

            
      

            
         

      
                

             
     

        
                

  
 

             
        
         
         

         
                      
            

    
 

                 
         

 
                  

        
              

      
              

          
                   

        
             

            
        

 
           

                
             

    
 

        
   
   
            

             
    

           
      

  
         

       
  

 
           

     
  

                  
  

 
         

     
    

   

(ii)regulations made under section 49 or 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 (power to 
assist persons to take advantage of educational facilities); 
(iii)directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid under 
section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 

(b) corresponding to such an education maintenance allowance, made pursuant to— 
(i)section 14 or section 181 of the Education Act 2002 (power of Secretary of State and the 
Welsh Ministers to give financial assistance for purposes related to education or childcare, 
and allowances in respect of education or training); or 
(ii)regulations made under section 181 of that Act; or 

(c) in England, by way of financial assistance made pursuant to section 14 of the Education Act 
2002. 

(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1) applies, made pursuant to— 
(a) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996; 
(b) regulations made under section 49 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; or 
(c) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid under 

section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, 
in respect of a course of study attended by a child or a young person or a person who is in receipt 
of an education maintenance allowance or other payment made pursuant to any provision 
specified in sub-paragraph (1). 

17. Any payment made to the applicant by way of a repayment under regulation 11(2) of the 
Education (Teacher Student Loans) (Repayment etc.) Regulations 2002. 

18.—(1) Any payment made pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act or section 2 of the Enterprise and 
New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 except a payment— 

(a) made as a substitute for income support, a jobseeker’s allowance, incapacity benefit, severe 
disablement allowance or an employment and support allowance; 

(b) of an allowance referred to in section 2(3) of the Employment and Training Act 1973 or 
section 2(5) of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990; or 

(c) intended to meet the cost of living expenses which relate to any one or more of the items 
specified in sub-paragraph (2) whilst an applicant is participating in an education, training, 
or other scheme to help him enhance his employment prospects unless the payment is a 
Career Development Loan paid pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act and the period of 
education or training or the scheme, which is supported by that loan, has been completed. 

(2) The items specified in this sub-paragraph for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(c) are food, 
ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of the applicant or, where the applicant is a 
member of a family, any other member of his family, or any council tax or water charges for which 
that applicant or member is liable. 

19.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any of the following payments— 
(a) a charitable payment; 
(b) a voluntary payment; 
(c) a payment (not falling within paragraph (a) or (b) above) from a trust whose funds are derived 

from a payment made in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant; 
(d) a payment under an annuity purchased— 

(i)pursuant to any agreement or court order to make payments to the applicant; or 
(ii)from funds derived from a payment made, 
in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant; or 

(e) a payment (not falling within paragraphs (a) to (d)) received by virtue of any agreement or 
court order to make payments to the applicant in consequence of any personal injury to the 
applicant. 

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply to a payment which is made or due to be made by— 
(a) a former partner of the applicant, or a former partner of any member of the applicant’s 

family; or 
(b) the parent of a child or young person where that child or young person is a member of the 

applicant’s family. 

20. Subject to paragraph 40, any of the following, namely— 
(a) a war disablement pension (except insofar as such a pension falls to be disregarded under 

paragraph 13 or 14); 
(b) a war widow’s pension or war widower’s pension; 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

126 Page 163



       

 

    
              
              

         
           

              
        

       
  

          
        

      
       

         
               

 
        

             
             

 
                

       
          

 
                  

     
    

      
      

            
 

            
                   

      
 

                  
     

    
          

          
      

     
          

            
    

           
      

 
                 
  

               
               

           
          
    

            
        

 
          

      
              

           
    

 

(c) a pension payable to a person as a widow, widower or surviving civil partner under any power 
of Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision about pensions for or 
in respect of persons who have been disabled or have died in consequence of service as 
members of the armed forces of the Crown; 

(d) a guaranteed income payment and, if the amount of that payment has been abated to less 
than £10 by a pension or payment falling within article 31(1)(a) or (b) of the Armed Forces 
and Reserve Forces (Compensation Scheme) Order 2005, so much of that pension or payment 
as would not, in aggregate with the amount of any guaranteed income payment disregarded, 
exceed £10; 

(e) a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or payment as is 
mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs; 

(f) a pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is analogous to 
any of the pensions or payments mentioned in paragraphs (a) to (d) above; 

(g) pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special provision made by 
the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or of the Republic of Austria. 

21. Subject to paragraph 40, £15 of any— 
(a) widowed mother’s allowance paid pursuant to section 37 of the SSCBA; 
(b) widowed parent’s allowance paid pursuant to section 39A of the SSCBA. 

22.—(1) Any income derived from capital to which the applicant is or is treated under paragraph 70 
(capital jointly held) as beneficially entitled but, subject to sub-paragraph (2), not income derived 
from capital disregarded under paragraphs 4, 5, 7, 11, 17 or 30 to 33 of Schedule 10. 

(2) Income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 5, 7 or 30 to 33 of Schedule 10 but 
only to the extent of— 

(a) any mortgage repayments made in respect of the dwelling or premises in the period during 
which that income accrued; or 

(b) any council tax or water charges which the applicant is liable to pay in respect of the dwelling 
or premises and which are paid in the period during which that income accrued. 

(3) The definition of “water charges” in paragraph 2(1) (interpretation) applies to sub-paragraph (2) 
of this paragraph with the omission of the words “in so far as such charges are in respect of the 
dwelling which a person occupies as his home”. 

23. Where the applicant makes a parental contribution in respect of a student attending a course at 
an establishment in the United Kingdom or undergoing education in the United Kingdom, which 
contribution has been assessed for the purposes of calculating— 

(a) under, or pursuant to regulations made under powers conferred by, section 22 of the 
Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, that student’s award; 

(b) under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 49 of the Education 
(Scotland) Act 1980, that student’s bursary, scholarship, or other allowance under that 
section or under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 73 of that 
Act of 1980, any payment to that student under that section; or 

(c) the student’s student loan, 
an amount equal to the weekly amount of that parental contribution, but only in respect of the 
period for which that contribution is assessed as being payable. 

24.—(1) Where the applicant is the parent of a student aged under 25 in advanced education who 
either— 
(a)is not in receipt of any award, grant, or student loan in respect of that education; or 
(b)is in receipt of an award bestowed by virtue of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, or 
regulations made thereunder, or a bursary, scholarship, or other allowance under section 49(1) of 
the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, or a payment under section 73 of that Act of 1980, 
and the applicant makes payments by way of a contribution towards the student’s maintenance, 
other than a parental contribution falling within paragraph 23, an amount specified in sub-paragraph 
(2) in respect of each week during the student’s term. 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), the amount must be equal to— 
(a)the weekly amount of the payments; or 
(b)the amount by way of a personal allowance for a single applicant under 25 less the weekly amount 
of any award, bursary, scholarship, allowance, or payment referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(b), 
whichever is less. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

127 Page 164



       

 

                
 

                   
          

        
    

                  
                 

       
                

 
                   

           
          

                  
         

                  
   

 
               

                
  

 
           

        
  

 
                  

                
 

                  
           

              
         

              
     

                  
    

                
       

                  
                 

         
               

   
           

           
 

                
  

       
          

       
            

     
            

     
          

  
 

                
  

   

25. Any payment made to the applicant by a child or young person or a non-dependent. 

26. Where the applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and the dwelling is also occupied by a 
person other than one to whom paragraph 25 or 27 refers and there is a contractual liability to make 
payments to the applicant in respect of the occupation of the dwelling by that person or a member 
of his family— 

(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect of the 
occupation of the dwelling by that person or a member of his family, or by that person and 
a member of his family, is less than £20, the whole of that amount; or 

(b) where the aggregate of any such payments is £20 or more per week, £20. 

27. Where the applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and he provides in that dwelling board and 
lodging accommodation, an amount, in respect of each person for which such accommodation is 
provided for the whole or any part of a week, equal to— 

(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect of such 
accommodation provided to such person does not exceed £20, 100 per cent of such payments; 

(b) where the aggregate of any such payments exceeds £20, £20 and 50 per cent of the excess 
over £20. 

28.—(1) Any income in kind, except where paragraph 54(10)(b) (provision of support under section 95 
or 98 of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 in the calculation of income other than earnings) 
applies. 

(2) The reference in sub-paragraph (1) to “income in kind” does not include a payment to a third 
party made in respect of the applicant which is used by the third party to provide benefits in kind to 
the applicant. 

29. Any income which is payable in a country outside the United Kingdom for such period during 
which there is a prohibition against the transfer to the United Kingdom of that income. 

30.—(1) Any payment made to the applicant in respect of a person who is a member of his family— 
(a) pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the Adoption and Children Act 2002 

or in accordance or with a scheme approved by the Scottish Ministers under section 51A of 
the Adoption (Scotland) Act 1978(200) (schemes for payments of allowances to adopters) or 
in accordance with an adoption allowance scheme made under section 71 of the Adoption 
and Children (Scotland) Act 2007 (adoption allowances schemes); 

(b) which is a payment made by a local authority in pursuance of section 15(1) of, and paragraph 
15 of Schedule 1 to, the Children Act 1989 (local authority contribution to a child’s 
maintenance where the child is living with a person as a result of a residence order) or in 
Scotland section 50 of the Children Act 1975 (payments towards maintenance of children); 

(c) which is a payment made by an authority, as defined in Article 2 of the Children (Northern 
Ireland) Order 1995, in pursuance of Article 15 of, and paragraph 17 of Schedule 1 to, that 
Order (contribution by an authority to child’s maintenance); 

(d) in accordance with regulations made pursuant to section 14F of the Children Act 1989 (special 
guardianship support services); 

(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) applies, made to the applicant 
pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the Adoption and Children Act 2002. 

31. Any payment made to the applicant with whom a person is accommodated by virtue of 
arrangements made— 

(a) by a local authority under— 
(i)section 23(2)(a) of the Children Act 1989 (provision of accommodation and maintenance 
for a child whom they are looking after), 
(ii)section 26 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (manner of provision of accommodation to 
child looked after by local authority), or 
(iii)regulations 33 or 51 of the Looked After Children (Scotland) Regulations 2009 (fostering 
and kinship care allowances and fostering allowances); or 

(b) by a voluntary organisation under section 59(1)(a) of the Children Act 1989 (provision of 
accommodation by voluntary organisations). 

32. Any payment made to the applicant or his partner for a person (“the person concerned”), who 
is not normally a member of the applicant’s household but is temporarily in his care, by— 

(a) a health authority; 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

128 Page 165

http://legislation.data.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2886/made/data.htm?wrap=true#f00200


       

 

       
  

   
          
       

       
  

        
  

 
                  

                    
           
     

 
               

                  
      

               
 

      
         
   
    

 
         

  
                  
          

          
          

         
          

     
             

  
           

  
         

      
    

 
 

                 
      

 
    

              
    

 
              

 
                   

     
 

                      
                

          
     

       
          

        
 

(b) a local authority but excluding payments of housing benefit made in respect of the person 
concerned; 

(c) a voluntary organisation; 
(d) the person concerned pursuant to section 26(3A) of the National Assistance Act 1948; 
(e) a primary care trust established under section 16A of the National Health Service Act 1977 or 

established by an order made under section 18(2)(c) of the National Health Service Act 2006; 
or 

(f) a Local Health Board established under section 11 of the National Health Service (Wales) Act 
2006. 

33. Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 17, 23B, 23C or 24A of the 
Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 12 of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 or section 
22, 29 or 30 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (provision of services for children and their families 
and advice and assistance to certain children). 

34.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment (or part of a payment) made by a local authority 
in accordance with section 23C of the Children Act 1989 or section 29 of the Children (Scotland) Act 
1995 (local authorities’ duty to promote welfare of children and powers to grant financial assistance 
to persons in, or formerly in, their care) to a person (“A”) which A passes on to the applicant. 

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only where A— 
(a) was formerly in the applicant’s care, and 
(b) is aged 18 or over, and 
(c) continues to live with the applicant. 

35.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment received under an insurance policy taken out to 
insure against the risk of being unable to maintain repayments— 

(a) on a loan which is secured on the dwelling which the applicant occupies as his home; or 
(b) under a regulated agreement as defined for the purposes of the Consumer Credit Act 

1974(201) or under a hire-purchase agreement or a conditional sale agreement as defined for 
the purposes of Part 3 of the Hire-Purchase Act 1964. 

(2) A payment referred to in sub-paragraph (1) is only to be disregarded to the extent that the 
payment received under that policy does not exceed the amounts, calculated on a weekly basis, 
which are used to— 

(a) maintain the repayments referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or, as the case may be, (1)(b); 
and 

(b) meet any amount due by way of premiums on— 
(i)that policy; or 
(ii)in a case to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) applies, an insurance policy taken out to insure 
against loss or damage to any building or part of a building which is occupied by the applicant 
as his home and which is required as a condition of the loan referred to in sub-paragraph 
(1)(a). 

36. Any payment of income which by virtue of paragraph 64 (income treated as capital: persons who 
are not pensioners) is to be treated as capital. 

37. Any— 
(a) social fund payment made pursuant to Part 8 of the SSCBA (the social fund); or 
(b) occasional assistance. 

38. Any payment under Part 10 of the SSCBA (Christmas bonus for pensioners). 

39. Where a payment of income is made in a currency other than sterling, any banking charge or 
commission payable in converting that payment into sterling. 

40. The total of an applicant’s income or, if he is a member of a family, the family’s income and the 
income of any person which he is treated as possessing under paragraph 33(3) (calculation of income 
and capital of members of applicant’s family and of a polygamous marriage) to be disregarded under 
paragraph 77(2)(b) and paragraph 78(1)(d) (calculation of covenant income where a contribution 
assessed, covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed), paragraph 81(2) 
(treatment of student loans), paragraph 82(3) (treatment of payments from access funds) and 
paragraphs 20 and 21 must in no case exceed £20 per week. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

129 Page 166

http://legislation.data.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2886/made/data.htm?wrap=true#f00201


       

 

                 
           
                 

 
          

               
                 

        
   

        
       

      
         

 
                   

        
              

                
           

                  
        

              
        

       
      

         
 

                
              
                

                 
       

      
      

              
           
            

   
 

                 
            

   
              

             
             

    
      

      
             

            
          

 
                     

               
   

 
           

                
     

 
      

 
                    

    

41.—(1) Any payment made under or by any of the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, 
the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, or the Independent Living Fund (2006). 
(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from haemophilia or 
who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made under or by any of the Trusts 
to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of— 

(a) that person’s partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that person has died 
was not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not 
been dissolved or, where that person has died, had not been dissolved at the time of that 
person’s death; 

(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and who is a 
member of the applicant’s family; or 

(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the applicant’s family. 

(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is suffering or who 
suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person provided that the partner or former 
partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died were not, estranged or divorced or, 
where the partner or former partner and that person have formed a civil partnership, the civil 
partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, had not been dissolved at the time 
of the death, which derives from a payment made under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-
paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of— 

(a) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and who is a 

member of the applicant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 

who is a member of the applicant’s family. 

(4) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person, which 
derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers, where— 

(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or divorced or 
with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, nor any child or 
young person who is or had been a member of that person’s family; and 

(b) the payment is made either— 
(i)to that person’s parent or step-parent, or 
(ii)where that person at the date of the payment is a child, a young person or a student who 
has not completed his education and has no parent or step-parent, to his guardian, 
but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that 
person’s death. 

(5) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was a qualifying 
person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) 
refers, where— 

(a) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former partner 
from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership 
that has not been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was or had been a member 
of his family; and 

(b) the payment is made either— 
(i)to that person’s parent or step-parent, or 
(ii)where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a student who had 
not completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, to his guardian, 
but only for a period of two years from the relevant date. 

(6) In the case of a person to whom or for whose benefit a payment referred to in this paragraph is 
made, any income which derives from any payment of income or capital made under or deriving from 
any of the Trusts. 

(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), any reference to the Trusts is to be construed as 
including a reference to the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton 
Foundation, and the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund. 

42. Any housing benefit. 

43. Any payment made by the Secretary of State to compensate for the loss (in whole or in part) of 
entitlement to housing benefit. 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

130 Page 167



       

 

 
                  

        
                   

     
 

       
      

          
  

     
          

   
     

           
   

 
                 
             

 
                

         
        

           
 

                   
        

 
               

               
                

  
 

      
                  

  
 

                 
       

 
 

                 
       

             
   

 
    

  
    
      
    
    
      

   
 

   
            

 
                  

           
        

 
      

 

44. Any payment to a juror or witness in respect of attendance at a court other than compensation 
for loss of earnings or for the loss of a benefit payable under the benefit Acts. 
45. Any payment in consequence of a reduction of council tax under section 13 of the 1992 Act 
(reduction of liability for council tax). 

46.—(1) Any payment or repayment made— 
(a) as respects England, under regulation 5, 6 or 12 of the National Health Service (Travel 

Expenses and Remission of Charges) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses and health service 
supplies); 

(b) as respects Wales, under regulation 5, 6 or 11 of the National Health Service (Travelling 
Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Wales) Regulations 2007 (travelling expenses and health 
service supplies); 

(c) as respects Scotland, under regulation 3, 5 or 11 of the National Health Service (Travelling 
Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Scotland) (No. 2) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses 
and health service supplies). 

(2) Any payment or repayment made by the Secretary of State for Health, the Scottish Ministers or 
the Welsh Ministers which is analogous to a payment or repayment mentioned in sub-paragraph (1). 

47. Any payment made to such persons entitled to receive benefits as may be determined by or 
under a scheme made pursuant to section 13 of the Social Security Act 1988 in lieu of vouchers or 
similar arrangements in connection with the provision of those benefits (including payments made in 
place of healthy start vouchers, milk tokens or the supply of vitamins). 

48. Any payment made by either the Secretary of State for Justice or by the Scottish Ministers under 
a scheme established to assist relatives and other persons to visit persons in custody. 

49.—(1) Where an applicant’s applicable amount includes an amount by way of family premium, £15 
of any payment of maintenance, other than child maintenance, whether under a court order or not, 
which is made or due to be made by the applicant’s former partner, or the applicant’s partner’s 
former partner. 

(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1) where more than one maintenance payment falls to be taken 
into account in any week, all such payments must be aggregated and treated as if they were a single 
payment. 

(3) A payment made by the Secretary of State in lieu of maintenance must, for the purpose of sub-
paragraph (1), be treated as a payment of maintenance made by a person specified in sub-paragraph 
(1). 

50.—(1) Any payment of child maintenance made or derived from a liable relative where the child or 
young person in respect of whom the payment is made is a member of the applicant’s family, except 
where the person making the payment is the applicant or the applicant’s partner. 
(2) In sub-paragraph (1)— 

“child maintenance” means any payment towards the maintenance of a child or young person, 
including any payment made voluntarily and payments made under— 

(a) the Child Support Act 1991(202); 
(b) the Child Support (Northern Ireland) Order 1991; 
(c) a court order; 
(d) a consent order; 
(e) a maintenance agreement registered for execution in the Books of Council and Session or the 

sheriff court books; 

“liable relative” means a person listed in regulation 54 (interpretation) of the Income Support 
(General) Regulations 1987, other than a person falling within sub-paragraph (d) of that definition. 

51. Any payment (other than a training allowance) made, whether by the Secretary of State or any 
other person, under the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1944(203) to assist disabled persons to 
obtain or retain employment despite their disability. 

52. Any guardian’s allowance. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

131 Page 168

http://legislation.data.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2886/made/data.htm?wrap=true#f00202
http://legislation.data.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2886/made/data.htm?wrap=true#f00203


       

 

                      
          

            
        

 
                     
       

            
  

 
                

           
         
          

 
                   

              
         

 
      

                
    

                
       

          
          

     
 

               
    

    
 

            
 

              
         

       
 

                 
       

            
 

            
       

          
                 

         
  

 
         

   
 

                   
         

             
            

                 
 

             
      

      
 

53.—(1) If the applicant is in receipt of any benefit under Part 2, 3 or 5 of the SSCBA, any increase in 
the rate of that benefit arising under Part 4 (increases for dependants) or section 106(a) 
(unemployability supplement) of that Act, where the dependent in respect of whom the increase is 
paid is not a member of the applicant’s family. 

(2) If the applicant is in receipt of any pension or allowance under Part 2 or 3 of the Naval, Military 
and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006, any increase in the rate of 
that pension or allowance under that Order, where the dependent in respect of whom the increase 
is paid is not a member of the applicant’s family. 

54. Any supplementary pension under article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (pensions to surviving spouses and surviving 
civil partners) and any analogous payment made by the Secretary of State for Defence to any person 
who is not a person entitled under that Order. 

55. In the case of a pension awarded at the supplementary rate under article 27(3) of the Personal 
Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983 (pensions to widows, widowers or surviving civil partners), the sum 
specified in paragraph 1(c) of Schedule 4 to that Scheme. 

56.—(1) Any payment which is— 
(a) made under any of the Dispensing Instruments to a widow, widower or surviving civil partner 

of a person— 
(i)whose death was attributable to service in a capacity analogous to service as a member of 
the armed forces of the Crown; and 
(ii)whose service in such capacity terminated before 31st March 1973; and 

(b) equal to the amount specified in article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006. 

(2) In this paragraph “the Dispensing Instruments” means the Order in Council of 19th December 
1881, the Royal Warrant of 27th October 1884 and the Order by His Majesty of 14th January 1922 
(exceptional grants of pay, non-effective pay and allowances). 

57. Any council tax benefit to which the applicant is entitled. 

58. Except in a case which falls under sub-paragraph (1) of paragraph 18 of Schedule 7, where the 
applicant is a person who satisfies any of the conditions of sub-paragraph (2) of that paragraph, any 
amount of working tax credit up to £17.10. 

59. Any payment made under section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968, or under sections 
12A to 12D of the National Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for health care) or under 
regulations made under section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 2001 (direct payments). 

60.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), in respect of a person who is receiving, or who has received, 
assistance under the self-employment route, any payment to that person— 
(a)to meet expenses wholly and necessarily incurred whilst carrying on the commercial activity; 
(b)which is used or intended to be used to maintain repayments on a loan taken out by that person 
for the purpose of establishing or carrying on the commercial activity, 
in respect of which such assistance is or was received. 

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only in respect of payments which are paid to that person from the 
special account. 

61.—(1) Any payment of a sports award except to the extent that it has been made in respect of any 
one or more of the items specified in sub-paragraph (2). 
(2) The items specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) are food, ordinary clothing or footwear, 
household fuel or rent of the applicant or where the applicant is a member of a family, any other 
member of his family, or any council tax or water charges for which that applicant or member is 
liable. 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) “food” does not include vitamins, minerals or other special 
dietary supplements intended to enhance the performance of the person in the sport in respect of 
which the award was made. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

132 Page 169



       

 

                  
     

             
 
 

                
         

  
 

              
   

 
                  

      
           
             

 
        

 
                

        
          

    
      

 
 
 

       
                

  
     
          

   
 

     
 

  

62. Where the amount of subsistence allowance paid to a person in a reduction week exceeds the 
amount of income-based jobseeker’s allowance that person would have received in that reduction 
week had it been payable to him, less 50p, that excess amount. 

63. In the case of an applicant participating in an employment zone programme, any discretionary 
payment made by an employment zone contractor to the applicant, being a fee, grant, loan or 
otherwise. 

64. Any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the Discretionary Financial 
Assistance Regulations 2001(204). 

65.—(1) Any payment made by a local authority or by the Welsh Ministers, to or on behalf of the 
applicant or his partner relating to a service which is provided to develop or sustain the capacity of 
the applicant or his partner to live independently in his accommodation. 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) “local authority” includes, in England, a county council. 

66. Any payment of child benefit. 

67. Any payment made under the Energy Rebate Scheme 2022 is to be disregarded in determining: 
(a)an applicant’s entitlement to a reduction under the scheme; or 
(b)the amount of any reduction to which the applicant is entitled. 
“The Energy Rebate Scheme 2022” means the scheme to provide financial support in respect of 
energy bills which was announced in Parliament by the Chancellor of the Exchequer on 3rd February 
2022 

68. Provision for all applicants: Homes for Ukraine scheme 
(1) Any payment made in connection with the Homes for Ukraine scheme is to be disregarded in 
determining— 

(a) an applicant’s entitlement to a reduction under the scheme; or 
(b) the amount of any reduction to which the applicant is entitled. 

(2) In this regulation— 
“the Homes for Ukraine scheme” means the Homes for Ukraine sponsorship scheme which was 
announced in Parliament by the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities on 
14th March 2022 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

133 Page 170

http://legislation.data.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2886/made/data.htm?wrap=true#f00204


       

 

     
 

 
   

 
                

                  
          

 
                  

          
                   
         

               
  

 
               

       
               

 
 

         
                 

      
           
                

            
 

                   
    

 
                 

         
            

                 
 

 
                 
                     

     
 

 
    

 
                    

              
     

 
                

          
     
           
            

 
           

           
          

         
 

          
 

                 
  

           

SCHEDULE 8 Capital disregards: pensioners 
Paragraph 63 

PART 1 Capital to be disregarded. 

1. Any premises acquired for occupation by the applicant which he intends to occupy as his home 
within 26 weeks of the date of acquisition or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances 
to enable the applicant to obtain possession and commence occupation of the premises. 

2. Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home, and in respect of which he is 
taking steps to obtain possession and has sought legal advice, or has commenced legal proceedings, 
with a view to obtaining possession, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he first sought 
such advice or first commenced such proceedings whichever is the earlier, or such longer period as 
is reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to obtain possession and commence occupation of 
those premises. 

3. Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home to which essential repairs or 
alterations are required in order to render them fit for such occupation, for a period of 26 weeks 
from the date on which the applicant first takes steps to effect those repairs or alterations, or such 
longer period as is necessary to enable those repairs or alterations to be carried out. 

4. Any premises occupied in whole or in part— 
(a) by a person who is a relative of the applicant or his partner as his home where that person 
has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit or is incapacitated; 
(b) by the former partner of the applicant as his home; but this provision shall not apply 
where the former partner is a person from whom the applicant is estranged or divorced or 
with whom he had formed a civil partnership that has been dissolved. 

5. Any future interest in property of any kind, other than land or premises in respect of which the 
applicant has granted a subsisting lease or tenancy, including sub-leases or sub-tenancies. 

6. Where an applicant has ceased to occupy what was formerly the dwelling occupied as the home 
following his estrangement or divorce from his former partner or the dissolution of a civil partnership 
with his former partner, that dwelling for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he ceased to 
occupy that dwelling or, where the dwelling is occupied as the home by the former partner who is a 
lone parent, for so long as it is so occupied. 

7. Any premises where the applicant is taking reasonable steps to dispose of the whole of his interest 
in those premises, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he first took such steps, or such 
longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to dispose of those 
premises. 

8. All personal possessions. 

9. The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant and for the purposes of 
which he is engaged as a self-employed earner or, if he has ceased to be so engaged, for such period 
as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal of those assets. 

10. The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant if— 
(a) he is not engaged as a self-employed earner in that business by reason of some disease or 
bodily or mental disablement; but 
(b) he intends to become engaged (or, as the case may be, re-engaged) as a self-employed 
earner in that business as soon as he recovers or is able to become engaged, or reengaged, 
in that business, 
for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which the application for a reduction under this 
scheme is made or, if it is unreasonable to expect him to become engaged or re-engaged in 
that business within that period, for such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances 
to enable him to become so engaged or re-engaged. 

11. The surrender value of any policy of life insurance. 

12. The value of any funeral plan contract; and for this purpose, “funeral plan contract” means a 
contract under which— 

(a) the applicant makes one or more payments to another person (“the provider”); 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

134 Page 171



       

 

            
        

                 
  

 
         

   
  
   
       
          

     
 

         
  

   
              

   
              

            
 

     
            

   
    

          
      

 
 

            
            

             
   

              
   

              
            

 
          

            
  

  
          

      
 

       
     
             
      

      
 

 
   

     
       

      
           
          

    
 

                 
     

    
        

(b) the provider undertakes to provide, or secure the provision of, a funeral in the United 
Kingdom for the applicant on his death; and 
(c) the sole purpose of the plan is to provide or secure the provision of a funeral for the 
applicant on his death. 

13. Where an ex-gratia payment has been made by the Secretary of State on or after 1st February 
2001 in consequence of the imprisonment or internment of— 

(a) the applicant; 
(b) the applicant's partner; 
(c) the applicant's deceased spouse or deceased civil partner; or 
(d) the applicant's partner's deceased spouse or deceased civil partner, by the Japanese 
during the Second World War, an amount equal to that payment. 

14.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the amount of any trust payment made to an applicant or an 
applicant's partner who is— 

(a) a diagnosed person; 
(b) a diagnosed person's partner or was a diagnosed person's partner at the time of the 
diagnosed person's death; or 
(c) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person's parents 
or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person's death. 

(2) Where a trust payment is made to— 
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or (b), that sub-paragraph shall apply for the 
period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending on the date on 
which that person dies; 
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(c), that sub-paragraph shall apply for the period 
beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending two years after that 
date. 

(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), the amount of any payment by a person to whom a trust payment 
has been made or of any payment out of the estate of a person to whom a trust payment has been 
made, which is made to an applicant or an applicant's partner who is— 

(a) the diagnosed person; 
(b) a diagnosed person's partner or was a diagnosed person's partner at the date of the 
diagnosed person's death; or 
(c) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person's parents 
or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person's death. 

(4) Where a payment such as referred to in sub-paragraph (3) is made to— 
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(a) or (b), that sub-paragraph shall apply for the 
period beginning on the date on which the payment is made and ending on the date on which 
that person dies; 
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(c), that sub-paragraph shall apply for the period 
beginning on the date on which the payment is made and ending two years after that date. 

(5) In this paragraph, a reference to a person— 
(a) being the diagnosed person's partner; 
(b) acting in place of the diagnosed person's parents, at the date of the diagnosed person's 
death shall include a person who would have been such a person or a person who would have 
been so acting, but for the diagnosed person residing in a care home or an independent 
hospital. 

(6) In this paragraph— 
“diagnosed person” means a person who has been diagnosed as suffering from, or who, after his 
death, has been diagnosed as having suffered from, variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease; 
“relevant trust” means a trust established out of funds provided by the Secretary of State in respect 
of persons who suffered, or who are suffering, from variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease for the benefit 
of persons eligible for payments in accordance with its provisions; 
“trust payment” means a payment under a relevant trust. 

15. The amount of any payment, other than a war pension, to compensate for the fact that the 
applicant, the applicant's partner, the applicant's deceased spouse or civil partner or the applicant's 
partner's deceased spouse or civil partner— 

(a) was a slave labourer or a forced labourer; 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

135 Page 172



       

 

        
            

 
       

      
              

        
           

    
           

             
   
    
    
   

     
    
            

          
              

              
   

 
                 
                   

             
       
 

              
            

        
 

                 
             

       
           

            
       

 
     

                
    

            
            

   
 

              
                

         
       

              
              

            
    

     
             
         

     
            

  
 

                
              

(b) had suffered property loss or had suffered personal injury; or 
(c) was a parent of a child who had died, during the Second World War. 

16.— Any payment made under or by— 
(a) the Macfarlane Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust, the Macfarlane (Special 
Payments) (No. 2) Trust, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the 
Caxton Foundation, “the Scottish Infected Blood Support Scheme, an approved blood scheme, 
the London Emergencies Trust, the We Love Manchester Emergency Fund, the Grenfell Tower 
charitable funds, the Grenfell Tower Residents’ Discretionary Fund, the Windrush 
Compensation Scheme, the Victims of Overseas Terrorism Compensation Scheme or the London 
Bombings Relief Charitable Fund (collectively referred to in this paragraph as “the Trusts”); or 
(aa) a Grenfell Tower support payment; 
(b) the Independent Living Fund (2006); 
(c) Any historical child abuse payment ; 
(d) Any Windrush payment; 
(e)Any Post Office compensation payment; 
(f)Any vaccine damage payment; 
(g)Any payment out of the estate of a person, which derives from a payment to meet the 
recommendation of the Infected Blood Inquiry in its interim report published on 29th July 2022 
made under or by the Scottish Infected Blood Support Scheme or an approved blood support 
scheme to the estate of the person, where the payment is made to the person’s son, daughter, 
step-son, or step-daughter. 

(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from haemophilia or 
who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made under or by any of the 
Trusts or from a Grenfell Tower support payment, a historical child abuse payment or a 
Windrush payment and which is made to or for the benefit of that person's partner or former 
partner— 

(a) from whom he is not, or where that person has died was not, estranged or divorced, or 
(b) with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved or, where that person 

has died, had not been dissolved at the time of that person's death. 

(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is suffering 
or who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person which derives from 
a payment made under or by any of the Trusts or from a Grenfell Tower support payment, 
a historical child abuse payment or a Windrush payment, a Post Office compensation 
payment or a vaccine damage payment and which is made to or for the benefit of the 
person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person. 

(4) Sub-paragraph (3) does not apply if— 
(a) the partner or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died were 
not, estranged or divorced, or 
(b) where the partner or former partner and that person have formed a civil partnership, the 
civil partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, had not been dissolved 
at the time of the death. 

(5) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person, 
which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts or from a Grenfell Tower support 
payment, a historical child abuse payment or a Windrush payment, a Post Office 
compensation payment, or a vaccine damage payment where— 
(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or divorced 
or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, nor any child 
who is or had been a member of that person's household; and 
(b) the payment is made either— 

(i) to that person's parent or step-parent; or 
(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child or a student who has not 
completed his full-time education and has no parent or step-parent, to any person 
standing in the place of his parent, 

but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that 
person's death. 

(6) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was a 
qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts or from a 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

136 Page 173



       

 

         
         

             
              

            
 

    
     

           
         

          
 

 
                    

  
             

        
         

 
 

                   
                

               
  

 
              

       
 

           
         

 
        

            
    

       
                
    
              

 
      

 
                     

  
 

                  
         

 
         

 
          

            
      

 
     

      
         
      
           

      
            

               
 

Grenfell Tower support payment ,a historical child abuse payment or a Windrush payment, a 
Post Office compensation payment, or a vaccine damage payment, where— 
(a) that person at the date of his death (“the relevant date”) had no partner or former partner 
from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he had formed a civil partnership 
that had not been dissolved, nor any child who was or had been a member of his household; 
and 
(b) the payment is made either— 

(i) to that person's parent or step-parent; or 
(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child or a student who had not 
completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, to any person 
standing in place of his parent, but only for a period of two years from the relevant 
date. 

(7) In the case of a person to whom or for whose benefit a payment referred to in this paragraph 
is made, any capital resource which derives from— 
(a)any payment of income or capital made under or deriving from any of the Trusts; or 
(b)a Grenfell Tower support payment, a historical child abuse payment or a Windrush 
payment, a Post Office compensation payment, or a vaccine damage payment. 

16A- Any payment made under, or by, a trust which is approved by the Secretary of State and which 
is established for the purpose of giving relief and assistance to a disabled person whose disabilities 
were caused by their mother having taken a preparation containing the drug known as Thalidomide 
during her pregnancy. 

16B Any payment made by the Child Migrants Trust (registered charity number 1171479) under 
the scheme for former British child migrants; 

17.—(1) An amount equal to the amount of any payment made in consequence of any personal injury 
to the applicant or, if the applicant has a partner, to the partner. 

(2) Where the whole or part of the payment is administered— 
(a) by the High Court or the County Court under Rule 21.11(1) of the Civil Procedure Rules 
1998, or the Court of Protection, or on behalf of a person where the payment can only be 
disposed of by order or direction of any such court; 
(b) in accordance with an order made under Rule 36.14 of the Ordinary Cause Rules 1993 or 
under Rule 128 of those Rules; or 
(c) in accordance with the terms of a trust established for the benefit of the applicant or his 
partner, 
the whole of the amount so administered. 

18. Any amount specified in paragraph 19, 20, 21 or 25 of this Schedule for a period of one year 
beginning with the date of receipt. 

19. Amounts paid under a policy of insurance in connection with the loss of or damage to the property 
occupied by the applicant as his home and to his personal possessions. 

20. So much of any amounts paid to the applicant or deposited in the applicant's name for the sole 
purpose of— 

(a) purchasing premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home; or 
(b) effecting essential repairs or alterations to the premises occupied or intended to be 
occupied by the applicant as his home. 

21.—(1) Subject to paragraph 22 any amount paid— 
(a) by way of arrears of benefit; 
(b) by way of compensation for the late payment of benefit; 
(c) in lieu of the payment of benefit; 
(d) to rectify, or compensate for, an official error, as defined for the purposes of paragraph 
22, being an amount to which that paragraph does not apply; 
(e) by a local authority out of funds provided under either section 93 of the Local Government 
Act 2000 under a scheme known as “Supporting People” or section 91 of the Housing 
(Scotland) Act 2001. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

137 Page 174



       

 

           
  

   
             
      

            
       

      
 

    
        

   
  

  
  

   
  

  
   

             
    

  
         

         
 

         
    

   
      

       
 

            
  

            
  

          
              

   
  

            
    

             
   
          
 

       
         

              
  
 
 

         
                  

    
         

         
 

           
               

          
        

    
      

 

(f) by way of occasional assistance including arrears and payments in lieu of occasional 
assistance (and in this paragraph “occasional assistance” has the same meaning as in 
paragraph 16 of Schedule 1); 
(g) to rectify, or compensate for, an error made by an officer of the Department for 
Work and Pensions which was not caused or materially contributed to by any person 
outside the Department and which prevented or delayed an assessment of the applicant’s 
entitlement to contributory employment and support allowance, being an amount to 
which paragraph 22(1A) does not apply 

(2) In sub-paragraph (1), “benefit” means— 
(a) attendance allowance under section 64 of the Act; 
(b) disability living allowance; 
(c) personal independence payment; 
(d) income support; 
(e) income-based jobseeker's allowance; 
(f) state pension credit; 
(g) housing benefit; 
(h) council tax benefit; 
(i) child tax credit; 
(j) an increase of a disablement pension under section 104 of the SSCBA (increase where 
constant attendance is needed), and any further increase of such a pension under section 
105 of the Act (increase for exceptionally severe disablement); 
(k) any amount included on account of the applicant's exceptionally severe disablement or 
need for constant attendance in a war disablement pension or a war widow's or widower's 
pension; 
(l) any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the Discretionary 
Financial Assistance Regulations 2001; 
(m) working tax credit; 
(n) income-related employment and support allowance, 
(o) social fund payments under Part 8 of the SSCBA, 
(p) universal credit, 
(q)maternity allowance under section 35 of the SSCBA (state maternity allowance for 
employed or self-employed earner); 
(r)early years assistance given in accordance with section 32 of the Social Security (Scotland) 
Act 2018; 
(s)funeral expense assistance given in accordance with section 34 of that Act; 
(t) any Scottish child payment assistance given in accordance with section 79 of that Act; 
(u) any assistance given in accordance with the Carer’s Assistance (Young Carer Grants) 
(Scotland) Regulations 2019; 
(v) short-term assistance given in accordance with regulations under section 36 of the 
Social Security (Scotland) Act 2018; 
(w) winter heating assistance given in accordance with regulations under section 30 of 
that Act; or 
(x) bereavement support payment under section 30 of the Pensions Act 2014 

(3) In sub-paragraph (1) “contributory employment and support allowance” means an allowance 
under Part 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 as amended by the provisions of Schedule 3, and 
Part 1 of Schedule 14, to the Welfare Reform Act 2012 that remove references to an income-
related allowance 

22.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), any payment of £5,000 or more which has been made to rectify, 
or to compensate for, an official error or an error on a point in law relating to a relevant benefit 
and which has been received by the applicant in full on or after the day on which he became 
entitled to benefit under the Council Tax Benefit Regulations 2006 or the Council Tax Benefit 
(Persons who have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit) Regulations 2006. 

(1A) Subject to paragraph (3), any payment of £5,000 or more received by the applicant in full 
on or after the day on which the applicant became entitled to a reduction under an authority’s 
scheme which has been made to rectify, or compensate for, an error made by an officer of the 
Department for Work and Pensions which was not caused or materially contributed to by any 
person outside the Department and which prevented or delayed an assessment of the 
applicant’s entitlement to contributory employment and support allowance. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

138 Page 175



       

 

       
 

 
        

         
          
         
           
         

 
                

             
 

           
 

        
   

 
   

    
           

      
                 

 
             

         
 

       
     

          
  

            
        

        
             

        
  
              

       
               

       
      

 
              

    
               

               
                 

       
               

   
 

               
       

              
                 

             
           

         
   

                    
               

       

(1B) In sub-paragraph (1A) “contributory employment and support allowance” has the meaning 
in paragraph 21(3 

(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), the total amount of any payments disregarded under— 
(a) paragraph 7(2) of Schedule 10 to the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987; 
(b) paragraph 12(2) of Schedule 8 to the Jobseeker's Allowance Regulations 1996; 
(c) paragraph 9(2) of Schedule 5 to the Council Tax Benefit Regulations 2006; 
(d) paragraph 20A of Schedule 5 to the State Pension Credit Regulations 2002, 
(e) paragraph 11(2) of Schedule 9 to the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 
2008, 
where the award in respect of which the payments last fell to be disregarded under those 
Regulations either terminated immediately before the relevant date or is still in existence at 
that date. 

(f) regulations 10A to 10C of the Universal Credit (Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2014 

(3) Any disregard which applies under sub-paragraph (1) (1A) or (2) shall have effect until the 
award comes to an end. 

(4) In this paragraph— 
“the award”, except in sub-paragraph (2), means— 

(a) the award of benefit under the Council Tax Benefit (Persons who have attained the 
qualifying age for state pension credit) Regulations 2006during which the relevant sum or, 
where it is paid in more than one instalment, the first instalment of that sum is received; 
and 
(b) where that award is followed by one or more further awards which, or each of which, 
begins immediately after the previous award ends, such further awards until the end of the 
last such award, provided that, for such further awards, the applicant— 

(i) is the person who received the relevant sum; 
(ii) is the partner of that person; or 
(iii) was the partner of that person at the date of his death; 

“official error”— 
(a) where the error relates to housing benefit, or council tax benefit (in respect of any period 
before 1st April 2013), has the meaning given by regulation 1(2) of the Housing Benefit and 
Council Tax Benefit (Decisions and Appeals) Regulations 2001; and 
(b) where the error relates to any other relevant benefit, has the meaning given by regulation 
1(3) of the Social Security and Child Support (Decisions and Appeals) Regulations 1999; 

“the relevant date” means— 
(a) in the case of an existing award of benefit under these Regulations or the Council Tax 
Benefit Regulations 2006, 6th October 2003; and 
(b) in any other case, the date on which the claim for benefit under these Regulations or the 
Council Tax Benefit Regulations 2006 was made; 

“the relevant sum” means the total amount referred to in sub-paragraph (1). 

22A. Any payment of a widowed parent’s allowance made pursuant to section 39A of the SSCBA 
(widowed parent’s allowance)— 
(a)to the survivor of a cohabiting partnership (within the meaning in section 39A(7) of the SSCBA) 
who is entitled to a widowed parent’s allowance for a period before 9th February 2023(2), and 
(b)in respect of any period of time during the period ending with the day before the survivor 
makes the claim for a widowed parent’s allowance, 
but only for a period of 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the payment or 1st April 
2024, whichever is later. 

22B.—(1) A payment of bereavement support payment in respect of the rate set out in regulation 
3(2) or (5) of the Bereavement Support Payment Regulations 2017 (rate of bereavement support 
payment), but only for the period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment. 
(2) Where bereavement support payment under section 30 of the Pensions Act 2014 is paid to 
the survivor of a cohabiting partnership (within the meaning of section 30(6B) of that Act) in 
respect of a death occurring before 9th February 2023, any amount of that payment which is— 
(a)in respect of the rate set out in regulation 3(1) of the Bereavement Support Payment 
Regulations 2017, and 
(b)paid as a lump sum for more than one monthly recurrence of the day of the month on which 
their cohabiting partner died, but only for a period of 52 weeks beginning with the date of 
receipt of the payment or 1st April 2024, whichever is later. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

139 Page 176

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2024/29/regulation/9/made#f00011


       

 

                  
   

 
                

 
 

               
               

 
 

                
 

 
      

     
 

         
 

                    
         

        
  

         
     

           
     

 
           

         
         

 
           

 
          

 
         

 
 

              
  

 
 

             
      

            
           

      
     

      
 

       
 

                 
   

 
               

  
 

                
    

 
               

      
 

23. Where a capital asset is held in a currency other than Sterling, any banking charge or commission 
payable in converting that capital into Sterling. 

24. The value of the right to receive income from an occupational pension scheme or a personal 
pension scheme. 

25. Any arrears of supplementary pension which is disregarded under paragraph 4 of Schedule 6 
(amounts to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings) or of any amount which 
is disregarded under paragraph 5 or 6 of that Schedule. 

26. The dwelling occupied as the home; but only one dwelling shall be disregarded under this 
paragraph. 

27.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where an applicant falls within class C (alternative maximum 
council tax reduction: pensioners), the whole of his capital. 

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply where an applicant falls within class B and class C. 

28. Where a person elects to be entitled to a lump sum under Schedule 5 or 5A to SSCBA or under 
Schedule 1 to the Social Security (Graduated Retirement Benefit) Regulations 2005, or is treated as 
having made such an election, and a payment has been made pursuant to that election, an amount 
equal to— 

(a) except where sub-paragraph (b) applies, the amount of any payment or payments made 
on account of that lump sum; 
(b) the amount of that lump sum, but only for so long as that person does not change that 
election in favour of an increase of pension or benefit. 

29. – Any payments made by virtue of regulations made under— 
(a) section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 2001 (direct payments); 
(b) section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 (direct payments in respect of 

community care services); 
(c) sections 12A to 12C of the National Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for 

health care); 
(d) Article 15 of the Health and Personal Social Services (Northern Ireland) Order 1972 

(general social welfare); 
(e) section 8 of the Carers and Direct Payments Act (Northern Ireland) 2002 (direct 

payments); 
or 
(f) by virtue of regulations made under section 50 or 52 of the Social Services and Well-being 
(Wales) Act 2014 (direct payments) 

29A. 
(1) Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 26A of the Children 

(Scotland) Act 1995 (duty to provide continuing care)(a). 
(2) Any payment or part of a payment made by a local authority in accordance with that section 

to a person (“A”) which A passes on to the applicant where A— 
(a) was formerly in the applicant’s care; 
(b) is aged 16 or over; and 
(c) continues to live with the applicant.”. 

29B. A payment made under the Age-Related payments regulations 2013. 

29C Any payments to an applicant made under section 49 of the Children and Families Act 2014 (a) 
(personal budgets and direct payments) 

29D. Any lump sum payment made in accordance with regulation 24 of the Victims’ Payments 
Regulations 2020. 

29E. Any sum paid by means of assistance in accordance with the Carer’s Assistance (Young Carer 
Grants) (Scotland) Regulations 2019. 

29F. Any sum paid by means of winter heating assistance in accordance with regulations under 
section 30 of the Social Security (Scotland) Act 2018 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

140 Page 177



       

 

      
                

  
     
          

   
 

     
 

 
 

        
 

                 
 

                
 

 
                  

   
 

         
         
              
              

             
 

                
        
          

    
      

 
 
  

29G Provision for all applicants: Homes for Ukraine scheme 
(1) Any payment made in connection with the Homes for Ukraine scheme is to be disregarded in 
determining— 

(a) an applicant’s entitlement to a reduction under the scheme; or 
(b) the amount of any reduction to which the applicant is entitled. 

(2) In this regulation— 
“the Homes for Ukraine scheme” means the Homes for Ukraine sponsorship scheme which was 
announced in Parliament by the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities on 
14th March 2022 

PART 2 - Capital disregarded only for the purposes of determining deemed income. 

30.The value of the right to receive any income under a life interest or from a life rent. 

31.The value of the right to receive any rent except where the applicant has a reversionary interest 
in the property in respect of which rent is due. 

32.The value of the right to receive any income under an annuity or the surrender value (if any) of 
such an annuity. 

33.Where property is held under a trust, other than— 
(a) a charitable trust within the meaning of the Charities Act 1993; or 
(b) a trust set up with any payment to which paragraph 16 of this Schedule applies, and under the 
terms of the trust, payments fall to be made, or the trustees have a discretion to make payments, 
to or for the benefit of the applicant or the applicant's partner, or both, that property. 

34. Any payment made under the Energy Rebate Scheme 2022 is to be disregarded in determining: 
(a)an applicant’s entitlement to a reduction under the scheme; or 
(b)the amount of any reduction to which the applicant is entitled. 
“The Energy Rebate Scheme 2022” means the scheme to provide financial support in respect of 
energy bills which was announced in Parliament by the Chancellor of the Exchequer on 3rd February 
2022 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

141 Page 178



       

 

       
 

 
 

                  
                   

        
 

                  
                 

   
 

                  
                

             
 

            
     

      
       

    
 

                 
                  

          
 

                 
     

              
     

 
           

               
            

              
               

            
 

            
         

 
             

       
 

                    
    

 
                   

              
        

 
                 

         
      

        
                

  
            

                   
        
       

                
    

       

SCHEDULE 9 Capital disregards: persons who are not pensioners. 

Paragraph 63 

1. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any child care, travel or other expenses incurred, 
or to be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Work for Your Benefit Scheme but only 
for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the payment. 

2. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to be 
incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme but only for 
52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the payment. 

3. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to be 
incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme but 
only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the payment. 

4. The dwelling together with any garage, garden, and outbuildings, normally occupied by the 
applicant as his home including any premises not so occupied which it is impracticable or 
unreasonable to sell separately, but, notwithstanding paragraph 33 (calculation of income and capital 
of members of applicant’s family and of a polygamous marriage), only one dwelling is to be 
disregarded under this paragraph. 

5. Any premises acquired for occupation by the applicant which he intends to occupy as his home 
within 26 weeks of the date of acquisition or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances 
to enable the applicant to obtain possession and commence occupation of the premises. 

6. Any sum directly attributable to the proceeds of sale of any premises formerly occupied by the 
applicant as his home which is to be used for the purchase of other premises intended for such 
occupation within 26 weeks of the date of sale or such longer period as is reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable the applicant to complete the purchase. 

7. Any premises occupied in whole or in part— 
(a) by a partner or relative of a single applicant or any member of the family as his home where 

that person has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit or is incapacitated; 
(b) by the former partner of the applicant as his home; but this provision does not apply where 

the former partner is a person from whom the applicant is estranged or divorced or with 
whom he had formed a civil partnership that has been dissolved. 

8. Where an applicant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-
related employment and support allowance, the whole of his capital. 

9. Where the applicant is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the Jobseekers Act 
1995 and his partner is on income-based jobseeker’s allowance, the whole of the applicant’s capital. 

10. Any future interest in property of any kind, other than land or premises in respect of which the 
applicant has granted a subsisting lease or tenancy, including sub-leases or sub-tenancies. 

11.—(1) The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant and for the purposes 
of which he is engaged as a self-employed earner, or if he has ceased to be so engaged, for such 
period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal of any such asset. 

(2) The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant where— 
(a) he is not engaged as a self-employed earner in that business by reason of some disease or 

bodily or mental disablement; but 
(b) he intends to become engaged or, as the case may be, re-engaged as a self-employed earner 

in that business as soon as he recovers or is able to become engaged or re-engaged in that 
business, 

for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which the application for a reduction under this scheme 
is made, or is treated as made, or, if it is unreasonable to expect him to become engaged or re-
engaged in that business within that period, for such longer period as is reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable him to become so engaged or re-engaged. 

(3) In the case of a person who is receiving assistance under the self-employment route, the assets 
acquired by that person for the purpose of establishing or carrying on the commercial activity in 
respect of which such assistance is being received. 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

142 Page 179



       

 

 
                   

       
        

 
           

    
       
       
    
       

    
         
       
               

  
 

                 
         

       
   

         
            

          
          

             
         

  
 

           
  

              
  

                  
               

    
        
               

    
     

         
        

    
           

                     
                  

     
 

     
     

           
                  

          
    

 
                

                
     

 
                    
    

                  
                   

     

(4) In the case of a person who has ceased carrying on the commercial activity in respect of which 
assistance was received as specified in sub-paragraph (3), the assets relating to that activity for such 
period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal of any such asset. 

12.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any arrears of, or any concessionary payment made to 
compensate for arrears due to the non-payment of— 

(a) any payment specified in paragraphs 11, 13 or 14 of Schedule 8; 
(b) an income-related benefit under Part 7 of the SSCBA; 
(c) an income-based jobseeker’s allowance; 
(d) any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the Discretionary 

Financial Assistance Regulations 2001; 
(e) working tax credit and child tax credit; 
(f) an income-related employment and support allowance, 
but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of arrears or of the concessionary 
payment. 

(2) In a case where the total of any arrears and, if appropriate, any concessionary payment referred 
to in sub-paragraph (1) relating to one of the specified payments, benefits or allowances amounts to 
£5,000 or more (referred to in this sub-paragraph and in sub-paragraph (3) as “the relevant sum”) 
and is— 

(a) paid in order to rectify or to compensate for, an official error as defined in regulation 1(2) 
of the Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit (Decisions and Appeals) Regulations 2001; and 

(b) received by the applicant in full on or after 14th October 2001, 
sub-paragraph (1) has effect in relation to such arrears or concessionary payment either for a 
period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt, or, if the relevant sum is received in its entirety 
during the period of an award of a reduction under this scheme, for the remainder of that period 
if that is a longer period. 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), “the period of an award of a reduction under this scheme” 
means— 

(a) the award in which the relevant sum is first received (or the first part thereof where it is 
paid in more than one instalment); and 

(b) where that award is followed by one or more further awards which, or each of which, begins 
immediately after the end of the previous award, such further award provided that for that 
further award the applicant— 
(i)is the person who received the relevant sum; or 
(ii)is the partner of the person who received the relevant sum or was that person’s partner 
at the date of his death. 

13. Any sum— 
(a) paid to the applicant in consequence of damage to, or loss of the home or any 

personal possession and intended for its repair or replacement; or 
(b) acquired by the applicant (whether as a loan or otherwise) on the express condition 

that it is to be used for effecting essential repairs or improvement to the home, 
which is to be used for the intended purpose, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which it 
was so paid or acquired or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to effect the 
repairs, replacement, or improvement. 

14. Any sum— 
(a) deposited with a housing association as defined in section 1(1) of the Housing 

Associations Act 1985 as a condition of occupying the home; 
(b) which was so deposited and which is to be used for the purchase of another home, 

for the period of 26 weeks or such longer period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to 
enable the applicant to complete the purchase. 

15. Any personal possessions except those which have been acquired by the applicant with the 
intention of reducing his capital in order to secure entitlement to a reduction under this scheme or 
to increase the amount of that reduction. 

16. The value of the right to receive any income under an annuity or the surrender value (if any) of 
such an annuity. 
17. Where the funds of a trust are derived from a payment made in consequence of any personal 
injury to the applicant or applicant’s partner, the value of the trust fund and the value of the right 
to receive any payment under that trust. 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

143 Page 180



       

 

 
               

  
 

    
    

        
           

         
        

    
             

      
 

        
                

  
        

    
 

                    
 

                  
  

 
            

 
                    

  
 

                  
                    

      
     

 
               

                  
      

               
      

         
   
    

 
    

              
    

 
                  

                 
            
  

 
                  
           

 
                   

     
 

                
              

    
 

18.—(1) Any payment made to the applicant or the applicant’s partner in consequence of any personal 
injury to the applicant or, as the case may be, the applicant’s partner. 

(2) But sub-paragraph (1)— 
(a) applies only for the period of 52 weeks beginning with the day on which the applicant 

first receives any payment in consequence of that personal injury; 
(b) does not apply to any subsequent payment made to him in consequence of that injury 

(whether it is made by the same person or another); 
(c) ceases to apply to the payment or any part of the payment from the day on which the 

applicant no longer possesses it; 
(d) does not apply to any payment from a trust where the funds of the trust are derived from 

a payment made in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant. 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(c), the circumstances in which an applicant no longer 
possesses a payment or a part of it include where the applicant has used a payment or part of it to 
purchase an asset. 
(4) References in sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) to the applicant are to be construed as including 
references to his partner (where applicable). 

19. The value of the right to receive any income under a life interest or from a life rent. 

20. The value of the right to receive any income which is disregarded under paragraph 15 of Schedule 
7 or paragraph 29 of Schedule 8. 

21. The surrender value of any policy of life insurance. 

22. Where any payment of capital falls to be made by instalments, the value of the right to receive 
any outstanding instalments. 

23. Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 17, 23B, 23C or 24A of the 
Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 12 of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 or sections 
22, 29 or 30 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (provision of services for children and their families 
and advice and assistance to certain children). 

24.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment (or part of a payment) made by a local authority 
in accordance with section 23C of the Children Act 1989 or section 29 of the Children (Scotland) Act 
1995 (local authorities’ duty to promote welfare of children and powers to grant financial assistance 
to persons in, or formerly in, their care) to a person (“A”) which A passes on to the applicant. 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only where A— 

1. was formerly in the applicant’s care, and 
2. is aged 18 or over, and 
3. continues to live with the applicant. 

25. Any— 
(a) social fund payment made pursuant to Part 8 of the SSCBA (the social fund); or 
(b) occasional assistance. 

26. Any refund of tax which falls to be deducted under section 369 of the Income and Corporation 
Taxes Act 1988 (deduction of tax from certain loan interest) on a payment of relevant loan interest 
for the purpose of acquiring an interest in the home or carrying out repairs or improvements to the 
home. 

27. Any capital which by virtue of paragraph 55 or 81 (capital treated as income: persons who are 
not pensioners, treatment of student loans) is to be treated as income. 

28. Where any payment of capital is made in a currency other than sterling, any banking charge or 
commission payable in converting that payment into sterling. 

29.—(1) Any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the 
Independent Living Fund (2006), the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, or the London Bombings 
Relief Charitable Fund. 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

144 Page 181



       

 

                 
 

          
              

                
        

  
       

       
     

         
 

                   
         

           
   

             
       

   
    

     
 

       
                

     
               

           
    

 
                

              
 

                 
         

     
      

              
             
            

   
 

                 
            

   
             

              
             

    
     
      

             
            
          

 
                     

               
     

 
           

                
     

                
          

       

(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from haemophilia or 
who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made under or by any of the Trusts 
to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of— 

that person’s partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that person has died 
was not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has 
not been dissolved or, where that person has died, had not been dissolved at the time of 
that person’s death; 

any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and who is a 
member of the applicant’s family; or 

any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the applicant’s family. 

(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is suffering or who 
suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person which derives from a payment made 
under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the 
benefit of— 

the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person; 
any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and who is 

a member of the applicant’s family; or 
any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member 

and who is a member of the applicant’s family. 

(4) Sub-paragraph (3) does not apply if— 
the partner or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died were 

not, estranged or divorced, or 
where the partner or former partner and that person have formed a civil partnership, the 

civil partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, had not been 
dissolved at the time of the death. 

(5) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person, which 
derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers, where— 

that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or divorced or with 
whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, nor any child or young 
person who is or had been a member of that person’s family; and 

the payment is made either— 
(i)to that person’s parent or step-parent; or 
(ii)where that person at the date of the payment is a child, a young person or a student who 
has not completed his full-time education and has no parent or step-parent, to his guardian, 
but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that 
person’s death. 

(6) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was a qualifying 
person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) 
refers, where— 

that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former partner 
from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he had formed a civil partnership 
that had not been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was or had been a member 
of his family; and 
the payment is made either— 
(i)to that person’s parent or step-parent; or 
(ii)where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a student who had 
not completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, to his guardian, 
but only for a period of two years from the relevant date. 

(7) In the case of a person to whom or for whose benefit a payment referred to in this paragraph is 
made, any capital resource which derives from any payment of income or capital made under or 
deriving from any of the Trusts. 

(8) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), any reference to the Trusts is to be construed as 
including a reference to the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton 
Foundation, and the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund. 
30.—(1) Where an applicant has ceased to occupy what was formerly the dwelling occupied as the 
home following his estrangement or divorce from, or dissolution of his civil partnership with, his 
former partner, that dwelling for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he ceased to occupy 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

145 Page 182



       

 

                 
       

 
           

 
       

  
 

                 
           

           
 

                   
          

              
         

               
  

 
                

       
             

 
 

                    
    

 
              

 
              

 
                  

  
 

                    
        

 
                  

                
         

 
                   

                
    

 
                  

          
         

          
             

  
              

      
       

 
                

                
            

     
 

       
     

          
  

that dwelling or, where the dwelling is occupied as the home by the former partner who is a lone 
parent, for so long as it is so occupied. 

(2) In this paragraph “dwelling” includes any garage, garden, and outbuildings, which were formerly 
occupied by the applicant as his home and any premises not so occupied which it is impracticable or 
unreasonable to sell separately, in particular, in Scotland, any croft land on which the dwelling is 
situated. 

31. Any premises where the applicant is taking reasonable steps to dispose of those premises, for a 
period of 26 weeks from the date on which he first took such steps, or such longer period as is 
reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to dispose of those premises. 

32. Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home, and in respect of which he is 
taking steps to obtain possession and has sought legal advice, or has commenced legal proceedings, 
with a view to obtaining possession, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he first sought 
such advice or first commenced such proceedings whichever is the earlier, or such longer period as 
is reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to obtain possession and commence occupation of 
those premises. 

33. Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home to which essential repairs or 
alterations are required in order to render them fit for such occupation, for a period of 26 weeks 
from the date on which the applicant first takes steps to effect those repairs or alterations, or such 
longer period as is necessary to enable those repairs or alterations to be carried out. 

34. Any payment made by the Secretary of State to compensate for the loss (in whole or in part) of 
entitlement to housing benefit. 

35. The value of the right to receive an occupational or personal pension. 

36. The value of any funds held under a personal pension scheme. 

37. The value of the right to receive any rent except where the applicant has a reversionary interest 
in the property in respect of which rent is due. 

38. Any payment in kind made by a charity or under or by the Trusts, the Fund, MFET Limited, the 
Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, or the Independent Living Fund (2006). 

39. Any payment made pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 or section 2 
of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990, but only for the period of 52 weeks beginning 
on the date of receipt of the payment. 

40. Any payment in consequence of a reduction of council tax under section 13 of the 1992 Act 
(reduction of liability for council tax), but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt 
of the payment. 

41. Any grant made in accordance with a scheme made under section 129 of the Housing Act 
1988(209) or section 66 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 1988(210) (schemes for payments to assist local 
housing authority and local authority tenants to obtain other accommodation) which is to be used— 

to purchase premises intended for occupation as his home; or 
to carry out repairs or alterations which are required to render premises fit for occupation 
as his home, 

for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he received such a grant or such longer period 
as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable the purchase, repairs, or alterations to be 
completed and the applicant to commence occupation of those premises as his home. 

42. Any arrears of supplementary pension which is disregarded under paragraph 54 of Schedule 8 
(sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings) or of any amount which is 
disregarded under paragraph 55 or 56 of that Schedule, but only for a period of 52 weeks from the 
date of receipt of the arrears. 

43.—(1) Any payment or repayment made— 
as respects England, under regulation 5, 6 or 12 of the National Health Service (Travel 
Expenses and Remission of Charges) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses and health service 
supplies); 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

146 Page 183

http://legislation.data.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2886/made/data.htm?wrap=true#f00209
http://legislation.data.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2886/made/data.htm?wrap=true#f00210


       

 

    
          

   
    

           
   

               
 

                 
            
              

 
                

         
        

                
          

 
               

 
                   

          
         

 
                  

           
        

 
                 
        

 
        
        

 
           

 
          

                  
     

                
                  

         
 

          
       

  
   

 
                   

         
             

       
  

   
 

                
 

                  
         

              
           

                    
            
    

as respects Wales, under regulation 5, 6 or 11 of the National Health Service (Travelling 
Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Wales) Regulations 2007 (travelling expenses and health 
service supplies); 
as respects Scotland, under regulation 3, 5 or 11 of the National Health Service (Travelling 
Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Scotland) (No. 2) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses 
and health service supplies), 

but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment or repayment. 

(2) Any payment or repayment made by the Secretary of State for Health, the Scottish Ministers or 
the Welsh Ministers which is analogous to a payment or repayment mentioned in sub-paragraph (1), 
but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment or repayment. 

44. Any payment made to such persons entitled to receive benefits as may be determined by or 
under a scheme made pursuant to section 13 of the Social Security Act 1988 in lieu of vouchers or 
similar arrangements in connection with the provision of those benefits (including payments made in 
place of healthy start vouchers, milk tokens or the supply of vitamins), but only for a period of 52 
weeks from the date of receipt of the payment. 

45. Any payment made under Part 8A of the SSCBA (entitlement to health in pregnancy grant). 

46. Any payment made either by the Secretary of State for Justice or by Scottish Ministers under a 
scheme established to assist relatives and other persons to visit persons in custody, but only for a 
period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of the payment. 

47. Any payment (other than a training allowance) made, whether by the Secretary of State or any 
other person, under the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1944(211) to assist disabled persons to 
obtain or retain employment despite their disability. 

48. Any payment made by a local authority under section 3 of the Disabled Persons (Employment) 
Act 1958(212) to homeworkers assisted under the Blind Homeworkers’ Scheme. 

49.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where an applicant falls within class F (alternative maximum 
council reduction: persons who are not pensioners), the whole of his capital. 

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply where an applicant falls within class E and class F. 

50.—(1) Any sum of capital to which sub-paragraph (2) applies and— 
which is administered on behalf of a person by the High Court or the County Court under Rule 
21.11(1) of the Civil Procedure Rules 1998 or by the Court of Protection; 
which can only be disposed of by order or direction of any such court; or 
where the person concerned is under the age of 18, which can only be disposed of by order 
or direction prior to that person attaining age 18. 

(2) This sub-paragraph applies to a sum of capital which is derived from— 
an award of damages for a personal injury to that person; or 
compensation for the death of one or both parents where the person concerned is under the 
age of 18. 

51. Any sum of capital administered on behalf of a person in accordance with an order made under 
section 13 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995, or under Rule 36.14 of the Ordinary Cause Rules 1993 
or under Rule 128 of those Rules, where such sum derives from— 

award of damages for a personal injury to that person; or 
compensation for the death of one or both parents where the person concerned is under the 
age of 18. 

52. Any payment to the applicant as holder of the Victoria Cross or George Cross. 

53. In the case of a person who is receiving, or who has received, assistance under the self-
employment route, any sum of capital which is acquired by that person for the purpose of establishing 
or carrying on the commercial activity in respect of which such assistance is or was received but only 
for a period of 52 weeks from the date on which that sum was acquired. 
54.—(1) Any payment of a sports award for a period of 26 weeks from the date of receipt of that 
payment except to the extent that it has been made in respect of any one or more of the items 
specified in sub-paragraph (2). 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

147 Page 184

http://legislation.data.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2886/made/data.htm?wrap=true#f00211
http://legislation.data.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2886/made/data.htm?wrap=true#f00212


       

 

 
             

            
                 

 
 

             
      

      
 

    
      

         
          
            

         
         

                
             

     
        

               
  

 
             

       
        

        
         

                      
            

    
 

                
         

                
 

                    
       

 
           

        
  
   
        
        

    
 

            
        

   
              

    
      

       
    

                
   

 
         

        
   

  

(2) The items specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) are food, ordinary clothing or footwear, 
household fuel or rent of the applicant or, where the applicant is a member of a family, any other 
member of his family, or any council tax or water charges for which that applicant or member is 
liable. 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) “food” does not include vitamins, minerals or other special 
dietary supplements intended to enhance the performance of the person in the sport in respect of 
which the award was made. 

55.—(1) Any payment— 
by way of an education maintenance allowance made pursuant to— 
(i)regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996; 
(ii)regulations made under section 49 or 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; 
(iii)directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid under 
section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 
)corresponding to such an education maintenance allowance, made pursuant to— 
(i)section 14 or section 181 of the Education Act 2002 (power of Secretary of State and the 
Welsh Ministers to give financial assistance for purposes related to education or childcare, 
and allowances in respect of education or training); or 
(ii)regulations made under section 181 of that Act; or 
in England, by way of financial assistance made pursuant to section 14 of the Education Act 
2002. 

(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1) applies, made pursuant to— 
regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996; 
regulations made under section 49 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; or 
directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid under 
section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, 

in respect of a course of study attended by a child or a young person or a person who is in receipt 
of an education maintenance allowance or other payment made pursuant to any provision 
specified in sub-paragraph (1). 

56. In the case of an applicant participating in an employment zone programme, any discretionary 
payment made by an employment zone contractor to the applicant, being a fee, grant, loan or 
otherwise, but only for the period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment. 

57. Any arrears of subsistence allowance paid as a lump sum but only for the period of 52 weeks 
from the date of receipt of the payment. 

58. Where an ex-gratia payment of £10,000 has been made by the Secretary of State on or after 1st 
February 2001 in consequence of the imprisonment or internment of— 

the applicant; 
the applicant’s partner; 
the applicant’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner; or 
the applicant’s partner’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner, 

by the Japanese during the Second World War, £10,000. 

59.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the amount of any trust payment made to an applicant or a 
member of an applicant’s family who is— 

a diagnosed person; 
the diagnosed person’s partner or the person who was the diagnosed person’s partner at the 
date of the diagnosed person’s death; 
a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person’s parents or 
a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; or 
a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) or a person who was a 
member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) at the date of the diagnosed 
person’s death. 

(2) Where a trust payment is made to— 
a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or (b), that sub-paragraph applies for the period 
beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending on the date on which 
that person dies; 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

148 Page 185



       

 

      
      

  
      

     
     

          
     
        

 
              
            

                 
              

    
              
              

    
                
   

            
     

 
            

      
    

  
      

       
  

    
     

     
          

     
     

     
 

   
   

       
    

     
     

           
 

   
     

       
      

          
          

     
 

                  
     

     
         

      
          

  
                  

      
          

a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(c), that sub-paragraph applies for the period 
beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending two years after that 
date; 
a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(d), that sub-paragraph applies for the period 
beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending— 
(i)two years after that date; or 
(ii)on the day before the day on which that person— 
(aa)ceases receiving full-time education; or 
(bb)attains the age of 20, whichever is the latest. 

(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), the amount of any payment by a person to whom a trust payment 
has been made or of any payment out of the estate of a person to whom a trust payment has been 
made, which is made to an applicant or a member of an applicant’s family who is— 

the diagnosed person’s partner or the person who was the diagnosed person’s partner at the 
date of the diagnosed person’s death; 
)a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person’s parents 
or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; or 
a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) or a person who was a 
member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) at the date of the diagnosed 
person’s death, 

but only to the extent that such payments do not exceed the total amount of any trust payments 
made to that person. 

(4) Where a payment as referred to in sub-paragraph (3) is made to— 
a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(a), that sub-paragraph applies for the period 
beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending on the date on which that 
person dies; 
a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(b), that sub-paragraph applies for the period 
beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending two years after that date; 
or 
person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(c), that sub-paragraph applies for the period 
beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending— 
(i)two years after that date; or 
(ii)on the day before the day on which that person— 
(aa)ceases receiving full-time education; or 
(bb)attains the age of 20, 
whichever is the latest. 

(5) In this paragraph, a reference to a person— 
being the diagnosed person’s partner; 
being a member of a diagnosed person’s family; 
acting in place of the diagnosed person’s parents, 
at the date of the diagnosed person’s death includes a person who would have been such a 
person or a person who would have been so acting, but for the diagnosed person residing in 
a care home, an Abbeyfield Home, or an independent hospital on that date. 

(6) In this paragraph— 
“diagnosed person” means a person who has been diagnosed as suffering from, or who, after his 
death, has been diagnosed as having suffered from, variant Creutzfeld-Jakob disease; 
“relevant trust” means a trust established out of funds provided by the Secretary of State in respect 
of persons who suffered, or who are suffering, from variant Creutzfeld-Jakob disease for the benefit 
of persons eligible for payments in accordance with its provisions; 
“trust payment” means a payment under a relevant trust. 

60. The amount of any payment, other than a war pension, to compensate for the fact that the 
applicant, the applicant’s partner, the applicant’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner or the 
applicant’s partner’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner— 

was a slave labourer or a forced labourer; 
had suffered property loss or had suffered personal injury; or 
was a parent of a child who had died, 

during the Second World War. 
61.—(1) Any payment made by a local authority, or by the Welsh Ministers, to or on behalf of the 
applicant or his partner relating to a service which is provided to develop or sustain the capacity of 
the applicant or his partner to live independently in his accommodation. 
LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

149 Page 186



       

 

 
            

 
                  

        
          

 
                 

      
 

              
       

 
                

        
          

    
      

 
 

      
                

  
     
          

   
 

     
 

 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) “local authority” includes in England a county council. 

62. Any payment made under regulations made under section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 
2001 or under section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968, or under sections 12A to 12D of the 
National Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for health care). 

63. Any payment made to the applicant pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the 
Adoption and Children Act 2002. 

64. Any payment made to the applicant in accordance with regulations made pursuant to section 
14F of the Children Act 1989 (special guardianship support services). 

65. Any payment made under the Energy Rebate Scheme 2022 is to be disregarded in determining: 
(a)an applicant’s entitlement to a reduction under the scheme; or 
(b)the amount of any reduction to which the applicant is entitled. 
“The Energy Rebate Scheme 2022” means the scheme to provide financial support in respect of 
energy bills which was announced in Parliament by the Chancellor of the Exchequer on 3rd February 
2022 

66.Provision for all applicants: Homes for Ukraine scheme 
(1) Any payment made in connection with the Homes for Ukraine scheme is to be disregarded in 
determining— 

(a) an applicant’s entitlement to a reduction under the scheme; or 
(b) the amount of any reduction to which the applicant is entitled. 

(2) In this regulation— 
“the Homes for Ukraine scheme” means the Homes for Ukraine sponsorship scheme which was 
announced in Parliament by the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities on 
14th March 2022 

LB Hammersmith & Fulham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2025/26 

150 Page 187



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 

 
Report to: Full Council 
 
Date: 28/01/2026 
 
Subject: Council Tax Base and Collection Rate 2026/27 and Delegation of the 

Business Rate Estimate 
 
Report of: Cabinet Member for Finance and Reform – Councillor Rowan Ree 
 
Report author: Jamie Mullins, Assistant Director, Revenues 
 
Responsible Director: Sukvinder Kalsi, Executive Director for Finance & 

Corporate Services 
 

 
SUMMARY 
  
This report is a statutory requirement that sets the Council Tax base for the purposes 
of the 2026/27 revenue budget.  
 

The proposed 2026/27 Council Tax base is 91,726. This is an increase of 3,422 on 
the figure agreed for 2025/26 and will result in an increased income, based on the 
2025/26 Band D Council Tax charge, of £3.48m for Hammersmith & Fulham. 
 

The report also delegates authority to the Executive Director for Finance & Corporate 
Services to determine the business rates tax base for 2026/27. 
 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1. That Full Council approves for the financial year 2026/27: 
 

a. The estimated numbers of properties for each Valuation Band as set 
out in this report. 

 
b. An estimated collection rate of 98.0%. 

 
c. The Council Tax Base of 91,726 Band “D” equivalent properties. 

 
d. The delegation of authority to the Executive Director for Finance & 

Corporate Services to determine the business rates tax base for 
2026/27. 

 

 

Wards Affected: All 
 

 

Our Values Summary of how this report aligns to 
the H&F Values 

Page 188

Agenda Item 6.2



Building shared prosperity Keeping the Council Tax low and 
providing Council Tax support help 
residents to maintain affordable living 
costs. 

Creating a compassionate council 
 

We continue to lead on Ethical Debt 
collection by working closely with 
vulnerable residents and advice agencies 
and not employing Enforcement Agents 
for the collection of Council Tax for those 
who claim Council Tax Support. Similarly, 
we have one of the most comprehensive 
Council Tax Support Schemes in the 
country, providing relief for those least 
able to pay. 

Being ruthlessly financially efficient 
 

The recommendations in this statutory 
report will ensure that the Council will 
continue to charge the premium on long 
term empty properties and second homes. 
These premiums will generate additional 
income and contribute to one of the lowest 
Council Tax rates in the country. 

Taking pride in H&F 
 

The Council’s policy on charging the 
premiums on empty or second properties 
will also encourage landlords to bring 
these properties back in to use and 
creating safer and cleaner communities 
for residents and contributing to the 
prevention of homelessness. 

 

Financial Impact  

 
Council Tax Base 
 
The Local Government Finance Act 1992 requires that the council set the tax base 
by 31 January each year. It is used within the overall Council Tax and budget setting 
process, due to be reported to Cabinet on the 09th of February 2026 and to Budget 
Council on the 25th of February 2026. 
 
The proposed Council Tax Base for 2026/27 of 91,726 is 3,422 Band D equivalents, 
higher than the 88,304 agreed for 2025/26. 
 
Council Tax base changes. 
 
The main reasons for the tax base change are:  
 

 Band D 
Equivalents 

Paragraph 

Page 189



Change in actual Tax Base from September 24 to 
September 25 

2,164 
 

1 

Forecast increase in new properties 1,410 
8 

Increase in collection rate from 97% to 98% 926 2 

Forecast increase in Discounts & Exemptions (not 
including Council Tax Support) reducing tax base 

(514) 
 

9 - 12 

Forecast reduction for increase in claims for Council 
Tax Support 

(127) 
 

13 

Forecast reduction because of care leavers, foster 
carers, Veterans Scheme, special guardianship 
orders & other discounts 

(437) 
 

14 

Increase from the 2025/26 tax base 3,422 
 

 
The financial implications of this report will be incorporated in the final version of the 
2026/27 budget report and Council Tax calculations to be considered by the Cabinet 
and Full Council. 
 
The movement in the taxbase and that of prior years will be analysed to inform the 
medium-term financial strategy for the Council and future years taxbase projections. 
 
Prepared by Andre Mark, Head of Finance, Strategic Planning and Investment, 13 
November 2025, Verified by James Newman, AD Finance, 13 November 2025. 

Legal Implications 

 
The Council has a statutory duty to set the Council Tax each year and this report is 
part of this process. 
 
The relevant regulations and legislation together with the legal basis for agreeing the 
recommendations relating to the Council Tax base are found under section 31B of 
the Local Government Finance Act 1992 which imposes a duty on a billing authority 
to calculate its Council Tax by applying a formula laid down in that section. This 
relies on calculating a figure for the Council Tax base for the year. The Local 
Authority (Calculation of Council Tax Base) (England) Regulations 2012 require a 
billing authority to use a given formula to calculate the Council Tax base. The 
Council Tax (Prescribed Classes of Dwellings) (England)Regulations 2003, as 
amended in 2012 and Council Tax (Exempt Dwellings) (England) (Amendment) 
Order 2012 address the position of second and unoccupied homes. 
 
Glen Egan, Assistant Director of legal Services, Email: glen.egan@lbhf.gov.uk, 04 
November 2025 
 

Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 

MHCLG Return CTB1 (October 2025) 

 

Page 190



 

DETAILED ANALYSIS 

Discounts and Premiums 

 
Changes to the Taxbase 
 
1. Due to a Statutory legislative amendment which was passed in October 2024, 

we are charging an additional 100% premium on second homes from the 1st of 
April 2025. As of October 2025, there are 2,160 properties subject to the 
second home premium and 474 properties being charged a long-term empty 
premium, which are being closely monitored. Whilst the increase in the 
premiums has boosted the taxbase, as has the increase in the number of 
properties being built, there has also been an increase in the number of 
discounts and exemptions during the year, which has partially offset this 
amount, resulting in a net gain of 2,164 Band “D” equivalents. 

 
Collection Rate 
 
2. The long-term collection rate has been increased from 97% to 98%, reflecting 

the investment in the service, which will facilitate further revenue collection. It 
must be noted that the 98% collection rate is over the lifetime of the debt, rather 
than ‘in year’ collection rates. There is a resulting net gain of 926 Band “D” 
equivalents. 
 
Since 2018, LBHF has operated an Ethical Debt approach to the collection and 
recovery of Council Tax. Our policy ensures recovery practices are fair, 
respectful and sensitive to individual circumstances. It also promotes inclusion 
by providing accessible support options, such as payment plans, debt advice 
and hardship schemes so vulnerable residents are not excluded from essential 
services. 
 
Early intervention and supportive repayment plans reduce costly enforcement 
and write-offs, improving collection rates over time. By preventing aggressive 
enforcement and supporting residents who really need help to manage debt 
sustainably, the policy helps maintain financial stability for households. This 
approach reduces long term poverty cycles, enabling residents to contribute to 
the local economy. We are on target to award another £250k in HSF to those 
residents who are not on full Council Tax Support but who evidenced hardship. 

 
Council Tax Support 

 
Under Council Tax support, Hammersmith & Fulham and the GLA absorb the full 
cost of the scheme. This mirrors the previous Council Tax benefit arrangements. 
For 2026/27, the Council has provided Council Tax support discounts that equate 
to an estimated 10,095 Band ‘D’ equivalents. This is a small increase from the 
2025/26 position, reflecting additional take up campaigns and caseload growth 
of 100 claims with a 127 Band D equivalent. Based on the 2025/26 Council Tax 

Page 191



charges, this represents financial support of £14.49m (including the GLA 
precept). 
 
The tax base regulations require the cost of the scheme to be treated as a 
discount and deducted from the Council’s tax base calculation. 

Valuation Band Properties  

 
3. In previous years the latest information on the number of properties within each 

valuation band is contained within a return (CTB1), which the Council provided 
to the DLUHC on 10th October 2025. That return reflected the actual number of 
properties shown in the Valuation List as of 10 September 2025, and the 
Council’s records as of 06th October 2025. 

 
A detailed analysis of the properties in each valuation band is summarised 
below. There are 95,707 dwellings on the list with 30,033 properties estimated 
to receive a single person’s discount.  

 
Council Tax Base Return Summary (CTB1) 
 

Band Band Size Total 
Dwellings 

Total after 
Discounts, 
Premiums, 
Exemptions 
and Disabled 
Relief 

Ratio Band “D” 
 Equivalent 

A Values not exceeding 
£40,000 

4122 2387.6 6/9 1592 

B Values exceeding £40,000 
but not exceeding £52,000 

6635 3768.6 7/9 2931 

C Values exceeding £52,000 
but not exceeding £68,000 

14509 10378.5 8/9 9225 

D Values exceeding £68,000 
but not exceeding £88,000 

25924 20816 9/9 20816 

E Values exceeding £88,000 
but not exceeding 
£120,000 

17702 14986.4 11/9 18317 

F Values exceeding 
£120,000 but not 
exceeding £160,000 

11601 10378.2 13/9 14991 

G Values exceeding 
£160,000 but not 
exceeding £320,000 

12274 11630.8 15/9 19385 

H Values exceeding 
£320,000  

2940 3004.7 18/9 6009 

  Total 95707 77350.8   93266 

 
Adjustments to the Valuation List  

 
4. The above table shows the valuation band position on 07 October 2025, but the 

Council is also required to consider any likely changes that may arise for the 

Page 192



financial year 2026/27. Therefore, the following adjustments need to be 
considered: 

 
New Properties  

 
5. There are likely to be several new properties, conversions etc added to the 

valuation list at some point during the year. There are approximately 620 units 
currently under construction on various sites in the borough that will be added 
to the tax base sometime during 2026/27. Additionally, there are circa 600 
properties still to come in during 2025/26, of which 400 properties are dedicated 
student dwellings, which receive a 100% exemption. It is estimated after 
allowing for different completion dates that this will equate to an 
additional 1,220 properties and an increase of 1,410 Band ‘D’ equivalents. 

 
Single Person Discounts (SPD) 

 
6. Based on Sole Occupier Discount increases over the last year following, we are 

projecting that an additional 62.2 band D equivalents by 1st April 2027. 
 
Student & other Exemptions 
 

7. Dwellings wholly occupied by students are exempt from Council Tax. The 
projected Council Tax base needs to be adjusted to allow for students that have 
yet to prove their exemption for the new academic year. As there is no 
significant student building works in 2026/27 It is estimated that an adjustment 
of 21.7 Band D equivalents is required. However, there are still 400 student 
properties (378.3 Band “D” equivalents) still to be valued in 2025/26, which will 
be 100% exempt from paying the Council Tax. 

 
8. There will also be some additional disregard discounts and other exemptions 

within 2026/27, due to a changing base and for the new properties already 
mentioned. We estimate this will lead to a reduction of 51.8 Band “D” 
equivalents. 

 
9. The total reduction for all categories of discounts and exemptions is 514 Band 

“D” equivalents, being (62.2 + 21.7 + 378.3 + 51.8). 
 

Council Tax Support 

10. As at the end of October 2025, the cost of the scheme equates to 9,967.9 Band 
“D” equivalents, based on 2025/26 Council Tax levels, which are deducted from 
the tax base for 2025/26. The forecast for 2026/27 is 10,095.2 Band “D” 
equivalents, representing a small increase of 127 Band “D” equivalents from 
2025/26. This is due to additional take up initiatives, including Pension Credit 
take up campaigns, increasing the number of claimants applying for a discount. 

 
Care Leavers, Foster Carers, Veterans Scheme and Special Guardian 
Orders 

 

Page 193



11. For 2026/27, the Council proposes to maintain a 100% Local Discount for care 
leavers up to the age of 25, Foster Carers and Special Guardianships. We are 
also introducing a new 25% discount for Service Veterans from the 1st of April 
2026. This is estimated at 306 Band D equivalents. However, LBHF only retain 
70% of the Council Tax collected with the other 30% being passed across to 
the GLA. Therefore, the true cost of the schemes to the Council is 437.1 Band 
D equivalents, being 306 / 70 x 100 and this figure needs to be deducted from 
the council’s tax base calculation. 

 
12. The Council is required to set its tax base on the total of the relevant amounts 

for the year for each of the valuation bands shown or is likely to be shown for 
any day in the year in the authority’s valuation list. 

 
13. Based on the CTB1 calculation of 06th October 2025 and the proposed adjustments, 

the Council is requested to approve the estimated numbers of properties for each 
valuation band as set out in the following table:  

 
2026/27 Council Tax Base Calculation 

 

 

Collection Rate 

14. The Council is also required to estimate its collection rate for 2026/27 at the 
same time as arriving at the estimated number of properties within the tax base. 
In arriving at a percentage collection rate for 2026/27, the Council considers the 
likely sum to be collected, previous collection experience and any other 
relevant factors. 

15. The actual sum to be collected from local Council Taxpayers cannot be finally 
determined until the preceptor’s requirements are known and the Council has 
approved its budget. The Council therefore must make an estimate of the sums 
to be collected locally making estimated allowance for sums from Council Tax 
support and write-offs/non-collection.  

 
16. It is suggested that the collection rate for 2026/27 is set at 98%. 

Page 194



The Tax Base  

 
17. Under Section 31(B) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and the 

Regulations, the Council’s tax base is calculated by multiplying the estimated 
number of Band “D” equivalents by the estimated collection rate. 

 
18. Based on the number of Band “D” equivalents in the table in paragraph 9. 

Above and the estimated collection rate in paragraph 19 above, the calculation 
is as follows: 

 
(Band D equivalents) x (Collection Rate) = (Tax Base)  
 
93,598 * 98% = 91,726 

 

Business Rates Tax base 

 
19. The Local Government Finance Act 2012 made it obligatory for authorities to 

formally calculate the estimated level of business rates (the business rates tax 
base) it anticipates collecting for the forthcoming financial year and passing this 
information to precepting authorities by 31 January. The Government continues 
to set the tax rate (known as the non-domestic multiplier). 

 
20. The tax base is based on data from the Valuation Office with local allowance for 

the appropriate level of business rates appeals, the provision for bad debts, any 
discretionary reliefs and any forecast growth. This information is pulled together 
into a government return (NNDR1). The detailed guidance on completing the 
NNDR1 will be issued just before Christmas. 

 
21. Non-Domestic Rating  
 

For 2026/27, the temporary Retail Hospitality and Leisure (RHL) Relief scheme 

is being replaced by a series of additional multipliers, which will support those 

businesses. Details of the multipliers and new transitional relief schemes, 

supporting the revaluation in 2026, will be announced in the Autumn Statement.  

Equality Implications  

 
22. There are no anticipated negative implications for groups with protected 

characteristics, under the Equality Act 2010, by the approval of these 
proposals. In acknowledgement of the significant inequalities, discrimination 
and stigma faced by care leavers, this report exempts care leavers from 
Council Tax up to the age of 25.  

 
23. From the 1st of April 2024, the Council has also provided an exemption for In-

House foster carers and special guardians residing in the Borough. 

Risk Management Implications 

 

Page 195



24. The report considers the implications required by the Council to meet its 

obligations under the Local Government Finance Act 2012 which made it 

obligatory for authorities to formally calculate the estimated level of business 

rates (the business rates tax base) it anticipates collecting for the forthcoming 

financial year and passing this information to precepting authorities by 31 

January. The Council is also required to estimate its Collection Rate for 

2026/27 at the same time as arriving at the estimated number of properties 

within the Tax Base. The Council is required Under Section 33(1) of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1992 and The Local Authorities (Calculations of 

Council Tax Base) (England) Regulations 2012, the Council (as billing 

authority) to calculate its Council Tax Base. The proposals are compliant with 

statutory duties and are provided in accordance with management of standing 

risk to manage the Council’s finances. Changes in the recovery policy are 

anticipated to have a beneficial impact on the collection rate from 2026/27, 

which will further protect funding for essential frontline services. The Council 

has or will be taking steps to support specific groups through the use of 

discounts, including care leavers, in-house foster carers, veterans and special 

guardians. 

 
Implications verified by, Moira Mackie, Head of Internal Audit, 4 November 2025 

Page 196



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 

Report to: Full Council 
 

Date:  28/01/2026 
 

Subject: Council Calendar of Meetings 2026/27 
 

Report of: Councillor Stephen Cowan – The Leader of the Council 
 
Report author: David Abbott, Head of Governance 
 

Responsible Director: Grant Deg, Director for Legal Services and Monitoring 
Officer 

  

 

SUMMARY 
 
This report requests Full Council’s approval of the 2026/27 calendar of meetings. 
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1. That Full Council approves the 2026/27 Council calendar of meetings in 
Appendix 1. 

 

 

Wards Affected: None 
 

 

Our Values Summary of how this report aligns to 
the H&F Corporate Plan and the H&F 
Values 

Doing things with local residents, not to 
them 
 

Public meetings allow residents to 
exercise their local democratic rights. 
Residents can also contribute to 
scrutiny of the Council and policy 
development through Policy and 
Accountability meetings. 
 

 

Financial Impact 
 
The recommendations in this report have no direct financial implications.  
 
Alex Pygram, Head of Finance, Corporate Services – 14 January 2026 
 

Legal Implications 
  

Page 197

Agenda Item 6.3

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/publications/corporate-plan/hf-plan-2023-2026


The Council may hold its meetings at such hour, on such days and at such a place 
as the Council may determine. Approval of the schedule of meetings allows the 
Council to continue to carry out its business lawfully. 
  
Glen Egan, Assistant Director of Legal Services – 14 January 2026 
 

Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
None.  
 

 

DETAILED ANALYSIS 

Proposals and Analysis of Options  

 
1. This report requests approval of the 2026/27 Council calendar of meetings 

detailed in Appendix 1. 

Reasons for Decision 

  
2. The Council has the power to agree the date of its meetings. The Council 

agrees its calendar of meetings annually. 
 

Equality Implications  

 
3. There are no anticipated negative implications for groups with protected 

characteristics, under the Equality Act 2010, by the approval of the 
amendments recommended in this report. Officers have considered the 
equalities impact of this decision to be neutral. 

 
 

LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 – Council Calendar 2026/27 

Page 198



H&F Council Calendar of Meetings 2026/27

Monday 1 3 2 1 EASPR PAC H&H PAC 1 3

Tuesday 2 4 1 3 1 2 HASC PAC SICS PAC 2 4

Wednesday 3 1 5 2 4 2 3 3 5

Thursday 4 2 6 3 1 5 3 4 4 1 6

Friday 1 5 3 7 4 2 6 4 1 5 5 2 7

Monday 4 8 6 10 7 5 9 7 4 8 8 5 10

Tuesday 5 9 7 11 8 6 10 8 5 9 9 6 11

Wednesday 6 10 8 12 9 7 11 9 6 10 10 7 12

Thursday 7 11 9 13 10 8 12 10 7 11 11 8 13

Friday 8 12 10 14 11 9 13 11 8 12 12 9 14

Monday 11 15 13 17 14 12 16 14 11 15 15 12 17

Tuesday 12 16 14 18 15 13 17 15 12 16 16 13 18

Wednesday 13 17 15 19 16 14 18 16 13 17 17 14 19

Thursday 14 18 16 20 17 15 19 17 14 18 18 15 20

Friday 15 19 17 21 18 16 20 18 15 19 19 16 21

Monday 18 22 20 EASPR PAC HASC PAC 24 21 19 23 21 18 22 22 19 24

Tuesday 19 23 21 25 22 20 24 22 19 23 23 20 25

Wednesday 20 24 22 26 23 21 25 23 20 24 24 21 26

Thursday 21 25 23 27 24 22 26 24 21 25 25 22 27

Friday 22 26 24 28 25 23 27 25 22 26 26 23 28

Monday 25 29 27 31 28 26 30 28 25 29 26 31

Tuesday 26 30 28 29 27 29 26 CCE PAC CEPAC 30 27 EASPR PAC HASC PAC

Wednesday 27 29 30 28 30 27 31 28

Thursday 28 30 29 31 28 29

Friday 29 31 30 29 30

Committee names and abbreviations Cultural and religious dates

Cabinet 2026

Planning and Development Control Committee Shavuot 22-May

Full Council Eid al-Adha 28-May

Health and Wellbeing Board Rosh Hashana 12-Sep

Audit Committee Yom Kippur 21-Sep

Wormwood Scrubs Charitable Trust Committee Diwali 08-Nov

Pension Fund Committee Christmas Day 25-Dec

Pensions Board

Licensing Committee / Annual Licensing Committee 2027

Policy and Oversight Board Purim 23-Mar

Children and Education Policy and Accountability Committee Passover 22-Apr (last day of passover - 29 April)

Health and Adult Social Care Policy and Accountability Committee Good Friday 26-Mar

Social Inclusion and Community Safety Policy and Accountability Committee Easter Monday 28-Mar

Climate Change and Ecology Policy and Accountability Committee  

The Economy, The Arts, Sports and the Public Realm Policy and Accountability Committee

Housing and Homelessness Policy and Accountability Committee

School Holidays

Full Council

School Holidays

School Holidays

Labour Party 

Conference

PFC

Cabinet

LG

Conservative Party 

Conference

CEPAC

H&H PAC

Audit

FEBRUARY

CEPAC

HWBB

WSCT

Audit

H&H PAC

CCE PAC

School Holidays

Cabinet

Planning Planning

Cabinet Cabinet

POB Pensions Board

MARCH MAYAPRIL

Bank Holiday

Bank Holiday

CG

LG

School Holidays

POB

SICS PAC

School Holidays

Easter Monday

Good Friday

Annual Council

Budget Council

LG

Planning

PFC

NOVEMBER DECEMBER JANUARY

Cabinet

Planning Planning

Planning

Cabinet

New Year's Day

HWBB

WSCT

Planning

2
0

2
7

Full Council

Christmas Day

School Holidays

Full Council

LG

LG

HWBB

School Holidays

CCE PAC

H&H PAC

HASC PAC

SICS PAC

EASPR PAC

POB

CG

Cabinet

Planning

H&H PAC

CEPAC

Pensions Board

Licensing

SICS PAC

HASC PAC

Planning

WSCT

HWBB

POB

CCE PAC

Full Council

EASPR PAC

PFC

Audit

Cabinet

Annual Council PFC

SICS PAC

2
0

2
6

MAY

Local Elections

Bank Holiday

CCE PAC

School Holidays

Bank Holiday

JUNE

Licensing

Pensions Board

Cabinet

Planning

CG

LG

OCTOBER

Audit

CEPAC

WSCT

HWBB

Cabinet

JULY AUGUST SEPTEMBER

Cabinet

School Holidays

Planning

CG

CG

WSCT

Audit

POB

PFC

P
age 199



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 

Report to: Full Council 
 

Date:  28/01/2026 
 

Subject: Review of the Constitution 
 

Report of: The Leader of the Council - Councillor Stephen Cowan 
 

Report author: David Abbott, Head of Governance 
 

Responsible Director: Grant Deg, Director of Legal Services and Monitoring 
Officer 

  

 

SUMMARY 
 
The Council’s Monitoring Officer is required to review the Council’s Constitution each 
year to ensure that its aims and principles are given full effect in accordance with 
Article 14 of the Constitution. 
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1. That Full Council notes the committee membership changes detailed in 
paragraph 5 and approves the committee appointment in paragraph 6. 

 

 

Wards Affected: All 
 

 

Our Values Summary of how this report aligns to 
the H&F Values 

Taking pride in H&F 
 

Ensuring a high standard of governance 
across the Council. 

 

Financial Impact 
 
The recommendations in this report have no direct financial implications.  
 
Alex Pygram, Head of Finance – Corporate Services, 14 January 2026 
 

Legal Implications 
 
The Local Government Act 2000 requires the Council to have and maintain a 
constitution. The Monitoring Officer is satisfied that the Council’s Constitution 
continues to fulfil its stated purposes, as set out in Article 1 of the Constitution. 
  

Page 200

Agenda Item 6.4



Glen Egan, Assistant Director of Legal Services, 14 January 2026 
 

Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
None. 
  

 

DETAILED ANALYSIS 

Proposals and Analysis of Options  

 
1. Each local authority is required to publish the arrangements it has made to 

discharge its functions in a ‘constitution’ prepared in accordance with Section 
37 of the Local Government Act 2000. The Constitution sets out how the 
Council operates, how decisions are made and the procedures that are 
followed to ensure business is conducted in an efficient, transparent, and 
accountable manner. Some of the content of the Constitution is required by law, 
the remainder is for the Council itself to determine. 
 

2. The Constitution is reviewed at least annually to ensure it continues to promote 
timely, effective, transparent, and lawful decision making reflecting the 
arrangements Members have put in place for the running of the Council. 
 

3. In-year amendments were approved by Council to the Scheme of Delegation to 
Officers to reflect recent changes in organisational structure and changes to the 
responsibilities of Chief Officers.  

 
4. The Monitoring Officer has a duty to keep the Constitution under review and 

has delegated authority to amend the Constitution where there has been a 
change in law, job title, structure, rearrangement of job responsibilities or for 
general administrative convenience. All extensive changes to the Constitution, 
however, must be approved by Full Council. 

Committee Appointments 

 
5. The Chief Executive is authorised to make in-year appointments to committees 

upon receipt of nominations by the Party Whips. Full Council is asked to note 
the following changes to committee memberships, authorised by the Chief 
Executive on 29 October 2025: 

 
a. Councillor Alex Karmel replaced Councillor Jackie Borland on Planning and 

Development Control Committee. 
 

b. Councillor Jackie Borland replaced Councillor Jose Afonso on Health and 
Adult Social Care Policy and Accountability Committee. 

 
6. Full Council is asked to approve the following committee appointment: 

a. To appoint Councillor Daryl Brown to the Licensing Committee to fill a 
vacancy. 

Page 201



Reasons for Decision 

 
7. The Council’s Monitoring Officer is required to review the Council’s Constitution 

each year to ensure that its aims and principles are given full effect in 
accordance with Article 14 of the Constitution. 

 
LIST OF APPENDICES 
None. 

Page 202



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 

 
Report to:  Full Council  
 
Date:   28/01/2026 
 
Subject:  Annual Report of the Audit Committee 2024/25 
 
Report of:  Councillor Patrick Walsh, Chair of the Audit Committee 
 
Responsible Director: Sukvinder Kalsi, Executive Director of Finance and 

Corporate Services 
 

 
SUMMARY 
 
This report summarises the work of Audit Committee (“the Committee”) over the 
municipal year 2024/25, i.e. from May 2024 to April 2025. 
 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1. That Full Council note the report. 
 

 
Wards Affected: None 
 

 

Our Values Summary of how this report aligns to the H&F 
Priorities  

Building a shared 
prosperity 

Internal audit and risk management covers a wide range 
of services, including those which are delivered in 
partnership with local and national companies. 
Assurance may be required over risk management and 
governance arrangements to demonstrate the benefit to 
residents of co-delivered services. 

Creating a 
compassionate 
council 

Audit provides assurance that the Council’s resources 
are managed appropriately to provide the most effective 
support to the most vulnerable residents. 

Doing things with 
residents, not to 
them 

Where engagement with residents is part of service 
development, audit will consider how well co-production 
and resident access is embedded in a process. 

Being ruthlessly 
financially efficient 

Internal Audit helps to ensure that management have 
robust controls and practices in place to safeguard the 
Council’s assets, control expenditure and maximise 
potential income to protect and invest in essential 
frontline services which are in place to meet the Council’s 
priorities. The Council’s accounts demonstrate their fiscal 
responsibility and the delivery of value for money services. 

Taking pride in H&F Investment in public realm services such as waste 
collection, street cleaning and open/park spaces is 

Page 203

Agenda Item 6.5



significant. The internal audit strategy identifies services 
for cyclical review, including contract management for 
outsourced services and performance delivery for in-
house services. 

Rising to the 
challenge of the 
climate and 
ecological 
emergency 

Internal Audit consider the impact of strategies, 
including, the Climate and Ecology Strategy, in several 
different reviews that form part of the Internal Audit Plan. 

 

Financial Impact 
 
There are no direct financial implications emanating from this report, but some of the 
content is financial in nature given subject matter.  
 
Implications verified by Sukvinder Kalsi, Executive Director of Finance and Corporate 
Services on 13 November 2025. 
 

Legal Implications 
 
There are no legal implications arising from this report. 
  
Implications verified by Grant Deg, Director of Legal Services on 17 November 2025. 

 

 
Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
None. 
 

 
DETAILED ANALYSIS 

 
Background 

 
1. On 9 December 2024, the Committee noted a proposal to undertake a Review 

of Effectiveness of the Committee, taking into account the CIPFA Toolkit for 
Effective Audit Committees and the CIPFA Skills and Knowledge Framework 
for Audit Committee members. The Committee agreed to participate in a 
workshop as part of the review, having completed individual self-assessments 
against the checklists in the Toolkit. 
 

2. The Workshop was held on 8 April 2025, facilitated by the Shared Services 
Director of Audit, Fraud, Risk and Insurance and the Head of Internal Audit. 
 

3. The purpose of the workshop was to: 

 Consider the results of the completed Toolkit self-assessment and 
Skills and Knowledge Framework; and 

 Identify topics for future briefings and training resources that would be 
of interest to the Committee.  

 

Page 204



4. After the self-assessment and workshop were completed, the Committee was 
assured that it was performing its role in line with CIPFA’s best practice with 
minor improvements identified. These actions have been or will be addressed 
in the 2025/26 municipal year, including the appointment of an Independent 
Member for a fixed term of three years, which commenced in October 2025. 
 

5. One of the recommendations arising from this review was to enhance the 
Committee’s effectiveness by providing an annual report to the Council on its 
work and performance every municipal year.  

 
Committee Activity 
 
6. The Committee’s membership during the 2024/25 municipal year was as 

follows: 

 Cllr Patrick Walsh (Chair) 

 Cllr Florian Chevoppe-Verdier 

 Cllr Adrian Pascu-Tulbure 

 Cllr David Morton 

 Cllr Lisa Homan 
 
7. The Committee’s positive impact was facilitated by the officers who prepared 

reports and presented them at meetings of the Committee and addressed 
concerns raised by Members. 
 

8. The Committee met on the following dates in the municipal year 2024/25:  

 31 July 2024 

 06 November 2024 

 09 December 2024 

 10 March 2025 
 

9. The meetings were quorate on each occasion. The Chief Executive, The 
Executive Director of Finance and Corporate Services, the Assistant Director of 
finance, the Shared Services Director for Audit, Fraud, Risk and Insurance, the 
Head of Internal Audit and the Risk Manager attended relevant meetings as 
appropriate, along with other Executive Directors, Directors and professional 
colleagues in respect of specific items on each agenda.  
 

10. The topics discussed at each meeting are contained in Appendix 1. 
 

Internal Audit and Fraud Service Delivery Models  
 

11. The Council’s Internal Audit and Corporate Anti-Fraud service is managed by 
the Shared Services Director for Audit, Fraud, Risk and Insurance. The service 
is hosted by the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea (RBKC) as part of a 
Shared Services Agreement, across three councils, which has been in place 
since April 2015. Internal Audit shared resources are drawn from an in-house 
team and external delivery providers, Mazars and PwC, including undertaking 
reviews in specialist areas. 
 

12. In July 2024, the Committee noted the External Quality Assessment of the 
Internal Audit service against the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, which 

Page 205



had achieved the highest rating that could be given under the Standards. In 
March 2025 the Committee considered an update on the Service’s progress 
towards implementing the Global Internal Audit Standards, which came into 
force on 1 April 2025. The Committee reviewed the Internal Audit Strategy, 
which set out how the Service would deliver against the new standards, 
including a suite of proposed Key Performance Indicators which would feature 
in future update reports to the Committee. The updated Audit Charter and 
Mandate were also approved by the Committee in March 2025. 
 

13. The Corporate Anti-Fraud Service (CAFS) provides a complete, professional 
counter-fraud and investigation service for fraud attempted or committed 
against the Council. All CAFS work is undertaken in line with appropriate 
legislation and ensures the Council fulfils its statutory obligations under the 
Local Government Act 1972 to protect public funds and effectively prevent and 
detect fraud and corruption. 

 
Internal Audit Plan 
 
14. The Committee reviewed the updated Strategic Audit Plan and the outline 

Annual Audit Plan at its meeting in March 2025. The ‘3 plus 9-month’ approach 
to the Annual Plan was considered to be highly agile allowing priorities to shift 
in response to local and national events. 
 

15. During the year, the Committee received reports on the progress against the 
Plan and on the outcomes from the individual audits undertaken. The 
Committee was also updated on the outcomes of follow up work and the actions 
taken by operational managers to implement improvements to controls. 

 
Cumulative Assurance 

 
16. The Committee received the draft Annual Governance Statement (AGS) for 

2023/24 in December 2024, along with the annual accounts. The AGS 
established that the Council has arrangements in place to meet the 
requirements of the CIPFA/ SoLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government Framework. 
 

17. The Head of Internal Audit’s Annual Report on Internal Audit work and the 
Council’s internal control arrangements for 2023/24 confirmed that overall 
satisfactory internal control arrangements and procedures remain in place 
across the Council with 89% of audits receiving a positive assurance opinion for 
2023/24. In addition, management had fully implemented 91% of previously 
agreed recommendations and partially implemented a further 6%. 
 

18. The Council’s external auditors were appointed following a competitive 
tendering exercise undertaken by Public Sector Audit Appointments for the 
period 2023 to 2028 (Audit Committee 23 November 2022 refers). The 
Committee gained a level of assurance from the External Auditor that, in their 
view, the Council continued to have a strong control environment in place and 
the accounts considered to be of excellent quality. The External Audit also 
provided unqualified opinions on the Council and Pension Fund Accounts. 
 

Page 206



19. Within the audit of the main statement of accounts, the External Auditor made 
two medium priority and five low priority recommendations, with one prior year 
recommendation on which to follow up. The pension fund accounts had one 
new recommendation (already implemented) and one prior year 
recommendation to implement. 

 
Risk Management 

 
20. The Committee received regular reports on risks across the Council throughout 

the year and noted the work being undertaken to enhance the risk management 
process and the detail contained within the Corporate Risk Register. 
 

21. The Risk Management Strategy 2025 to 2028 was noted and approved by the 
Committee in March 2025 and it was agreed that an annual risk management 
report will be provided to the Committee for 2025/26. 

 
Fraud Updates 

 
22. The Committee received reports on the Council’s anti-fraud activity and 

welcomed the continuing high-profile focus of the anti-fraud resources on 
housing related fraud including illegal sub-letting, temporary accommodation 
and other tenancy related fraud. 

 
Statement of Accounts and External Audit 

 
23. The Committee is required under its Terms of Reference, to recommend for 

approval the Council’s Annual Statement of Accounts and to consider whether 
appropriate accounting policies have been followed. 
 

24. The Committee was encouraged that the External Auditor (Grant Thornton) 
continued to find the accounts and supporting working papers to be a high 
standard. 
 

25. The 2023/24 statement of accounts (including pension fund accounts) and 
annual auditor’s report (AAR, previously known as the VFM opinion) were 
received at the committee’s November 2024 meeting. The External Auditor was 
broadly through its fieldwork at that point, and was able to indicate to the 
committee it expected to provide an unmodified opinion for both the main 
accounts and pension fund accounts which subsequently followed. There were 
two medium recommendations for the main accounts and three medium/one 
low recommendations for the pension fund accounts. 
 

26. Within the AAR, the External Auditor made one improvement recommendation 
for the year 2023/24 (indicating that the Council should include more scenario 
planning in developing its annual budget). This was in positive contrast to two 
key recommendations and seven improvement recommendations made for the 
previous report covering 2021/22 and 2022/23.  
 

27. The Council also received regular reports on the Council’s Treasury 
Management activity. 

 

Page 207



Independent Member 
 

28. The guidance provided by CIPFA in their Position Statement 2022: Audit 
committees in local authorities and police advises that the audit committees of 
local authorities should include co-opted independent members. Following the 
Review of Effectiveness Workshop in April 2025, the Committee agreed to 
appoint an Independent Committee Member to the Committee for a fixed term 
of three years. 

 
Conclusion 

 
29. Throughout the 2024/25 municipal year, the Audit Committee has consistently 

delivered robust scrutiny of the Council’s governance structures and financial 
reporting processes. 

30. The Committee will continue to evaluate and assess risk management across 
the Council, promoting the consistent application of best practices across the 
Council. The Committee will also remain committed to upholding strong internal 
controls and ensuring accountability for failures to meet these standards. 

 
Consultation 

 
31. The report has been subject to consultation with the Chief Executive, the 

Executive Director of Finance and Corporate Services, the Monitoring Officer 
and the Shared Services Director for Audit, Fraud, Risk and Insurance.  

 
Risk Management 

 
32. There are no risk management implications arising from this report. 

 
Implications verified by Jules Binney on 13 November 2025. 

 

List of Appendices 
Appendix 1 – Audit Committee Meetings – Municipal Year 2024/25  
 
 

Page 208



 

Appendix 1 
AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETINGS – MUNICIPAL YEAR 2024/25 

 

Date of 
meeting 

Accounts & External 
Audits 

Internal Audits Risk 
Management  

Anti-fraud Treasury 
Management 

Other  

31 July 
2024 

 External Audit 
Plan2023/24, Audit Risk 
Assessment and 
Statement of Accounts 
Update 

 External Audit 
Programme & Sector 
Update 

 Head of Internal 
Audit Annual 
Report 2023/24 

 Risk 
Management 
Update 

 Corporate Anti-
fraud Service 
Annual Report 
2023/24 

  

06 Nov 
2024 

 Statement of Accounts 
2023/24 

 Annual Audit Report 
(Value for Money) 
2023/24 

 

    Treasury 
Management 
Outturn Report 
2023/24 

 Health & Safety 
Update April 
2023 to March 
2024 

 Annual 
Complaints 
Report 2023/24 

09 Dec 
2024 

 
 Internal Audit 

Update 2024/25 
 Risk 

Management 
Update 

 Corporate Anti-
fraud Service 
Half-Year Report 
1 April to 
September 2024  

 Mid-year 
Treasury 
Management 
Review 2024/25 

 

10 Mar 
2025 

  Internal Audit 
Strategy 2025-
2028, Internal 
Audit Charter & 
Mandate 

 Global Internal 
Audit Standards 

 Internal Audit 
Plan 2025/2 

 Risk 
Management 
Strategy 2025-
2028 

 Risk 
Management 
Update and 
Corporate Risk 
Register 2024/25 

 
  

 
 
 

P
age 209



 
SPECIAL MOTION NO. 1 – CELEBRATING BLACK HISTORY MONTH 2025 IN 

HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 

 

 
Standing in the names of:  
 

(i) Councillor Frances Umeh  
 

(ii) Councillor Max Schmid 
 
 

This Council notes: 
 
That the national theme for Black History Month 2025 is “Standing Firm in Power and 
Pride”, reflecting the resilience, strength, and enduring contributions of Black 
communities across the UK.   
 
That Hammersmith & Fulham is a richly diverse borough, and our schools, 
community organisations, and cultural institutions play a vital role in amplifying Black 
history, heritage, and voices. 
 
This Council believes that Black history is British history, and celebrating it 
strengthens our shared identity and social cohesion. That the theme “Standing Firm 
in Power and Pride” encourages us to not only honour past achievements but also to 
commit to power, representation, and dignity for all in our community. 
 
This Council resolves to: 

1. Promote and support Black History Month 2025 events across the borough, 
including the open-air King Street exhibition. 

2. ⁠Work with our schools and cultural partners to embed Black history in 

curricula and public programmes beyond October, ensuring sustained 
engagement and learning. 

3. ⁠Celebrate local Black leaders, artists, educators and organisations through 

Council communications, awards, and recognition, showing pride in our 
community’s heritage. 

Page 210

Agenda Item 7.1



 
SPECIAL MOTION NO. 2 – OPPOSING ONLINE HATE SPEECH 
 

 
Standing in the names of:  
 

(i) Councillor Callum Nimmo 
 

(ii) Councillor Nikos Souslous 
 
 
The Council condemns all forms of hate speech, harassment, and abuse that seek to 
divide our communities. It agrees that the rise of racist and discriminatory content on 
social media runs counter to the decent values and inclusive and diverse nature of 
Hammersmith & Fulham.  
 
The Council notes the important role which councillors play as trusted local leaders. 
It agrees that there is no excuse for any councillor in any local authority to like or 
share vile, hate-inciting, racist material and also agrees there are no reasonable 
circumstances for any elected representative of good character to associate with or 
campaign alongside anyone who has done so.  
 
The Council recognises the insidious impact of hate, in all its forms, and reaffirms its 
commitment to building unity and understanding across Hammersmith & Fulham. 
 

Page 211

Agenda Item 7.2



 
SPECIAL MOTION NO. 3 – AUTUMN BUDGET 
 

 
Standing in the names of:  
 

(i) Councillor Adrian Pascu-Tulbure 
 

(ii) Councillor Aliya Afzal-Khan 
 
 
This Council notes the impact of the Labour Government’s Autumn Budget on 
Hammersmith and Fulham, including: 

 A “mansion tax” that fails to draw the distinction between high property values 
and high incomes, and hits ordinary family homes across Hammersmith and 
Fulham including properties that are very far from being mansions, home 
teachers, nurses, small business owners, families who have worked hard to 
put down roots in our community, and pensioners on low incomes; 

 The door open to council tax hikes without a referendum, removing an 
important democratic safeguard and putting residents on the hook for 
significant council tax rises, not least given the disastrous Fairer Funding 
settlement; 

 A continued freeze on income tax thresholds, dragging more and more hard-
working people into higher tax brackets through fiscal drag; 

 Changes to National Insurance contributions on salary sacrifice schemes, 
hindering people trying to save for their futures through pension contributions 
and significantly weakening incentives to save into pensions; 

 Increases to taxes on income derived from property, savings, and dividends, 
directly penalising the entrepreneurs, investors, and savers who create growth 
and jobs in our economy at a time when we need investment and enterprise 
more than ever; and 

 New charges on electric vehicle owners, who made significant financial 
investments to do the right thing for the environment and now find themselves 
being taxed for their green choices. 

 
This Council considers the Budget a deeply disappointing outcome for residents of 
Hammersmith and Fulham, who are being asked to bear an unfair burden while 
receiving little in return. 

Page 212

Agenda Item 7.3



 
SPECIAL MOTION NO. 4 – CIVIC CAMPUS 
 

 
Standing in the names of:  
 

(i) Councillor Liam Downer-Sanderson 
 

(ii) Councillor Jose Afonso 
 
 
This Council calls on the Administration to set out the full details of the overspending 

and delays to the Civic Campus and explain why this has happened. 

Page 213

Agenda Item 7.4



 
SPECIAL MOTION NO. 5 – H&F UPSTREAM PATHWAY BOND 

 

 
Standing in the names of:  
 

(i) Councillor Zarar Qayyum  
 

(ii) Councillor Helen Rowbottom 
 
 
This Council agrees that, with the world changing faster than ever before, new 
measures to support every local young person to find the right pathway for them to 
pursue their dreams of their future is more important than ever before. The Council 
therefore welcomes the new and unique H&F Upstream Pathway Bond pioneered by 
the Labour Administration and thanks all the businesses and organisations who are 
taking part. 

The Council notes that: 

1. The H&F Upstream Pathway Bond was launched as part of the borough’s 
pioneering industrial strategy, Upstream London, to create stronger, 
sustainable linkages between education, skills development and local 
employment opportunities for young residents.   

2. Upstream London has already attracted £6.3 billion of business investment 
into the borough since its inception, contributing to the creation of more than 
17,200 new jobs in high-growth sectors and making Hammersmith & Fulham 
the borough with the fastest economic growth in London.  

3. Already, 109 local businesses and 26 schools have shown exceptional 
commitment to inclusive economic growth by signing up to the Pathway Bond, 
agreeing to provide opportunities for young people in cutting-edge industries.   

4. This initiative builds on strong collaboration between the Council, Imperial 
College London, Imperial College NHS Trust, H&F’s international 
“Cooperative Growth Partners” and businesses to ensure that residents can 
directly share in the borough’s economic success.   

This Council believes that: 

1. The Upstream Pathway Bond embodies the values of social democracy—
harnessing cooperation between the private and public sectors. It is a 
powerful model of inclusive economic development that opens clear pathways 
from education through to rewarding local careers for H&F’s young people. 

2. Endorsing this programme aligns with the Council’s commitment to a strong 
local economy, skills development, opportunity-building, and the long-term 
prosperity of residents. 

3. The breadth of business engagement in the Pathway Bond demonstrates the 
strength of local partnerships and confidence in the Labour administration’s 
industrial strategy. 

Page 214

Agenda Item 7.5



 
SPECIAL MOTION NO. 6 – ANNIVERSARY OF FAMILY HUBS 

 

 
Standing in the names of:  
 

(i) Councillor Alex Sanderson 
 

(ii) Councillor Nikos Souslous 
 
 
This Council celebrates the upcoming second anniversary of the launch of 
Hammersmith & Fulham’s Family Hubs at the Stephen Wiltshire Centre, Tudor Rose 
Community Centre, and Old Oak Community Centre. They provide free support and 
activities, including health advice, parenting help, careers guidance, youth clubs, and 
social sessions, for families with children. 
 
The Council commends the dedicated staff, volunteers, and partner organisations 
who have worked tirelessly to support children, parents, and carers across the 
borough.  
 
The Council notes that Family Hubs have strengthened early-help provision, 
improved access to health and wellbeing services, and delivered inclusive, 
community-led support that makes a real difference to local families. 
 
This Council reaffirms the administration’s commitment to these vital services, 
ensuring that every child in H&F has the best possible start in life. It further 
recognises that this is in direct contrast to the national and local Conservative short-
sighted policy of removing funding for Sure Start centres and selling community 
centres. 

Page 215

Agenda Item 7.6



 
SPECIAL MOTION NO. 7 – H&F GREEN INVESTMENT 

 

 
Standing in the names of:  
 

(i) Councillor Rowan Ree 
 

(ii) Councillor Florian Chevoppe-Verdier 
 

 
The Council commends the successful H&F Green Investment, a pioneering £5m 
initiative that empowers local residents to invest directly in cleaner, greener, 
community-focused projects. This is the largest Community Municipal Investment of 
its kind, demonstrating the borough’s commitment to tackling the climate emergency. 
 
The Council welcomes the transparency, fiscal responsibility, and climate ambition 
these bonds represent, delivering tangible benefits such as improved energy 
efficiency, cleaner air, increased resilience against flooding, and reduced carbon 
emissions while strengthening public trust and civic participation. 
 
The Council commends officers and partners for their work in establishing this 
innovative model and affirms the administration’s commitment to expanding 
sustainable investment that builds a fairer, greener borough for all. 
 

Page 216

Agenda Item 7.7


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Public Questions (20 Minutes)
	6.1 Council Tax Support Scheme 2026/27
	Appendix 1 – Council Tax Support Scheme 2025/26
	Structure Bookmarks


	6.2 Council Tax Base and Collection Rate 2026/27 and Delegation of the Business Rate Estimate
	6.3 Council Calendar of Meetings
	Appendix 1 - Council Calendar 2026/27

	6.4 Review of the Constitution
	6.5 Annual Report of the Audit Committee 2024/25 (to note)
	7.1 Special Motion 1 - Celebrating Black History Month 2025 in Hammersmith & Fulham
	7.2 Special Motion 2 - Opposing Online Hate Speech
	7.3 Special Motion 3 - Autumn Budget
	7.4 Special Motion 4 - Civic Campus
	7.5 Special Motion 5 - H&F Upstream Pathway Bond
	7.6 Special Motion 6 - Anniversary of Family Hubs
	7.7 Special Motion 7 - H&F Green Investment



Accessibility Report



		Filename: 

		LB Hammersmith & Fulham CTR Scheme 2025 FINAL.pdf






		Report created by: 

		ACS (c), ACS Consultancy , admin@acssupport.co.uk


		Organization: 

		ACS (c) 2025





 [Personal and organization information from the Preferences > Identity dialog.]


Summary


The checker found no problems in this document.



		Needs manual check: 0


		Passed manually: 2


		Failed manually: 0


		Skipped: 0


		Passed: 30


		Failed: 0





Detailed Report



		Document




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Accessibility permission flag		Passed		Accessibility permission flag must be set


		Image-only PDF		Passed		Document is not image-only PDF


		Tagged PDF		Passed		Document is tagged PDF


		Logical Reading Order		Passed manually		Document structure provides a logical reading order


		Primary language		Passed		Text language is specified


		Title		Passed		Document title is showing in title bar


		Bookmarks		Passed		Bookmarks are present in large documents


		Color contrast		Passed manually		Document has appropriate color contrast


		Page Content




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Tagged content		Passed		All page content is tagged


		Tagged annotations		Passed		All annotations are tagged


		Tab order		Passed		Tab order is consistent with structure order


		Character encoding		Passed		Reliable character encoding is provided


		Tagged multimedia		Passed		All multimedia objects are tagged


		Screen flicker		Passed		Page will not cause screen flicker


		Scripts		Passed		No inaccessible scripts


		Timed responses		Passed		Page does not require timed responses


		Navigation links		Passed		Navigation links are not repetitive


		Forms




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Tagged form fields		Passed		All form fields are tagged


		Field descriptions		Passed		All form fields have description


		Alternate Text




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Figures alternate text		Passed		Figures require alternate text


		Nested alternate text		Passed		Alternate text that will never be read


		Associated with content		Passed		Alternate text must be associated with some content


		Hides annotation		Passed		Alternate text should not hide annotation


		Other elements alternate text		Passed		Other elements that require alternate text


		Tables




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Rows		Passed		TR must be a child of Table, THead, TBody, or TFoot


		TH and TD		Passed		TH and TD must be children of TR


		Headers		Passed		Tables should have headers


		Regularity		Passed		Tables must contain the same number of columns in each row and rows in each column


		Summary		Passed		Tables must have a summary


		Lists




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		List items		Passed		LI must be a child of L


		Lbl and LBody		Passed		Lbl and LBody must be children of LI


		Headings




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Appropriate nesting		Passed		Appropriate nesting







Back to Top
